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This review has been performed using RSM Tenon’s bespoke internal audit methodology, i-RIS. 


The matters raised in this report are only those which came to our attention during our internal audit work and are not necessarily a 
comprehensive statement of all the weaknesses that exist, or of all the improvements that may be required.  Whilst every care has 
been taken to ensure that the information provided in this report is as accurate as possible, based on the information provided and 
documentation reviewed, no complete guarantee or warranty can be given with regard to the advice and information contained 
herein.  Our work does not provide absolute assurance that material errors, loss or fraud do not exist.   
 
This report is prepared solely for the use of Board and senior management of the Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner for 
Cleveland.  Details may be made available to specified external agencies, including external auditors, but otherwise the report 
should not be quoted or referred to in whole or in part without prior consent.  No responsibility to any third party is accepted as the 
report has not been prepared, and is not intended for any other purpose. 


 
© 2010 - 2012 RSM Tenon Limited 
 
The term "partner" is a title for senior employees, none of whom provide any services on their own behalf. 
 
RSM Tenon Limited is a subsidiary of Baker Tilly UK Holdings Limited. RSM Tenon Limited (No 4066924) is registered in England and 
Wales. Registered Office 66 Chiltern Street, London W1U 4GB. England 
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1 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 


1.1 Introduction 


An advisory review of Additional Payments was undertaken at the request of the Office of the Police 
and Crime Commissioner for Cleveland to help safeguard the organisation's assets and interests 
from losses of all kinds. 


The following two tables show the types of additional payments and the total amounts made by 
Cleveland Police to Police Officers and Staff between January 2013 and June 2013: 


Police Officers (£1,630,838): 


Type of Additional 
Payment 


Total Amount Paid  
Type of Additional 
Payment 


Total Amount Paid  


Acting Up Allowance £33,807 Housing Allowance  £384,965 


Additional Pay on 
Promotion 


£2,455 Lieu Time  £16,495 


Additional Dog 
Allowance 


£5,065 
London Weighting 
Allowance Officer  


£2,370 


Bonus Payment £2,950.00 On Call Daily Rate  £26,296 


Central Service 
Allowance  


£2,114.90 
Performance Related 
Bonus  


£2,990 


Chief 
Superintendents Post 
Related Allowance  


£2,150 Single Dog Allowance  £21,267 


Compensatory 
Threshold Payment 


£348,246 
Special Priority 
Payment  


£1,345.00 


Compensatory Grant £159,687 Transitional Rent  £210,955 


Essential Car Use £54,587 Unsocial Hours £345,353 


Firearms Standby 
Allowance  


£6,492 Wyboston Allowance £1,248 


In addition to the above pensionable payments, Cleveland Police also made £22,235 in 
miscellaneous non-pensionable additional payments to Police Officers during the same period. 


Staff (£565,413): 


Type of Additional 
Payment 


Total Amount paid  


Call Out  £10,025.48 


Honorarium  £3,696.00 


Shift Allowance 
Payment  


£237,800 


Standby Sessions  £34,618.50 


Weekend Work  £278,886 


Word Processing £388 
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We selected a sample of 31 additional payments that had been made from the categories and 
payments in the tables above, to confirm that the additional payment was appropriate.  For each 
payment, we also sought evidence to confirm that the payment had been approved in accordance 
with any delegated limits and was subject to a robust governance framework. 


As part of the audit we have also provided advice and guidance in relation to the contents of a policy 
for managing the governance, control, process and authorisation of additional payments, to ensure 
there is an open and transparent approach in place. 


1.2 Conclusion 


When performing testing on 31 additional payments, we found that in all instances there was 
supporting evidence and appropriate governance arrangements in place surrounding both the 
initiation and approval of the payments. However, we have made four recommendations where the 
procedures and documentation relating to additional payments could be improved: 


� Although Cleveland Police adheres to local and national guidance and regulations in terms of 
processing additional payments, there is no overarching policy in place detailing the types of 
additional payment which may be made, the procedures to be followed in determining and 
approving these payments, or the amounts of and any limits on these payments. 


� The promotion process to Superintendent and Chief Superintendent is not formally 
documented from cradle to grave, i.e. from application to notification of outcome.  We have 
seen within other Police Forces a formal and approved promotions procedure, which is followed 
for the promotion of a Chief Inspector to Superintendent or Superintendent to Chief 
Superintendent.   


� Upon promotion to a Superintendent or a Chief Superintendent, we were unable to confirm that 
the Officers had received written notification of their promotion, posting or subsequent post-
related bonus, including any formal changes to their contracts of employment.  


� When reviewing a sample of seven post related bonuses; we identified that they had been 
incorrectly recorded in the system as performance related bonuses. 


1.3 Scope of the review 


As part of the audit we selected a sample of additional payments that had been made to Police 
Officers and Staff between January and June 2013, to confirm that these were supported by sufficient 
evidence of an appropriate governance and approval process.  Additional payments included: TOIL, 
bonus, honorarium and performance related payments.   


When planning the audit, the following limitations were agreed: 


Limitations to the scope of the audit: 


� The audit did not consider overtime payments.   


� Our work does not provide any guarantee against material errors, loss or fraud or provide an 
absolute assurance that material error, loss or fraud does not exist. 


The approach taken for this audit was an Advisory review. 
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1.4 Recommendations Summary 


The following tables highlight the number and categories of recommendations made.  The Action 
Plan at Section 2 details the specific recommendations made as well as agreed management actions 
to implement them. 


 


Recommendations made during this audit: 


The recommendations address the areas within the scope of the audit as set out below:  


 Priority 


Area High Medium Low 


Policies and Procedures - 2 - 


Payments to Police Officers - 1 1 


Payments to Staff - - - 


Total - 3 1 
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2 ACTION PLAN 


 The priority of the recommendations made is as follows: 


Priority Description 


High 


Recommendations are prioritised to reflect our assessment of risk associated with the control weaknesses. Medium 


Low 


Suggestion These are not formal recommendations that impact our overall opinion, but used to highlight a suggestion or idea that management may want to 
consider. 


 


Ref Recommendation Categorisation Accepted 
(Y/N) 


Management Comment Implementation 
Date 


Manager 
Responsible 


1 Cleveland Police should implement an 
overarching policy document detailing the 
types of additional payment which may be 
made, the procedures to be followed in 
determining and approving these payments, 
and the amounts of and any limits on these 
payments.  


Where other local or national guidance and 
procedure are already available, the 
overarching policy should refer to these, to 
help direct staff to the correct process. 


Medium Partially The Force will introduce 
guidance for managers to 
ensure that any payments made 
are correctly authorised. 


1
st
 April 2014 Head of Finance 


2 Cleveland Police should formally document 
within a promotions procedure, the 
processes to follow for the promotion of a 
Chief Inspector to Superintendent or a 
Superintendent to Chief Superintendent.  
This should include the application process, 
approvals and subsequent notification of 


Medium Partially The promotion process is 
formally documented and the 
decisions are logged on the 
RMG matrix (formally SWMG). 
Following that the People 
Services team then follow a 
checklist to update the personal 


30
th
 September 


2013 (ready for 
the next 
promotion 
boards) 


Head of HR 
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Ref Recommendation Categorisation Accepted 
(Y/N) 


Management Comment Implementation 
Date 


Manager 
Responsible 


the outcome to the individuals concerned. records on the Oracle system. 


A formal letter/memo detailing 
the change is not currently 
issued. The letter /memo will 
then be placed on individuals 
file. This recommendation will 
be implemented. 


3 Following the review by the Strategic 
Workforce Monitoring Group (SWMG), 
Cleveland Police should formally notify the 
Officers in writing of the outcome of the 
review and whether they have been 
successful in their promotion application, or 
otherwise.  This should also include details 
of their new salary plus any additional 
payments entitlement, and any changes to 
their employment terms and conditions.   


A copy should also be retained on the 
Officer’s HR file. 


Medium Yes A formal letter/memo detailing 
the change is not currently 
issued. The letter/memo will 
then be placed on individuals 
file. This recommendation will 
be implemented. 


30
th
 September 


2013 
Head of HR 


4 In order to ensure that any management 
information extracted from the finance 
system is accurate, Cleveland Police should 
review the additional payments made to 
ensure they have been assigned to the 
correct category.   


All future payments should be posted to the 
correct category within Oracle. 


Low Yes Agreed. 


 


1
st
 December 


2013  
Head of Finance 
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3 FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 


3.1 Policies and Procedures 


Cleveland Police adheres to local and national regulation in terms of processing additional payments 
as well as standard processes followed within the Organisation.  


Examples include: 


� Supplementary rent payments when Officers are living in London: Cleveland Police use the 
national Police Regulations; Regulation 50 states that when living in London the supplementary 
rent payment should be £13.92 a week.  


� Honorarium payments: there is guidance in place which should be adhered to when making an 
honorarium payment to a member of staff or an Officer; this is based on both the national and 
local police handbooks.  


However, there is no overarching policy in place detailing the types of additional payment which may 
be made, the procedures to be followed in determining and approving these payments, or the amounts 
of and any limits on these payments. As a result, there is a risk that additional payments may be made 
which are not in line with Cleveland Police’s local guidelines or nation regulations.  


Recommendation (MEDIUM) 


Cleveland Police should implement an overarching policy document detailing the types of additional 
payment which may be made, the procedures to be followed in determining and approving these 
payments, and the amounts of and any limits on these payments.  


Where other local or national guidance and procedure are already available, the overarching policy 
should refer to these, to help direct staff to the correct process.  


Note - an example of the contents of an Additional Payments Policy can be found in Appendix A. 
However, this is not an exhaustive list and can be tailored to reflect practices within Cleveland Police. 


When testing the seven post related bonuses upon promotion of a Chief Inspector to Superintendent or 
a Superintendent to Chief Superintendent we found that the process was as follows: 


� Following receipt of applications and an initial filtering process, the Strategic Workforce 
Monitoring Group (SWMG) approve which Officers will be promoted and where these Officers will 
be posted; 


� The member of staff is informed in writing of their promotion and new posting; and 


� They then receive the relevant pay increase and any post related bonuses or additional 
payments. 


However, although there was a guide for applicants, this procedure was not formally documented from 
cradle grave.   We have seen within other Police Forces a formal and approved promotions procedure, 
which is followed for the promotion of a Chief Inspector to Superintendent or Superintendent to Chief 
Superintendent.   


Terms of reference for the SWMG were in place alongside a formal promotion application form.  
However, these were not sufficiently detailed and were not made available to all staff in order to 
provide a clear and transparent promotion process.  


Recommendation (MEDIUM) 


Cleveland Police should formally document within a promotions procedure, the processes to follow 
for the promotion of a Chief Inspector to Superintendent or a Superintendent to Chief 
Superintendent.  This should include the application process, approvals and subsequent notification 
of the outcome to the individuals concerned. 
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3.2  Payments to Police Officers 


3.2.1  Lieu Time 


Staff may receive an additional payment if they have accrued lieu time when they leave the Force.  
Lieu time is incurred where an Officer has worked more than their standard hours, as per their rota.  


Included in our sample of 31 additional payments were five payments for accrued lieu time.  


For each payment: 


� We obtained evidence to confirm that the Officers had left the Force. 


� We obtained evidence that the Officers were owed the number of hours lieu time for which they 
had been paid, based on timesheets and information in the HR system.  


� We also reviewed the Officers payslips and confirmed that the hourly rate applied in calculating 
the lieu time payments were correct, and that the hourly rate multiplied by the number of hours 
they were owed resulted in their eventual payment. 


In conclusion, appropriate evidence was obtained to confirm the five lieu time payments were correct. 


3.2.2  Post Related Bonus 


When an Officer is promoted from Chief Inspector to Superintendent or Superintendent to Chief 
Superintendent, they are entitled to a post related bonus, which is paid monthly throughout the year. 


We reviewed a sample of seven post related bonuses, and in all instances were able to confirm that 
the promotions had been formally approved by the SWMG. 


However, we were unable to confirm that the Officers had been formally notified of the outcome of their 
promotion review, where their new posting would be and their new salary and additional payments 
entitlements copies of the letters were not available for our review.  


Recommendation (MEDIUM) 


Following the review by the Strategic Workforce Monitoring Group (SWMG), Cleveland Police 
should formally notify the Officers in writing of the outcome of the review and whether they have 
been successful in their promotion application, or otherwise.  This should also include details of 
their new salary plus any additional payments entitlement, and any changes to their employment 
terms and conditions.   


A copy should also be retained on the Officer’s HR file. 


When selecting the sample of post related bonus payments, we noted that these were incorrectly 
recorded on the finance system as performance related bonuses.  Performance related bonuses are 
paid at the end of a given period based on a defined level of performance; post related bonuses are 
paid based on carrying out a specific role in a certain location and are paid incrementally each month. 


Recommendation (LOW) 


In order to ensure that any management information extracted from the finance system is accurate, 
Cleveland Police should review the additional payments made to ensure they have been assigned 
to the correct category.   


All future payments should be posted to the correct category within Oracle. 


3.2.3  Acting Up Allowance 


An Officer within Cleveland Police can claim retrospective acting up allowance when they have 
temporarily performed a job role for a short space of time, which is a higher grade than their usual job 
role.  An example of this would be when a Chief Superintendent is off sick and the Superintendent 
within that District performs the Chief Superintendents role until they return. They are therefore entitled 
to receive an additional payment to reflect the additional responsibility they had during that period of 
time.  
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Included in our sample of 31 additional payments there was only one payment involving a payment for 
retrospective acting up allowance.  However, in this case the payment was a deduction from the 
Officers salary following a back dated promotion and where they had received an acting up allowance 
during the period of backdate.  The amount was therefore deducted so that the Officer had not been 
paid for the 'acting up' period twice.   


For this payment, we reviewed the letter from HR confirming the promotion and reviewed the acting 
payments made during the period of backdate to confirm the deduction was correct.  


3.2.4 Special Priority Payments 


A Special Priority Payment (SPP) is paid to all Officers at the discretion of the Executive, provided pre-
defined criteria have been met.  


The SPP scheme was introduced nationally to allow Chief Constables to reward at local level, Officers 
primarily in front line and operational posts.  Posts may qualify for payment where they:  


� Carry a significantly higher responsibility level than the norm for the rank; or  


� Present particular difficulties in recruitment; or  


� Have specially demanding working conditions or working environments. 


Included in our sample of 31 additional payments were three special priority payments. In all three 
cases we reviewed the report approved by the Executive to confirm that those three Officers were 
entitled to the special priority payment.  


One of the three members of staff tested received £135 instead of the standard payment of £205 as 
that member of staff was part time and therefore their payment was pro-rated.  


In conclusion, appropriate evidence was obtained to confirm all three special priority payments were 
correct.  


3.2.5 Transitional Rent 


Entitlement to a transitional rent/housing allowance is determined by the Police Regulations Schedule 
12. The allowance is either a standard rate allowance or a half rate allowance.  Officers who joined the 
Police Service after 31 August 1994 are no longer entitled to this allowance. 


Included in our sample of 31 additional payments were two transitional rent payments.  In both cases, 
we obtained evidence to confirm that the Officer had joined the Force prior to 1994, that the payment 
for the allowance had been approved and that the payments had been correctly calculated and 
processed. 


3.2.6 Miscellaneous Allowance 


A miscellaneous allowance can be paid in certain circumstances such as: to cover extra costs of living 
in London for a period of time, costs for a successful employment tribunal or as reimbursement for 
owed annual leave when an individual has left the organisation. 


From our sample of 31 additional payments, there were four payments of miscellaneous allowances.  


Two of the cases involved the payment for owed annual leave and we obtained evidence to confirm 
that the Officers were owed the number of days of annual leave for which they had been paid.  This 
included reviewing the calculations made by HR, the Officers timesheets and information on the HR 
system.  We reviewed the Officers payslips to confirm that the hourly rate applied was correct and that 
the hourly rate multiplied by the number of hours they were owed resulted in the eventual payment. 


One case was for a payment in respect of an employment tribunal. We reviewed evidence on file in the 
form of the solicitors letter and invoice for payment to confirm the payment was correct. 


For the one remaining case, the Officer was living in London and therefore we reviewed email evidence 
showing the Officer was working and living in London and was therefore entitled to supplementary rent. 
We also reviewed Police Regulation 50 to confirm that the supplementary rent paid was the correct 
amount, as per the regulation. 
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3.3  Payments to Staff 


3.3.1 Shift Allowance 


Staff are entitled to shift allowance payments when their usual shift pattern is changed.  There was only 
one shift allowance payment within our sample of 31 additional payments. 


For the one shift allowance payment tested, we reviewed the letter sent from HR to the individual 
confirming a change in shift pattern.  We also reviewed the individual’s payslip and confirmed the rate 
for the change in shift pattern had been correctly applied.  


3.3.2     Call Out 


Staff are entitled to a call out payment when they are not rotad in to work but they are on call and 
during that time they are required to come into work. 


There was only one call out payment within our sample of 31 additional payments. 


For the one call out payment tested, we reviewed the call out form and confirmed it had been 
appropriately approved by the Chief of Police.  We also reviewed the individual’s payslip and confirmed 
the number of call out hours multiplied by the hourly rate was correct and agreed to the payment made. 


3.3.3     Honorarium  


An honorarium payment is made when an individual is covering part of a role or is undertaking 
temporary duties of a higher level of responsibility but does not meet the criteria for an acting up 
payment. 


There were seven honorarium payments within our sample of 31 additional payments. 


In all seven cases we reviewed the business case submitted to the SWMG and confirmed that it was in 
line with the Honorarium Policy. We also reviewed the SWMG minutes for all seven payments and 
confirmed that they had all been formally approved.  


In conclusion, appropriate evidence was obtained to confirm the seven honorarium payments were 
correct. 
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APPENDIX A 


Example Additional Payments POLICY 


POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER FOR CLEVELAND 
  
OVERTIME, ALLOWANCES AND EX-GRATIA PAYMENTS 
 
(Police Officers, Police Staff and Special Constables) 
 


 Contents Page 


   


1 Scope Of Procedure   2 


2 Payments for Additional Hours 


 


3 


3 Allowances 


 


4 


4 Ex-gratia Payments 


4.1 Eligibility 


4.2 Process 


4.3 Appeal 


4.4 Monitoring and Auditing 


7 


5 Other Procedures to note 9 


 


Compliance and Audit Table  


 


Owner 


 


Human Resources 


Author  


Version Number  


Date last updated  


How will the 
impact of this 
procedure be 
audited? 


Payments for Additional Hours  


 


Allowances 


 


Ex-gratia Payments 


� Monitor and review the record of all ex-gratia payments made to ensure 
consistency throughout the Force. 


� Complete an annual audit of the ex-gratia payment process. 


� Results of the annual audit will be submitted to the PCC. 
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1. Scope of Procedure 


1.1        Cleveland Police seek to ensure that it values all Police Officers, Police Staff and Special Constables 
and recognises and rewards individuals where appropriate.  


1.2        This procedure provides an overview, advice and guidance with regard to overtime, allowances and ex-
gratia payments within the organisation, with links being made to specific documents. 







Office of the Police and Crime 
Commissioner for Cleveland 


                       Additional Payments 
3.13/14 


  


   


12


2.         Payments for Additional Hours 


2.1 Basic Overtime 


2.2 Weekend Sunday Working 


2.3 Christmas and Bank Holidays 


2.4 On-call allowance  
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3.         Allowances 


3.1 Acting Up Allowance (Honorarium) 


3.1.1 Definition 


Honoraria payments can be made to any grade of staff, but it should be recognised that higher 
management grades have a wider remit and are often required to deputise for others as part of the job 
role, and are therefore less likely to be considered for an honorarium for acting up. 


Honoraria payments are made to employees where additional duties are being undertaken by 
individuals or teams, which are outside the scope of their normal job, for example when an employee is 
covering for someone who is absent through long term sickness or maternity leave, or when a post is 
temporarily vacant.  


In addition, there may situations where special projects are being undertaken requiring work at a higher 
level and this is given to individuals or members or a team, and in these situations managers may wish 
to pay an honorarium to reward staff for taking on additional work. This payment should be countered 
however with the benefit and opportunity to provide development for staff, where it may not be 
appropriate to make a financial payment but rather to offer the work as a means of learning a new skill 
or providing valuable work experience to improve promotion prospects. 


These payments are only made when the work being undertaken is outside the normal range of duties 
contained within the employees’ job role. Where additional payments are required as a recruitment or 
retention issue, these should be considered under market forces. 


3.1.2 Fairness and Transparency 


When managers are considering whether to pay an honoraria to a member to staff or team it is vital to 
consider the following issues for fairness and transparency:  


Before deciding whether an individual should be asked to undertake honoraria work, consideration 
should be given to the equity of offering the work (with any development opportunity and financial 
reward this may bring) to one individual over another. It may be that only one person has the 
necessary skills, experience or qualification to do this, but this should be considered and potentially 
discussed with staff before a final decision is made, so that assumptions are not made about staff’s 
previous experience, competence or willingness to undertake additional work. Often lack of access to 
such opportunities is raised as a grievance after the work has been offered to one individual by others 
who would have welcomed the opportunity to at least be considered for the work.  


That is not to say the process has to be unduly bureaucratic for managers, and an expression of 
interest and one to one discussion may be sufficient to deal with such issues. Careful consideration 
should be given however to any sensitive issues within teams particularly where an allegation of 
discrimination may be raised if individuals or groups of staff are not offered work without proper 
consideration and feedback if not successful. 


3.1.3 Determination of the amounts payable 


When deciding how much to pay for the undertaking of additional duties the following considerations 
should be made: 


Is the member of staff covering the full range of duties of the post due to a vacancy, long term sick 
leave or maternity? The normal course of action will be to pay the employee to the bottom of the 
substantive grade for the post. However if the member of staff is on the grade below the post do the 
grades overlap? If the employee is near or on the top of the grade then paying the bottom of the grade 
may not offer sufficient incentive or reward for undertaking the additional duties. In such situations the 
manager will have the discretion to pay an additional 2 spinal column points from the employees 
substantive salary, to maintain a differential of 2 spine points in each case. 


For example:  


Employee is Grade C spine 10 (range 8 to 10)  


Post to cover is grade D (range 10 to 13)  


Employee can be put onto Grade D spine 12. 
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Where there is more than one grade difference between the posts the employee will be put onto the 
bottom of the substantive grade. 


Where the employee is not undertaking the full range of duties of the post but only a percentage, the 
employing manager must determine the percentage of the duties being covered, and make a payment 
equivalent to the differential between the employee’s salary and the bottom of the substantive grade for 
the post calculated at the appropriate percentage. 


The percentage may be determined by reference to the job description, and an estimation of the range 
of additional duties (so for example half the duties on the job description). Consideration should be 
given however to the size of the tasks and the levels of responsibility they carry, particularly if the 
“acting up” employee will be given significant responsibility for an additional piece of work which, 
although it may only be one task, is business critical in terms of delivery and outcomes. 


Whatever percentage is determined the amount and the rationale for this must be recorded on the 
request form, in order that audit can establish the fairness and probity of any payment, and to record 
that a consistent approach is being used across services, Directorates and corporately. 


Where the percentage amount is calculated and is less than a spine point difference the employee 
should be paid the next spine point. 


For example:  


Employee on Grade D spine 13 = £ 15,291 


Vacant job = Grade E 


Duties = 25% of Grade E job 


25% difference between spine point 13 and spine point 15 (using principle of 2 additional spine points 
above for total of job) = £ 604 / 4 = £ 151 


1 additional spine point = £279 (per annum) = £ 23.25 per month 


3.1.4 Implications for Tax, NI and Pension contributions. 


Any additional payments, whether through additional monthly amounts or as a one-off sum are subject 
to normal tax, National Insurance and pension contributions.  


3.1.5 Mechanism for payment 


The Head of Service, prior to approval, must ensure that there sufficient budget to pay for the amount 
requested, and any additional on-cost that will be incurred. 


The Head of Service will approve the “Additional Payment” for any form of honoraria payment, and, 
where the Head of Service is the determining manager, the post above (Strategic Director level) should 
approve the payment. 


The ‘Additional Payment’ form will be retained for audit purposes in accordance with the Retention of 
Documents Policy. 


3.2 Housing Allowance 


3.3 Travel Allowance 


3.4 Post-related allowance for Chief Superintendents 


3.5 Expertise and Professional Accreditation Allowance 


3.6 Relocation Allowance 


3.7 Staff Standby Allowance 
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4.         Ex-gratia Payments 


4.1 Overview 


4.1.1 The Chief Constable may reward a Police Officer of Federated Rank, Police Staff and Special 
Constables with an ex-gratia payment between £50 and £500 per head. 


4.1.2 The Chief Constable has delegated the responsibility of rewarding these payments to Area 
Commanders/Heads of Department. 


4.1.3 Area Commanders/Heads of Department should recognise whole teams, both officers and staff, with a 
team recognition award ex-gratia payment of £50 to £100 each for outstandingly demanding, 
unpleasant or important work, or outstanding work for the public. 


4.1.4 The Special Constables (Amendment) Regulations 2002 should be used in connection with the 
provision of financial rewards for Special Constables, where police forces consider that they will be 
effective and represent value for money. 


4.1.5 Ex-gratia payments are taxable but not pensionable. 


4.2 Eligibility 


4.2.1 In order to be eligible for an ex-gratia payment an individual must have: 


� Carried out occasional work of an outstandingly unpleasant, demanding or important nature; 


OR 


� ‘Added Value’ by carrying out work which was above and beyond that normally expected of their 
rank / role. 


4.2.2 Ex-gratia payments are a discretionary reward mechanism.  Police Officers, Police Staff and Special 
Constables do not have an automatic right to an ex-gratia payment. 


4.2.3 Each case will be treated on its own merits. It is anticipated that only one ex-gratia payment will be 
made, for a specific piece of work. Where a piece of work continues over a lengthy period of time, 
periodic payments can be authorised. 


4.3 Process 


4.3.1 When a Line Manager considers that a member of their staff is eligible for an ex-gratia payment, a 
nomination should be made in writing, providing details of the reasons for, as specified in paragraph 
4.2.1 above, and documentary evidence supporting the nomination, to the appropriate Area 
Commander/Head of Department. 


4.3.2 On receipt of a nomination, the Area Commander/Head of Department will: 


� Satisfy themselves of the individual’s eligibility; 


� Consult with the Head of HR as it is the Head of HR’s responsibility to ensure that the types and 
amounts of ex-gratia payments are consistent across the Force; 


� Authorise or decline the award of the ex-gratia payment within 21 days of receiving the 
nomination and in conjunction with the Head of HR either: 


� Inform the individual concerned in writing, congratulating them on their achievement.  A 
copy of the letter will be placed on the individual’s personal file; 


OR 


� Inform the nominator of the decision, including an explanation of the rationale for the 
decision. 


� Send a copy of the letter to Finance as authorisation of payment, including the budget code to be 
used, as all ex-gratia payments will be funded by the nominator’s relevant Area / Departmental 
budget.   
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4.4 Appeal 


4.4.1 The decision of the Area Commander / Head of Department is final as ex-gratia payments are 
discretional; as a consequence, there is no appeals process.  


4.5 Monitoring and Auditing 


4.5.1 A record of all ex-gratia payments made will be maintained by the Head of HR for audit purposes and 
to ensure consistency throughout the Force. 


4.5.2 An audit of the ex-gratia payment process will be carried out on an annual basis. 


4.5.3 Results of the annual audit will be submitted to the PCC. 
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5.         Other Procedures to Note (Links to Useful Documents) 


Chief Officer Bonus Scheme (Suspended for a two-year period commencing from September 2011 -
Windsor Report, Recommendation 25). 


Superintendents and Chief Superintendents bonus scheme (Suspended for a two-year period 
commencing September 2011 - Windsor Report, Recommendation 27). 
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Report of the Chief Constable to the Chair and Members of the Audit Committee 
26th September 2013  
 
Executive & Presenting Officer: Mr Gary Ridley, Temporary Assistant Chief 
Officer  
 
Status: For Information 
 
Contract Standing Order 9 – Exceptional Situations  
 
 
1. Purpose 
 
1.1 Contract standing orders were revised on 22nd November 2012 following the 


introduction of the Police & Crime Commissioner. Contract Standing Orders state 
that “Utilisation of Contract Standing Order 9 or failure to follow contract standing 
orders shall be reported by the CFO of the CC to the Audit Committee”.  


 
1.2 The purpose of this report is to advise the Audit Committee on the use of Contract 


Standing Order 9 during the period March to August 2013. 
 
 
2. Recommendations 
 
2.1 It is recommended that the Audit Committee note the exceptional situations 


detailed in Appendix 1.   
 
 
3. Background 


 
3.1 Contract Standing Orders reflect both the policies of the Office of the Police & 


Crime Commissioner for Cleveland and the requirements of current legislation. Their 
purpose is to provide help and guidance to all members of staff who are involved in 
supplier negotiations for the provision of goods and services. They are mandatory 
and as such must be complied with at all times. 


 
3.2 Contract Standing Orders regulate the arrangements and procedures for acquiring 


goods and services. There is an underlying requirement that where such an 
acquisition is amenable to competitive tender that this mechanism should be 
employed. This requirement is modified in practice when competitive tendering is 
not considered either efficient or practical. 
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3.3 Furthermore there are classes of goods and services which are not amenable to 


competitive tendering, examples of these would be property rental, water supply 
and contributions to national bodies supplying services to police forces either 
individually or as a “community of interest”.  


 
3.4 Contract Standing Order 9 states that “Exceptional situations are those created by 


external actions and events over which the Force has no control but has an 
obligation to respond.” 


 
3.5 In compliance with Contract Standing Orders it is the practice to report quarterly 


every exceptional circumstance where it appears that the normal requirement to 
tender has not been followed. As this is the first Audit meeting since the abolition of 
the Police Authority, this report covers two quarterly reporting periods. The details 
are listed in Appendix 1.  


 
 
4. Implications 
 
4.1 Finance 


All commitments are within existing budgets. There are no financial implications 
arising from the content of this report. 


 
4.2 Legal  
 Any requests to utilise Contract Standing Order 9 which involve new supplier terms 


and conditions are discussed and agreed with Legal Services. There are no legal 
implications arising from the content of this report. 


 
4.3 Diversity & Equal Opportunities 


There are no diversity or equal opportunities implications arising from the content 
of this report. 


 
4.4 Human Rights Act  


There are no Human Rights Act implications arising from the content of this report. 
 
4.5 Sustainability  


There are no sustainability implications arising from the content of this report. 
 
4.6 Risk 
 There are no risk implications arising from the content of this report. 
 
 
5. Conclusions 


 
5.1 The details of the exceptional situations listed in Appendix 1 not only comply with 


the process detailed in Contract Standing Order 9 but represent the Force’s ongoing 
commitment to greater efficiency and effectiveness.      


 
Jacqui Cheer      
Chief Constable    
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Exceptional Situation – Proprietary Product 
 
1. The renewal of Holmes 2 Software Support and Maintenance for ICT from 


Unisys at a cost of £31,427. 
 
1.1 Holmes2 is a national system used to manage major incidents and enquiries. 
 
1.2 There is a maintenance contract in place to provide software support and upgrades, 


which is renewed on an annual basis. 
 
1.3 This is a proprietary service as the support can only be provided by the supplier 


who owns the software. 
 
 
2. The provision of Legal advice for the Office of the Police and Crime 


Commissioner from Three Raymond Buildings at a cost of £180 per hour 
plus expenses. 


 
2.1 A barrister was selected to work on the disciplinary hearing of the DCC, however at 


short notice advised they were unable to attend. 
 
2.2 There are a limited number of barristers with the requisite experience and quality in 


the Police discipline field who could undertake this work. 
 
2.3 In addition to this proprietary field and the short notice, timescales did not allow for 


a competitive exercise to be conducted selecting a barrister. 
 
2.4 Three Raymond Buildings were able to provide a barrister with the appropriate skills 


and expertise within the timescales provided. 
 
2.5 The cost of the service was £180 per hour plus expenses, the anticipated overall 


cost was unknown, however it was not expected to exceed £50,000.  
 
 
3. The contract price increase for support for Audionet for ICT from Weston 


Digital at a cost of £6,827 over 2 years. 
 
3.1 The Force has had a contract in place with Weston Digital since 2004 to provide 


support and maintenance for the Audionet voice recording system. 
 
3.2 This system records all radio transmissions and telephony calls to the control room 


and is essential to ensure that copies can be provided for evidence in court. 
 
3.3 The current contract provides support at Level 2 (7 days 9-5), however it has been 


identified that the support level did not meet the Force’s needs and therefore has 
been increased to Level 3 (24*7).  
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3.4 The existing contract has 2 years left to run and the costs to increase the support 


level for a 2 year period is an additional £6,827 on top of the original contract price. 
 


3.5 This support can only be provided by Weston Digital, who own the equipment and 
the current contract, therefore this is a proprietary service.  


 
 
4. The provision of commercial property management consultancy for 


Project I from GVA Grimley at a cost of £30,000.  
  
4.1 GVA Grimley was originally commissioned for a 3 year period under the OGC Buying 


Solutions Framework, in 2008 to provide commercial property management 
consultancy in relation to the sale of Ladgate Lane and the Purchase of Hemlington 
Grange. 


 
4.2 This project was put on hold in 2010 and therefore the contract expired with GVA 


Grimley. 
 
4.3 The re-commencement of the project requires GVA Grimley to be re-commissioned 


to complete the original works. As they have a unique and historical involvement in 
this process, the services provided by GVA Grimley are propriety. 


 
 
5. The Payment of Performance Rights Licence by Cleveland Police from PPL 


at a cost of £24,431.  
 
5.1 Phonographic Performance Ltd (PPL) own the public performance rights relating to 


virtually all commercially released sound recordings which can be purchased in the 
UK. 


 
5.2 Whenever sound recordings are played on Cleveland Police premises we are 


required to pay a PPL licence to enable royalties to be paid to artists and record 
labels. 


 
5.3 Cleveland Police have not paid a PPL Licence prior to 2013, however the PPL licence 


came into effect in 2008 and therefore PPL have back dated the licence costs to 
2008. Future years fees will be approx £4,500 per annum. 


 
5.4 This is proprietary as the PPL licence can only be paid to PPL and is a statutory fee.  
 
 
6. The extension of the Travel and Accommodation Contract from Capita 


Business Travel at a cost of £36,597 for 6 months. 
 
6.1 Cleveland Police utilises a national framework contract led by Devon and Cornwall 


for the booking of travel and accommodation. This contract was due to expire at 
the end of December 2011. 
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6.2 Devon and Cornwall made a decision not to re-tender the contract due to the 


availability of a framework contract on Government Solutions and the 
recommendation was for Forces to use this framework. 


 
6.3 In June 2011, the Futures Team commenced a review of Force travel, however due 


to a lack of resources the review was not completed. The contract has since been 
extended at six monthly intervals. 


  
6.4 The Force agreed that the Procurement Team in conjunction with Business Services 


would complete a review. This review is complete and has been submitted in the 
form of a business case. However whilst the business case is under review, the 
existing contract needs to be extended further to ensure officers and staff can 
travel whilst the outcome of the review is considered. 


 
6.5 The costs for extension is based on spend from April 2011 to April 2012 and halved 


to provide an estimated 6 month spend. 
 
 
7. The Upgrade and maintenance of IMAP for ICT from Astun Technology at 


a cost of £54,585 for 3 years.  
 
7.1 IMAP is a web mapping application which was developed in 2007 and is used 


extensively by neighbourhood policing teams to self brief and maintain and up to 
date understanding of crime and incidents within their geographic area of 
responsibility. 


 
7.2 The upgrade of the system is only available through Astun Technology who owns 


the system and will increase the functionality to enable the Force to expand the use 
of the system into other Policing Business Areas. 


 
7.3 The cost of the upgrade is £15,750 which covers the development, installation and 


delivery of a new core component. The additional cost of £12,495 per annum over 
three years will provide Open Enetrprise Agreement which will cover support and 
maintenance for the system and replace the existing contract. 


 
 
8. The Extension of the Watson Mapping Licence for ICT from Xanalysis at a 


cost of £22,900.  
 
8.1 Xanalysis supply the Force with an analytical product called Link Explorer (formally 


Watson Mapping) used by Intelligence Analysts to analyse datasets from various 
business areas. The software allows users to display data in a number of formats 
including plotting on a map. 


 
8.1 The software is maintained and supported by the initial supplier of this software 


who holds the licence. This is a proprietary product and therefore the maintenance 
required to ensure that it continues to be fully functional to meet the business 
needs can only be supplied by Xanalysis. 
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9. Participation of an operational pilot for a Command Support System for 


Operational Support from VectorCommand Ltd at a cost of £30,000.  
 
9.1 Cleveland Police currently have a number of silo systems which are used during 


major incidents and events. 
 
9.2 VectorCommand Ltd is a world leading organisation in the Command Support field. 


There is a development opportunity for Cleveland Police to work with 
VectorCommand to expand their current software solution further into the policing 
arena, with the prospect of buying the developed programme at substantially 
reduced fee, however there is no binding expectation to buy the software on 
completion of the development. 


 
9.3 Cleveland Police will use the operational pilot to implement a Command Support 


System which pulls together a number of different communications, display and 
asset management technologies into one interface, resulting in a greatly increased 
incident command and integration between interacting agencies. This will enable 
the Force to make an informed decision as to whether the technology meets their 
requirements whilst acting in an advisory role to help develop the software to meet 
the needs of the Police Service. 


 
 
Exceptional Situation – Operational Emergency 
 
10. The extension of the FMA Service for People and Development from 


Santia at a cost of £21,600 for a 3 month period.  
 
10.1 The contract for a Force Medical Advisor (FMA) was due for renewal. A national 


contract has been awarded recently to provide both FMA and SMP services and was 
investigated to assess its suitability.  


 
10.2 On completion of the assessment, it was identified that the national contract met 


the requirements for SMP services, however did not meet the requirements for FMA 
Services due to the number of appointments offered per day being less than 
currently contracted for and therefore increasing costs. 


 
10.3 A decision was made to re-tender the service for FMA services; however there was 


insufficient time to complete the competitive exercise before the existing contract 
expired. As this service is essential to the Force, the existing contract has been 
extended for 3 months beyond its contracted term to enable a competitive exercise 
to be conducted. 


 
11. The provision of Video Conferencing equipment for Business 


Transformation Unit from Saville Audio Visual at a cost of £14,274. 
 
11.1 As part of the work that the Business Transformation Team are conducting in 


relation to the reorganisation of the Force to meet operational demands and reduce 
costs a need to purchase two sets of video conferencing equipment was identified. 
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11.2 To enable the Hub to be fully functional at the 2nd August, the equipment needed to 


be purchased and set up, however the governance process for expenditure under 
Orbis resulted in the authority to proceed not being provided until July, resulting in 
insufficient time to complete a competitive exercise. 


 
11.2 The equipment has been assessed to ensure that it meets the needs of the Force 


and is available for immediate installation.  
 
 
12. The provision of Business Removal and Relocation Services for Business 


Transformation Unit from RHT at a cost of £15,319. 
 
12.1 A contract has recently been awarded to Pickfords business removals to provide 


removal and relocation services to the Force on a need basis for a 3 year period, 
however all staff who work on this contract will will need to be vetted to ensure 
they meet the security requirements of the Force. 


 
12.2 As part of the Orbis project to reorganise the Force, a major removal and relocation 


project of approximately 300 staff was scheduled for the bank holiday weekend to 
reduce the amount of operational disturbance. 


 
12.3 Due to the timing of the contract award to Pickfords and the scheduled moves, 


which required a significant number of staff from the removal company, it was not 
possible to complete the vetting on time. 


 
12.4 An alternative company was identified who have completed work on Cleveland 


Police sites during the TUPE transfer of staff to Steria and had staff available for the 
Bank Holiday weekend that have police vetting. 


 
 
13. The purchase of Cisco Switches for ICT from Getronics at a cost of 


£12,744. 
 
13.1 As part of the Orbis project to reorganise the Force, a major relocation project of 


approximately 300 staff was scheduled for the Bank Holiday weekend to reduce the 
amount of operational disturbance. To ensure that telephones and computers could 
be connected prior to staff recommencing work following the Bank Holiday, Cisco 
switches were required to be purchased. 


 
13.2 The governance process for expenditure under Orbis resulted in the authority to 


proceed not being provided in sufficient time to complete a competitive exercise, 
therefore the switches were procured from a known supplier who could meet the 
delivery timescales. 


 
 
 
 
 






_1464527128.pdf


NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 


        
 


NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 1 


Report of the Chief Constable to the Chair and Members of the Audit Committee 
26th September 2013 
 
Executive & Presenting Officer: Mr Iain Spittal, Deputy Chief Constable 
 
Status: For information  
 
Civil Claims Statistics 
 
 
1. Purpose 
 
1.1 This is a report covering the period 1st April 2013 to 31st August 2013 and its 


purpose is to advise Members of the number and types of civil claims against the 
Force received during the period, the amount paid out for those claims finalised 
during the period and the amount recovered.    


 
 
2. Recommendations 
 


Members should note that: 
 
2.1 There has been a 53% increase in the number of claims received when compared 


with the same period last year. Public liability is the leading category. 
 
2.2 There has been a 24% increase in the number of claims finalised when compared 


with the same period last year.  
 
2.3 There has been a decrease in the number of successfully defended cases. 47% of 


cases finalised during the period were successfully defended, which is to be 
compared with 61% successfully defended cases during the same period last year. 


 
2.4 There has been a slight increase in the overall sum paid out. The cases settled 


during the period cost the Force £218,590.  This is to be compared with the cases 
settled during the same period last year at a cost of £212,272.  


 
 
3. Reasons   
 
3.1 The increase in the number of claims received is not statistically significant as the 


figures will always fluctuate. 
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3.2 The increase in the number of cases finalised is largely out of the control of Legal 
Services as the Claimant will determine when a claim is withdrawn or when 
evidence in support of losses is provided. 


 
3.3 The decrease in the number of cases successfully defended is not statistically 


significant as the figures will always fluctuate. Based upon appropriate legal advice 
the Force will always seek to robustly defend actions (when it is right and 
appropriate to do so). 


 
3.4 The slight increase in the overall sum paid out is not statistically significant as the 


figures will always fluctuate.  
 
3.5 Number & Types of Claims Received 


There were 58 claims received during the period which is an increase of 20 on last 
year’s figure of 38. Members should note that the claims received in the period may 
relate to incidents which occurred up to six years previously. Legal Services have no 
control over when claims are received. Legal Services do provide feedback when 
scope for improvement in practices is identified in order to reduce the risk of 
claims. The table below summarises the numbers and types of claims received 
during the period. The figures for the same period last year are in brackets.  


 
1st April 2013 – 31st August 2013 
Employers’ Liability Motor Liability Public Liability Total 
8                          (2) 19               (14) 31               (22)  58        (38) 


 
3.6 Employers’ Liability claims are those made by Force employees and police officers 


following injuries sustained at work. There were 8 claims received during the 
period, 3 alleging defective equipment, 3 relating to dog bites, 1 relating to a 
slip/trip and 1 alleging stress following whistleblowing.   


 
3.7 Public Liability claims include those made by members of the public who are 


accidentally injured or whose property is accidentally damaged / lost as a result of 
police activities. They also include those made by arrested persons for false 
imprisonment, assault, malicious prosecution, misfeasance and trespass to 
property. This is not an exhaustive list. 


 
3.8 Motor Liability claims are those made by members of the public and police officers 


following damage and injuries sustained in road accidents involving a police vehicle. 
 
3.9 Numbers of Claims Finalised & Results   


There were 47 claims finalised during the period which is an increase of 9 on last 
year’s figure of 38. Legal Services have little control over the number of claims 
finalised. For those claims where liability is denied, Legal Services simply have to 
wait for the Claimant to either issue proceedings or formally withdraw the claim. 
For those claims where liability is admitted, Legal Services often have to wait for 
the Claimant to provide evidence in support of losses (such as a medical report to 
confirm injuries) before a settlement can be negotiated. 
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3.10 Of the 47 cases finalised during the period, 22 were successfully defended and 25 
were settled. This is to be compared with last year’s figures when 23 were 
successfully defended and 15 were settled. Successfully defended claims are those 
that were withdrawn (whether formally or not) or judged in favour of the Chief 
Constable at trial.  


 
3.11 The reasons for the success or otherwise of a defence are as follows. In those 


claims taken to trial, account has to be taken of the performance of the witnesses 
for both the Claimant and the Force, the strength of the evidence both before and 
following cross-examination and the attitude of the Judge/Jury.  In those claims 
settled before trial, account has to be taken of the witness statements and evidence 
provided by the Officers involved. Clearly in the civil courts, the ‘burden of proof’ is 
that of the ‘balance of probabilities’ i.e. ‘that it is more likely than not’ that an event 
or incident leading to liability occurred in the manner alleged. This is a lower 
threshold than that within other courts.  


 
3.12 The table below summarises the numbers and results of claims finalised during the 


period. The figures for the same period last year are in brackets.  
 


1St April 2013 – 31st August 2013 
 Employers’ 


Liability 
Motor  
Liability 


Public  
Liability 


Total 


Negotiated Settlement 3             (2) 10           (8) 12       (4) 25  (14) 
Claimant won trial 0             (0) 0             (0) 0         (1) 0      (1) 
Chief won trial 0             (0) 2             (1) 4         (1) 6      (2) 
Claim withdrawn 0             (0) 9             (3) 7       (18) 16  (21) 
Total 3             (2) 21         (12) 23     (24) 47  (38) 


 
3.13    Sums Paid Out On Finalised Cases  


The sums paid out depend upon the nature of the case and the figures will 
therefore fluctuate year on year. The table below summarises the payments made 
on claims finalised during the period. The figures for the same period last year are 
in brackets. 


 
1st April 2013 – 31st August 2013 
Employers’ Liability  Motor Liability Public Liability Total 
£26,948 
(£25,825) 


£47,373 
(£25,333) 


£144,269 
(£161,114) 


£218,590 
(£212,272) 


 
3.14  Trends  


The table overleaf summarises the fluctuations over recent years. 
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Financial Year Claims 
received  


Total sum paid on 
finalised cases  


Percentage of cases 
successfully defended  


2009/2010 136 £386,797 38% 
2010/2011 129 £635,125 47% 
2011/2012 134 £471,9011 51% 
2012/2013 99 £558,123 65% 


 
3.15   Uninsured Loss Recovery 


Police vehicles are insured on a third party basis only. In the event of a collision, 
damage caused to the other party’s property is covered by our insurance but 
damage caused to our police vehicle is not. Where the police driver is at fault for 
the collision, the Force bears the cost of the damage to the police vehicle. However, 
where the police driver is not at fault, Legal Services seek to recover the cost of the 
damage to the police vehicle from the blameworthy party or their insurers. 


 
3.16 During the period, Legal Services recovered £14,944 from third parties in relation to 


police vehicle damage. During the same period last year, the amount recovered 
was £16,492. There are 12 outstanding cases. 


 
3.17 Occupational Sick Pay Recovery 


The conditions of service under which support staff are employed state that when 
an employee is absent from work due to injury caused by the negligence of a third 
party, any sick pay paid as a result of this absence is to be treated as a loan which 
is repayable upon the employee receiving compensation for this loss of earnings 
from the third party. 


 
3.18   During the period, Legal Services recovered £5,000 from third parties in relation to 


sick pay.  Legal Services did not recover any losses from third parties in relation to 
sick pay in the same period last year.  There are 4 outstanding cases.  


 
 
4. Implications 
 
4.1 Finance 


In relation to insured risks, the “excess” per claim during the period was £125,000. 
None of the claims finalised within the period exceeded the “excess”.      


 
4.2 Although the sums paid out for insured risks outweigh the sums recovered, savings 


(in terms of potential damages) have been made in those cases successfully 
defended and savings (in terms of solicitor’s costs) have been made by dealing with 
claims in-house. 


 
4.3 Diversity & Equal Opportunities  


There are no diversity or equal opportunities implications arising from the report. 
 
4.4 Humans Rights Act 


There are no Human Rights Act implications arising from this report. 
 
                                                        
1 This later increased to £501,551 as a result of 7 re-opened cases (see year- end report 31 March 2013)  
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4.5 Sustainability  
There are no sustainability implications arising from this report. 


 
4.6 Risk 


There are reputational and financial risk implications arising from this report as 
clearly enforcing the law, i.e. exercising statutory powers to arrest, search, detain 
and prosecute has inherent risks that should be mitigated against through effective 
training, review, risk management, ‘lessons learned’ activities and peer 
review/inspection. 


 
4.7 The Force has detailed policy and procedures that govern and direct the activities 


of individuals in areas of risk, i.e. police use of motor vehicles, detention in custody, 
the police use of force and our operational firearms response. In all these areas the 
regular review of litigation cases and other high profile operations takes place with 
policy forums to improve professional practice led by respective chief officers.  


 
4.8 Finally, our responsibility as an employer is also an area of litigation and cost where 


we seek to minimise risk and discharge our duties as a lawful, responsible and 
diligent employer.  


 
 
5. Conclusions 
 
5.1 Whilst Legal Services have no control over the number of claims received, feedback 


is provided on a case by case basis to ensure assistance is given in managing risks. 
At the strategic level the Force takes its ‘risk’ around civil litigation very seriously 
and works tirelessly to ensure that ‘liability’ is reduced wherever possible and that 
the ‘lessons learnt’ from finalised cases are integrated into operational and 
organisational planning and delivery.    


 
 
Jacqui Cheer 
Chief Constable 
 
Originator of report 
Joanne Monkman & Jacqueline Chaffey  
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 JOINT CLEVELAND AUDIT COMMITTEE 
OPEN MINUTES 


 


   


 A meeting of the Joint Cleveland Audit Committee was held on Thursday 27th June 
2013 in the Inspire2Learn @ Civic and Learning Centre, Normanby.   


 


   


PRESENT: Mrs Ann O’Hanlon (Chair), Mr Stan Irwin and Mr Gerard Walsh  


   


OFFICIALS: Mr Ed Chicken, Mr Michael Porter and Mr John Bage (Chief of Staff) 
Mr Iain Spittal, Mr Sean White, Miss Kate Rowntree, Mr Gary Ridley and Mr Jonathan 
Green (Chief Constable)  
Ms Angela Ward (Internal Audit), Mrs Gill Gittins and Mr Mark Kirkham (Mazars) 


 


   


50 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  


   


 There were apologies for absence from Mr Aslam Hanif and Mr Roman Pronyszyn   


   


51 DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS  


   


 Mr Gerard Walsh declared an interest in Item 4 as he serves on Misconduct Panels as 
required. 


 


   


 NOTE OF THANKS  


   


 The Chair asked that thanks be forwarded to Chief Inspector Kathy Prudom and her 
staff for the excellent tour afforded to Members of the Audit Committee of the Control 
Room recently. 


 


   


52 OPEN MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 16th MAY 2013  


   


 The minutes of the above meeting were held as a true record.  


   


 ORDERED that; 
 


1. the minutes were accepted as a true record be agreed. 


 


   


53 COMPLAINTS AGAINST POLICE  


   


 The Head of Professional Standards informed Members that the purpose of the report 
was to inform Members of the Complaints against Police for the period 1st April to 31st 
May 2013.  Members were then taken through the statistical report and for 
completeness for the three months 1st January to 31st March 2013. 


 


   


 Members were informed that there had been a 10% increase in the number of cases 
recorded during this period (82 to 90), with a 21% increase in the number of 
complaints (162 to 196), when compared to the same period in 2012. 


 


   


 Completed complaint cases had increased by 13, and completed complaints had 
increased by 26 in this period, in comparison to the same period last year. The level of 
upheld complaints, increased by 4, during the period. 


 


   


 Members were informed that of the 59 complaints that resulted in a proportionate 
investigation, only 7 were upheld. 


 


   


 Members requested that in future reports could there be some context to the figures 
reported with-in reports, as an example gender. 


DCC 


Item 3  
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 Members were informed that there had been an increase in the number of cases and 
complaints during the reporting period.  Lessons continue to be learned from the 
complaints raised which are identified in the report. 


 


   


 The Chair requested a short meeting to discuss / propose amendments to the format 
of further reports to future meetings of the Committee. 


 


   


 DCC agreed that this could be arranged.  Chair, Vice Chair and Mr Walsh to attend. DCC 


   


 ORDERED that; 
 


1. the report be noted. 
 


2. a meeting be arranged to discuss future reporting be agreed. 


 


   


54 ANNUAL HEALTH & SAFETY REPORT  


   


 The Assistant Chief Constable (Ops Support) informed Members that the purpose of 
the report was to provide Members with an annual report in regard to health and 
safety and fire safety within Cleveland Police for the period 1st April 2012 to 31st March 
2013. 


 


   


 The Unit responsible for this area of work, the Resilience and Operational Planning 
Services (ROPS) provide a central health & safety and fire safety resource, comprising 
of four Operational Planning and Safety Officers and an Operational Planning and 
Safety Manager who together act as the Force competent persons, as required by the 
Management of Health and Safety at Work Regulations 1999 (amended 2003), to 
assist in the development and implementation of measures necessary to ensure 
compliance with the requirements and prohibitions imposed by relevant statutory 
provisions. 


 


   


 Members were informed that the Force has an established network of Health and 
Safety Groups to facilitate co-operation and consultation in promoting and developing 
measures to continuously improve arrangements regarding the health, safety and 
welfare of staff.  All groups are chaired by the respective District Commander or 
Service Unit Manager, and they review injuries or incidents, local inspections and 
hazard notifications. 


 


   


 ACC (Ops Support) informed that Appendix 1 to the report provided an illustration of 
trends in the number of injuries sustained per annum over the past 5 financial years 
and the agent or factor leading to injury.  


 


   


 Members were informed that reported injuries on duty have decreased during the 
2012/13 period by approximately 17% but still remain the main cause of abstractions 
from duty.  To aid this, new training targets are being put in place to try and assist in 
reducing injuries even more ie restraining techniques. 


 


   


 Members commended the clarity of the report and were pleased to note the positive 
trends. 


 


   


 ORDERED that; 
 


1. the report be noted. 
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55 INTERNAL AUDIT REPORT 09.2012/13 - MANAGEMENT OF THE STERIA 
CONTRACT 


 


   


 The Internal Auditors informed Members that Cleveland Police appointed Steria in June 
2010, with commencement of the contract in October 2010, to deliver a number of 
their core services including Information Technology, Call Handling and Business 
Services including Finance and Procurement.  


 


   


 In June 2011 the contract was extended to include support for the preparation and 
distribution of criminal case files as well as the combined risk and operational planning 
unit, which oversees safety, emergency and event planning. 


 


   


 Members were informed that the Steria contract is monitored and managed by the 
Project I team who are responsible for liaising with Steria, ensuring the contract is 
being adhered to and monitoring performance in line with the key performance 
indicators (KPI's) and performance indicators (PI's). 


 


   


 The contract, details the KPIs and PIs in the Service Level Agreement.  In total there 
are 64 KPIs and 86 PIs which are split into seven areas.  Steria provide monthly 
performance reports covering Police Shared Business Services, Police Operational 
Services and ICT which provide detailed summaries regarding the KPI performance.  


 


   


 The Internal Auditor informed Members that taking account of the issues identified, 
the Police and Crime Commissioner and the Force can take substantial assurance that 
the controls upon which the organisation relies to manage this risk are suitably 
designed, consistently applied and effective. 


 


   


 Members acknowledged that this is a key, long term contract with the Force and 
queried if there are sufficient milestones to judge performance in a timely manner and 
allow corrective action to be taken if required. 


 


   


 The Temporary Assistant Chief Officer Finance & Commissioning (T/ACO F+C) 
informed Members that greater assurances can be given due to the global size of 
Steria and the fact that resilience can be secured due to the fallback provision 
available to the Force should problems occur.  In addition the Force would work 
closely with the Internal Audit to ensure that reporting mechanisms incorporated 
milestones and other indices to aid greater scrutiny over the period of the contract. 


Int Audit. 
T/ACO F+C 


   
 The Chair informed the meeting that the Force had accepted the recommendations 


contained within the report and the Audit Committee would take a close interest in the 
review, especially with regard to benefit realisation. 


 


   


 ORDERED that; 
 


1. the report be noted. 


 


   


56 INTERNAL AUDIT REPORT (ADVISORY REVIEW) - ROADS POLICING UNIT – 
REVIEW OF FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT 


 


   


 The Internal Auditor informed Members that an advisory review of the Roads Policing 
Unit (RPU) Project – Review of Financial Management was undertaken at the request 
of Cleveland Police Force following the identification of internal issues around cash 
availability to pay Cleveland’s share of the running costs, financial advice and 
communication with the Finance Team at Durham Police Force. 


 


   


 Members were reminded that the Cleveland and Durham Specialist Operations Unit 
(CDSOU) is a partnership between Cleveland Police (Cleveland) and Durham Police 
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(Durham) that became operational in April 2011. The direction of the joint proposal 
was towards a distinctly collaborative arrangement involving the sharing of resources, 
with management and staff functions based on similar, if not equal contributions. 


   


 The Internal Auditor informed that the business case was prepared in August 2010 
which included forecast savings for both organisations. Benefits to Cleveland were 
expected to include cashable savings such as fewer vehicles and non-cashable savings 
such as fewer officers, whose time could be deployed elsewhere. 


 


   


 There was no agreed budget set before the CDSOU went live for the initial years; 
however there was modelling within the business case of what the costs were 
expected to look like.  There are two joint boards which oversee the performance of 
the CDSOU; the Joint Operations Group which considers operational performance and 
the Strategic Board which considers both financial and operational performance as well 
as setting the strategic direction. 


 


   


 In conclusion the Internal Auditor informed that the review established that the 
operational model proposed within the business case has not been implemented as 
planned. In addition, the business case only included pay costs based on average 
salaries (as opposed actual costs of staff in post) and did not include non-pay items 
such as fleet costs. As a result, the Internal Auditor informed that it is difficult to 
accurately assess whether the implementation of a joint Specialist Operations Unit had 
resulted in savings for either Force.  


 


   


 In addition, Members were informed that the lack of forecasting information and 
failure to adequately monitor the financial aspects of the CDSOU prior to 2012/13 
resulted in concerns within Cleveland as to whether Cleveland would be able to meet 
its commitment to Durham at the end of each financial year. As a result, the Internal 
Auditor had raised six medium recommendations in relation to the financial planning 
and on-going financial management of the CDSOU. The Internal Auditor had identified 
specific areas where improvements could be made to the overall control environment. 


 


   


 The ACC (Ops Support) informed Members that the Force had accepted the report and 
agreed with all the recommendations contained therein. 


 


   


 The Chair queried if there were other areas of collaboration with the Durham Force 
and asked whether the financial controls and performance management of these 
arrangements could be improved. 


 


   


 The ACC (Ops Support) informed members that there were a number of areas such as 
speed awareness, armed policing, specialist operations including the Tactical Training 
Centre. Members were advised that the Force are now moving ahead and building 
more savings into the business case. 


  


    
 Members accepted the benefits of collaborative working, but stressed the importance 


of having clear objectives from the beginning and rigorous performance management 
and tight financial controls. 


  


   


 ORDERED that; 
 


1. the report be noted. 


 


   


57 INTERNAL AUDIT ANNUAL REPORT 2012 – 13  


   


 The Internal Auditor informed members that as the provider of the internal audit 
service to The Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner for Cleveland and 
Cleveland Police Force they are required to provide the Section 151 Officer and the 
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Audit Committee an opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the organisation’s 
governance, risk management and control arrangements. In giving their opinion it 
should be noted that assurance can never be absolute. The most that the internal 
audit service can provide is a reasonable assurance that there are no major 
weaknesses in risk management, governance and control processes. 


   


 The Internal Auditors are satisfied that sufficient internal audit work had been 
undertaken to allow them to draw a reasonable conclusion on the adequacy and 
effectiveness of The Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner for Cleveland and 
Cleveland Police Force’s arrangements. For the 12 months ended 31 March 2013, 
based on the work the internal auditors have undertaken, their opinion regarding the 
adequacy and effectiveness of The Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner for 
Cleveland and Cleveland Police Force’s arrangements for governance, risk 
management and control was set out in the table 1.2 to the report. 
 


 


   


 Members were pleased to note all recommendations, with one exception, had been 
accepted by the management team. Furthermore, Internal Audit follow up reports all 
indicated that good progress was made in implementing the agreed recommendations. 
Members focused attention on two areas where opinion had been rated red and look 
forward to improvements being progressed and recorded in the follow up reports.  


Internal 
Audit 


   


 ORDERED that; 
 


1. the report be noted. 


 


   


 INTERNAL AUDIT ANNUAL STRATEGY 2013 – 14  


58   


 The Internal Auditor informed Members that in line with the Financial Management 
Code of Practice published by the Home Office, both the PCC and Chief Constable 
must have an internal audit service, and there must be an audit committee in place 
(which can be joint). To support this, internal audit have developed one internal audit 
plan, which reflects their view of the audit needs for the coming year, and which maps 
each assurance assignment to the PCC, the Chief Constable, or reflects where an 
assurance may be of particular benefit to both. 


 


   


 Members were informed that the priorities identified within the Police and Crime Plan 
are the starting point in the development of their strategy for delivery of internal audit 
services.  The Internal Auditors considered their previous work and findings on our risk 
management processes and considered that internal audit can place reliance on our 
risk registers / assurance framework to inform the internal audit strategy.   


 


   


 The Internal Auditors informed that Appendix A to the report reflected the range of 
potential issues that may affect the PCC and Chief Constable. They were used to focus 
internal audits conversations with the senior management team on where their work 
would be most effective.  The detailed annual plan for 2013/14 is set out at Appendix 
B to the report. 


 


   


 The Chair asked if there had been any consideration given to a member’s suggestion 
of assurance maps outlined at a previous meeting. 


 


   


 The Internal Auditor informed that this was possible and hoped to develop such in the 
forthcoming year. 


Int Audit 


   


 ORDERED that; 
 


1. the report be noted. 
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59 ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT – CLEVELAND POLICE (FINAL)  


   


 The Temporary Assistant Chief Officer Finance & Commissioning (T/ACO F+C)  
informed Members that Cleveland Police are responsible for ensuring its business is 
conducted in accordance with the financial governance arrangements outlined in The 
Financial Management Code of Practice for the Police Service of England and Wales 
(2012). The police service also has a statutory duty to secure value for money in the 
use of public funds. 


 


   


 Members were informed that Cleveland Police established a Corporate Governance 
Framework through which the Chief Constable can be assured that the Force’s 
systems, policies and people are operating in a way that is driving the delivery of 
agreed corporate objectives, are focused on the key risks to the delivery of those 
objectives and are economic, efficient and effective. The statement spoken to at the 
meeting meets the requirements of Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2011, 
regulation 4(3), which requires all relevant bodies to prepare an annual governance 
statement. 


 


   


 The Chair commented that the points raised at para 11.2 to the report show some 
specific issues which require further/continued focus. 


 


   


 Members were informed that the Annual Governance Statement provided a review of 
the effectiveness of the organisation’s governance arrangements including internal 
control and risk management systems. The Statement gives assurance on the 
effectiveness or otherwise of these systems resulting in an action plan to address any 
identified areas of weaknesses. 


 


   


 ORDERED that; 
 


1. the final draft of the 2012/13 Annual Governance Statement, attached at 
Appendix A to the report be signed by the Chief Constable be agreed. 


 


   


60 ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT – PCC (FINAL)  


   


 The Chief Finance Officer informed Members that the purpose of the report is to bring 
forward the final draft of the 2012/2013 Annual Governance Statement for the PCC 
and secondly to seek additional Member input into the document that they believe 
may need development during 2013-14 before the document is officially signed. 


 


   


 The Joint Audit Committee had been tasked with ‘Considering the Annual Governance 
Statement for publication with the annual accounts, together with associated action 
plans for addressing areas of improvement and advising the PCC as appropriate’. 


 


   


 Members were informed that the purpose of the Annual Governance Statement 
process is to provide a continuous review of the effectiveness of an organisation’s 
governance arrangements including internal control and risk management systems. 
The report is intended to give assurance on their effectiveness or otherwise leading to 
an action plan to address identified weaknesses. 


 


   


 ORDERED that: 
 


1. the final draft of the 2012/2013 PCC Annual Governance Statement for sign off 
by the PCC as per Appendix A to the report be agreed. 
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2. any further comments or amendments to the Statement be noted. 


 
 


3. the Chair and Vice Chair of the Audit Committee meet with the PCC to advise 
the PCC in relation to the Annual Governance Statement and bring to their 
attention any issues arising from the work done by this Committee be agreed.  


 
 
 
 
 
Ch / V/Ch 


   


61 STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 2012/13 (SUBJECT TO AUDIT)  


   


 The Chief Finance Officer informed Members that under the Account and Audit 
Regulations 2011, local authorities, including Police and Crime Commissioners, are 
required to receive and approve the Statement of Accounts for 2012/13 before the end 
of June 2013. 


 


   


 Members were informed that this is the first year for the production of the Statement 
of Accounts since the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 became 
applicable, and as such there are three sets of accounts attached to the report, as 
follows:  
 


 Appendix 1 – The PCC Group 
 Appendix 2 – The Accounts of the Office of the PCC 
 Appendix 3 – The Accounts of the Chief Constable   


 


The PCC Group is effectively the sum of the other two sets of accounts. 


 


   


 The Statement of Accounts are a valuable source of information for a range of  
Stakeholders including, but not limited to: 


 Public – Accountability 
 Lenders – Security of Investments 
 Partners – spending 
 Government – spending levels and financial position  


 


   


 The Chief Financial Officer informed Members that the role of the Audit Committee in 
reviewing the statement of accounts is essentially to provide assurance to the Police & 
Crime Commissioner and Chief Constable and to the wider stakeholder base that they 
conform to proper practices. 


 


   


 As the audit of the accounts by Mazars is not scheduled to be completed until the end 
of July, the Statement of Accounts is presented subject to audit.  The audited accounts 
and any amendments resulting from the audit will be presented to the September 
meeting of this Committee. 


 


   


 Members then asked a number of technical questions regarding the accounts of the 
Chief Finance Officer which were responded to. 


 


   


 Members queried if the General Reserves were in a healthy position.  


   


 The Chief Finance Officer informed Members that the General Reserves were healthy 
and that a report to the PCC is presented annually on this matter. 


 


   


 The Chair queried whether these papers were available to the public and if this was 
the case how their availability was publicised. 


 


   


 The Chief Finance Officer confirmed that both the papers and the draft Statement of 
Accounts are available on the PCC website. The Draft Statement of Accounts are 
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placed via an advertisement in the local press, members of the public are permitted to 
come in to Police HQ to inspect such documents as well 


   


 The Chair queried an entry regarding compensation for loss of office for the previous 
Chief Executive. 


 


   


 The Chief of Staff had prepared a statement for the meeting which informed there 
were two significant sums included with- in the Statement of Accounts, the payment 
of £170,147 paid into the Pension Fund (not to the employee) and the compensation 
payment to the employee of £81,520. 


 


   


 Members were informed that the previous Chief Executive was appointed to the Police 
Authority on a salary of £90 000 on 1st December 2011 having already previously been 
seconded from North  Yorkshire Police Authority, his former employer. The 
appointment was on a fixed term contract from that time to 31st March 2013 in 
anticipation of the change occurring with the election of Police and Crime 
Commissioners in November 2012.  During this period Police Authorities were 
prevented from making Chief Constable appointments (other than temporary 
appointments) in order to allow the newly elected PCC’s to make their own 
appointments. There was no restriction imposed on Police Authorities regarding 
appointing staff including Chief Executives. 


 


   


 In terms of the pension scheme for staff, pension liabilities are cumulative and can 
accrue across several employments within the public sector. Therefore on 1st 
December 2011 the Police Authority was obliged to take on this entire pension liability 
for this individual. This would have been required to be paid into the pension fund had 
the post holder completed his contract and left on at the end of March 2013.   At that 
time he was of an age when he could draw his pension. It was an existing and 
unavoidable liability inherited by the PCC. 


 


   


 The Chief of Staff informed Members that in making a decision that he needed a fresh 
person to act as Chief Executive and Monitoring Officer in what was a very new and 
wider area of responsibility, the Police & Crime Commissioner (PCC) wished to be fair 
to the previous incumbent. Advice was sought from Weightman’s specialist 
employment lawyers as to what could be the liability for the PCC in dispensing with the 
services of the incumbent. With this established the matter was referred to ACAS who 
negotiated a settlement to include an amount to reflect loss of earnings. 


 


   


 The PCC has agreed a 2013/14 budget some 22% or £270k lower than the former 
police authority. The compensation figures paid to the employee above, are ‘one off’ 
costs, whereas the 22% saving is annual.  In appointing the current potholder, this 
has been done via a secondment from Middlesbrough Council. These pension liabilities 
therefore remain with the Council.  


 


   


 The Chair asked why there had been a secondment made and not an appointment.  


   


 ACC (Ops Support) informed Members that at that time the Force and previously the 
Police Authority had gone through a very turbulent period.  He reminded Members 
that the Police Authority had had three Chair persons in close succession, the Force 
had a temporary Chief Constable, the previous Chief Constable and Deputy Chief 
Constable had been dismissed, and a period of stability was required.  


 


   


 The Chair thanked the Officers for a comprehensive update on the draft Statement of 
Accounts and the update regarding recent activities within the Office of the Police & 
Crime Commissioner. 
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 ORDERED that: 
 


1. the final draft of the 2012/2013 PCC Annual Governance Statement for sign off 
by the PCC as per Appendix A to the report be agreed 


 


2. any further comments or amendments to the Statement be noted.  
 


 
3. the Chair and Vice Chair of the Audit Committee meet with the PCC to advise 


the PCC in relation to the Annual Governance Statement and bring to his 
attention any issues arising from the work done by this Committee be agreed. 


 


   


62 CODE OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE  


   


 The Chief Finance Officer informed Members that the purpose of the report was to 
provide Members with a copy of, and the opportunity to review and scrutinise the 
Code of Corporate Governance for the Police & Crime Commissioner for Cleveland and 
the Chief Constable. It addressed an action within a recently completed Internal Audit 
review: Governance – Post PCC Election Review: Good Governance and Financial 
Management and brings together five separate documents into the overarching code.  


 


   


 As part of the Governance Framework established by the PCC on the 22nd November 
2012 a significant number of documents were approved, some of which had been 
subject to review and slight amendment since that date and which had been the 
subject of a paper to the Audit Committee, while others had not been subject to 
change and as such had not been seen by the Audit Committee previously.  


 


   


  Members were informed that the document brought together five separate documents 
into an overarching Code of Corporate Governance: 
 


 Decision Making Structure 
 Scheme of Delegation (presented to February Audit Committee) 
 Financial Regulations 
 Contract Standing Orders (presented to March Audit Committee) 
 Anti Fraud and Corruption Strategy 


 
The Code of Corporate Governance sets out how the Police and Crime Commissioner 
and Chief Constable will govern their organisations both jointly and separately using 
the six good governance core principles as the structure for the local arrangements.  


 


    


 Members queried para 3.10.8 to the report “to refer all gifts, loans and sponsorship 
above £5,000 to the PCC for approval before they are accepted”, and asked if this was 
normal practice. 


 


   


 The Chief Financial Officer informed Members that this was acceptable and usually 
refers to gifts to the Force such as lands, buildings, sponsorship etc. 
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 ORDERED that: 
 


1. the contents of the report be noted. 
 


2. the Code of Corporate Governance and it contents be adopted by the PCC, be 
agreed.   


 
3. the Code of Corporate Governance is subject to an annual review and that this 


is brought to the March meeting of the Audit Committee be agreed.  


 


 ANY OTHER BUSINESS  


   


63 PUBLIC SECTOR FINANCE TEAM OF THE YEAR AWARD  


   


 The Temporary Assistant Chief Officer Finance & Commissioning (T/ACO F+C) 
informed Members that the Cleveland Finance Team had recently won the Public 
Sector Finance Team of the year award at the North East Accountancy Awards. 


 


   


 The Chair asked that congratulations be passed from the Audit Committee to the team 
on their recent success. 


 


   
64 EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC  
   


 ORDERED that; pursuant to the Local Government Act 1972 the press and public be 
excluded from the meeting under Paragraphs 7 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Act. 
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Report of the Chief Constable to the Chair and Members of the Audit Committee 
26th September 2013 
 
Executive & Presenting Officer: Mr Iain Spittal, Deputy Chief Constable 
 
Status: For information  
 
Civil Claims Statistics – End of Year Report (April 2012 to March 
2013)   
 
 
1. Purpose 
 
1.1 This is a summary report covering the period 1st April 2012 to 31st March 2013 to 


advise Members of the total number and types of civil claims against the Force 
received during the year, the amount paid out for those claims finalised and the 
amount recovered. There is also a comparison between the Basic Command Units.  


 
 
2. Recommendations 
 
2.1 That Members note the content of the report. 
 
 
3. Background 
 
3.1 The breakdown of claims received during the financial year 2012/13 is detailed 


below. The figures for the previous financial year are shown in brackets. 
 
1st April 2012 - 31st 
March 2013 


Employer’s 
Liability 


Motor 
Liability  


Public 
Liability 


Total  


Middlesbrough 1           (1) 14      (11) 19      (25) 34       (37) 
Stockton 1           (0) 7        (11) 7          (7) 15       (18) 
Hartlepool          1           (1)   3          (5)  1          (5)  5         (11)     
Redcar & Cleveland 0           (0) 3          (6) 11      (13) 14       (19) 
HQ 3           (8) 11      (11) 16      (30) 30       (49) 
Other  1  1 
Total 6         (10) 39     (44) 54     (80) 99     (134) 
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3.2 The breakdown of the number of claims finalised is detailed below. The figures for 
the previous financial year are shown in brackets. 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


 
 
3.3 The breakdown of the sums paid out on finalised cases is detailed below. The 


figures for the previous year are shown in brackets. 
 


 
   


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.4 When the report for the financial year ending 31st March 2012 was submitted on 


10th April 2012, the total paid for Motor Liability Claims closed that year was 
recorded as £221,780. Since that time, the Force Claims Handlers, Gallagher 
Bassett, re-opened 7 cases and made additional payments amounting to £29,650. 
Whilst Legal Services have recorded these additional payments, they have not re-
opened and re-closed the affected cases as to do so would trigger the cases 
appearing in later year end reports and double count some of the payments. 
However, this means the additional payments have not been reported to the Audit 
Committee other than by way of this report. Legal Services have asked Gallagher 
Bassett to ensure they do not prematurely close files and so this should not reoccur 
in the future to the extent it has as outlined above.   


 
3.5 For the reasons outlined above, the figure for claims reported as finalised in the 


year ending 31st March 2012 later increased to £501,551. Note, in the report 
submitted for the 11 months ending 28th February 2013, the figure for Motor 
Liability Claims reported as finalised in the 11 months to 28th February 2013 is 
correct.     


 
3.6 Uninsured Loss Recovery   


During the period, Legal Services recovered £20,264 from third parties in relation to  
police vehicle damage. During the same period last year, the amount recovered 
was £13,052.  


 
 


1st April 2012 – 31st 
March 2013 


Employer’s 
Liability  


Motor 
Liability 


Public 
Liability  


Total  


Negotiated settlement 4           (8) 22    (42) 13      (15) 39     (65) 
Claimant won trial 0           (0) 0        (0) 2          (1) 2         (1) 
Chief won trial 0           (0) 1        (0) 3          (2) 4         (2) 
Claim withdrawn 6           (1) 17      (4) 50      (63) 73     (67) 
Total   10         (9) 40   (46) 68     (81)  118 (135) 


1st April 2012 – 31st 
March 2013 


Employer’s 
Liability 


Motor 
Liability 


Public 
Liability  


Total  


Middlesbrough £438 £35,481          £101,047   £136,966   
Stockton £0 £14,194        £32,697      £46,891 
Hartlepool £55,398     £11,906  £69,585      £136,889 
Redcar & Cleveland £0 £5,048             £8,896           £13,944 
HQ £49,054    £7,276 £167,103 £223,433 
Total £104,890     


(£91,986) 
£73,905 
(£221,780) 


£379,328 
(£158,135) 


£558,123   
(£471,901) 
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3.7 Occupational Sick Pay Recovery 
During the period, Legal Services did not recover any losses from third parties in 
relation to sick pay. Legal Services recovered £3,406 during the same period last 
year. 


 
 
4. Implications 
 
4.1  Finance 


In relation to insured risks, the “excess” per claim during the period was £125,000. 
One of the claims finalised during the year exceeded the “excess”.      
 


4.2 Diversity & Equal Opportunities  
There are no diversity or equal opportunities implications arising from the content 
of this report. 


 
4.3 Humans Rights Act 


There are no Human Rights Act implications arising from the content of this report. 
 


4.4 Sustainability  
There are no sustainability implications arising from the content of this report. 
 


4.5 Risk 
There are reputational and financial risk implications arising from this report as 
clearly enforcing the law, i.e. exercising statutory powers to arrest, search, detain 
and prosecute has inherent risks that should be mitigated against through effective 
training, review, risk management, ‘lessons learned’ activities and peer 
review/inspection. 
 


4.7 The Force has detailed policy and procedures that govern and direct the activities of 
individuals in areas of risk, i.e. police use of motor vehicles, detention in custody, 
the police use of force and our operational firearms response. In all these areas the 
regular review of litigation cases and other high profile operations takes place with 
policy forums to improve professional practice led by respective chief officers.  
 


4.8 Finally, our responsibility as an employer is also an area of litigation and cost where 
we seek to minimise risk and discharge our duties as a lawful, responsible and 
diligent employer.  
 


 
5. Conclusions 
 
5.1 Whilst Legal Services have no control over the number of claims received, feedback 


is provided on a case by case basis to ensure assistance is given to Service Units in 
managing risks. At the strategic level the Force takes its ‘risk’ around civil litigation 
very seriously and works tirelessly to ensure that ‘liability’ is reduced wherever 
possible and that the ‘lessons learnt’ from finalised cases are integrated into 
operational and organisational planning and delivery.    
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NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 4 


 
Jacqui Cheer 
Chief Constable 


 
Originator of report 
Joanne Monkman 
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1 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 


1.1  Introduction 


An audit of Attendance Management was undertaken as part of the approved internal audit periodic 
plan for 2013/14. 


Managing attendance appropriately will help to maintain effective and efficient levels of service.  
Promoting a positive attendance culture will enable the Force to deliver on key objectives around 
providing quality services to the public and is at the forefront of the Chief Constable’s mission of 
Putting People First.  In addition to promoting an attendance culture the starting point for supporting 
individuals’ well-being has to be good quality management, effective work organisation and 
progressive HR working practices. 


The audit was designed to assess the controls in place to manage the following objectives and 
risks: 


Objective An effective and efficient use of the Force's people resources. 


Risk 
Failure to effectively manage absence could result in being unable to 
effectively deliver against the Policing Plan. 


1.2 Conclusion 


 


Taking account of the issues identified, whilst the Force can take 
some assurance that the controls upon which the organisation 
relies to manage this risk are suitably designed, consistently 
applied and effective, action needs to be taken to ensure this risk 
is managed.   


 


The above conclusions feeding into the overall assurance level are based on the evidence obtained 
during the review. The key findings from this review are as follows: 


Effectiveness 


 The sickness figures for 2012/13 saw the continued increase in the average days lost for 
police officers and police staff.  The first quarter of 2013/14, suggests that this increase is 
continuing. 


Design & Application of control framework 


 There is an Attendance Management Policy in place that was reviewed in September 2011 
and amended to reflect the introduction of the PCC in November 2012.  The Policy is due for 
review in August 2013.  The procedures apply to all Police Officers, Police Staff, including 
those employed by the Police and Crime Commissioner and partner agencies, where 
appropriate, special constables and volunteers.  On review of the Policy it was confirmed that 
the Policy provides a robust and appropriate framework for managing attendance.  It was 
noted that the purpose of the Policy is to highlight to both police officers and police staff the 
processes to be used when dealing with attendance management issues. The Policy 
identifies clear responsibilities for individuals, line managers and Service Unit managers so 
that when people are absent they will be dealt with fairly and consistently whilst ensuring they 
are offered support and assistance.  The Attendance Management Policy is held on the Force 
intranet within the HR page and Force Policies and Procedures.  Our audit has identified 
some areas where the existing Policy and procedure can be enhanced, specifically around 
contact and self-certification.  Recommendations have been included within the main body of 
the report. 
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 Review of compliance with the Policy and procedure highlighted a number of weaknesses, 
specifically in regards to recording absence, contact and interviews. Specific 
recommendations have been included within the main body of the report to address the non-
compliance.  The Oracle system is not being utilised to record the actions taken around 
sickness absence.   


From our interviews with Line Managers/Supervisors and individuals who had reported 
absence it was apparent that action is being taken, although the action is inconsistent in its 
approach, but it is not being recorded on the system. 


 Return to Work interviews are generally being undertaken, although similarly it is difficult to 
gauge have effective these interviews are.  Within the main body of the report we have 
included recommendations to improve this process to provide support and allow for 
challenge. 


 Sickness data is monitored by People Services on a weekly basis to ensure procedures are 
being applied.  Sickness monitoring is also undertaken at each management team MPR 
undertaken by the Force Executive.  Although the monitoring of sickness, across the 
individual districts is robust, with timely information, it would be beneficial; to understand the 
complete and full impact of sickness, across the Force.  This understanding could assist with 
the allocation of resources.  There is a risk currently that sickness is being monitored, albeit 
robustly, in individual silos, but the overall position and impact may not be fully appreciated, 
across the Force. 


 As part of the audit we obtained the sickness data that was reported within the Monthly 
Performance Review (for each service unit), for April 2013 and validated the information that 
was reported, back to source data.   


 As part of the audit we contacted (via telephone and email);   


 9 Supervisors / Line Managers; and 


  9 individuals who had reported sickness absence. 


The purpose of the contact was to understand and establish the process of reporting and 
managing sickness, as the information recorded on Oracle, as highlighted above, did not 
always provide the required level of detail.  We set standard questions (further details are 
provided in the main body of the report) to ascertain the actual process of reported sickness 
absence.  The feedback that we received provided assurances that sickness is being 
reported and managed, across the Force, but there is an inconsistency in the robustness of 
the reporting and management. 


1.3 Scope of the review 


To evaluate the adequacy of risk management and control within the system and the extent to 
which controls have been applied, with a view to providing an opinion. Control activities are put in 
place to ensure that risks to the achievement of the organisation’s objectives are managed 
effectively.  When planning the audit, the following controls for review and limitations were agreed: 


Control activities relied upon: 


 Attendance Management Policy 


 Sickness Monitoring and Reporting 


Limitations to the scope of the audit: 


 Our work does not provide any guarantee against material errors, loss or fraud or provide an 
absolute assurance that material error, loss or fraud does not exist. 


The approach taken for this audit was a Compliance Audit. 
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1.4 Recommendations Summary 


The following tables highlight the number and categories of recommendations made.  The Action 
Plan at Section 2 details the specific recommendations made as well as agreed management 
actions to implement them. 


Recommendations made during this audit: 


Our recommendations address the design and application of the control framework as follows: 


 


Priority 


High Medium Low 


Design of control framework 0 1 1 


Application of control framework 0 5 4 


Total 0 6 5 


The recommendations address the risks within the scope of the audit as set out below: 


 Priority 


Risk High Medium Low 


Failure to effectively manage absence could 
result in being unable to effectively deliver 
against the Policing Plan. 


0 6 5 


Total 0 6 5 
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2 ACTION PLAN 


 The priority of the recommendations made is as follows: 


Priority Description 


High 


Recommendations are prioritised to reflect our assessment of risk associated with the control weaknesses. Medium 


Low 


Suggestion These are not formal recommendations that impact our overall opinion, but used to highlight a suggestion or idea that management may want to 
consider. 


 


Ref Recommendation Categorisation Accepted 
(Y/N) 


Management Comment Implementation 
Date 


Manager 
Responsible 


1.3a Supervisors should update the system 
with the sickness absence, as soon as is 
possible, to ensure the system reflects an 
accurate position of sickness absence, 
across the Force. Furthermore, the 
contact log within the system should be 
utilised and updated to clearly 
demonstrate compliance with policy and 
to effectively and consistently manage 
the sickness. 


Medium Yes This will be incorporated into the 
sickness absence action plan. 


31.12.13 Deputy Head of 
HR 


1.3b Spot checks should be completed to 
ensure compliance with Policy and 
procedure.  Checks could be completed 
prior to Line Manager/Supervisors PDR’s 
to inform the process and highlight any 
potential weaknesses with complying with 
Force processes 


Low Yes This will be incorporated into the 
sickness absence action plan. 


31.12.13 Deputy Head of 
HR 
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Ref Recommendation Categorisation Accepted 
(Y/N) 


Management Comment Implementation 
Date 


Manager 
Responsible 


1.5 It is an important part of the sickness 
process, for individuals to self-certify 
(authorise) their sickness and for this to 
be recorded. If the current requirement to 
complete a self-certification form is not 
effective, then potentially, as part of the 
Return to Work process, a declaration 
statement regarding self-certification, 
could be included, which could be “I 
certify that the above information is 
correct to the best of my knowledge and 
claim any pay to which I may be entitled. 
I understand that any deliberate false 
information given by me will render me 
liable to disciplinary action.”  If the self-
certification is documented within the 
Return to Work process then the 
requirement to complete a separate form 
can be removed from the current Policy 
and procedure. 


Medium Yes This will be incorporated into the 
sickness absence action plan. 


31.10.13 Deputy Head of 
HR 


1.6 A medical certificate should be received 
for every period of absence, in excess of 
7 days. Details of which should be 
recorded on the system. 


Medium Yes This will be incorporated into the 
sickness absence action plan. 


31.12.13 Deputy Head of 
HR 


1.7a   In accordance with Policy, the 
management visits should be taking 
place.  It is considered to be good 
practice and an effective part of the 
attendance management process. 


Low Yes This will be incorporated into the 
sickness absence action plan. 


31.12.13 Deputy Head of 
HR 
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Ref Recommendation Categorisation Accepted 
(Y/N) 


Management Comment Implementation 
Date 


Manager 
Responsible 


1.7b   The Attendance Management Policy 
should be revised to include the 
requirement that contact (via telephone) 
between the Line Manager and the 
absent individual should take place, at an 
agreed time, each morning of the 
absence. 


Low No I do not support this approach 
as each case needs to be 
looked at individually and a 
contact plan developed to meet 
the requirements of each case. 
By implementing other 
recommendations we should be 
able to deliver the outcomes we 
require. 


Audit Comment 


Management comment noted. 


N/A Head of HR 


1.8 For a consistent approach to attendance 
management, all cases where the 
individual falls into the long term sickness 
criteria, should be referred to the Force 
Medical Advisor. 


Low No FMA appointments for long term 
absence cases are assessed on 
a case by case basis. The 
general practice for most cases 
is that an appointment will be 
arranged at the 28 day trigger. 
However, some cases would not 
benefit from this approach and 
do not present value for money 
and therefore are subject to 
management discretion based 
on HR advice. 


Audit Comment 


Management comment is noted. 
The current Policy may need to 
be amended to consider the 
actual approach taken. 


 


N/A Head of HR 
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Ref Recommendation Categorisation Accepted 
(Y/N) 


Management Comment Implementation 
Date 


Manager 
Responsible 


1.9 The Return to Work interview should be 
amended to include some additional 
questions / information requirements. A 
Return to Work interview should be 
undertaken for every period of absence, 
details of which should be recorded on 
the Oracle system.    Individuals should 
be reminded of the importance of the 
system being closed down as soon as 
possible to record that the individual has 
returned to work.  Consideration should 
be given to including a reminder / 
requirement as part of the Return to Work 
interview, to ensure the system has been 
closed down appropriately. 


Medium Yes This will be incorporated into the 
sickness absence action plan. 


31.12.13 Deputy Head of 
HR 


1.10 For a consistent approach, across the 
Force, where the sickness criteria has 
been reached, an Attendance 
Management interview should take place, 
in accordance with Policy.  The interview 
provides an opportunity to challenge, 
review and provide potential solutions for 
the reasons for an individual sickness 
absence and could provide a mechanism 
for deterring sickness absence in the 
future. 


Medium Yes This will be incorporated into the 
sickness absence action plan. 


31.12.13 Deputy Head of 
HR 


1.13
a 


The Attendance Management Policy and 
any subsequent training should be 
updated to include the requirement for 
individuals to report in as soon as they 
are fit to return to work, even if it is a rest 


Low No If a bespoke arrangement is 
reached between line manager 
and staff to suit the individual 
circumstances of the case the 
contact process should be 
sufficient to gain information 


N/A Head of HR 
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Ref Recommendation Categorisation Accepted 
(Y/N) 


Management Comment Implementation 
Date 


Manager 
Responsible 


day.  regarding a return to work date 
in advance of the return 
therefore enabling more 
effective duty management 
plans. 


Audit Comment 


Management comment is noted.   


1.13
b 


There is a risk currently that sickness is 
being monitored, albeit robustly, in 
individual silos, but the overall position 
and impact may not be fully appreciated, 
across the Force. It would be beneficial, if 
a joint report of sickness could be 
monitored and reported, or a mechanism 
introduced where the key issues 
identified from the districts reports are 
collated and reviewed, in order to fully 
understand and consider the impact of 
sickness absence, across the Force. 


Medium Yes This will be incorporated into the 
sickness absence action plan. 


31.10.13 Deputy Head of 
HR 
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3  FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 


 Controls (actual and/or 
missing) 


Adequate 
Design 
(yes/no) 


Test Result / Implications 


 


Recommendation Categorisation 


 Risk 1: Failure to effectively manage absence could result in being unable to effectively deliver against the Policing Plan. 


1.1 There is an Attendance 
Management Policy in place that 
was reviewed in September 2011 
and amended to reflect the 
introduction of the PCC in 
November 2012.  The Policy is 
due for review in August 2013.  
The procedures apply to all Police 
Officers, Police Staff, including 
those employed by the Police and 
Crime Commissioner and partner 
agencies, where appropriate, 
special constables and volunteers. 


Yes On review of the Attendance Management Policy, it 
was confirmed that the Policy provides a robust and 
appropriate framework for managing attendance.  It 
was noted that the purpose of the Policy is to 
highlight to both police officers and police staff the 
processes to be used when dealing with attendance 
management issues. The Policy identifies clear 
responsibilities for individuals, line managers and 
Service Unit managers so that when people are 
absent they will be dealt with fairly and consistently 
whilst ensuring they are offered support and 
assistance.  The Attendance Management Policy is 
held on the Force intranet within the HR page and 
Force Policies and Procedures. 


No recommendation is 
made. 


 


1.2 On the first day of self-certification 
the individual must:   


Contact their direct line manager 
personally before their normal 
start time or as soon as 
reasonably possible.  If the 
immediate line manager is not 
available the individual must 
contact an appropriate alternative 
manager.   


Report in sick verbally, not by text 
message or email.   


Yes From our sample of 15 reported absences (13 
individuals), testing confirmed the following;   


 In all cases there was no record on the 
Oracle system of who the individual had 
contacted to report their sickness, the time 
of sickness and the initial diagnosis.   


Taking our sample of reported absences, as part of 
the audit we contacted (via telephone and email);   


 9 Supervisors / Line Managers; and  


 9 individuals who had reported sickness 
absence. 


No recommendation is 
made. 
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 Controls (actual and/or 
missing) 


Adequate 
Design 
(yes/no) 


Test Result / Implications 


 


Recommendation Categorisation 


Only in exceptional circumstances 
would it be acceptable for a third 
person to report in sick on the 
individual's behalf. 


The purpose of the contact was to understand and 
establish the process of reporting and managing 
sickness, as the information recorded on Oracle, as 
highlighted above, did not always provide the 
required level of detail.  For consistency, the 
Supervisors / Line Managers were asked the 
following questions;   


 Can you recall how, when and who by 
notified you of the absence reported above? 


 What did you do when you received 
notification of the absence? 


 The Policy states that on 4th day the 
individual should contact the line manager.  
Can you recall if the individual kept you 
informed of the absence and likely return to 
work date?  If so, was this contact recorded 
anywhere? 


 Do you keep any other records or logs to 
record absence for your team? 


 For the absence can you confirm what 
contact and when the contact is made with 
the individual to understand the likely return 
to work date / well-being etc. 


 I can /cannot see on Oracle that a Return to 
Work meeting has taken place.  Can you 
confirm whether a Return to Work meeting 
has taken place and if so, I will need some 
evidence to confirm the meeting and who 
was present. How do you prepare for the 
Return to Work meetings?    
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 Controls (actual and/or 
missing) 


Adequate 
Design 
(yes/no) 


Test Result / Implications 


 


Recommendation Categorisation 


 Finally, are you confident in using the 
Oracle System?  Are there any training 
needs?   


For those individuals who had reported sickness, the 
following questions were asked; 


 Can you recall how, when and who you 
contacted to notify of your absence? 


   Did you contact your line manager at all 
during your absence?  


   I can see / cannot see on Oracle that a 
Return to Work meeting took place.  Can 
you confirm where this meeting took place, 
i.e. was it in the office? Over 
telephone/email? How do you prepare for 
the Return to Work meetings?  Do you find 
the Return to Work meeting useful? 


   Finally, are you confident in using the 
Oracle System?  Are there any training 
needs? 


Where the individual had been on long term sick 
(2/15 reported absence), we included 2 additional 
questions; 


   Can you confirm the contact that you 
received from your line manager/HR 
during your absence? 


   Was there good communication between 
you, Force Medical Advisor and 
Occupational Health?   


Of the 9 Supervisors / Line Managers contacted, we 
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 Controls (actual and/or 
missing) 


Adequate 
Design 
(yes/no) 


Test Result / Implications 


 


Recommendation Categorisation 


received responses from 5 individuals.  Of the 9 
individuals who had reported absence, that were 
contacted, we received responses from 6 
individuals.    From the responses received from 
those individuals who had reported absence the 
following was established in relation to each of the 
questions;   


Question 1 - Can you recall how, when and who you 
contacted to notify of your absence?  


 In 4/6 cases the individual had contacted 
their supervisor by telephone; 


  In 1/6 cases the absence was due to injury 
on duty and the Metropolitan Management 
notified Cleveland of the incident; and 


  In 1 /6 cases the individual stood down 
from duty to illness on duty.   


Question 2 - Did you contact your line manager at all 
during your absence? 


   In all 6 cases, each individual confirmed 
that there was contact between 
themselves and the line manager, during 
the period, albeit the contact was not 
consistent with that required within the 
Policy.   


Question 3 - I can see / cannot see on Oracle that a 
Return to Work meeting took place.  Can you 
confirm where this meeting took place, i.e. was it in 
the office? Over telephone/email? How do you 
prepare for the Return to Work meetings?  Do you 
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 Controls (actual and/or 
missing) 


Adequate 
Design 
(yes/no) 


Test Result / Implications 


 


Recommendation Categorisation 


find the Return to Work meeting useful?   


   It was noted that in all 6 cases, a Return to 
Work interview had taken place, with the 
exception of 1 case.  Where a Return to 
Work meeting had taken place, it was 
considered appropriate and had been 
completed by both the line manager and 
the individual.     


The following 2 questions were applicable to 1/9 
individuals contacted.     


Question 5 - Can you confirm the contact that you 
received from your line manager/HR during your 
absence?   


   It was confirmed that there had been 
regular contact between the Line Manager 
and HR.   


Question 6 - Was there good communication 
between you, Force Medical Advisor and 
Occupational Health?   


   It was established that the contact with the 
Doctor and Occupational Health had been 
extremely positive and useful. 


1.3 The line manager must obtain and 
discuss the following:   


The nature of the illness  


Date the absence commenced  


How long the individual will be 
absent (if known)  


Yes From our sample of 15 reported absences (13 
individuals), testing confirmed the following; 


 In 8/15 cases the date that the absence was 
updated onto the system was different to 
the first date of absence for the individual.  
Of these 8 cases, in 2 cases the system 
had been updated at the earliest 


a) Supervisors should 
update the system with 
the sickness absence, 
as soon as is possible, 
to ensure the system 
reflects an accurate 
position of sickness 
absence, across the 


Medium 
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 Controls (actual and/or 
missing) 


Adequate 
Design 
(yes/no) 


Test Result / Implications 


 


Recommendation Categorisation 


Remind the individual to ring in on 
the fourth day of absence during 
the self-certification period  


Contact details  


Whether the absence is a result of 
injury, assault or accident at work  


Whether any work needs to be 
progressed in their absence If 
appropriate, whether the individual 
could attend work if they were 
assigned alternative duties   


On the first day of absence the 
line manager must complete the 
force sickness notification 
procedure via the Force Oracle 
system through the line manager 
Self Service.   


All sickness absence must be 
recorded on the Oracle system.  
This will enable the Force to;   


- keep an accurate record of an 
individual's absence record to 
ensure continued application of 
the attendance management 
policy  


- undertake statistical analysis and 
monitoring at a local and 
organisational level  


- highlight issues where 
individuals may require support 


opportunity, with consideration to shift 
patterns.   


   Of the remaining 6 cases, there was no 
obvious reason why there was a delay in 
inputting the sickness onto the system.  
The delays ranged between 1 and 14 
days. In 2 cases the sickness absence had 
been recorded on the Oracle system, 
retrospectively.   


On review of the 15 absences on the Oracle system, 
it was established that the contact between the 
Supervisor and the absent individual was not 
recorded on the system.  From the responses that 
were received from the Supervisors it was 
established that questions had been asked 
(although it was not possible to confirm compliance 
with all required questions, as per policy) of the 
absent individual.  However, this had not been 
recorded within the Oracle system. 


Force. Furthermore, the 
contact log within the 
system should be 
utilised and updated to 
clearly demonstrate 
compliance with policy 
and to effectively and 
consistently manage 
the sickness. 


b) Spot checks should 
be completed to ensure 
compliance with Policy 
and procedure.  
Checks could be 
completed prior to Line 
Manager/Supervisors 
PDR’s to inform the 
process and highlight 
any potential 
weaknesses with 
complying with Force 
processes. 


 


 


 


 


Low 
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 Controls (actual and/or 
missing) 


Adequate 
Design 
(yes/no) 


Test Result / Implications 


 


Recommendation Categorisation 


from the Force 


1.4 If the absence continues beyond 
three days individuals must 
contact their line manager on the 
fourth day to bring them up to date 
with developments and advise 
them that the absence is 
continuing. 


Yes From our sample of 15 individuals (all of which had 
been absent for longer than three days) since 
January 2013,  it was noted that in all cases there 
was no evidence on the contact log within the 
Oracle system, of the individual contacting the line 
manager to advise them of the developments and 
continuation of absence.  Refer to the detail included 
at 1.3 above. 


Refer to the 
recommendation at 1.3 
above. 


 


1.5 All individuals must complete the 
self-certification form (A09-01) in 
respect of all sickness absences 
between one and seven calendar 
days for statutory sick pay. 


Yes From our sample of 15 absence periods (for 13 
individuals) since January 2013, it was confirmed 
that a self-certification form had not been received in 
any of the cases reviewed.   


It was established during the audit that as the 
current sick pay entitlement is to pay the employees 
their normal wage when they are sick, which is at 
least the weekly rate of SSP (£86.70 per week, from 
April 2013), the SSP scheme is not operated by the 
Force. Therefore, there is no requirement for a self-
certification for Payroll purposes and therefore the 
utilisation and purpose of a separate form is 
minimal. There is a requirement, however for welfare 
and self-authorisation purposes for individuals to 
self-certify any sickness absence up to 7 calendar 
days. However, if the form is not being utilised, then 
it may be beneficial to consider other methods of 
self-certification.  For example, the self-certification 
declaration could form part of the Return to Work 
process.  As part of the Return to Work a declaration 
statement regarding self-certification, could be 
included, which could be “I certify that the above 
information is correct to the best of my knowledge 


It is an important part of 
the sickness process, 
for individuals to self-
certify (authorise) their 
sickness and for this to 
be recorded. If the 
current requirement to 
complete a self-
certification form is not 
effective, then 
potentially, as part of 
the Return to Work 
process, a declaration 
statement regarding 
self-certification, could 
be included, which 
could be “I certify that 
the above information is 
correct to the best of 
my knowledge and 
claim any pay to which I 
may be entitled. I 
understand that any 


Medium 
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and claim any pay to which I may be entitled. I 
understand that any deliberate false information 
given by me will render me liable to disciplinary 
action.”  


deliberate false 
information given by 
me will render me liable 
to disciplinary action.”  
If the self-certification is 
documented within the 
Return to Work process 
then the requirement to 
complete a separate 
form can be removed 
from the current Policy 
and procedure. 


1.6 If the sickness continues beyond 7 
calendar days (including rest 
days) the individual must obtain a 
medical certificate (fit note) from 
their doctor.  They should also 
personally contact their line 
manager again and give reasons 
for their continuing sick leave, 
likely duration and anticipated 
return to work.  They should also 
give the expiry date of their fit 
note.  Fit notes must run 
consecutively.  The individual 
should also maintain contact with 
their line manager and provide 
regular information as to changes 
in their condition and anticipated 
return to work. 


Yes From our sample of 15 absence periods, there were 
9 cases where a fit note should have been obtained. 
Of the 9 cases, testing confirmed the following; 


   In 7/9 cases, a medical certificate was 
available that covered the period of 
absence. 


   In 2 cases, at the time of the onsite testing, 
a medical note had not been recorded as 
received onto the Oracle system.  
However, since the audit testing one 
medical note has been received and 
included onto the Oracle system. 


As part of the audit we contacted the Supervisor for 
those individuals who had been in receipt of a fit 
note to understand the contact that had taken place 
during the period of absence, as no evidence of 
contact had been recorded on the Oracle system.  
Of the 9 Supervisors contacted, we received 
responses from 5 individuals and in each of those 


A medical certificate 
should be received for 
every period of 
absence, in excess of 7 
days. Details of which 
should be recorded on 
the system. 


Medium 
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cases it was confirmed that contact had been 
maintained with the individuals and notes of which 
were held with the individuals, as opposed to being 
recorded on the Oracle system.   


1.7 A management visit is required to 
take place within the first 14 days. 
Visits can take place earlier if 
necessary or in the case of short 
illnesses may not need to take 
place at all.  In the cases of on- 
going sickness absences 
management visits will take place 
at weeks five and eight and 
thereafter monthly until the 
individual returns to work.  All 
contact should be logged including 
all attempts at contact.   


After the visits the line manager 
should Complete the 
Welfare/Home Visit form Log the 
visit on the electronic sickness log 
contained within Oracle Self 
Service. 


Yes From our sample of 15 sickness absence periods 
the following was noted; 


 1-4 days = 3  


 5-8 days = 5  


 9-12 days = 0  


 13-16 days = 1  


 17-28 days = 2  


 >28 days = 4   


As part of our audit testing and liaison with 
Supervisors and individuals, where responses were 
received, it was established that a visit by 
management had not taken place, with the 
exception of those longer term sickness cases 
(further details are provided at 1.8 below).  One of 
the responses received indicated that they would 
have completed a home visit if the sickness absence 
had reached 14 days.  It is considered a useful part 
of the Policy to include a requirement for a 
management visit to take place, but accept that in 
practice it may not always be achievable. As part of 
the audit we discussed with other organisations 
across the public sector to establish if this was 
common practice and it was noted that it isn't 
necessarily common practice, but there were a 
couple of cases where the management visit had 


a) In accordance with 
Policy, the 
management visits 
should be taking place.  
It is considered to be 
good practice and an 
effective part of the 
attendance 
management process.  


b) The Attendance 
Management Policy 
should be revised to 
include the requirement 
that contact (via 
telephone) between the 
Line Manager and the 
absent individual 
should take place, at an 
agreed time, each 
morning of the 
absence. 


Low 


 


 


 


 


Low 
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taken place after 3 days, which was a new addition 
to their procedure and since then the organisation 
had experienced a significant decrease in sickness 
absence.     


As part of the debrief, we discussed the 3 day visit 
with officers and it was accepted that it would not be 
realistic or practical to expect a manager visit after 3 
days and therefore the 14 days would remain.  
However, it was accepted that a Policy revision was 
required to improve the controls around contact and 
is suggested to revise the Policy and ensure contact, 
via telephone takes place every day between the 
Line Manager and the absent individual. A suitable 
time can be agreed by both parties. It is accepted 
that there are going to be circumstances where such 
an arrangement is not going to be appropriate and in 
such circumstances a suitable approach to contact 
can be agreed and recorded within the Oracle 
system. 


1.8 Long term sickness is considered 
to be continuous sickness 
absence of 28 calendar days and 
over. Anyone falling into long term 
sickness absence category will be 
required to see the Force Medical 
Adviser.  The Line Manager must 
keep in regular contact with the 
individual personally through the 
management meetings.  
Telephone meetings should not 
replace management meetings.  
All contact should be recorded on 
the sickness log.  New referrals 


Yes From our sample of 15 sickness absence periods 
there were 4 cases that were in excess of 28 
calendar days.  For each of these cases we liaised 
with the HR Officer to establish and understand the 
contact made and the actions taken to date.  It was 
established that for 3 cases, where the individual is 
on long term sick, there has been numerous contact 
with the Manager, Force Medical Advisor and in 2 
cases, were being monitored by the Health 
Management Group.  In the remaining case, the 
individual had not been referred to the Force 
Medical Advisor.  It is considered for consistency 
that in all cases where the individual falls into the 
long term sickness criteria, they should be referred 


For a consistent 
approach to attendance 
management, all cases 
where the individual 
falls into the long term 
sickness criteria, should 
be referred to the Force 
Medical Advisor. 


Low 
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will be seen at Occupational 
Health within 3 weeks of the 
referral being made. 


to the Force Medical Advisor. 


1.9 A delay in completing the return to 
work form and entering the details 
on the system will result in the 
absence remaining open.  
Individuals must enter the date of 
the end of their sickness absence 
into Oracle self-service in advance 
of the Return to Work interview.  
The Return to Work interview is a 
vital part of attendance 
management and everyone will 
have a Return to Work interview 
with their line manager on the date 
of return. A Return to Work 
interview must take place after 
every period of absence, even if 
the absence is just for one day.  
The Return to Work interview is 
recorded on the Oracle system. 


Yes The Return to Work interview is recorded on the 
Oracle system.  The following details are required to 
be completed as part of the return to work interview; 


 Related absence 


 Date completed 


 Supervisor comments 


 Employee comments 


 Action required 


 Attendance Management 


 Reassess for CRTP 


 Completed By 


On review of the Return to Work interview, its format 
and content, it is considered to be beneficial to 
include some additional questions / information 
requirements.   It may be useful if the interview 
section could be amended to include the additional 
requirements; 


   Employee Notification 


   Absence level history (in last 12 rolling 
months).  It is noted that this information 
can be obtained from another screen on 
the Oracle system, but it would be useful 
to have this information available as part of 


The Return to Work 
interview should be 
amended to include 
some additional 
questions / information 
requirements. A Return 
to Work interview 
should be undertaken 
for every period of 
absence, details of 
which should be 
recorded on the Oracle 
system.    Individuals 
should be reminded of 
the importance of the 
system being closed 
down as soon as 
possible to record that 
the individual has 
returned to work.  
Consideration should 
be given to including a 
reminder / requirement 
as part of the Return to 
Work interview, to 
ensure the system has 
been closed down 
appropriately. 


Medium 
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the return to work interview. 


   Do you need to return to GP / hospital? 


   Is this absence part of an overall pattern? 


   Are any factors at work causing or 
contributing towards the absence?   


From our sample of 15 absences (both Police 
Officers and Police Staff) it was established that in 2 
cases, the individual had not yet returned to work 
and in a further case the individual had left the 
Force.  Of the remaining 12 individuals, the following 
was identified; 


   A return to work interview had taken place 
and was recorded on the Oracle system in 
6 cases.  It should be noted that in 1 of 
these cases the information recorded on 
the system was not detailed and it was 
unclear if it related to the sickness period 
in our sample.    


   Of the remaining 6 cases there was no 
evidence, on the Oracle system, that a 
Return to Work interview had taken place.  
However, as part of the audit we contacted 
the individuals and it was confirmed that in 
all cases a Return to Work interview had 
taken place, with the exception of 1 case.  
Therefore, the meeting had taken place, 
but the Oracle system had not been 
updated to record the meeting in 5/6 
cases.   


For the 12 cases of sickness absence, where the 
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individual had returned to work, we reviewed the 
system data to establish the timeliness between 
when the individual returned to work and when the 
Oracle system had been updated to reflect that.  
Testing confirmed; 


   In 5 cases the system had been closed on 
the same day as the individual returned to 
work; 


   In 2 cases the system had been updated 
at the earliest opportunity given the shift 
patterns of the Line Manager / Supervisor; 
and 


   In 5 cases there was no reason for the 
delay in the system being closed down.   


It is important, for accurate sickness reporting and 
management, that the system is closed down as 
soon as possible to record the individual has 
returned to work.  There is a risk of inaccurate 
sickness data being reported.  Consideration should 
be given to including a reminder / requirement as 
part of the Return to Work Interview, to ensure the 
system has been appropriately closed down. 


1.10 If a person exceeds the sickness 
criteria within a 12 month rolling 
period they will be required to 
attend an Attendance 
Management Interview with their 
line manager.  An individual will 
fall into the sickness criteria if one 
of the following applies:   


Yes From our sample of 15 absences (13 individuals) we 
obtained a report for each individual that recorded 
the sickness absence that they had previously 
taken. From this we identified those individuals that 
had exceeded the sickness criteria and requested 
evidence that the individuals had attended an 
Attendance Management interview, an action plan is 
in place and that People Services had received a 
written summary of the outcome of the meeting. 


For a consistent 
approach, across the 
Force, where the 
sickness criteria has 
been reached, an 
Attendance 
Management interview 
should take place, in 
accordance with Policy.  


Medium 
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a) The individual has been absent 
from duty through sickness for 
more than 16 working days over 
the previous two years, applied on 
a pro-rata basis for part time staff 
OR  


b) The individual has been absent 
from duty on more than 3 separate 
periods in the previous 12 months 
OR  


c) Their overall sickness record 
displays a pattern of absence or a 
single significant period of 
absence, which would cause the 
organisation to feel unable to 
depend or rely on their regular 
attendance at work.  Line 
managers need to notify the 
individual in writing 5 days in 
advance of the time and date of 
the meeting.  The line manager 
must consult with the HR 
Business Partner prior to 
conducting an attendance 
management interview.  The 
purpose of the interview is to 
discuss the concerns regarding 
the individual's sickness record, to 
seek reasons for and remedies to 
the situation and to agree an 
action plan to improve attendance. 
Written details of the meeting 
must be kept.  The action plan 


Testing confirmed; 


   1/5 has since left the Force; 


   2/5 is on long term sick and no Attendance 
Management interviews have taken place, 
due to this reason.  A further detail of 
contact with these individuals is detailed at 
1.8.  However, it should be noted that the 
Sickness Criteria had been reached in 
both cases, prior to this most recent 
absence and therefore an Attendance 
Management interview should have taken 
place. 


   1/5 the individual had been seen by the 
Force Medical Advisor, but no Attendance 
Management interview had taken place. 


   1/5 has had an Attendance Management 
Interview.  Furthermore, the individual was 
invited to attend the meeting at least 5 
days in advance of the meeting.  On 
review of the interview notes it was 
established by all parties that in this 
particular case, no further action is 
required, due to there being no particular 
pattern to sickness, any welfare issues, 
work issues etc.  It was recorded that if 
attendance doesn’t improve then there 
would likely to be another Attendance 
Management interview.  The notes are 
held appropriately on Oracle and have 
been signed and agreed by all parties. 


The interview provides 
an opportunity to 
challenge, review and 
provide potential 
solutions for the 
reasons for an 
individual sickness 
absence and could 
provide a mechanism 
for deterring sickness 
absence in the future. 
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should include; 


- Details of the absence 


- Targets to improve attendance  


- Actions to improve attendance  


- Action to be taken if no 
improvement  


- Any considerations under the 
Equality Act (if applicable).   


A meeting will be held with the 
individual at the conclusion of the 
action plan period.  If the action 
plan has been achieved then no 
further action is required, 
however, active monitoring will 
continue for a further period of 12 
months to ensure that an 
improvement in attendance has 
been sustained. 


1.11 The Health Management Group is 
chaired by the Assistant Chief 
Constable (Operational Support).  
The Group comprises of the Head 
of Human Resources or 
representative and a 
representative from Federation 
and UNISON.  The purpose of the 
Group is; 


- To review long term sickness 
absence cases in respect of half 


Yes As part of the review we met with Assistant Chief 
Constable (Operational Support) to understand the 
operation of the Health Group.  The meeting is 
chaired by the Assistant Chief Constable 
(Operational Support), attended by the HR Business 
Partner, together with representation from the 
Federation and Unison. The purpose of the Group is 
to discuss longstanding and potentially difficult 
cases and ultimately to make decisions surrounding 
pay.  Cases are reviewed at the Service Unit 
reviews and any specific cases are then referred to 


No recommendation is 
made. 
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pay / nil pay considerations 


- To consider whether cases need 
referring to determine whether an 
individual meets criteria for early 
medical retirement 


- To monitor the overall number of 
officers who have been classified 
as permanently disabled from 
performing the ordinary duties of a 
police officer 


- To commission periodic reviews 
of recuperative and restricted 
duties officers in order to ensure 
organisational resilience and to 
ensure individuals are being 
supported appropriately.   


The Group will meet on a monthly 
basis. 


the Health Group for consideration. 


1.12 Any decisions to medically retire / 
retain an individual will be made 
by the Chief Constable after 
consideration of each case. 


Yes As part of the review, we met with the HR Business 
Partner and selected 4 individuals who had 
medically retired during 2012/13, to ensure that 
there was appropriate and robust consideration.  It 
was evident that the cases had been considered 
throughout 2012/13.  Furthermore, for each of the 
cases reviewed, there was a completed matrix, with 
scoring, together with a medical report and a clear 
authorised decision by the Chief Constable.  No 
further action is required. 


 


No recommendation is 
made. 
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1.13 Sickness data is monitored by 
People Services on a weekly 
basis to ensure procedures are 
being applied.  Sickness 
monitoring is also undertaken at 
each management team MPR 
undertaken by the Force 
Executive. 


Yes As part of the audit we obtained the sickness data 
that was reported within the Monthly Performance 
Review (for each service unit), for April 2013 and 
validated the information that was reported, back to 
source data. We obtained the meeting notes for the 
MPR meetings for the Crime & Justice department 
and Redcar & Cleveland district for June 2013 and 
confirmed that there is a detailed section within 
those notes for both long term and short term 
sickness.   


As part of the audit we discussed the arrangements 
in place with the HR Business Partner, around 
sickness monitoring.  It was established that each 
Monday morning a report is generated that reports 
all sickness for the Force, which is then split up 
between each service unit and forwarded to the 
relevant Manager for review.  The HR Business 
Partner reviews the statistics for their responsible 
area and highlights any potential exceptions that 
may need to be investigated or updated on the 
Oracle system.  


Although the monitoring of sickness, across the 
individual districts is robust, with timely information, it 
would be beneficial; to understand the complete and 
full impact of sickness, across the Force.  This 
understanding could assist with the allocation of 
resources.  There is a risk currently that sickness is 
being monitored, albeit robustly, in individual silos, 
but the overall position and impact may not be fully 
appreciated, across the Force. 


It was noted that the formal reporting of sickness 
data has not happened for some time. Under the 


a) The Attendance 
Management Policy 
and any subsequent 
training should be 
updated to include the 
requirement for 
individuals to report in 
as soon as they are fit 
to return to work, even 
if it is a rest day.   


b) There is a risk 
currently that sickness 
is being monitored, 
albeit robustly, in 
individual silos, but the 
overall position and 
impact may not be fully 
appreciated, across the 
Force. It would be 
beneficial, if a joint 
report of sickness could 
be monitored and 
reported, or a 
mechanism introduced 
where the key issues 
identified from the 
districts reports are 
collated and reviewed, 
in order to fully 
understand and 
consider the impact of 
sickness absence, 
across the Force. 


Low 


 


 


 


 


Medium 
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Police Authority there used to be a bi-annual report, 
but that has stopped when the Commissioner was 
appointed. However, the Organisation is now in the 
process of setting up regular scrutiny meetings and 
sickness will be reported to the PCC on a quarterly 
basis, starting from July 2013.   


On review of the content of the report that was 
previously reported to the Police Authority it was 
noted that the report was useful in its detail.    As 
part of the  correspondence with the individuals who 
had reported sickness, it was established that in 1 
case where the individual had been absent form 
work 13th-16th March 2013, it was confirmed that 
sickness only related to 13th March, as the 
remaining 3 days were rest days.  However, on the 
individuals sickness record, it is reported as 4 days 
sickness leave.  We sought clarification with the HR 
Transactional Advisor regarding the inclusion of rest 
days onto the sickness data and it was established 
that if the individual telephones or contacts to say 
that they are fit for duty, then the rest days wouldn’t 
be included in the sickness period.  However, if 
there is no contact and the individual returns to 
work, then that is counted as the first day back.  On 
review, it is unclear if the individuals are aware of 
this requirement and it would be beneficial to include 
in the Policy and any training that takes place 
around attendance management.   


In terms of the sickness absence data that is 
reported, the working days lost figure is used and 
therefore rest days would never count in the 
calculations. However, as other triggers are in place 
within the policy for attendance management that 
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relate to calendar days, there is a risk that action is 
being taken to manage attendance that may not be 
fully necessary.  Furthermore, for an individual and 
their own sickness record, they should be 
encouraged to report in as soon as they are fit to 
return to work, even if it is a rest day. 
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Introduction 


The internal audit plan for 2013/14 was approved by the Joint Audit Committee on 16 May 2013.  This report provides an 
update on progress against that plan and summarises the results of our work to date. 


Summary of Progress against the Internal Audit Plan 







 


*Advisory suggestions were also included within the report 


Internal Audit Performance 


Assignment 


Reports considered today 
Status Opinion Actions Agreed (by priority) 


  


Audits to address 
     


ICT As required     


Partnerships w/c 2nd December     


Data Protection Fol- Q4     


Service Continuity w/c 2nd December     


Additional Payments Final Report Advisory - 3 1 


Culture w/c 23rd September     


Attendance Manage- Final Report Amber / Red - 6 2 


Steria Contract w/c 21st October     


Risk Management w/c 23rd September     


Financial Planning* Final Report Green - - - 


Payroll & Expenses w/c 30th September     


Procurement w/c 30th September     


Ordering, Receipt & w/c 9th September     


VAT  Final Report Amber / Green - 3 - 


Training As required     


Follow Up w/c 13th January     







 


 


 


Other Matters  


Planning and Liaison:  


We are in the process of completing scoping meetings for the work that is scheduled to be completed during quarter 3.  
Once completed, the reports will be brought to a subsequent meeting. 


Included within this Progress Report is a section detailing the key findings from our audit work.  We realise that the full 
audit assignment reports are also included within the agenda.  However, we are keen to understand the format of reports 
moving forward and whether members prefer to receive the full reports or if the key findings and actions, included within 
the progress report, is satisfactory.  It is our intention to seek views and comments at the meeting. 


Information and Briefings: We have not issued any client updates electronically since the last Joint Audit Committee.  
However, for information purposes, we have included the client notification letter that was issued in relation to the 
announcement of RSM Tenon Group PLC.  This is included at the end of the progress report. 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


Assignment Debrief date 
Draft report is-
sued 


Management 
responses re-


Final report is-
sued 


Attendance Management 27th June 9th July 16th August 16th August 


VAT 15th July 18th July 6th August 6th August 


Financial Planning 2nd August 16th August 6th September 9th September 


Additional Payments 24th July 26th July 


 


12th August & 
11th September 


12th September 







 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


Key Findings from Internal Audit Work  







 


Assignment: Attendance Management 
                          Opin-
ion:  


 


Managing attendance appropriately will help to main-
tain effective and efficient levels of service.  Promoting 
a positive attendance culture will enable the Force to 
deliver on key objectives around providing quality ser-
vices to the public and is at the forefront of the Chief 
Constable’s mission of Putting People First.  In addi-
tion to promoting an attendance culture the starting 
point for supporting individuals’ well-being has to be 
good quality management, effective work organisation 
and progressive HR working practices. 


The key findings from this review are as follows: 


    The sickness figures for 2012/13 saw 
the continued increase in the average 
days lost for police officers and police 
staff.  The first quarter of 2013/14, sug-
gests that this increase is continuing. 


    There is an Attendance Management 
Policy in place that was reviewed in 
September 2011 and amended to reflect 
the introduction of the PCC in November 
2012.  The Policy is due for review in 
August 2013.  The procedures apply to 
all Police Officers, Police Staff, including 
those employed by the Police and Crime 
Commissioner and partner agencies, 
where appropriate, special constables 
and volunteers.  On review of the Policy 
it was confirmed that the Policy provides 
a robust and appropriate framework for 
managing attendance.  It was noted that 
the purpose of the Policy is to highlight 
to both police officers and police staff 
the processes to be used when dealing 
with attendance management issues. 
The Policy identifies clear responsibili-
ties for individuals, line managers and 
Service Unit managers so that when 
people are absent they will be dealt with 
fairly and consistently whilst ensuring 
they are offered support and assistance.  
The Attendance Management Policy is 
held on the Force intranet within the HR 
page and Force Policies and Proce-
dures.  Our audit has identified some 
areas where the existing Policy and pro-
cedure can be enhanced, specifically 
around contact and self-certification.  
Recommendations have been included 


 







 


 







 


Assignment: VAT 
                          Opin-
ion:  


 


For VAT purposes, transactions in the name of either 
the force or the PCC are treated as carried out by the 
same body. 


The majority of police activities and expenditure arise 
from the non-business responsibility for upholding law 
and order. However, Cleveland Police can recover the 
VAT incurred on goods and services purchased to 
support their non-business activities under section 33 
of the VAT Act 1994. They can also recover up to 5% 
of the VAT incurred in connection with their exempt 
business activities. 


Cleveland Police are able to charge for services they 
provide; these services can be either business or non-
business.  Generally, non-business activities are con-
sidered to be those associated with upholding law and 
order, or services which cannot reasonably be ob-
tained from another provider. 


The Treasury Manager at Cleveland is responsible for 
preparing and submitting the VAT returns to HMRC 
each month.  The Finance team based at Steria 
Shared Services Centre are responsible for process-
ing accounts payable invoices and accounts receiv-
able invoices to be raised. 


There are three different VAT categories which apply 
to activities of Cleveland Police, in terms of both in-
come and expenditure: 


 Standard rate at 20% 
 Reduced rate at 5% 
 Zero rated. 


In addition, non-business activities are categorised as 
exempt from VAT or are outside the scope of VAT. 
Examples of exempt goods and services purchased 
by Cleveland Police include insurance and some types 
of education and training, and examples of exempt 
income include recovery of costs in relation to immi-
gration prisoners and abnormal load escort services. 


Examples of goods and services purchased that are 
outside the scope of VAT include donations to charity 
and statutory fees and services including MOT testing. 


The key findings from this review are as follows: 


 On input of accounts payable invoices 
and credit notes to the Oracle system, 
there is an option to select the VAT rate 
charged by the supplier.  The system 
then splits out the net and VAT amounts 
within the ledgers. 


 On raising an accounts receivable in-







 


 


 







 


Assignment: Additional Payments  Opinion:  Advisory 


An advisory review of Additional Payments was under-
taken at the request of the Office of the Police and Crime 
Commissioner for Cleveland to help safeguard the or-
ganisation's assets and interests from losses of all kinds. 


The following two tables show the types of additional 
payments and the total amounts made by Cleveland Po-
lice to Police Officers and Staff between January 2013 
and June 2013: 


Police Officers (£1,630,838): 


Type of Additional Payment 


Total Amount Paid  


Type of Additional Payment 


Total Amount Paid  


 


Acting Up Allowance 


£33,807 


Housing Allowance  


£384,965 


 


Additional Pay on Promotion 


£2,455 


Lieu Time  


£16,495 


 


Additional Dog Allowance 


£5,065 


London Weighting Allowance Officer  


£2,370 


 


Bonus Payment 


£2,950.00 


On Call Daily Rate  


£26,296 


 


Central Service Allowance  







 


 







 


Assignment: Financial Planning 
                          
Opinion:  


 


On 22nd November 2012, the national 
governance structure within policing in 
the UK changed for 42 Forces (the Met-
ropolitan Police had gone through the 
same change at an earlier date), includ-
ing Cleveland, as a result of the Police 
Reform and Social Responsibility Act 
2011. 


The single legal entity that had the name 
of Cleveland Police Authority was re-
placed by ‘The Police and Crime Com-
missioner for Cleveland’ and ‘The Chief 
Constable of Cleveland’. 


As a result of the legislative change, all 
income derived accrues to the PCC who 
then allocates, following consideration of 
PCC expenditure, a sum to the Chief 
Constable for Cleveland in order for the 
Force to carry out the policing activities 
for the communities of Cleveland on be-
half of the PCC.  


The PCC expenditure includes ‘Planned 
Expenditure’ and ‘Community Safety Ex-
penditure’ which are figures needed to 
run the office, deliver the statutory func-
tions of the office and aid the PCC in de-
livering their role and priorities. This fig-
ure equated to £2,628,000 within the 
2013/14 Financial Plan. 


The Financial Plan itself contains de-
tailed and comprehensive data regarding 
forecasted income and expenditure for 
the year. This Financial Plan is formu-
lated from available data and assump-
tions that have been derived throughout 
the year.  


In addition to the current year’s Financial 
Plan, a long term plan is produced to 
forecast and provide a financial picture 
for the coming four years. The upcoming 
financial plan, which contains details of 
the long term strategic plan, is approved 
by 28th February in advance of the next 
financial year. 


Listed below are the forecasted budget 
positions for the Force as of July 2013 
which highlights significant savings that 
are required to help achieve a balanced 
budget position and to help avoid a defi-
cit position: 







 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


Private and Confidential 


RSM Tenon Group PLC 


 


You may have seen the announcement that RSM Tenon Group PLC, our holding company has been placed 
into administration and that the administrator has agreed to sell the underlying trading business to Baker Tilly.  
In practical terms, this means that the combination of Baker Tilly and RSM Tenon which we announced on 25 
July might be a possibility, will now take place. 


We conduct business through RSM Tenon Limited, a subsidiary of RSM Tenon Group PLC and its 
subsidiaries.  I am writing to confirm that RSM Tenon Limited and its subsidiaries continue to trade as normal: 
it is business as usual for our clients.  It is RSM Tenon Limited which contracts with you and which employs all 
of our staff. 


Combining the businesses of RSM Tenon and Baker Tilly creates a pre eminent new firm of size and scale to 
serve the UK mid market, secures the jobs of RSM Tenon’s partners and staff and mostly importantly ensures 
continuing service to all our clients.  It allows our business to continue, free from historical debt obligations, as 
part of an enlarged and financially strong Baker Tilly Group. 


Specifically, in terms of our work with you, prior to this merger Baker Tilly did not have a substantial presence 
in the internal audit and risk advisory market area neither did it have much work of any note in the public 
sector. In fact this was one of the attractions of the merger in that, as a combined entity, we will be the largest 
specialist provider of these services to the UK public sector –a position the new firm wishes to retain and, 
indeed, grow further. Thus, our commitment to you as a client does not change. 


We look forward to continuing to work with you.  You client engagement partner Patrick Green is currently on 
annual leave so if you have any questions in the meantime please do not hesitate to contact me 
(richard.smith@rsmtenon.com / 07768 868932). 


 


Yours sincerely 







 


 


 


Richard Smith 


Partner 


The matters raised in this report are only those which came to our attention during our internal audit work and are not necessarily a comprehensive statement of all the 
weaknesses that exist, or of all the improvements that may be required.  Whilst every care has been taken to ensure that the information provided in this report is as accurate 
as possible, based on the information provided and documentation reviewed, no complete guarantee or warranty can be given with regard to the advice and information 
contained herein.  Our work does not provide absolute assurance that material errors, loss or fraud do not exist.   


This report is prepared solely for the use of Cleveland Office of the Police & Crime Commissioner & Cleveland Force.  Details may be made available to specified external 
agencies, including external auditors, but otherwise the report should not be quoted or referred to in whole or in part without prior consent.  No responsibility to any third party 
is accepted as the report has not been prepared, and is not intended for any other purpose. 


© 2012 RSM Tenon Limited 


RSM Tenon Limited is a subsidiary of Baker Tilly UK Holdings Limited. RSM Tenon Limited (No 4066924) is registered in England and Wales. Registered Office 66 Chiltern 
Street, London W1U 4GB. England 
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This review has been performed using RSM Tenon’s bespoke internal audit methodology, i-RIS. 


The matters raised in this report are only those which came to our attention during our internal audit work and are not necessarily a 
comprehensive statement of all the weaknesses that exist, or of all the improvements that may be required.  Whilst every care has 
been taken to ensure that the information provided in this report is as accurate as possible, based on the information provided and 
documentation reviewed, no complete guarantee or warranty can be given with regard to the advice and information contained 
herein.  Our work does not provide absolute assurance that material errors, loss or fraud do not exist.   
 
This report is prepared solely for the use of Cleveland Force.  Details may be made available to specified external agencies, 
including external auditors, but otherwise the report should not be quoted or referred to in whole or in part without prior consent.  No 
responsibility to any third party is accepted as the report has not been prepared, and is not intended for any other purpose. 
 
© 2010 - 2012 RSM Tenon Limited 


 
The term "partner" is a title for senior employees, none of whom provide any services on their own behalf. 
 
RSM Tenon Limited is a subsidiary of RSM Tenon Group PLC. RSM Tenon Group PLC is an independent member of the RSM 
International network. The RSM International network is a network of independent accounting and consulting firms each of which 
practices in its own right. RSM International is the brand used by the network which is not itself a separate legal entity in any jurisdiction.  
 
RSM Tenon Limited (No 4066924) is registered in England and Wales. Registered Office 66 Chiltern Street, London W1U 4GB. 
England 
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1 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 


1.1 Introduction 


An audit of VAT was undertaken as part of the approved internal audit periodic plan for 2013/14. 


For VAT purposes, transactions in the name of either the force or the PCC are treated as carried 
out by the same body. 


The majority of police activities and expenditure arise from the non-business responsibility for 
upholding law and order. However, Cleveland Police can recover the VAT incurred on goods and 
services purchased to support their non-business activities under section 33 of the VAT Act 1994. 
They can also recover up to 5% of the VAT incurred in connection with their exempt business 
activities. 


Cleveland Police are able to charge for services they provide; these services can be either business 
or non-business.  Generally, non-business activities are considered to be those associated with 
upholding law and order, or services which cannot reasonably be obtained from another provider. 


The Treasury Manager at Cleveland is responsible for preparing and submitting the VAT returns to 
HMRC each month.  The Finance team based at Steria Shared Services Centre are responsible for 
processing accounts payable invoices and accounts receivable invoices to be raised. 


There are three different VAT categories which apply to activities of Cleveland Police, in terms of 
both income and expenditure: 


 Standard rate at 20% 
 Reduced rate at 5% 
 Zero rated. 


In addition, non-business activities are categorised as exempt from VAT or are outside the scope of 
VAT. Examples of exempt goods and services purchased by Cleveland Police include insurance 
and some types of education and training, and examples of exempt income include recovery of 
costs in relation to immigration prisoners and abnormal load escort services. 


HMRC have issued a number of guidance documents relating to the treatment of VAT on specific 
police activities and these, along with other guidance relating to police VAT can be found on the 
HMRC website:  


http://www.hmrc.gov.uk/manuals/vatgpbmanual/VATGPB5000.htm 


Examples of goods and services purchased that are outside the scope of VAT include donations to 
charity and statutory fees and services including MOT testing. 


The audit was designed to assess the controls in place to manage the following objectives and 
risks: 


Objective 
Appropriate controls are in place to ensure the correct accounting for 
VAT. 


Risk 


 VAT treatment is incorrect on financial transactions. 


 VAT returns are not correctly prepared. 


 The 5% de-minimis limit is not effectively monitored. 


  


 


 


 


 



http://www.hmrc.gov.uk/manuals/vatgpbmanual/VATGPB5000.htm
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1.2 Conclusion 


 


Taking account of the issues identified, the Force can take 
reasonable assurance that the controls upon which the 
organisation relies to manage this risk are suitably 
designed, consistently applied and effective.   


 However we have identified issues that, if not addressed, 
increase the likelihood of the risk materialising. 


The conclusions below, feeding into the overall assurance level are based on the evidence obtained 
during the review. The key findings from this review are as follows: 


Design of control framework 


Our review of arrangement over VAT at Cleveland Police identified the following well designed 
controls in place at the time of the audit: 


 On input of accounts payable invoices and credit notes to the Oracle system, there is an 
option to select the VAT rate charged by the supplier.  The system then splits out the net and 
VAT amounts within the ledgers. 


 On raising an accounts receivable invoice and credit note in the Oracle system, there is an 
option to select the VAT rate to be charged.  The VAT rate for invoices raised is determined 
by the requisitioner and is input to Oracle by Steria.  The system then splits out the net and 
VAT amounts within the ledgers. 


 VAT returns are completed on a monthly basis: 


 The Treasury Manager runs a number of ledger reports which are used to compile the 
VAT return.  Figures from the ledger reports are input to a spreadsheet maintained by 
the Treasury Manager, in order to reconcile the return prior to submission. 


 Once the spreadsheets reconcile the figures are entered directly onto the HMRC 
portal, which produces a 'remittance' which shows the amount due back to the Force. 


 VAT repayable to the Force is received via BACs.  Upon receipt, the Treasury Manager 
confirms that the amount received matches the remittance. 


However, we have made one medium recommendation where the design of the control framework 
could be improved, in relation to the following issue: 


 The Force do not currently monitor the de-minimis levels of input VAT on purchases relating 
to exempt supplies, in order to confirm that they are correctly reclaiming input VAT in line with 
the HMRC's partial exemption rules.  Currently, monitoring of the de-minimis limit would be 
difficult due to the issues identified further in this report, in relation to the incorrect coding of all 
accounts receivable and accounts payable invoices as ‘exempt’. In terms of impact on the 
Force, it is unlikely that the Force would exceed the de-minimis limit, as they will have minimal 
exempt supplies (most suppliers will be zero rated).  If the Force did breach the limit, they 
would be unable to reclaim the input VAT relating to exempt activities.  Currently, if the Force 
used the existing process to perform the de-minimis calculation, it would indicate that the 
Force is in excess of the de-minimis limit, but this is due to everything being coded as 
exempt). However, the financial value would be low and if necessary the Force could 
demonstrate to HMRC that is it due to the incorrect coding of invoices.  However, moving 
forward, we have included a recommendation within the main body of the report that will 
assist in ensuring that invoices are being appropriately coded onto the system, allowing for 
exempt and zero rated supplies to be clearly identified. 
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Application of and compliance with control framework 


Testing confirmed compliance with the control framework in the following areas: 


 For a sample of 20 accounts payable invoices it was confirmed that in all cases the VAT 
treatment, within Oracle, matched the VAT amount charged on the invoice by the supplier. 


 For a sample of 20 accounts payable credit notes it was established that in 19 cases the VAT 
treatment within Oracle matched the VAT rate shown on the credit note and the original 
invoice.  In the remaining case, the credit note was for VAT incorrectly charged by a supplier 
however, the full amount had been credited to 'goods' in the ledger rather than the 'VAT' 
element and had therefore not been deducted from the input VAT on purchases declared by 
Cleveland Police.  A Journal was posted by Steria during our audit visit in order to correct this 
error, which will in turn now feed into the next VAT return. We have therefore not raised a 
recommendation in relation to this issue. 


 For a sample of five accounts receivable credit notes, it was confirmed that in all cases the 
VAT treatment within Oracle matched the credit note and the original invoice. 


 On review of the VAT returns for 2012/13, it was confirmed that the returns had been 
completed and submitted to HMRC each month.  For a sample of five months’ VAT returns it 
was confirmed that in all cases: 


 The figures as per the monthly reports matched the reconciliation report.  Any 
discrepancies had been investigated and noted on the reports. 


 The remittance amount agreed to the reconciliation report amount. 


 The amount received in the bank account matched the remittance. 


However, we have made two medium priority recommendations in relation to the following non-
compliance with the control framework: 


 It was established that upon input of both accounts payable and accounts receivable invoices 
to the Oracle system, exempt (0%) was being used to categorise all transactions with no 
VAT, rather than distinguishing between zero-rated and exempt transactions.  Within our 
sample of accounts payable and accounts receivable invoices, 20 had been coded as 
exempt of which 10 were in fact relating to zero rated activities. 


  For a sample of 18 accounts receivable invoices, it was confirmed that in all cases the VAT 
treatment charged matched the VAT rate indicated on the invoice requisition.  However, 
review of HMRC guidance for specific activities identified that in 3 instances the VAT charged 
by Cleveland Police (standard rated 20%) was incorrect, and should have been zero rated.  
Again, for HMRC purposes, the incorrect treatment is likely to be a nil effect.  Where the 
Force have overcharged VAT, they would have netted off their input VAT, therefore reducing 
the reclaim and effectively paying it over to HMRC and the ‘customers’ will have reclaimed 
the VAT from HMRC on their own individual VAT returns. 


1.3 Scope of the review 


The scope of this review was to: 


 Evaluate the adequacy of risk management and control within the system and the extent to 
which controls have been applied, with a view to providing an opinion; and 


 Confirm that control activities are put in place to ensure that risks to the achievement of the 
organisation’s objectives are managed effectively.   


When planning the audit, the following areas for consideration and limitations were agreed: 


Areas for consideration: 


 Testing of a sample of financial transactions to ensure the correct VAT treatment. 


 Review of the controls in place over the preparation of VAT returns and submissions. 


 Review of the processes in place to monitor the 5% de-minimis limit. 
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Limitations to the scope of the audit: 


 We have not commented on the appropriateness of purchases or income; only whether the 
VAT treatment is correct.  


 The work conducted does not constitute assurance that the VAT returns submitted by the 
organisation are accurate and correct, only that underlying systems and data are in place to 
support the returns.  


 All VAT returns are prepared by, and are the sole responsibility of, the management of the 
organisation.  


 Testing was undertaken on a sample basis only and therefore does not give assurance that 
all transactions and VAT treatment are correct.  


 Our work does not provide any guarantee against material errors, loss or fraud or provide an 
absolute assurance that material error, loss or fraud does not exist.   


The approach taken for this audit was a Key Controls Audit. 


 


1.4 Recommendations Summary 


The following tables highlight the number and categories of recommendations made.  The Action 
Plan at Section 2 details the specific recommendations made as well as agreed management 
actions to implement them. 


Recommendations made during this audit: 


Our recommendations address the design and application of the control framework as follows: 


 


Priority 


High Medium Low 


Design of control framework - 1 - 


Application of control framework - 2 - 


Total - 3 - 


The recommendations address the risks within the scope of the audit as set out below: 


 Priority 


Risk High Medium Low 


VAT treatment is incorrect on financial 
transactions 


- 2 - 


VAT returns are not correctly prepared - - - 


The 5% de-minimis limit is not effectively 
monitored 


- 1 - 


Total - 3 - 


 


 







Cleveland Force VAT 
2.13/14 


      


 


5 


2 ACTION PLAN 


 The priority of the recommendations made is as follows: 


Priority Description 


High 


Recommendations are prioritised to reflect our assessment of risk associated with the control weaknesses. Medium 


Low 


Suggestion These are not formal recommendations that impact our overall opinion, but used to highlight a suggestion or idea that management may want to 
consider. 


 


Ref Recommendation Categorisation Accepted 
(Y/N) 


Management Comment Implementation 
Date 


Manager 
Responsible 


1.1 The Organisation should ensure that VAT 
identified on invoices is correctly coded 
on Oracle to ensure that exempt 
purchases can be identified and de-
minimis levels monitored. 


Medium Y Interim processes have been 
put in place while we develop 
more robust working guidance. 


End Q2 Head of 
Finance/Lead 
Finance BP 


1.2 When raising debtor invoices, the correct 
VAT rate should be applied, including 
distinguishing between exempt and zero 
rated VAT. 


To help ensure that the correct rate is 
applied, either: 


 an appropriately trained member of 
the finance team should be 
responsible for checking that VAT 
rates are correct, or 


 appropriate guidance and training 
should be given to invoice 


Medium Y Interim processes have been 
put in place while we develop 
more robust working guidance.  


End Q2 Head of 
Finance/Lead 
Finance BP 
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Ref Recommendation Categorisation Accepted 
(Y/N) 


Management Comment Implementation 
Date 


Manager 
Responsible 


requisitioners to ensure they are 
aware of the correct VAT treatment 
on the invoices they raise. 


2.1 The Organisation should ensure that at 
least annually, the level of input VAT on 
purchases relating to exempt activities is 
monitored against total input VAT, in 
order to confirm that the de-minimis 
levels, set out by HMRC, are not 
breached and that the partial exemption 
rules are therefore complied with. 


Medium Y This will form part of the annual 
process as we move forward. 


Part of budget 
setting process 
for 2014/15 


Head of 
Finance/Lead 
Finance BP 
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3 FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 


This report has been prepared by exception. Therefore, we have included in this section, only those areas of weakness in control or examples of lapses in 
control identified from our testing and not the outcome of all audit testing undertaken. 


 Controls (actual and/or 
missing) 


Adequate 
Design 
(yes/no) 


Test Result / Implications 


 


Recommendation Categorisation 


 Risk: VAT treatment is incorrect on financial transactions 


1.1 On input of accounts payable 
invoices to the Oracle system, 
there is an option to select the 
VAT category/rate charged by the 
supplier. 


The system then splits out the net 
and VAT amounts within the 
ledger. 


Yes For a sample of 20 accounts payable invoices it was 
confirmed that in all cases the VAT within Oracle, 
matched the VAT charged on the invoice by the 
supplier. 


It was established that upon input of invoices to the 
system, that exempt (0%) was being used rather 
than distinguishing between zero-rated and exempt 
supplies.  A further sample of 10 invoices, 
categorised as exempt, were selected and testing 
carried out using HMRC guidance in order to assess 
whether the VAT treatment within Oracle was 
correct.  Testing identified; 


 In 6/10 cases the invoice had been correctly 
categorised as exempt; and  


 In 4/10 cases the invoice should have been 
categorised as zero-rated but had been 
recorded as exempt (0%). 


There is a risk that if zero rated and exempt 
purchases are not being identified on input to 
Oracle, then de-minimis levels cannot be monitored 
accurately. 


The Organisation should 
ensure that VAT 
identified on invoices is 
correctly coded on Oracle 
to ensure that exempt 
purchases can be 
identified and de-minimis 
levels monitored. 


Medium 
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 Controls (actual and/or 
missing) 


Adequate 
Design 
(yes/no) 


Test Result / Implications 


 


Recommendation Categorisation 


1.2 On raising an accounts receivable 
invoice in the Oracle system, 
there is an option to select the 
VAT category/rate to be charged.   


The VAT rate is determined by 
the requisitioner and is input onto 
Oracle, by Steria.   


The system then splits out the net 
and VAT amounts within the 
ledger. 


Yes For a sample of 18 accounts receivable invoices it 
was confirmed that in all cases the VAT treatment 
charged matched the VAT rate indicated on the 
invoice requisition.   


However, further testing of the 18 invoices raised, 
identified that in 3 cases the VAT rate charged 
(standard rated 20%) was not consistent with 
HMRC VAT rules.  Testing identified; 


 In 2/3 cases the invoice related to policing of 
football matches, where the initial licence 
application had been assessed as ‘requiring 
police presence’; according to HMRC where 
this is the case, then the services provided are 
therefore non-business and should be zero 
rated; and 


 The third case related to ‘air support’ provided 
to North Yorkshire Police.  This potentially 
could be deemed to be a service of a 
specialist nature that only Cleveland Police 
can provide and therefore would be non-
business and zero rated.   


However, in all instances the VAT paid to Cleveland 
Police would have been reclaimed from HMRC by 
the organisations involved and Cleveland Police 
have included this as input VAT on sales in their 
VAT returns; the net effect to HMRC therefore being 
nil. 


In addition, no VAT had been charged on 10 of the 
invoices and all had been coded within Oracle as 
exempt.  However, 6 of these should have been 


When raising debtor 
invoices, the correct VAT 
rate should be applied, 
including distinguishing 
between exempt and 
zero rated VAT. 


To help ensure that the 
correct rate is applied, 
either: 


 an appropriately 
trained member of 
the finance team 
should be 
responsible for 
checking that VAT 
rates are correct, or 


 appropriate 
guidance and 
training should be 
given to invoice 
requisitioners to 
ensure they are 
aware of the correct 
VAT treatment on 
the invoices they 
raise. 


Medium 
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 Controls (actual and/or 
missing) 


Adequate 
Design 
(yes/no) 


Test Result / Implications 


 


Recommendation Categorisation 


coded as non-business zero rated.   


There is a risk that if incorrect VAT rates are 
charged on invoices raised, the Force could be 
liable to a financial penalty from HMRC. 


 Risk: The 5% de-minimis limit is not effectively monitored 


2.1 MISSING CONTROL 


Levels of input VAT on purchases 
relating to exempt supplies are 
monitored on a regular basis 
against the HMRC de-minimis 
rules. 


No Cleveland Police do not currently monitor the de-
minimis levels of input VAT on purchases relating to 
exempt supplies in order to confirm that they are 
correctly reclaiming input VAT in line with the 
HMRC's partial exemption rules. 


This includes identifying whether purchases relate to 
exempt activities or business related activities. 


The Organisation should 
ensure that at least 
annually, the level of 
input VAT on purchases 
relating to exempt 
activities is monitored 
against total input VAT, in 
order to confirm that the 
de-minimis levels, set out 
by HMRC, are not 
breached and that the 
partial exemption rules 
are therefore complied 
with. 


Medium 
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Report of the PCC’s Chief Finance Officer to the Chair and 
Members of the Joint Audit Committee 
26th September 2013 
 
Executive and Presenting Officer: Mr M Porter, PCC CFO 
Status: For Decision 
 
Title:  Audited Statement of Accounts 2012/13 
 
1 Purpose 
 
1.1 Members received and recommended acceptance of the Unaudited 


Statement of Accounts to the Police and Crime Commissioner and Chief 
Constable at their meeting in June. It was agreed that the audited 
accounts and any amendments resulting from the audit would be 
presented to the September Audit Committee. 
 


2 Recommendations 
 
Members are asked to: 


 
2.1 Note the changes made to the Statement of Accounts during the Audit 


process. 
 
2.2 Consider whether there are any concerns arising from the financial 


statements, which are appended to this report, or from the Audit that 
need to be brought to the attention of the PCC and/or Chief Constable 
prior to the formal sign off of the accounts, before the end of 
September 2013. 


 
3 Reasons 


 
3.1 The role of the Audit Committee in the Statement of Accounts process 


is set out in the terms of reference for the Committee and includes: 
• Reviewing the Annual Statement of Accounts and make 


recommendations, or bring to the attention of the PCC or CC, 
any concerns or issues. 


• To consider whether appropriate accounting policies have been 
followed and any changes to them.  


 
3.2 In undertaking this review of the Statement of Accounts the Audit 


Committees’ role is essentially to provide assurance to the PCC and CC 
and to the wider stakeholder base that they conform to proper 
practices. 







 
3.3 Members considered and reviewed the Un-Audited Statement of 


Accounts at their June meeting and subsequently recommended that 
they be accepted by the PCC and CC. 


 
3.4 This is the first year for the production of the Statement of Accounts 


since the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 became 
applicable and as such there are 3 sets of accounts attached to this 
report, as follows:  


 
 Appendix 1 – The PCC Group 
 Appendix 2 – The Accounts of the Office of the PCC 
 Appendix 3 – The Accounts of the Chief Constable   


 
The PCC Group is effectively the sum of the other 2 sets of accounts. 


 
3.5 The changes been made to the Statement of Accounts are detailed in 


the Annual Governance Report which is elsewhere on today’s agenda 
however none of the changes have impact on the Outturn, which as 
reported in June was a small underspend of £421k 


 
4 Implications 
 
4.1 Finance 


There are no financial implications other then those mentioned above.  
 


4.2 Diversity & Equal Opportunities 
There are no issues arising from this report to bring to Members 
attention. 
 


4.3 Human Rights Act 
 There are no Human Rights Act Implications from this report.  
 
4.4 Sustainability 


The report is part of a series aimed at setting and monitoring a 
sustainable financial position for the PCC.  
 


4.5 Risk 
Incorrectly prepared Statement of Accounts may materially 
misrepresent the financial position of the PCC Group, giving rise to 
risks to reputation, service and financial planning processes, as well as 
exposure to additional costs. Adherence to proper practices, the 
closure processes undertaken within the Force, combined with reviews 
by the CFO’s of both the PCC and Force are designed to mitigate such 
risks.  
 
 
 







5 Conclusion 
The role of the Audit Committee in reviewing the statement(s) of 
accounts is set out in the agreed terms of reference. This report is to 
provide Members of the Committee with the required information for 
them to discharge this role.  
 
The Statement of Accounts has been prepared in accordance with the 
provisions of the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2011, the 
requirements of the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in 
the UK and the Police Pension Fund Regulations 2007 (SI 1932/2007) 
and give a true and fair presentation of the financial position of the 
PCC Group, PCC and CC and the Police Pension Fund for the year 
ended 31st March 2013. 
 
 
 


Michael Porter 
PCC CFO 
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R  
eport of the Chief Constable to the Chair and Members of the Audit Committee  
26th September 2013  
 
Executive & Presenting Officer: Mr Iain Spittal, Deputy Chief Constable  
 
Status: For information 
 
Internal Audit Recommendations Implementation Update 
 
 
1. Purpose  
 
1.1  To provide Members with an update on progress in implementing outstanding internal audit 


recommendations. 
 
 
2. Recommendations 
 
2.1 That Members note the contents of the report. 
 
 
3. Reasons 
 
3.1 The Force has established the Audit and Inspection Monitoring Board (AIMB) to effectively 


manage, monitor and discharge recommendations arising from internal audit and other 
‘inspectorate and audit’ functions.  


 
3.2 Since the establishment of the AIMB internal auditors have undertaken a ‘Follow Up Review’ 


through which they assessed the Force’s progress in implementing agreed internal audit 
recommendations. This report was presented to Members at the Audit Committee on 1st 
February. It concluded that the Force had “… demonstrated good progress in implementing 
actions agreed to address internal audit recommendations.” 


 
3.3 DCC Spittal has now taken over the Chairmanship of the AIMB and is currently reviewing the 


terms of reference to ensure that they are still fit for purpose. The review is also looking at 
incorporating other ‘corporate health’ indicators such as risk management. 


 


NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 
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3.4 The last meeting of the AIMB was held on 23rd July and this meeting actively reviewed the 
progress of implementing the recommendations and held individual implementation managers 
to account. 37 recommendations were reviewed and 11 were discharged as being fully 
implemented. 


 
3.5 During the discussions at the AIMB meetings it has become apparent that there were duplicate 


actions resulting from different audit reports. These have been merged resulting in the 26 
outstanding actions which fully encompass the 39 original recommendations. 


 
3.6 Since the last AIMB meeting in July four new internal audit reports have been received 


resulting in a further 15 recommendations and 2 suggestions for consideration being issued. 
 
3.7 The schedule of live recommendations has been updated and is attached at Appendix 1.   
 
3.8 Positive progress continues to be made and the AIMB will continue to meet on a quarterly 


basis between scheduled meetings of the Audit Committee.  
 
 
4. Implications 
 
4.1 Finance 


There are no known financial implications at the present time. However, as the process 
progresses the financial implications will be continually reviewed. 
 


4.2 Diversity & Equal Opportunities 
There are no diversity or equal opportunities implications arising from the content of this 
report. 


 
4.3 Human Rights Act 


There are no Human Rights Act implications arising from the content of this report. 
 
4.4 Sustainability 


There are no sustainability implications arising from the content of this report. 
 


4.5 Risk 
There are no risk implications arising from the content of this report. 


 
 
5. Conclusion 
 
5.1 It is important that the Force responds positively and effectively to the recommendations of 


internal and external audit and inspection bodies to ensure continued effective delivery of the 
Force priorities.  


 
5.2 A robust and effective process for taking the recommendations forward is established and 


working effectively. Members will continue to receive updates on progress in implementing 
recommendations at alternate meetings of the Audit Committee. 
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Jacqui Cheer 
Chief Constable 
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1 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 


1.1 Introduction 


An audit of Financial Planning was undertaken as part of the approved internal audit periodic plan 
for 2013/14. 


On 22
nd


 November 2012, the national governance structure within policing in the UK changed for 42 
Forces (the Metropolitan Police had gone through the same change at an earlier date), including 
Cleveland, as a result of the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011. 


The single legal entity that had the name of Cleveland Police Authority was replaced by ‘The Police 
and Crime Commissioner for Cleveland’ and ‘The Chief Constable of Cleveland’. 


As a result of the legislative change, all income derived accrues to the PCC who then allocates, 
following consideration of PCC expenditure, a sum to the Chief Constable for Cleveland in order for 
the Force to carry out the policing activities for the communities of Cleveland on behalf of the PCC.  


The PCC expenditure includes ‘Planned Expenditure’ and ‘Community Safety Expenditure’ which 
are figures needed to run the office, deliver the statutory functions of the office and aid the PCC in 
delivering their role and priorities. This figure equated to £2,628,000 within the 2013/14 Financial 
Plan. 


The Financial Plan itself contains detailed and comprehensive data regarding forecasted income 
and expenditure for the year. This Financial Plan is formulated from available data and assumptions 
that have been derived throughout the year.  


In addition to the current year’s Financial Plan, a long term plan is produced to forecast and provide 
a financial picture for the coming four years. The upcoming financial plan, which contains details of 
the long term strategic plan, is approved by 28th February in advance of the next financial year. 


Listed below are the forecasted budget positions for the Force as of July 2013 which highlights 
significant savings that are required to help achieve a balanced budget position and to help avoid a 
deficit position: 


 


  2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 


  £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s 


Funding           


Police Grant less PCC 
budget and CSF (50,249) (47,549) (45,865) (44,740) (43,989) 


RSG/National Non 
Domestic Rate (42,300) (40,782) (39,342) (38,378) (37,741) 


Total Formula Funding (92,549) (88,331) (85,207) (83,118) (81,730) 


Council Tax Precept/LCTSS (34,455) (34,734) (35,289) (35,855) (36,432) 


Funding for Net Budget 
Requirement (127,004) (123,065) (120,496) (118,973) (118,162) 


Specific Grants (6,394) (6,394) (6,394) (5,594) (5,594) 


Partnership Income (50) (50) (50) (50) (50) 


Fees and Charges (2,312) (2,310) (2,370) (2,370) (2,370) 


Total Funding (135,759) (131,818) (129,309) (126,986) (126,175) 


            


Planned Expenditure           


Police Pay 74,053 72,904 74,227 76,995 79,425 


Police Community Support 


Officer Pay 4,885 4,981 5,318 5,549 5,707 


Staff Pay 8,146 7,569 7,651 8,017 8,279 


Non Pay Expenditure 47,635 48,132 48,770 49,405 50,640 


Total Planned 


Expenditure 134,719 133,586 135,967 139,966 144,050 


            


Surplus/Deficit (1,040) 1,767 6,657 12,980 17,875 
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The responsibility of the budget is delegated by the PCC and the Chief Constable to the Force’s 
Assistant Chief Officer and the Chief Finance Officer. 


The audit was designed to assess the controls in place to manage the following objectives and 
risks: 
 


Objective Robust financial planning and control processes 


Risk Further and future budget cuts from Central Government 


  


1.2 Conclusion 


 


Taking account of the issues identified, the Office of the Police 
and Crime Commissioner for Cleveland and Cleveland Force can 
take substantial assurance that the controls upon which the 
organisation relies to manage this risk are suitably designed, 
consistently applied and effective. 


 


The above conclusions feeding into the overall assurance level are based on the evidence obtained 
during the review.  


Review of the systems and procedures in place regarding financial planning, established that there 
were well-designed controls in place that were supported by reasonable assumptions. 


Full details of the testing carried out and the results of this are included in section 2 of this report. 


1.3 Scope of the review 


When planning the audit, the following areas for review and limitations were agreed. 


Areas for consideration: 


� As part of the audit we obtained and reviewed a copy of the most recent Financial Plan.  We 
reviewed the robustness and appropriateness of the assumptions made and challenged the 
assumptions, where appropriate.   


� For the assumptions made, we ensured that there was a clear audit trail to support the 
decision being made. 


� We have sought to provide assurance that the Financial Plan has been approved 
appropriately by the PCC. 


� We sought to provide assurance that financial matters (i.e quarterly updates against the 
Financial Plan) are reported appropriately (included on the internet, as appropriate), by both 
the PCC and Force. 


� For the most recent quarterly update report, we sought to provide assurance that the data 
reported had been extracted directly from the financial ledger and that any differences were 
supported by appropriate working papers. 


Limitations to the scope of the audit: 


� Testing was on a sample basis and therefore we do not provide assurance that all aspects of 
the current Financial Plan were accurate.  


� Where calculations have been performed, based on payroll and HR system data we have not 
validated this data and cannot give assurance that it is accurate.  


� Our work does not provide any guarantee against material errors, loss or fraud or provide an 
absolute assurance that material error, loss or fraud does not exist. 
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The approach taken for this audit was a Key Controls Audit. 


1.4 Recommendations Summary 


There were no recommendations made as a result of our audit work performed.   


We have however made two suggestions (included in section 2 below) which the Force may wish to 
consider, in order to further enhance the over control framework. 


Suggestions Made During the Audit 


It may be beneficial for the Force to consider undertaking an analysis of actual average costs for 
Police Staff and PCSO's on a bi-annual basis in order to compare this with the historic 
assumptions used. 


 


Consideration should be given to retaining supporting information which shows that the overall 
Financial Plan has been reviewed and formally approved by the Executive. 
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2  ACTION PLAN 


 The priority of the recommendations made is as follows: 


Priority Description 


High 


Recommendations are prioritised to reflect our assessment of risk associated with the control weaknesses. Medium 


Low 


Suggestion These are not formal recommendations that impact our overall opinion, but used to highlight a suggestion or idea that management may want to 
consider. 


 


Ref Suggestion  Management Comment 


2.1 The Force should consider undertaking an analysis of actual 
average costs for Police Staff and PCSO's on a bi-annual 
basis in order to compare this with the historic assumptions 
used. 


Agreed 


3.1 


  


The Force should consider retaining supporting information 
which shows that the overall Financial Plan has been 
reviewed and formally approved by the Executive. 


Agreed 
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3 FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 


This report has been prepared in full and therefore covers all aspects of the audit work and testing undertaken. 


 


 Controls (actual and/or 
missing) 


Adequate 
Design 
(yes/no) 


Test Result / Implications 


 


Recommendation Categorisation 


 Income - There are four main parts that formulate the income section of the Financial Plan:   


1.1 CSR (Comprehensive Spending 
Review)   


The government decide on the 
level of funding for the year and 
contact the PCC to advise them 
of the grant awarded.   This figure 
then feeds into the Financial Plan.    


Yes Review of the grant report published in December 
2012 ascertained the funding for 2013/14 would be 
£92,548,500.  


Review of the Financial Plan for 2013/14 confirmed 
the amount reconciled (with roundings £92,549,000) 
and had therefore been accurately fed into the plan. 


It was noted that no indication was given by the 
Government as to grant reductions for 2014/15 and 
2015. However, review of the Financial Plan 
confirmed that a prudent % reduction had been 
applied until the final information is released by the 
Government in December 2013. 


N/A N/A 


1.2 Precept Funding    


Precept funding is set by the PCC 
and includes a pre-determined 
inflation percentile rise per 
annum.    


This percentage is discussed and 
appropriately authorised. 


Yes It was established that the Chief Finance Officer and 
Deputy Chief Executive decided on the precept 
funding increase.  


This was set at 1.99% as anything over 2% would 
have required a referendum which would have cost 
approximately £500,000.   


Evidence confirmed that a paper was sent to the 
PCC in February 2013, during the budget setting 
process for review and to authorise this percentage 
increase.  


N/A N/A 
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 Controls (actual and/or 
missing) 


Adequate 
Design 
(yes/no) 


Test Result / Implications 


 


Recommendation Categorisation 


1.3 Fees and Charges 


Income is received on an ad hoc 
basis for Force participation in 
events. This income is received 
mostly due to sporting events.    


As the budget is set in February 
this is based upon assumptions 
as schedules, such as football 
matches, are not released until a 
later date.  


Yes Discussions with the Head of Finance confirmed 
that the fees and charges income assumptions were 
based upon previous year’s actuals with a slight 
over recovery rate applied. This is due to the 
fluctuating nature of the income. 


It was established that the fee received was 
dependent upon the league positions of sporting 
teams. This was not actively monitored and updated 
upon the release of fixtures and schedules.    


It was found that this income received equates to 
less than 1% of the overall income due to a 
shortage in commercial income.  


Review of the previous year’s actuals and budgets 
confirmed that the income had not varied greatly, in 
relation to the overall budgeted income. 


Therefore it was determined that the assumption 
based on the previous year’s actuals was 
reasonable. 


N/A N/A 


1.4 Special Grants   


There is a schedule of special 
grants which the organisation 
receive from various sources.  


These include grants that are 
fixed over the life of a contract 
and vary on an annual basis.    


Yes PFI Grant - Urlay Nook/ Action Stations; 


It was evidenced that the PFI Grant was included in 
the Financial Plan based on the life of the grant and 
was fixed until 2017/18. 


Protective Services; 


This Grant varied on an annual basis depending on 
the announcement from the Home Office. Evidence 
was obtained which confirmed the funding letter had 
been received in April 2013, after the budget setting 
process.  


Review of the budget for 2013/14 confirmed that it 


N/A N/A 
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 Controls (actual and/or 
missing) 


Adequate 
Design 
(yes/no) 


Test Result / Implications 


 


Recommendation Categorisation 


was budgeted at £945,000 and had been added into 
the Financial Plan as part of the quarter one update. 
As there was no mention of future years, this had 
been fixed for 2014/15- to 2017/18. 


 Expenditure - There are three main parts that formulate the expenditure section on the Financial Plan: 


2.1 Police Pay   


This budget is produced based 
upon actual staff in post for the 
previous year.  


This is then multiplied by the 
average cost per FTE (using total 
cost of police pay for the previous 
financial year).   


In producing this calculation, it 
captures forced A19 retirements 
and any leavers/ transfers that 
may occur.    


Yes It was established that each November a schedule 
of actuals in post (for Police Officers) are sent to the 
Head of Finance. This contains the rank of the 
Officer, the number of FTEs and the total and 
average cost associated with this.  


Built into this schedule is the confirmed number of 
A19's for the year. 


In addition, leavers over and above A19 are 
removed from the budget (the average for 2013/14 
is currently set at six). Review of the actuals for 
2012/13 confirmed that there was a variance of 28 
but evidence was obtained that confirmed that this 
was caused by 21 roles not being civilianised as 
expected and no natural recruitment within the year.  


This left an amended staff figure which was 
multiplied against the average cost per FTE ( the 
cost used for 2013/14 was £50,000) 


Evidence was obtained that this figure was 
populated by using 2012/13 actuals in November 
(total cost per employee divided by FTE posts) 


Review of the schedule sent from the Pension 
Administrators confirmed that there were 40 A19's 
for 13/14.  


To gauge if the average cost for 2013/14 was 


The Force should 
consider undertaking an 
analysis of actual 
average costs for Police 
Staff and PCSO's on a bi-
annual basis in order to 
compare this with the 
historic assumptions 
used. 


Suggestion 
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 Controls (actual and/or 
missing) 


Adequate 
Design 
(yes/no) 


Test Result / Implications 


 


Recommendation Categorisation 


reasonable, transactional testing was undertaken 
around A19's. 


This confirmed that the total pro-rata salary amount 
for 2013/14 was £1,216,768 which equates to 
£30,419.20 plus approximately 24% for National 
insurance and additional costs equating to 
£37,719.76. 


It was deemed that this was reasonable as the 
difference was less than 1% of the overall budgeted 
expenditure. 


2.2 Police Community Support Officer 
Pay and Support Staff Pay   


This expenditure is budgeted by 
assessing the previous year 
actual posts and deducting posts 
for estimated leavers and 
changes of circumstances.     


The expenditure for the support 
staff is captured within the 
Financial Plan.  


This figure is more constant due 
to the workforce stability 
associated with support staff and 
therefore is more accurate. 


Yes It was established that the budget for support staff 
was based upon post by post from previous years 
actual data.  


Police Staff: 


It was evidenced that there were 257.7 
establishment posts in 2012/13 of which 10 were 
part of the PCC budget and 21 civilian posts never 
materialised. In addition, discussions with the PCC 
removed another 5 posts.  


This left approximately 219 posts once the vacancy 
rate (Set at 1%) had been removed. This was then 
multiplied by a set figure of £35,000.  


This assumption figure has been used historically 
and is not adapted based on actual average wage.  


PCSO: 


It was evidenced that an average number of staff 
was calculated using actuals from the previous year 
and budgeted leavers. For 2013/14 the 
establishment number was 158 which was 


See 2.1 above N/A 
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 Controls (actual and/or 
missing) 


Adequate 
Design 
(yes/no) 


Test Result / Implications 


 


Recommendation Categorisation 


multiplied by £30,000.  


This assumption figure has been used historically 
and is not adapted based on actual average wage.  


Further testing on the staff pay figure for 2013/14 
(£7,597,000) confirmed that: 


� Average actual police staff FTEs for year 
(based on start and end periods) was 230 


� Average actual CSO FTEs for year (start 
and end) was163 


� The total police staff cost for 2012/13 was 
£9,194,631 


� The total CSO cost for 2012/13 was 
£5,049,732 


Therefore the actual average cost for 2012/13 was: 


� Police Staff - £39,977 
� PCSO - £30,980 


This therefore confirmed that the assumptions used 
within the Financial Plan were reasonable. 


2.3 Non-pay expenditure 


Non-pay expenditure through 
procurement is analysed so that 
any savings through contract 
management can be realised.  
The Head of Finance receives a 
list of procurement savings over a 
12 month period which affects the 
budget.  


Yes It was established that the non-pay budget was 
based upon the previous year, taking into account 
savings that could be achieved in the coming year, 
plus an addition of 1.75% for inflation applied to 
certain areas of non-pay, which included the Steria 
contract, PFI, rates and utilities and fuel.  


Transactional testing confirmed that there was 
evidence in place that Procurement had advised 
Finance on the savings that could be realised and 
that these movements had been amended in the 
forecast.  The saving over the life of the contracts 
had been recognised in the Financial Plan in each 


N/A N/A 
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 Controls (actual and/or 
missing) 


Adequate 
Design 
(yes/no) 


Test Result / Implications 


 


Recommendation Categorisation 


year that the saving was expected to be realised. 


 Approval and Monitoring 


3.1 The overall Financial Plan is 
approved prior to the start of the 
financial year to ensure that all 
calculations are adequate and 
appropriate. 


Yes Discussions with the Temporary Assistant Chief 
Officer confirmed that the Financial Plan for 2013/14 
had been reviewed and approved in February 2013 
by the Executive and a copy had been sent to the 
PCC.    


However it was ascertained that the Executive 
meeting is not minuted so there was no evidence to 
support this.  


The Force should 
consider retaining 
supporting information 
which shows that the 
overall Financial Plan has 
been reviewed and 
formally approved by the 
Executive. 


Suggestion 


3.2 On a monthly basis, budget 
monitoring is undertaken and 
reported to the Temporary 
Assistant Chief Officer.   


This records actuals against 
budgeted position for the current 
Financial Plan.  Any 
discrepancies are documented 
with narrative/working papers.  


Yes For the three months 30
th
 June, 31


st
 May and 30


th
 


April 2013 evidence was obtained which confirmed 
the production of monthly budget reports.  


Review of these budget reports confirmed that they 
captured actuals against budget.  


It was noted that discrepancies had been 
highlighted and narrative was attached to each area 
of pay and income to explain the reasons for the 
variances.  


It was established that these reports were sent to 
the Temporary Assistant Chief Officer to update the 
Executive and presented with the quarterly update 
to the PCC. 


N/A N/A 


3.3 Each month a budget monitoring 
report is produced which tracks 
actual to budgeted performance.  


These figures are directly linked 


Yes Transactional testing confirmed that for a sample of 
lines from a worksheet underpinning the previous 
monthly budgetary report, in all cases the amount 
on the budgetary report matched back to the 


N/A N/A 
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 Controls (actual and/or 
missing) 


Adequate 
Design 
(yes/no) 


Test Result / Implications 


 


Recommendation Categorisation 


to the financial ledger to ensure 
accuracy.  


financial ledger within the Oracle system. 


3.4 On a quarterly basis, the long 
term plan is presented and 
discussed at Executive/ PCC 
allowing the LTP to be constantly 
updated.  


This quarterly report is 
disseminated to the Force 
following review by the Executive. 


Yes Evidence was obtained which confirmed the 
production of a quarterly update regarding the Long 
Term Strategic Plan for 2014/15 which was 
presented to both the Executive and PCC.  


Discussions with the Temporary Assistant Chief 
Officer established that the quarterly update was 
presented at the Executive meeting, w/c 1


st
 July 


2013. 


Review of this plan confirmed that it showed the 
revised Long Term Financial Plan based on any 
changes to assumptions/ funding for the year.  


Furthermore, the plan detailed significant savings 
that needed to be realised over the coming years 
and documented the cumulative deficit forecasted.  


Discussions with the Temporary Assistant Chief 
Officer confirmed that this update would be 
disseminated to the Force in due course and 
uploaded onto their internet for public display. 


N/A N/A 
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EXPLANATORY FOREWORD AND FINANCIAL REVIEW 
 


1. INTRODUCTION 
 


2012/13 was an important year for policing in Cleveland. In November 2012 the election of the 
first Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC) for the area policed by Cleveland Police was held, 
this represented a significant shift in the way the police are governed and held to account. One 
of the key reforms was to replace the Cleveland Police Authority with the Office of the Police 
and Crime Commissioner for Cleveland. At the same time the ‘Chief Constable’ was established 
in law as a separate corporation sole. The primary function of the PCC is to secure the 
maintenance of an efficient and effective police force and to hold the Chief Constable to 
account for the exercise of operational policing duties under the Police Act 1996. 
 
These are the first Statutory Accounts to be prepared under the new arrangements. From a 
technical perspective these accounts are therefore prepared under the requirements of FRS 6 
Mergers and Acquisitions assuming that the two corporate soles (as part of an overall Group) 
have been in existence for the whole of the 2012/13 financial year. 
 
This Foreword provides an overview of the new accounting arrangements and outlines the 
financial performance of the PCC during 2012/13. 
 


2. THE STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 
 


The accounting arrangements between the PCC and Chief Constable during the current financial 
year are that the PCC is responsible for the finances of the whole Group and controls the 
assets, liabilities and reserves which were transferred from the Police Authority on the 22nd 
November 2012. The PCC receives all of the income and funding and makes all payments for 
the Group from the PCC Police Fund. In turn the Chief Constable fulfils the functions under the 
Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 (Act), within an annual budget set by the PCC 
(in consultation with the CC). A scheme of delegation is in operation between the two bodies 
determining their respective responsibilities.     
 
This Statement of Accounts covers the financial year ended 31st March 2013 and has been 
prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2011, the 
requirements of the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United 
Kingdom 2012. 
 
The PCC receives funding from Central Government and precept income from local Councils. 
 
The Statements required by the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United 
Kingdom 2012/13 (the Code) are detailed below along with the objective of each statement: 
 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement – This statement shows the income 
received in year offset by the cost of services as transferred from the Chief Constable in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting practices, rather than the amount to be funded 
from precept. PCCs raise precept to cover expenditure in accordance with regulations; this may 
be different from the accounting cost. The amount chargeable to precept is shown in the 
Movement in Reserves Statement. 
 
Movement in Reserves Statement – This statement shows the movement in the year on 
the different reserves held by the PCC, analysed into ‘usable reserves’ (i.e. those that can be 
applied to fund expenditure or reduce local precept) and unusable reserves.  
 
The (Surplus) or Deficit on the Provision of Services line shows the true economic cost of 
providing policing services, more details of which are shown in the Comprehensive Income and 
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Expenditure Statement. These are different from the statutory amounts required to be charged 
to the General Fund Balance for council tax setting purposes.  
 
The Net Increase/Decrease before Transfers to Earmarked Reserves line shows the statutory 
General Fund Balance before any discretionary transfers to or from earmarked reserves 
undertaken by the PCC. 
 
Balance Sheet – The Balance Sheet shows the value as at 31st March 2013 of the assets and 
liabilities recognised by the PCC.  
 
The net assets of the PCC (assets less liabilities) are matched by the reserves held by the PCC. 
Reserves are reported in two categories.  
 
The first category of reserves is usable reserves, i.e. those reserves that the PCC may use to 
provide services, subject to the need to maintain a prudent level of reserves and any statutory 
limitations on their use (for example the Capital Receipts Reserve that may only be used to fund 
capital expenditure or repay debt).  
 
The second category of reserves is unusable reserves and refers to those that the PCC is not 
able to use to provide services. This category of reserves includes reserves that hold unrealised 
gains and losses (for example the Revaluation Reserve), where amounts would only become 
available to provide services if the assets are sold; and reserves that hold timing differences 
which are shown in the Movement in Reserves Statement line ‘Adjustments between accounting 
basis and funding basis under regulations’.  
 
Cash Flow Statement – The Cash Flow Statement shows the changes in cash and cash 
equivalents of the PCC during the reporting period. The statement shows how the PCC 
generates and uses cash and cash equivalents by classifying cash flows as operating, investing 
and financing activities.  
 
The amount of net cash flows arising from operating activities is a key indicator of the extent to 
which the operations of the PCC are funded by way of precept and grant income or from the 
recipients of services provided by the PCC. 
 
Investing activities represent the extent to which cash outflows have been made for resources 
which are intended to contribute to the PCC’s future service delivery.  
 
Cash flows arising from financing activities are useful in predicting claims on future cash flows 
by providers of capital (i.e. borrowing) to the PCC. 


 


The 2012/13 statements highlight the following areas of change from the 2011/12 position: 
 
Comprehensive Income & Expenditure Statement: 
 


• Net Cost of Services (NCOS) has increased by £5.563m, primarily due to an increase of 
£7.768m in the charge to NCOS for IAS 19 relating to pension costs offset by lower 
spending due to lower numbers of officers, staff and PCSOs as a result of the savings 
required to meet reducing level of government funding. 


 
• The deficit on the Provision of Service has increased moved from a £48m deficit to a 


£62m deficit. This is predominately as a result  of the higher IAS 19 charges and the 
£7.5m reduction in Grant income between years. 


 
• Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure has moved by £118m due to changes in 


actuarial assumptions relating to the Pension Fund. 
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Balance Sheet: 
 


• Non Current Assets have reduced by £4.6m primarily as a result of the disposal of the 
Force helicopter on its transfer to the National Police Air Service (NPAS). 


 
• The value of Debtors (long and short term) has increased by £1.5m, as a result of the 


money owing from the sale of the helicopter to NPAS which will be paid in instalments 
over the next 10 years. 


 
• The value of Creditors has increased by £1.8m, primarily as a result of the timing of 


the payment due to Steria for the contract which was due the first week in April. 
 


• During the year the PCC has repaid £1.681m and taken out new loans of £5.4m, well 
within the limits approved by the PCC. 


 
• The Pension Liability and Reserves have both increased mainly as a result of changes 


in actuarial assumptions as detailed above. 
 


• The Usable Reserves of the PCC have decreased by £3.4m; primarily as a result of 
both earmarked and general reserves being used to support the Revenue Budget as 
has been reported through Budget Monitoring during 2012/13.  


 


3. CAPITAL 
 


The PCC spent £4.722m on capital projects during the year. The programme was fully financed 
from capital resources in the year. 


 


4. PENSIONS 
 


As part of the terms and conditions of employment of its officers and other employees, the PCC 
offers retirement benefits. Although these will not actually be payable until employees retire, 
the PCC has a commitment to make the payments, which need to be recognised at the time 
that employees earn their future entitlement. This is a requirement of International Accounting 
Standard (IAS) 19 – Employee Benefits. 


 


5. CHANGES TO ACCOUNTING POLICIES   
   


The Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011, which came into effect during the 
financial year 2012/13 created two corporate soles the Office of the Police & Crime 
Commissioner for Cleveland and Cleveland Police. As a result of this the accounts are now 
compiled as per the requirements of FRS 6 Acquisitions & Mergers. 


 


6. BORROWING FACILITIES 
 


The PCC currently has £24.36m worth of borrowing taken out with the Public Works Loan Board 
(PWLB), the repayment of these loans are phased over the next 11 years and have been taken 
out to fund the PCC’s capital programme. The PCC undertook new borrowing of £5.4m and 
repaid £1.681m in the 2012/13 financial year. 
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7. FURTHER INFORMATION 
 


Interested members of the public have a statutory right to inspect the accounts before the audit 
is completed. This was advertised in the local press. 
 
Further information may be obtained from the Chief Finance Officer at The Office of the Police 
& Crime Commissioner for Cleveland, P O Box 70, Ladgate Lane, Middlesbrough TS8 9EH 
 
 
 
M. PORTER, 
CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER FOR THE PCC 
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STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITIES 
 
The PCC’s Responsibilities 
 
The PCC is required to: 
 


• Make arrangements for the proper administration of its financial affairs and to secure that one of its 
Officers has the responsibility for the administration of those affairs.  In this PCC’s Office that Officer 
is the Chief Finance Officer to the PCC; 


 
• Manage its affairs to secure economic, efficient and effective use of resources and safeguard its 


assets; 
 


• Approve the Statement of Accounts. 
 
The Chief Finance Officer’s Responsibilities 
 
The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for the preparation of the PCC Group's Statement of Accounts in 
accordance with proper practices as set out in the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority 
Accounting in the United Kingdom (the Code of Practice). 
 
In preparing the Statement of Accounts, the Chief Finance Officer has: 
 


• Selected suitable accounting policies and then applied them consistently; 
 


• Made judgements and estimates that were reasonable and prudent; 
 


• Complied with the Code of Practice. 
 
The Chief Finance Officer to the PCC has also ensured that the Chief Finance Officer to Cleveland Police has: 
 


• Applied the accounting policies consistently and in a prudent manner; 
 


• Kept proper accounting records which were up to date; 
 


• Taken reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 
 
The Statement of Accounts give a true and fair presentation of the financial position of the PCC Group at the 
accounting date and its income and expenditure for the year ended 31st March 2013. 
 
Date:            Signature:  
 
       M Porter, Chief Finance Officer to the PCC 
 
 
The PCC’s Responsibilities 
 
In accordance with the requirements of the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2011 I confirm that the Statement 
of Accounts was approved by the PCC:  
 
 
Date:    Signature: 
     
       Police & Crime Commissioner for Cleveland     
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AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 
To Follow 
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ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 
  
  
Position as at 31st March 2013 including plans for the financial year 2013/2014 
 
1.  SCOPE OF RESPONSIBILITIES 
 
2. THE PURPOSE OF THE GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK 
 
 
3. THE GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK 
  
 
4.  REVIEW OF EFFECTIVENESS 
 
 
5. SIGNIFICANT GOVERNANCE ISSUES 
 
Signed this XXth June 2013 by 
 
 
 
 
 
Barry Coppinger 
PCC for Cleveland      
 
On behalf of the Office for the Police and Crime Commissioner for Cleveland 
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COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AND EXPENDITURE 
STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31st MARCH 2013 


 
2011/2012 2012/2013 2012/2013 2012/2013


Net 
Expenditure


Gross 
Expenditure


Gross 
Income


Net 
Expenditure


£000 £000 £000 £000
(9,343) Local Policing 0 6,261 (6,261)
(246) Dealing with the Public 0 68 (68)
(881) Criminal Justice Arrangements 0 1,800 (1,800)
(892) Road Policing 0 401 (401)
(388) Specialist Operations 0 1,612 (1,612)
(294) Intelligence 0 329 (329)


(1,259) Specialist Investigation 0 1,544 (1,544)
(745) Investigative Support 0 155 (155)
(387) National Policing 0 1,783 (1,783)


0 Exceptional Items 0 0 0
1,157 Corporate and Democratic Core 3,606 2,376 1,230


0 Undistributed Costs 0 0 0


(13,280)
Net Cost of Services before 
Funding


3,606 16,329 (12,724)


145,861 Intra Group Funding 150,868 0 150,868
132,581 Net Cost of Services 154,474 16,329 138,144


399 913
0 Police Pension Top Up Grant 0


46,379 47,724
(131,835) (125,132)


47,526 61,649


(108) 0
0 0


127,671 9,619


127,563 9,619


175,086 Total Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 71,268


Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure


(Surplus)/Deficit on Revaluation of PPE
(Surplus)/Deficit on Revaluation of available for sale assets
Actuarial (gains) / losses on pension assets / liabilities (Note 23)


DETAIL


(Surplus) or Deficit on Provision of Service


Other Operating Expenditure (Note 9)


Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income (Note 11)
Financing & Investment income and Expenditure (Note 10)
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MOVEMENT ON RESERVES STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR 
ENDED 31st MARCH 2013 


 
General Capital Revenue Grants Capital Grants Total Total Total
Fund Earmarked Receipts Unapplied Unapplied Usable Unusable PCC


Balance Reserves Reserve Reserve Reserve Reserves Reserves Reserves
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000


Balance at 31st March 2012 (8,245) (4,972) (41) (998) (251) (14,508) 954,266 939,758 


(Surplus) or deficit on provision of services 
(accounting basis) 61,649 0 0 0 0 61,649 0 61,649 


Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 0 0 0 0 0 0 9,619 9,619 


Total Comprehensive Expenditure and Income
61,649 0 0 0 0 61,649 9,619 71,268 


Total Adjustments between accounting basis & 
funding basis under regulations (Note 7) (58,965) 0 26 0 (8) (58,948) 58,948 0 


Net (Increase) / Decrease before Transfers to 
Earmarked Reserves 2,683 0 26 0 (8) 2,701 68,567 71,268 


Total Transfers to/from Reserves (1,883) 2,069 0 535 0 720 (720) 0 


(Increase) / Decrease in Year 800 2,069 26 535 (8) 3,421 67,847 71,268 
Balance at 31 March 2013 (7,446) (2,903) (16) (463) (259) (11,087) 1,022,113 1,011,026 


 
 


MOVEMENT ON RESERVES STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR 
ENDED 31st MARCH 2012 


 
 


General Capital Revenue Grants Capital Grants Total Total Total
Fund Earmarked Receipts Unapplied Unapplied Usable Unusable PCC


Balance Reserves Reserve Reserve Reserve Reserves Reserves Reserves
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000


Balance at 31st March 2011 (7,119) (5,345) 0 (608) (260) (13,332) 778,004 764,672


(Surplus) or deficit on provision of services 
(accounting basis) 47,525 0 0 0 0 47,525 0 47,525


Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 0 0 0 0 0 0 127,560 127,560


Total Comprehensive Expenditure and Income
47,525 0 0 0 0 47,525 127,560 175,085


Total Adjustments between accounting basis & 
funding basis under regulations (Note 7)


(49,078) 0 (41) 0 9 (49,110) 49,111 0 


Net (Increase) / Decrease before Transfers to 
Earmarked Reserves (1,553) 0 (41) 0 9 (1,586) 176,671 175,085


Total Transfers to/from Reserves 427 373 0 (390) 0 410 (410) 0 


(Increase) / Decrease in Year (1,126) 373 (41) (390) 9 (1,176) 176,261 175,085
Balance at 31 March 2012 (8,245) (4,972) (41) (998) (251) (14,508) 954,266 939,758 
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BALANCE SHEET AT 31st MARCH 2013 
 


 31 March 2012 Notes
£000 £000 £000 


65,381              Property, Plant and Equipment 12 58,893         
-                   Investment Property -              
4,691                Intangible Assets 14 6,539           
-                   Long Term Investments -              
-                   Long Term Debtors 1,924           


70,072              67,356                
Total Long Term Assets 67,356               


-                   Short Term Investments -              
-                   Assets Held for Sale -              
77                    Inventories 16 89               


14,464              Short Term Debtors 17 14,080         
1,110                Cash and Cash Equivalents 18 3,300           


15,650             Total Current Assets 17,468               
85,723             Total Assets 84,825               


-                   Cash and Cash Equivalents -              
(1,681)               Short Term Borrowing 33 (3,760)          
(12,281)             Short Term Creditors 20 (14,039)        


(49)                   Provisions 21 (349)            
(14,011)           Total Current Liabilities (18,148)              


-                   Long Term Creditors -              
-                   Provisions -              


(18,960)             Long Term Borrowing 33 (20,600)        
(30,234)             Other Long Term Liabilities : PFI 29 (29,534)        
(962,276)           Pensions Liability 23 (1,027,568)    


(1,011,470)      Total Long Term Liabilities (1,077,702)        
(1,025,480)      Total Liabilities (1,095,850)        
(939,758)         Net Assets (1,011,026)        


(14,507)             Usable Reserves 36 (11,087)        
954,266            Unusable Reserves 37 1,022,113     


939,758           Total Reserves 1,011,026          


31 March 2013


 







 


 
PCC for Cleveland   Page 13 of 49   Statement of Accounts – 2012/2013 


 
 


CASHFLOW STATEMENT 2012/13 
 


2011/2012 Notes
£000 £000 £000


OPERATING ACTIVITIES


Cash Outflows
104,684           Cash paid to and on behalf of employees 95,731     


802                 Cash payment to reduce the PFI liability 700          
53,057             Cash paid to suppliers of goods and services 56,358     
158,543           152,789      


Cash Inflows
(32,223)            Precept received (33,493)    
(35,340)            National non-domestic rates (42,761)    
(10,924)            Revenue Support Grant (844)        
(80,390)            Other grants (71,724)    


(37)                  Rents (41)          
(253)                Cash received for goods and services (1,632)      
(639)                Other operating cash receipts (8,090)      


(159,806)          (158,587)     
(1,263)            Operating Activities Net Cash Flow (5,798)       


INVESTING ACTIVITIES


Returns on Investments and Servicing of Finance
3,691               Cash outflows -Interest paid 4,009       
(51)                  Cash inflows - Interest received (62)          


3,640               3,947         


Capital Activities
6,900               Cash outflows - Purchase of non current assets 4,872       
(211)                Cash inflows - Sale of non current assets (171)        


(1,121)                                - Capital grant received (1,319)      
5,568               3,382         


9,207              Investing Activities Net Cash Flow 7,328        


7,944              Net Cash Outflow/(Inflow) before financing 1,531        


FINANCING ACTIVITIES


Management of Liquid Resources
(2,000)             Net increase/(decrease) in investments -          
-                  Net increase/(decrease) in imprests -          


(2,000)             -             


Financing 33
385                 Cash outflows - Repayment of amounts borrowed 1,681       


(7,000)             Cash inflows - New loans raised (5,400)      
(6,615)             (3,719)        


(8,615)            Financing Activities Net Cash Flow (3,719)       


(673)               Net (Increase)/Decrease in cash (2,190)       


437                 Cash brought forward 1,110       
1,110               Cash carried forward 3,300       


(673)               Net (Increase)/Decrease in cash (2,190)       


2012/2013
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NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 


1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 


A) PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT  
 


Assets that have physical substance and are held for use in the production or supply of goods or 
services, for rental to others, or for administrative purposes and that are expected to generate 
economic benefit during more than one financial year are classified as Property, Plant and 
Equipment. 
 
Recognition 
 
Expenditure on the acquisition, creation or enhancement of Property, Plant and Equipment is 
capitalised on an accruals basis, provided that it is probable that the future economic benefits or 
service potential associated with the item will flow to the PCC and the cost of the item can be 
measured reliably. Expenditure that maintains but does not add to an asset’s potential to deliver 
future economic benefits or service potential (i.e. repairs and maintenance) is charged as an 
expense when it is incurred. 
 
Measurement 
 
Assets are initially measured at cost, comprising: 
 
• the purchase price 
• any costs attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be 


capable of operating in the manner intended by management 
• the initial estimate of the costs of dismantling and removing the item and restoring the site on 


which it is located. 
 
Assets are then carried in the Balance Sheet using the following measurement bases: 
 
• Property, Plant and Equipment – fair value, determined using the basis of existing use value 


(EUV). 
 
Where there is no market-based evidence of fair value because of the specialist nature of an asset, 
depreciated replacement cost (DRC) is used as an estimate of fair value.  
 
Revaluations & Impairment 
 
Assets included in the Balance Sheet at fair value are revalued every five years (March 2014), and 
reviewed annually for impairment. Increases in valuations are matched by credits to the Revaluation 
Reserve to recognise unrealised gains.  
 
Where decreases in value (market value) are identified, they are accounted for by: 
 
• where there is a balance of revaluation gains for the asset in the Revaluation Reserve, the 
carrying amount of the asset is written down against that balance (up to the amount of the 
accumulated gains) 


• where there is no balance in the Revaluation Reserve or an insufficient balance, the carrying 
amount of the asset is written down against the relevant service line(s) in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement. 


 
The Revaluation Reserve contains revaluation gains recognised since 1 April 2007 only, the date of 
its formal implementation. Gains arising before that date have been consolidated into the Capital 
Adjustment Account. 
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Impairment 
 
Where there is a material reduction in the value of an asset caused by a consumption of economic 
benefits (e.g. physical damage or deterioration in the quality of the service provided by the asset) 
the loss is reflected through an impairment charge to Net Cost of Services. 
 
Impairment losses are accounted as a decrease in valuation as set out above. 
 
Where an impairment loss is reversed subsequently, the reversal is credited to the relevant service 
line(s) in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, up to the amount of the original 
loss, adjusted for depreciation that would have been charged if the loss had not been recognised. 
 
Depreciation 
 
Depreciation is provided for on all Property, Plant and Equipment assets by the systematic allocation 
of their depreciable amounts over their useful lives. An exception is made for assets without a 
determinable finite useful life (i.e. freehold land) and assets that are not yet available for use.  
 
Depreciation is calculated on the following bases: 
 
• Dwellings and other buildings – straight-line allocation over the useful life of the property; 40 


Years 
• Plant, furniture and equipment – straight-line allocation over the useful life of the asset; 5 – 


10 Years 
• Motor Vehicles – straight-line allocation over the useful life of the assets; 3 Years 
• Specialist vehicles – straight-line allocation over the useful life of the assets; 4 - 15 Years 
 
For assets acquired in the year, depreciation is applied from the 1st April of the following financial 
year. Incomplete assets are not depreciated until they are brought into use. A full year’s depreciation 
is charged in the year of disposal to be consistent with not charging any depreciation until the 1st 
April of the year after an asset is brought into use. 
 
Where an item of Property, Plant and Equipment asset has major components whose cost is 
significant in relation to the total cost of the item and a significantly different useful economic life, 
the components are depreciated separately from 1st April 2010. The PCC has undertaken this review 
and has no significant components in the 2012/13 financial year – this review will be undertaken 
annually. 


 
Disposals and Non-current Assets Held for Sale 
 
When it becomes probable that the carrying amount of an asset will be recovered principally through 
a sale transaction rather than through its continuing use, it is reclassified as an Asset Held for Sale.  
 
If assets no longer meet the criteria to be classified as Assets Held for Sale, they are reclassified 
back to non-current.  
 
Assets that are to be abandoned or scrapped are not reclassified as Assets Held for Sale.  
 
When an asset is disposed of or decommissioned, the carrying amount of the asset in the Balance 
Sheet (whether Property, Plant and Equipment or Assets Held for Sale) and any receipts from the 
disposal are transferred to the Other Operating Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement as the gain or loss on disposal. Any revaluation gains accumulated for the 
asset in the Revaluation Reserve are transferred to the Capital Adjustment Account. 
 
Amounts received for a disposal in excess of £10,000 are categorised as capital receipts. 
 
The written-off value of disposals is not a charge against council tax, as the cost of non-current 
assets is fully provided for under separate arrangements for capital financing. Amounts are 
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appropriated to the Capital Adjustment Account from the General Fund Balance in the Movement in 
Reserves Statement 


 
B) INTANGIBLE ASSETS  
 
Expenditure on non-current assets that do not have physical substance but are controlled by the 
PCC as a result of past events (e.g. software licences) is capitalised when it is expected that future 
economic benefits or service potential will flow from the intangible asset to the PCC. 
 
Intangible assets are measured initially at cost. Amounts are only revalued where the fair value of 
the assets held by the PCC can be determined by reference to an active market. In practice, no 
intangible asset held by the PCC meets this criterion, and they are therefore carried at amortised 
cost. The amortisable amount of an intangible asset is amortised over its useful life to the relevant 
service line(s) in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. An asset is tested for 
impairment whenever there is an indication that the asset might be impaired – any losses recognised 
are posted to the relevant service line(s) in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 
Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or abandonment of an intangible asset is posted to the Other 
Operating Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 


 
Where expenditure on intangible assets qualifies as capital expenditure for statutory purposes, 
amortisation, impairment losses and disposal gains and losses are not permitted to have an impact 
on the General Fund Balance. The gains and losses are therefore reversed out of the General Fund 
Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement and posted to the Capital Adjustment Account and, 
for any sale proceeds greater than £10,000, the Capital Receipts Reserve. 
 
Charges to Revenue for Non-Current Assets 
 
Services are debited with the following amounts to record the cost of holding non-current assets 
during the year: 
 
• depreciation attributable to the assets used by the relevant service 
• amortisation of intangible assets attributable to the service 
• revaluation and impairment losses on assets used by the service where there are no 


accumulated gains in the Revaluation Reserve against which the losses can be written off. 
 
The PCC is not required to raise council tax to fund depreciation, revaluation and impairment losses 
or amortisations. However, it is required to make an annual contribution from revenue towards the 
reduction in its overall borrowing requirement. Depreciation, revaluation and impairment losses and 
amortisations are therefore replaced by the contribution in the General Fund Balance (Minimum 
Revenue Provision), by way of an adjusting transaction through the Capital Adjustment Account in 
the Movement in Reserves Statement for the difference between the two. 


 


C) DE MINIMIS LEVEL 
 


Capital Expenditure – The PCC has agreed a de minimis level of £5,000 for the acquisition, renewal 
or replacement of buildings, vehicles, plant, machinery or other equipment to count as prescribed 
capital expenditure.  
 
Capital Receipts – There is also a de minimis level of £10,000 from the sale of non-current assets, 
for that receipt to be classified as a capital receipt.  
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D) GOVERNMENT GRANTS AND CONTRIBUTIONS 
 


Whether paid on account, by instalments or in arrears, government grants and third party 
contributions and donations are recognised as due to the PCC when there is reasonable assurance 
that: 
 


• the PCC will comply with the conditions attached to the payments, and 
• the grants or contributions will be received. 


 
Conditions are stipulations that specify that the future economic benefits or service potential 
embodied in the asset acquired, using the grant or contribution, are required to be consumed by the 
recipient as specified, or they must be returned to the transferor.  
 
Monies advanced as grants and contributions for which conditions have not been satisfied are 
carried in the Balance Sheet as creditors. When no conditions exist or have been satisfied, the grant 
or contribution is credited to the relevant service line or Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income 
(non-ring fenced revenue grants and all capital grants) in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement. 
 
Where capital grants are credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, they 
are reversed out of the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement. Where the 
grant has yet to be used to finance capital expenditure, it is posted to the Capital Grants Unapplied 
reserve; where it has been applied, it is posted to the Capital Adjustment Account.  
 


E) CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  


 
Cash is represented by cash in hand and deposits with financial institutions repayable without 
penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are those that are readily convertible 
to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value. 
 
In the Cash Flow Statement, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are 
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the PCC’s cash management. 


 


F) LEASES  
 
Leases are classified as finance leases where the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks 
and rewards incidental to ownership of the property, plant or equipment from the lessor to the 
lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases. 
 
The PCC as Lessee 
 
Finance Leases 
 
Property, plant and equipment held under finance leases is recognised on the Balance Sheet at the 
commencement of the lease at its fair value measured at the lease’s inception (or the present value 
of the minimum lease payments, if lower). The asset recognised is matched by a liability for the 
obligation to pay the lessor.  
 
Lease payments are apportioned between: 
 
• a charge for the acquisition of the interest in the property, plant or equipment – applied to 


write down the lease liability, and 
• a finance charge (debited to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the 


Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement). 
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Property, Plant and Equipment recognised under finance leases is accounted for using the policies 
applied generally to such assets. 
 
The PCC has finance leases relating to PFI (as disclosed in note 24) held at a nominal value. 
 
Operating Leases 
 
Rentals paid under operating leases are charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement as an expense of the services benefiting from use of the leased property, plant or 
equipment. 


 


G) DEBTORS AND CREDITORS 
 
Both the revenue and capital accounts of the PCC are maintained on an accruals basis in accordance 
with the Code of Accounting Practice. That is, sums due to or payable by the PCC during the year 
are included in the accounts whether or not the cash has actually been received or paid in the year. 
No de minimis is applied to this process. 


 


H) VALUATION OF INVENTORIES  
 
Inventories held at 31st March are valued at the lower of cost or current market value. 
 


I) LOANS AND RECEIVABLES 
 


Loans and receivables are initially measured at fair value and carried at their amortised cost. Credits 
to the income and expenditure account for interest receivable are based on the carrying amount of 
the asset multiplied by the effective rate of interest for the instrument. For all investments that the 
authority has made, this means that the amount presented in the Balance Sheet is the outstanding 
principal receivable and interest credited to the Income and Expenditure Account is the amount 
receivable for the year. 


 


J) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
 


A Financial Instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial 
liability or equity instrument of another. They are recognised in the Balance Sheet when, and only 
when, the holder becomes committed to the purchase. The only exceptions are trade receivables 
and trade debtors when the PCC recognises these transactions on delivery or receipt.      
 


K) PROVISIONS  
 
Provisions represent the best estimate, at the balance sheet date, of expenditure required to settle 
the present obligation. The outcome must be able to be estimated reliably and have a probable 
outcome. Details of individual provisions are given in the Notes to the Core Financial Statements. 
 


L) RESERVES 
 
The PCC sets aside specific amounts as reserves (Usable) for future policy purposes or to cover 
contingencies. Reserves are created by appropriating amounts out of the General Fund Balance in 
the Movement in Reserves Statement. When expenditure to be financed from a reserve is incurred, 
it is charged to the appropriate service in that year to be charged against the Surplus or Deficit on 
the Provision of Services in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. The reserve is 
then appropriated back into the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement so 
that there is no net charge against council tax for the expenditure. 
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Certain reserves (Unusable) are kept to manage the accounting processes for non-current assets, 
financial instruments, retirement and employee benefits and do not represent usable resources for 
the PCC.  
 


M) SELF-INSURED RISKS 
 
The PCC maintains external insurance policies with Gallagher Bassett for major risks such as Third 
Party Motor cover and Employer’s Liability. The excess on these policies and claims arising from less 
significant risk areas are borne by the Insurance Fund. Details of the Fund balance are shown in the 
notes on Reserves. 
 


N) INVESTMENTS 
 
Surplus cash is invested externally on a day-to-day basis. Investments at 31st March are shown in 
the balance sheet at fair value. 


 


O) EMPLOYEE BENEFITS  
 


Benefits Payable during Employment 
 
Short-term employee benefits are those due to be settled within 12 months of the year-end. They 
include such benefits as time off in lieu, flexitime and paid holidays for current employees and are 
recognised as an expense for services in the year in which employees render service to the PCC. An 
accrual is made for the cost of these entitlements earned by employees but not taken before the 
year-end, which employees can carry forward into the next financial year. The accrual is charged to 
Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services, but then reversed out through the Movement in 
Reserves Statement so that employee benefits are charged to revenue in the financial year in which 
the absence occurs but are not chargeable against Council Tax. 


 


P) PENSIONS 
 
The PCC participates in two different pension schemes, which meet the needs of police officers and 
support staff.  The schemes provide members with defined benefits related to pay and service.  
Employees’ and employers’ contribution levels are based on percentages on pensionable pay set 
nationally by the Home Office and are subject to triennial review by the Government Actuary 
Department. The schemes are as follows: - 
 
i) Uniformed Police 
 
The PCC meet the pension payments by the payment of an employer’s pension contribution based 
on a percentage of pay into the pension fund. 
 
The pension fund is balanced to nil each year by a transfer to/from the Police Fund. 
  
This scheme has no assets and does not take into account the liabilities to pay pensions and other 
benefits after the period end.  
 
ii) Support Staff 
 
Support Staff, subject to certain qualifying criteria, are eligible to join the Local Government 
Superannuation Scheme, which is operated by Teesside Pension Fund. The pension costs charged to 
the PCC’s accounts equate to the employer’s contributions paid to the fund on behalf of eligible 
employees. Further costs arise in respect of certain pensions paid to retired employees on an 
unfunded basis. 
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The pensions costs included in the accounts in respect of these schemes have been determined in 
accordance with relevant Government Regulations. The PCC complies with the requirements of 
IAS19 in that the Balance Sheet shows the full value of future liabilities in respect of retirement 
benefits payable to its employees.  
 
The Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2012/13 (the Code) 
requires the following accounting policies to be applied to the various elements of the net 
asset/liability: 
 
• Where a PCC participates in more than one scheme, schemes with net assets should be shown 


separately from those with net liabilities. 
• The attributable assets of each scheme should be measured at fair value, which is based on bid 


value. 
• The attributable liabilities of each scheme should be measured on an actuarial basis using the 


projected unit method. 
• Scheme liabilities should be discounted at a rate that reflects the time value of money and the 


characteristics of the liability. 
• The surplus/deficit in each scheme is the excess/shortfall of the value of the assets in the 


scheme over/below the present value of the scheme. 
• The current service cost should be based on the most recent actuarial valuation at the 


beginning of the period, with the financial assumptions updated to reflect conditions at that 
date. 


• The interest cost should be based on the discount rate and the present value of the scheme 
liabilities at the beginning of the period. 


• The expected return on assets is based on long-term expectations at the beginning of the 
period and is expected to be reasonably stable. 


• Actuarial gains/losses may arise from any new valuation and from updating the latest actuarial 
valuation to reflect conditions at the balance sheet date. 


• Past service costs should be disclosed on a straight-line basis over the period in which the 
increase in benefits rest. 


• Losses arising on a settlement or curtailment not allowed for in the actuarial assumptions 
should be measured at the date on which the employer becomes demonstrably committed to 
the transaction and disclosed in the notes to the accounts covering that date. Gains arising from 
settlement/curtailments not allowed for in the actuarial assumptions should be measured at the 
date on which all parties whose consent is required are irrevocably committed to the 
transaction. 


 


Q) INTERNAL INTEREST 
 
Interest is calculated and credited to the Insurance Fund and Police Property Act Fund based upon 
month-end fund balances. The amounts are calculated using the average 7 day borrowing rate for 
each calendar month of the financial year and the rate is applied to the monthly average balance in 
each fund. 
 
A special funds account is maintained which has a corresponding interest bearing bank account and 
therefore attracts the market rate of interest in its own right. 
 
R) OVERHEADS AND SUPPORT SERVICES  


 
The costs of overheads and support services are charged to those that benefit from the supply or 
service in accordance with the costing principles of the CIPFA Service Reporting Code of Practice 
2012/13 (SeRCOP). The total absorption costing principle is used – the full cost of overheads and 
support services are shared between users in proportion to the benefits received, with the exception 
of: 


• Corporate and Democratic Core – costs relating to the PCC’s status as a 
multifunctional, democratic organisation. 
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• Non Distributed Costs – the cost of discretionary benefits awarded to employees 
retiring early and impairment losses chargeable on Assets Held for Sale. 


 
These two cost categories are defined in SeRCOP and accounted for as separate headings in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, as part of Net Cost of Services. 


 


S) PRIVATE FINANCE INITIATIVE 
 


The PCC is party to two separate PFI schemes. One for the provision of Firearms Training facilities at 
Urlay Nook. The other is for the provision of centralised custody and District HQ facilities. 
 
The treatment of transactions under the schemes is in accordance with IFRIC 12 – Service 
Concessions and the IFRS Code. 


 


T) VALUE ADDED TAX 
 


VAT is included in the accounts only if it is irrecoverable from Her Majesty revenue Customs (HMRC). 
There have been no significant VAT issues in 2012/13. 


 


U) COMPENSATORY GRANT 
 


Compensatory Grant is accounted for on an accruals basis. 
 


V) PRECEPT 
 
Precept is accounted for on an agency basis. 
 


W) POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS 
 
Events after the Balance Sheet date are reflected by the PCC up to the date when the Statement of 
Accounts are authorised for issue. 
 


X) EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS, EXTRAORDINARY ITEMS AND PRIOR PERIOD 
ADJUSTMENTS 
 
Exceptional and Extraordinary items, of which the PCC has none in 2012/13, would be disclosed on 
the face of the Income and Expenditure Account and fully explained in the notes to the accounts. 
 
Prior period adjustments, where material and applicable to prior years, are accounted for by 
restating the comparative figures for the preceding period in the Statement of Accounts and notes 
and adjusting the opening balance of the reserves for the cumulative effect. 


 


Y) REVENUE RECOGNITION  
   


Revenue shall be measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Revenue is 
recognised only when it is probable that the economic benefits or service potential associated with 
the transaction will flow to the Group. 
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2. ACCOUNTING STANDARDS ISSUED NOT ADOPTED 
 
There are no Accounting Standards which have been issued but not adopted by the PCC.  
 


3. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING ACCOUNTING POLICES 
In applying the accounting policies set out in Note 1, the PCC has had to make certain judgements 
about complex transactions or those involving uncertainty about future events. There are no critical 
judgements made in the Statement of Accounts. 


 
 


4. ASSUMPTIONS MADE ABOUT THE FUTURE AND OTHER MAJOR SOURCES 
OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY 


 
The Statement of Accounts contains estimated figures that are based on assumptions made by the 
PCC about the future or that are otherwise uncertain. Estimates are made taking into account 
historical experience, current trends and other relevant factors. However, because balances cannot 
be determined with certainty, actual results could be materially different from the assumptions and 
estimates. The items in the PCC’s Balance Sheet at 31 March 2013 or which there is a significant risk 
of material adjustment in the forthcoming financial year are as follows: 
 
Pension Liability:  Estimation of the net liability to pay pensions depends on a number of complex 
judgements relating to the discount rate used, the rate at which salaries are projected to increase, 
changes in retirement ages, mortality rates and expected returns on pension fund assets. A firm of 
consulting actuaries is engaged to provide the PCC with expert advice about the assumptions to be 
applied. 


 
 


5. MATERIAL ITEMS OF INCOME AND EXPENSE 
 
There are no material items of income and expense which are not already disclosed on the face of 
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement or in the associated notes. 
 
 


6. EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE 
  


There are no events after the Balance Sheet date. 
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7. ADJUSTMENTS BETWEEN ACCOUNTING BASIS AND FUNDING BASIS 
UNDER REGULATION 


 


FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST MARCH 2013 
 


General Capital
Revenue 
Grants Capital Grants Total Unusable Total


Fund Earmarked Receipts Unapplied Unapplied Usable Reserves PCC
Balance Reserves Reserve Reserve Reserve Reserves Reserves
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000


Adjustments between accounting basis & 
funding basis under regulations


Amortisation of intangible fixed assets (590) 0 0 0 0 (590) 590 0
Depreciation and Impairment of fixed assets (4,144) 0 0 0 0 (4,144) 4,144 0
Depreciation on Revaluation 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Government Grants Deferred amortisation 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Write down of deferred charges to be financed
from capital resources


0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
0


(Loss)/Gain on the sale of non current assets (639) 0 0 0 0 (639) 639 0
Sale of Assets 0 0 (3,988) 0 0 (3,988) 3,988 0
Amount by which pension costs calculated in
accordance with the Code are different from
contributions due under the pension scheme
regulations


(73,015) 0 0 0 0 (73,015) 73,015 0


Revaluation of Investment Property 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Transfer of Capital Grants to CAA to comply with
the Capital Control Regime


(1,834) 0 0 0 1,451 (383) 383 0


Transfer of Capital Grants to the Capital Grants
unapplied account to comply with the Capital
Control Regime


1,459 0 0 0 (1,459) (0) 0 (0)


Accumulated Absences Adjustment 287 0 0 0 0 287 (287) 0
Amount by which Council Tax income and residual
community charge adjustment included in the
Income & Expenditure Account is different from
the amount taken to the General Fund in
accordance with regulation


139 0 0 0 0 139 (139) 0


(78,337) 0 (3,988) 0 (8) (82,332) 82,332 0


Statutory provision for the repayment of debt 2,029 0 0 0 0 2,029 (2,029) 0
Capital expenditure charged to the General Fund
Balance


0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


Use of Capital Receipts 0 0 4,013 0 0 4,013 (4,013) 0
Employer’s contributions payable to the Pension
Fund and retirement benefits payable direct to
pensioners


17,342 0 0 0 0 17,342 (17,342) 0


19,371 0 4,013 0 0 23,384 (23,384) 0


Voluntary revenue provision for repayment of debt 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


Total Adjustments between accounting 
basis & funding basis under regulations


(58,965) 0 26 0 (8) (58,948) 58,948 0
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 FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST MARCH 2012 
 


General Capital
Revenue 
Grants Capital Grants Total Unusable Total


Fund Earmarked Receipts Unapplied Unapplied Usable Reserves PCC
Balance Reserves Reserve Reserve Reserve Reserves Reserves
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000


Adjustments between accounting basis & 
funding basis under regulations


Amortisation of intangible fixed assets (187) 0 0 0 0 (187) 187 0
Depreciation and Impairment of fixed assets (4,495) 0 0 0 0 (4,495) 4,495 0
Depreciation on Revaluation 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Government Grants Deferred amortisation 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Write down of deferred charges to be financed
from capital resources


0 0 0 0 0 
0 0 0


(Loss)/Gain on the sale of non current assets (166) 0 0 0 0 (166) 166 0
Sale of Assets 0 0 (41) 0 0 (41) 41 0
Amount by which pension costs calculated in
accordance with the Code are different from
contributions due under the pension scheme
regulations


(65,621) 0 0 0 0 (65,621) 65,621 0


Revaluation of Investment Property 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Transfer of Capital Grants to CAA to comply with
the Capital Control Regime


0 0 0 0 1,142 1,142 (1,142) 0


Transfer of Capital Grants to the Capital Grants
unapplied account to comply with the Capital
Control Regime


1,134 0 0 0 (1,134) 0 0 0


Accumulated Absences Adjustment (484) 0 0 0 0 (484) 484 0
Amount by which Council Tax income and residual
community charge adjustment included in the
Income & Expenditure Account is different from
the amount taken to the General Fund in
accordance with regulation


59 0 0 0 0 59 (59) 0


(69,762) 0 (41) 0 9 (69,793) 69,793 0 


Statutory provision for the repayment of debt 1,688 0 0 0 0 1,688 (1,688) 0
Capital expenditure charged to the General Fund
Balance


0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


Use of Capital Receipts 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Employer’s contributions payable to the Pension
Fund and retirement benefits payable direct to
pensioners


18,996 0 0 0 0 18,996 (18,996) 0


20,684 0 0 0 0 20,684 (20,684) 0


Voluntary revenue provision for repayment of
debt


0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


Total Adjustments between accounting 
basis & funding basis under regulations


(49,078) 0 (41) 0 9 (49,110) 49,110 0 
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 8. TRANSFERS TO / FROM EARMARKED RESERVES 
 


Balance Tranfers Tranfers Balance Tranfers Tranfers Balance 
at 31 March In Out at 31 March In Out at 31 March


2011 2011/12 2011/12 2012 2012/13 2012/13 2013
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000


Insurance Fund         (1,560)               0              0         (1,560)           (115)             0          (1,675)
Risk/Insurance Team                 0               0              0                 0                0             0                 0 
Direct Revenue Funding of Capital                 0          (508)           403            (105)           (720)          720            (105)
Specific Capital Grant                 0               0              0                 0                0             0                 0 
Injury Pension Reserve            (916)               0              0            (916)                0          900              (16)
Airwaves Project            (473)               0              0            (473)                0          473                 0 
Urlay Nook Sinking Fund            (684)               0           684                  -                0             0                 0 
Workforce Modernisation                 0          (684)           229            (455)                0          455                (0)
PFI Sinking Fund            (273)           (41)           108            (206)            (41)             0            (247)
Incentivisation Grant            (291)               0             71            (220)                0           23            (197)
Neighbourhood Policing             (16)               0              0              (16)                0             0              (16)
Specials             (30)               0              0              (30)            (32)             0              (62)
Corporate Finance Training Plan             (45)               0             45                  -                0             0                 0 
Air Support Unit            (349)               0              0            (349)                0          349                (0)
Urlay Nook TTC             (64)           (16)              0              (81)            (18)           52              (48)
Development Fund             (12)               0              0              (12)                0             0              (12)
Invest to Save             (89)               0              7              (83)                0             0              (83)
Devolved Budget Carry Forwards            (246)             (8)           246                (8)                0             0                (8)
Accommodation Costs            (177)               0             49            (128)                0           80              (48)
PCC Transition Reserve             (96)          (206)              0            (302)                0           10            (292)
Police Property Act Fund             (25)           (30)             25              (30)                0             0              (30)
Risk Reserve                 0               0              0                 0           (922)          856              (66)
Revenue Grants Unapplied            (608)          (998)           608            (998)            (34)          569            (463)
Total (5,953)      (2,492)    2,476     (5,970)       (1,882)     4,486    (3,366)       


  
  
Insurance Reserve 
 
The PCC maintains an internal Insurance Fund that carries virtually all insurable risks with a limited 
amount of external cover for special risk incidents and to cover accumulated losses exceeding an 
agreed amount depending on risk. The fund receives income from the income and expenditure 
account to cover the cost of external insurance premiums and internal insurable risks.  
 
The fund has now been reviewed in light of an actuarial review undertaken as at the 31st March 
2013. the fund will be reviewed annually to ensure it is sufficient to meet the possible liabilities from 
known claims   


 
Direct Revenue Funding of Capital 
 
This reserve was held to meet the cost of capital schemes and was fully utilised in 2010/11, with 
some Revenue contributions made but not applied in 2011/12. Further contributions to and 
applications of revenue funding for capital schemes have been made in 2012/13. 
 
Injury Pension Reserve 
 
To allow for the variable nature of future injury/medical retirements of Police Officers and the capital 
equivalent charges of these occurring. 


 
Airwaves Project 
 
This reserve enables the PCC to smooth out the cash flows in respect of the set up costs associated 
with the Airwaves Project. This has been completely released to the Risk Reserve in 2012/13. 
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Urlay Nook Sinking Fund 
 
This fund has been established to offset the diminishing PFI Grant in the latter years of the scheme. 
This has been transferred to the Workforce Modernisation reserve due to the grant now being paid 
evenly across the life of the scheme. 
 
Workforce Modernisation 
 
Resulting from an organisational staffing review; this reserve was used during 2013/13 as planned.  
 
Action Stations PFI Sinking Fund 
 
Changes to the PFI buildings will result in variable increases to the Unitary Charge across the life of 
the contract. However, these changes are of variable amounts given their different life cycles. This 
sinking fund will be used to manage the uneven changes to that charge across the remaining life of 
the contract. 
 
Incentivisation Grant  
 
This reserve relates to Cleveland’s share of seized cash provided by the Government and will be 
spent on eligible schemes in future years.  


 
Neighbourhood Policing 
 
This specific Home Office grant was higher than anticipated in 2008/09 due to a late change made 
by the Government in respect of our increased numbers of PCSOs – this specific funding will be 
utilised for Neighbourhood Policing in future years as the need arises. 
 
Specials 
 
This was an unexpected Government grant awarded late in 2008/09. It can only be used for Specials 
and is therefore earmarked to be used in future years as the need arises. 


 
Corporate Finance Training Plan 
 
Monies set aside from in year revenue budgets for training needs and skills development and was 
released back to General Fund in 2011/2012.  
 
Air Support Unit 
 
Cleveland’s own Air Support Unit came into existence on 1st April 2009 and this reserve related to 
potential future maintenance costs. Owing to the transfer of the Air Support function to the National 
Police Air Service on 1st April 2013, this reserve has been transferred into the Risk Reserve. 
 
Tactical Training Centre 
 
The Tactical Training Centre has reserves that total £96k which are held by the PCC for Durham, 
Cleveland Police Authority’s share of these reserves total £48k. 


 
Development Fund 
 
Funding carried forward to support operational development projects as directed by the Chief 
Constable in collaboration with the PCC. 
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Invest to Save 
 
Funding set aside to allow the PCC to invest in resources or people to generate process 
improvements that will in turn generate savings in future years. 
 
Devolved Budget Carry Forwards 
 
Devolved Service Unit budgets that were carried forward into 2011/12 and these have been released 
back to General Fund in 2011/12. Two new small carry forwards were approved by the Police 
Authority in 2011/12 and have therefore been moved into this reserve to be utilised at a later date. 
 
Accommodation Costs 
 
These are for dilapidation costs upon the exit of a building and the fit out costs for a new building 
for the same purpose; £80k has been released in 2012/13 relating to the exit from Wetherby House. 
 
PCC Transition Reserve 
 
These funds are set aside to contribute towards the cost of any transition required as a result of the 
proposals set out within the Policing in the 21st Century paper; this has been renamed from the 
Police Authority Transition Reserve. 
 
Police Property Act Fund 
 
The Police Property Act Fund comprises monies received by the police from property confiscated by 
order of court and then sold.  The PCC administers the fund and considers applications from 
voluntary organisations and community groups within the Cleveland area.  The main aim of the fund 
is to support local projects undertaken by voluntary/charitable organisations that benefit the 
communities of Cleveland, especially those which have a positive impact in reducing crime and 
disorder at a local level.   


 
Risk Reserve 
A reserve set up in 2012/13 to mitigate against future risks of the PCC. 
 
Revenue Grants Unapplied 
 
These grants are those which either have no specified conditions or the conditions have been met. 
They will be matched to relevant expenditure as incurred. 
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9.   OTHER OPERATING EXPENDITURE 
 


2011/2012 2012/2013
£000 £000


403 Levies 429
(4) Gains/losses on disposal of Non-current Assets 484


399 Total Other Operating Expenditure 913


 
 
 


10. FINANCING AND INVESTMENT INCOME & EXPENDITURE 
 


2011/2012 2012/2013
£000 £000


4,054 Interest payable and similar charges 4,129
42,377 Pension interest cost & expected return on pension assets 43,657
(51) Interest receivable and similar income (62)


46,379 Total Finance and Investment Income and Expenditure 47,724


 
 
 


11. TAXATION & NON SPECIFIC GRANT INCOME 
 


2011/2012 2012/2013
£000 £000


(10,924) Revenue Support Grant (844)
(35,340) National Non Domestic rates (42,761)
(52,155) Police Grants (48,270)
(32,282) Precepts (33,632)
(1,134) Capital Grants and Contributions 375


(131,835) Total Taxation and Non Specific Grant Income (125,132)
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12. NON CURRENT ASSETS  
 


 Land and 
Buildings  PFI  Vehicles 


 Plant and 
Equipment 


 Non - 
Operational  Total 


 £000  £000  £000  £000  £000  £000 


Gross book value at 1 April 2012              22,593            31,159              9,614              24,709                2,575              90,650 
Transfer from Capital Adjustment Account                    -   
Gross Book Prior Year Adjustments                  -                (1,277)              (1,277)
Accumulated depreciation              (1,454)            (2,281)            (2,800)            (17,458)            (23,993)
Prior Year Adjustments                  -                      0                     -                        0 
Net Book Value at 1 April 2012 21,140           28,878         6,814           5,975             2,575              65,381           
Adjustments to opening balances                    -   
Net Book Value at 1 April 2012 21,140           28,878         6,814           5,975             2,575              65,381           


Additions                  145 600                              667 446           2,742               4,600              
Reclassification                  101                  81 1,469              (3,968)             (2,317)             
Disposals            (5,816) (4,418)             (10,234)           
Revaluations -                 -               -               -                 -                  -                 


Book value at 31 March 2013 21,386           29,478         1,746           3,472             1,349              57,431           


Depreciation for 2012/13 (589)                (797)              (996)              (1,762)             -                  (4,144)             
Depreciation on Disposals 2012/13 1,199            4,408              5,607              
Revaluations -                 -               -                 -                  -                 


Net Book Value at 31 March 2013 20,797           28,680         1,949           6,118             1,349              58,893           


 
 
 
Depreciation 
The following useful lives and depreciation rates have been used in the calculation of depreciation: 


• Land and Buildings – 40 years (land is not depreciated) 
• Vehicles – 3 – 15 years  
• Plant, Furniture & Equipment – 5 to 10 years  


 
Capital Commitments 
 
As at 31st March 2013, the PCC was contractually committed to capital works which amounted to 
approximately £1.222m. 
 
Revaluations 


 
 Freehold properties were re-valued 31st March 2009 by Sanderson Weatherall, Chartered Surveyors 


in accordance with the CIPFA Capital Accounting Guidance notes VGM8A and 8B and the Royal 
Institution of Chartered Surveyors Appraisal and Valuation Manual “The Red Book”. The next five 
yearly revaluations will take place in 2013/14.  


 
 The Code requires that the PCC should undertake a review of the Balance Sheet value of each 


category of assets at the end of each reporting period. Where there is reason to believe that its 
value has changed materially in the period, the valuation should be adjusted accordingly. 


 
For Land & Buildings, this is taken care of as part of the revaluation. For Plant & Machinery and 
Vehicles, all asset lives and residual values were reviewed and therefore any values adjusted 
accordingly. 
 
 


13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 
The PCC does not currently hold any properties or land for investment purposes.   
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14. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 
 


The PCC accounts for its software as intangible assets, to the extent that the software is not an 
integral part of a particular IT system and accounted for as part of the hardware item of Property, 
Plant and Equipment. All software is given a finite useful life, based on assessments of the period 
that the software is expected to be of use to the PCC. The useful lives assigned to the major 
software suites used by the PCC are assessed individually. 
 


 Intangibles 
 £000 


Balance at 1 April 2012                4,955 
Prioir Year Adjustments                1,277 
Accumulated Amortisation              (1,540)
Prior Year Adjustments                    -   


Net Carrying Amount 31st March 2012 4,691             


Additions 122                 
Reclassfication 2,317              
Disposals
Revaluations -                 
Amortisation for 2012/13 (590)                


Net Carrying amount at 31 March 2013 6,539             


Gross Carrying Amounts 8,670             
Accumulated Amortisation (2,130)           


 
 
 


15. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
   


All the PCC’s financial assets relate to loans and receivables and are measured at fair value which, in 
all cases, is their absolute value. Debtors are reviewed for impairment and the provision for doubtful 
debts reflects any risk relating to uncertainty around receipt. 
 
All financial liabilities relate to creditors and are measured at their fair value. 
 
Financial instruments give rise to certain areas of risk which must be mitigated: 
 
Credit risk – the possibility that other parties might fail to pay amounts due to the PCC. 
 
Liquidity risk – the possibility that the PCC might not have funds available to meet its commitments 
to make payments. 
 
Market risk – the possibility that financial loss might arise for the PCC as a result of changes in such 
measures as interest rates. 


 
   The PCC is not open to material exposures to these risks due to a range of controls: 
 


• an authorisation procedure for all investments 
• access to borrowing from the Public Works Loan Board 
• a high proportion of fixed rate investments 
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• a programme of authorised and reviewed Prudential Indicators and Treasury Management        
Reports which are taken to the PCC bi-monthly throughout the year. 


 
 


31 March 2012 31 March 2013
£000 £000


Long Term Assets:


-                   Long Term Investments -                       
-                   Long Term Debtors 1,924                   


                      -                       1,924 


Short-Term Assets:


-                   Short Term Investments -                       


1,110               Cash and Cash Equivalents 3,300                   
                1,110                     3,300 


Debtors:
7,245               Government Departments 5,017                   
1,078               Other Local Authorities 2,448                   
1,963               Other Debtors 1,747                   
(15)                  Less provision for doubtful debts (15)                       


4,193               Payments in Advance 4,882                   
14,464            14,080                 


Short-Term Liabilities:


(1,681)              Short Term Loans (3,760)                  


-                  Bank current Accounts -                       
(1,681)             (3,760)                 


Creditors:
(433)                 Government Departments (790)                     


(1,654)              Inland Revenue/ Customs and Excise (1,579)                  
(1,102)              Other Local Authorities (722)                     
(2,927)              Accumulated Compensated Absences Creditor (2,639)                  
(5,829)              Sundry Creditors (8,031)                  
(336)                 Income in Advance (278)                     


(12,281)           (14,039)               


Long Term Liabilities:


(18,960)            Long Term Borrowing (20,600)                
(30,234)            PFI Liabilities (29,534)                


(49,194)           (50,134)               


 
 


 
31 March 2012 31 March 2013


4,054 Interest Expense 4,129
(51) Interest Income (62)


4,002 Net (gain)/loss for the year 4,067  
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16. INVENTORIES 
 


31 March 2012 31 March 2013
£000 £000
Uniforms Uniforms


84 Opening Balance 77
92 Purchases 78
(99) Recognised in Year (66)
77 Closing Balance 89


 
 
 


17. SHORT TERM DEBTORS 
 


31 March 2012 31 March 2013
£000 £000


7,245                Government Departments 5,017                   
1,078                Other Local Authorities 2,448                   
1,963                Other Debtors 1,747                   


10,286             9,213                  
(15)                    Less: Provision for doubtful debts (15)                      


10,271             9,198                  
4,193                Add: Payments in Advance 4,882                   


14,464             Total Debtors 14,080                


 
 
 


18. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  
 


31 March 2012 31 March 2013
£000 £000


130 Cash held by the PCC 131
980 Bank current Accounts 3,168
0 Short-term deposits 0


1,110 Total Cash and Cash Equivalents 3,300


 


 
 


19. ASSETS HELD FOR SALE 


The PCC currently holds no assets which are held for sale.  
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20. SHORT TERM CREDITORS 
 


31 March 2012 31 March 2013
£000 £000


(433) Government Departments (790)
(1,654) Her Majesty's Revenue & Customs (HMRC) (1,579)
(1,102) Other Local Authorities (722)
(2,927) Accumulated Compensated Absences Creditor (2,639)
(5,829) Sundry Creditors (8,031)


(11,945) Sub total (13,761)
(336) Add: Income in Advance (278)


(12,281) Total Creditors (14,039)


 
 
 


21. PROVISIONS 
 


31 March 2012 31 March 2013
£000 £000


(49) Staff Pay 0
0 Special Policing Services (159)
0 Insurance (190)


(49) Balance at 31 March (349)


 
 
Staff Pay  
 
This provision was for the probable payment of £250 per individual for all of those paid less than 
£21,000 per annum. This was paid in 2012/13 and therefore the provision was released.  
 
Special Policing Service 
As a result of a legal decision, there is a probability that funds previously received for Special 
Policing Services will need to be reassessed, this may create a liability. 
 
Insurance 
Pre 1995 Cleveland Police were insured under a joint policy, the Cleveland County Council Insurance 
Fund which comprised the four Local Authorities, Cleveland Police and the Probation Service, with 
Middlesbrough Borough Council (MBC) being the Lead Authority, this policy was underwritten by 
Municipal Mutual Insurance (MMI). 
 
Insurance companies follow a strict code of practice and as such cannot simply declare themselves 
bankrupt and cease all trading; they instead enter into a phase termed ‘run off’, whereby they cease 
writing all new business although they still continue to meet their liabilities with the remaining funds, 
i.e. pay off any claims that are subsequently made relating to the expired policies. These claims can 
surface a number of years later, in fact up to 40-50 years later. 
 
MMI have been in ‘run off’ since September 1992. MMI’s funds have now reached a point whereby 
they may not be able to continue to meet their liabilities; this has resulted in them invoking the 
Scheme of Arrangement on the 13th November 2012. This provision has been made in respect of 
the Levy that is expected to be imposed on the PCC for Cleveland as a scheme creditor.  
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22. PENSIONS 
As part of the terms and conditions of employment of its officers and other employees, the PCC 
offers retirement benefits. Although these benefits will not actually be payable until employees 
retire, the PCC has a commitment to disclose the payments that will need to be made at the time 
that employees earn their future entitlement. 
  
The PCC participates in two pension schemes: 
 
The Local Government Pension Scheme for civilian employees, administered by Teesside 
Pension Fund – this is a funded scheme, meaning that the PCC and employees pay contributions into 
a fund, calculated at a level intended to balance the pensions liabilities with investment assets. 
 
The Police Pension Scheme for police officers – this is an unfunded scheme, meaning that there 
are no investment assets built up to meet the pension liabilities, and cash has to be generated to 
meet actual pensions payments as they eventually fall due. 
 
We recognise the cost of retirement benefits in the Net Cost of Services when they are earned by 
employees, rather than when the benefits are eventually paid as pensions. However, the charge we 
are required to make against council tax is based on injury and medical pensions paid in the year 
and the capital equivalent charge as a result of medical/injury early retirements, so the real cost of 
retirement benefits is reversed out within the Movement on Reserves Statement. The following 
transactions have been made in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement during the 
year: 
 


2011/2012 2012/2013 2011/2012 2012/2013 2011/2012 2012/2013
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000


Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement
Cost of Services:
Current service cost           2,066             2,640          21,530         26,718          23,596         29,358 
Curtailment/settlements            (352)                 -                   -                 -               (352)               -   
Past service cost               -                   -                   -                 -                   -                 -   
Change to accounting policies               -                   -                   -                 -                   -                 -   


Financing and Investment Income and 
Expenditure
Interest cost           3,145             3,316          42,794         43,279          45,939         46,595 
Expected return on assets         (3,562)           (2,938)                 -                 -            (3,562)         (2,938)
Other investment Income               -                   -                   -                 -                   -                 -   


Total Post employment Benefit Charged to the 
Surplus and Deficit on Provision of Service


         1,297            3,018         64,324        69,997         65,621        73,015 


Other post employment Benefit Charged to the 
CIES
Actuarial (gains) and losses         15,232           (3,417)        112,439         13,036        127,671           9,619 
Total Post employment Beneifit Charged to the 
CIES


       16,529             (399)       176,763        83,033       193,292        82,634 


Movement in Reserves Statement:
Reversal of net changes made to the surplus or deficit for 
the Provisions of Services for post employment benefits 
in accordance with the code


        (1,297)           (3,018)         (64,324)       (69,997)         (65,621)       (73,015)


Actual amount charged against General fund 
balances for pensions in the year:
Contribution in year           1,487             1,415          14,684         15,903          16,171         17,318 
Unfunded Pensions Payments               23                 24            2,802               -              2,825               24 


Local Government 
Pension Scheme


Police Pension Scheme Total


 
Employer contributions are calculated as the difference between the benefits paid and the member 
contributions in the year.  
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31/03/12 31/03/13 31/03/12 31/03/13 31/03/12 31/03/13 31/03/12 31/03/13
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000


Estimated funded 
liabilities in scheme 70,882     77,441     -          -          -          -          
Estimated unfunded 
liabilities in scheme 340         338         861,228   919,017   54,233     58,935     27,398     32,037     
Estimated assets in 
scheme 51,805     60,200     -          -          -          -          
Net Liability 19,417   17,579   861,228 919,017 54,233   58,935   27,398   32,037   


 Local Government 
Pension Scheme 


 1987 Police Pension 
Scheme 


 2006 Police Pension 
Scheme  Injury Awards 


 
 
Note 23 contains details of the assumptions made in estimating the figures included in this note.  


 
 


23. PENSIONS LIABILITY 
  


Note 1 contains details of the PCC’s participation in the Local Government Pension Scheme 
(administered by Teesside Pension Fund) and the Police Pension Scheme in providing civilian and 
uniformed officers with retirement benefits. 
 
The underlying assets and liabilities for retirement benefits attributable to the PCC at 31 March 2013 
are as follows: 
 
The liabilities show the underlying commitments that the PCC has in the long run to pay retirement 
benefits. The total liability of £1,027.6m has a substantial impact on the net worth of the PCC as 
recorded in the Balance Sheet, resulting in a negative overall balance of £1,011.0m. However, 
statutory arrangements for funding the deficit mean that the financial position of the PCC remains 
healthy. 
 
The deficit on the Local Government Pension Scheme will be made good by increased contributions 
over the remaining working life of the employees, as assessed by the scheme actuary. Finance is 
only required to be raised to cover police pensions when the pensions are actually paid. 
 
Liabilities have been assessed on an actuarial basis using the projected unit method, an estimate of 
the pensions that will be payable in future years dependent on assumptions about mortality rates, 
salary levels etc.  Both the Police Pension Scheme and the Teesside Pension Fund liabilities have 
been assessed by Aon Hewitt, an independent firm of actuaries, with estimates for the PCC being 
based on the latest full valuation of the scheme as at 31 March 2011.  


 
The main assumptions used in their calculations have been: 


  


 


31/03/12 31/03/13 31/03/12 31/03/13
Rate of inflation (RPI) 3.3% 3.4% 3.3% 3.4%
Rate of inflation (CPI) 2.5% 2.5% 2.5% 2.5%
Rate of increase in salaries 4.8% 4.4% 4.8% 4.4%
Rate of increase in pensions 2.5% 2.5% 2.5% 2.5%
Rate for discounting scheme liabilities 4.6% 4.4% 4.6% 4.4%


Local Government 
Pension Scheme


Police Pension   
Scheme
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Males Females Males Females Males Females
Retiring today 19.20 23.20 21.60 24.20 21.60 24.20
Retiring in 20 years 21.10 25.10 23.50 26.00 23.50 26.00


Local Government 
Pension Scheme


1987 Police 
Pension Scheme


2006 Police 
Pension Scheme


Mortality Assumptions


 
                  


The Police Pension Scheme has no assets to cover its liabilities. Assets in the Teesside Pension Fund 
are valued at fair value, principally market value for investments, and consist of the following 
categories, by proportion of the total assets held by the Fund: 


 
 


Long-
term 


Return
% pa £000  % £000  %


Equities 7.8 42,999      83.0% 46,595 77.4%
Gilts 2.8 3,108        7.0% 4,334 7.2%
Bonds 3.8 1,036        1.0% 1,204 2.0%
Property 7.3 2,072        4.0% 3,191 5.3%
Cash 0.9 2,590        5.0% 3,130 5.2%
Other 7.8 -           1,746 2.9%
Total 51,805    100.0% 60,200    100.0%


Assets at 31 March 
2012


Assets at 31 March 2013


 
 
 
 


Year to Year to Year to Year to Year to Year to Year to Year to
31/03/12 31/03/13 31/03/12 31/03/13 31/03/12 31/03/13 31/03/12 31/03/13


£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000


Actual Return Less Expected return 
on Pension Scheme Assets


(4,336) 4,906 17,087 15,772 0 0 (759) (874)


Experience Gains and Losses Arising 
on the Scheme Liabilities


0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


Other Experience Gains/(Losses) on 
Liabilities


0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


Changes in Demographic/Financial 
Assumptions Underlying the Present 
Value of the Scheme Liabilities


(10,896) (1,489) (117,656) (25,950) (4,407) (1,723) (6,704) (261)


Actuarial Gain/(Loss) in 
Pension Plan


(15,232) 3,417 (100,569) (10,178) (4,407) (1,723) (7,463) (1,135)


Increase/(Decrease) in 
Irrecoverable Surplus from 
Membership


0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


Fall and Other Factors 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Actuarial Gain/ (Loss) 
Recognised in Other 
Comprehensive Income


(15,232) 3,417 (100,569) (10,178) (4,407) (1,723) (7,463) (1,135)


Effect of Change in Accounting 
Methodology


0 0 0 0 0 0


Local Government 
Pension Scheme


2006 Police Pension 
Scheme


1987 Police Pension 
Scheme


Injury Awards
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Year to Year to Year to Year to Year to Year to Year to Year to
31/03/12 31/03/13 31/03/12 31/03/13 31/03/12 31/03/13 31/03/12 31/03/13


£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Opening Defined Benefit Obligation 57,426 71,222 717,849 861,228 48,335 54,233 17,398 27,398
Current Service Cost 2,066 2,640 18,347 22,250 1,665 2,294 1,518 2,174
Interest Cost  3,145 3,316 39,147 39,444 2,628 2,505 1,019 1,330
Actuarial losses (gains) 10,896 1,489 117,656 25,950 4,407 1,723 6,704 261
Losses (gains) on curtailments 0 0 0 0 0 0


Liabilities extinguished on settlements (1,633) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Liabilities assumed in a business 
combination 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Estimated benefits paid net of 
transfers in (1,344) (1,514) (37,206) (35,562) (2,802) (1,820) 0 31
Past Service Cost 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


Contribution by Scheme participants 689 650 5,435 5,707 0 0 759 843
Additional Employer Contributions 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Unfunded pension payments (23) (24) 0 0 0 0 0 0
Closing Defined Benefit 
Obligation 71,222 77,779 861,228 919,017 54,233 58,935 27,398 32,037


Opening fair value of Scheme assets 53,029 51,806 0 0 0 0 0 0
Expected return on Scheme assets 3,562 2,938 0 0 0 0 0 0
Actuarial gains (losses) (4,336) 4,906 17,087 15,772 0 0 (759) (874)
Contributions by employer including 
unfunded benefits 1,510 1,439 14,684 14,083 2,802 1,820 0 0


Contributions by Scheme participants 689 650 5,435 5,707 0 0 759 843
Change to Accounting Policies 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Estimated benefits paid including 
unfunded benefits (1,367) (1,538) (37,206) (35,562) (2,802) (1,820) 0 31
Gain on Settlement (1,281) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Fair Value of Scheme Assets at 
end of Period 51,806 60,201 0 0 0 0 0 0


Opening Surplus / (Deficit) (4,397) (19,416) (717,849) (861,228) (48,335) (54,233) (17,398) (27,398)
Current Service Cost (2,066) (2,640) (18,347) (22,250) (1,665) (2,294) (1,518) (2,174)
Contributions by employer including 
unfunded benefits 1,510 1,439 14,684 14,083 2,802 1,820 0 0


Contributions by Scheme participants 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Past Service Costs 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Interest Costs (3,145) (3,316) (39,147) (39,444) (2,628) (2,505) (1,019) (1,330)
Expected return on Scheme assets 3,562 2,938 0 0 0 0 0 0
Gain on Settlement 352 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Actuarial (losses) gains (15,232) 3,417 (100,569) (10,178) (4,407) (1,723) (7,463) (1,135)
Fair Value of Scheme Assets/ 
(Liabilities) at end of Period (19,416) (17,578) (861,228) (919,017) (54,233) (58,935) (27,398) (32,037)


Asset and Benefit Obligation Reconciliation


Injury Awards


Reconcilation of Opening and Closing Net Obligation


Local Government 
Pension Scheme


1987 Police Pension 
Scheme


2006 Police Pension 
Scheme
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Year to Year to Year to Year to Year to
31/03/09 31/03/10 31/03/11 31/03/12 31/03/13


£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Difference Between the Expected 
and Actual Return on Assets (14,040) 17,618 1,222 (4,336) 4,906
Value of Assets 53,825 77,990 53,028 51,805 60,200
Percentage of Assets (26.1%) 22.6% 2.3% (8.4%) 8.1%
Experience Gains/(Losses) on 
Liabilities 0 (136) (3,168) 0
Total Present value of Liabilities 59,816 103,789 57,426 71,222 77,779
Percentage of the Total 
Present Value of Liabilities 0.0% (0.1%) (5.5%) 0.0% 0.0%
Actuarial Gains/(Losses) 
Recognised in Other 
Comprehensive Income 2,857 (19,633) 2,121 (15,232) 3,417
Total Present Value of Liabilities 59,816 103,789 57,426 71,222 77,779
Percentage of the Total 
Present Value of Liabilities 4.8% (18.9%) 3.7% (21.4%) 4.4%
Effect of change in accounting 
methodology 0 0 0 0 0
Present Value of Liabilities 59,816 103,789 57,426 71,222 77,779
Percentage of the Present 
Value of Liabilities 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%


History of Experience Gains & Losses
Local Government Pension Scheme


 


Year to Year to Year to Year to Year to
31/03/09 31/03/10 31/03/11 31/03/12 31/03/13


£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Difference Between the Expected 
and Actual Return on Assets 0 0 0 0 15,772
Value of Assets 0 0 0 0 0
Percentage of Assets 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Experience Gains/(Losses) on 
Liabilities 0 0 58,799 0 0
Total Present value of Liabilities 622,927 939,248 766,184 861,228 919,017
Percentage of the Total 
Present Value of Liabilities 0.0% 0.0% 7.7% 0.0% 0.0%
Actuarial Gains/(Losses) 
Recognised in Other 
Comprehensive Income 92,758 (268,329) 3,417 (100,569) (10,178)
Total Present Value of Liabilities 622,927 939,248 766,184 915,461 919,017
Percentage of the Total 
Present Value of Liabilities 14.9% (28.6%) 0.4% (11.0%) (1.1%)
Effect of change in accounting 
methodology 0 0 0 0 0
Present Value of Liabilities 622,927 939,248 766,184 861,228 919,017
Percentage of the Present 
Value of Liabilities 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%


History of Experience Gains & Losses
1987 Police Pension Scheme
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Year to Year to Year to Year to Year to
31/03/09 31/03/10 31/03/11 31/03/12 31/03/13


£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Difference Between the Expected 
and Actual Return on Assets 0 0 0 0 0
Value of Assets 0 0 0 0 0
Percentage of Assets 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Experience Gains/(Losses) on 
Liabilities 0 0 0 0 0
Total Present value of Liabilities 0 0 0 54,233 58,935
Percentage of the Total Present 
Value of Liabilities 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%


Actuarial Gains/(Losses) Recognised 
in Other Comprehensive Income 0 0 0 (4,407) (1,723)
Total Present Value of Liabilities 0 0 0 915,461 58,935
Percentage of the Total Present 
Value of Liabilities 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% (0.5%) (2.9%)
Effect of change in accounting 
methodology 0 0 0 0 0
Present Value of Liabilities 0 0 0 54,233 58,935
Percentage of the Present Value 
of Liabilities 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%


History of Experience Gains & Losses
 Police Injury Pension Scheme


 


Year to Year to Year to Year to Year to
31/03/09 31/03/10 31/03/11 31/03/12 31/03/13


£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Difference Between the Expected 
and Actual Return on Assets 0 0 0 0 0
Value of Assets 0 0 0 0 0
Percentage of Assets 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Experience Gains/(Losses) on 
Liabilities 0 0 (10,312) 0 0
Total Present value of Liabilities 2,055 6,064 17,398 27,398 32,037
Percentage of the Total 
Present Value of Liabilities 0.0% 0.0% (59.3%) 0.0% 0.0%
Actuarial Gains/(Losses) 
Recognised in Other 
Comprehensive Income 467 2,400 8,934 6,704 261
Total Present Value of Liabilities 2,055 6,064 17,398 27,398 32,037
Percentage of the Total 
Present Value of Liabilities 22.7% 39.6% 51.4% 24.5% 0.8%
Effect of change in accounting 
methodology 0 0 0 0 0
Present Value of Liabilities 1,223 2,055 6,064 27,398 32,037
Percentage of the Present 
Value of Liabilities 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%


History of Experience Gains & Losses
2006 Police Pension Scheme
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Projected Pension Expense for the year to 31 March 2014:


Local Government 
Pension Scheme


1987 Police 
Pension Scheme


Injury Awards 2006 Police 
Pension Scheme


Year to 31/03/14 Year to 31/03/14 Year to 31/03/14 Year to 31/03/14
£000s £000s £000s £000s


Service cost 2,625                      23,284                    2,370                      2,215                      
Net Interest cost 731                         39,646                    2,312                      1,410                      
Total 3,356                      62,930                   4,682                      3,625                      
Employer contributions
 


 


24. LEASED ASSETS – RENTALS 
 
 The PCC has leased photocopying/printing equipment which is an operating lease. The current 


operating lease expires June 2013.  
 


 
Finance 
Leases 


Operating 
Leases 


  £000 £000 
Total Rentals paid in 2012/2013 0 61 
      
Outstanding undischarged Leasing 
Obligations. 


    


2013/2014 0 15 
  
 
 The PCC entered into a Finance Lease for 125 years in 2006/07 in relation to the land on which the 


Kirkleatham PFI building is situated. The PCC also entered into a 999 year lease in 2009/10 in 
relation to the land on which the Road Policing Unit is situated. There are no additional obligations in 
respect of these transactions. The Leases are recorded within the asset register of the PCC at a 
nominal figure; this is consistent with the accounting for land elsewhere in the PCC.  
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25. OFFICERS' EMOLUMENTS 
 


During the financial year 2012/2013, the numbers of staff whose remuneration, excluding 
employers’ pension contributions and compensation for loss of office, was £50,000 or more in bands 
of £5,000 were: 
 


  


Police 
Officers


Support 
Staff Total


0 £50,000 - £54,999 0 0 0
1 £55,000 - £59,999 0 1 1
0 £60,000 - £64,999 0 0 0
0 £65,000 - £69,999 0 0 0
0 £70,000 - £74,999 0 0 0
0 £75,000 - £79,999 0 1 1
1 £80,000 - £84,999 0 1 1
2 Total 0 3 3


2011/2012 Remuneration Band


Number of staff


 
  


This table includes senior employees and relevant police officers (as per the requirements of LAAP 
bulletin 85) which are disclosed by position or name (as required) overleaf: 
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Remuneration Disclosure 2012/13: 
 


Post Holder Annualised 
Salary


Salary 
(Including 
Fees & 


Allowances)


Bonuses Expense 
Allowances


Compensation 
for Loss of 


Office


Benefits 
in Kind


Other 
Payments


Total 
Remuneration 


excluding 
Pension 


Contribution 
12/13


Pension 
Contributions


£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £
The PCC 70,000 25,083 25,083 3,587
Chief Executive 90,000 75,000 0 0 81,520 0 0 156,520 170,147
Deputy Chief 
Executive / 
Treasurer


83,514 83,514 0 0 0 0 0 83,514 11,804


 
From the 22nd November 2012 the statutory position of Chief Executive and Monitoring Officer was fulfilled by 
an officer on secondment from Middlesbrough Council into the role of Chief of Staff. The costs of this 
arrangement to the 31st March 2013 were £40,888 
 
Remuneration Disclosure 2011/12: 
 


Post Holder Annualised 
Salary


Salary 
(Including 
Fees & 


Allowances)


Bonuses Expense 
Allowances


Compensation 
for Loss of 


Office


Benefits 
in Kind


Other 
Payments


Total 
Remuneration 


excluding 
Pension 


Contribution 
11/12


Pension 
Contributions


£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £
Chief Executive 90,000 30,000 0 0 0 0 0 30,000 4,290
Acting Chief 
Executive


100,000 42,778 0 0 0 0 0 42,778 6,117


Deputy Chief 
Executive / 
Treasurer


80,397 80,397 0 0 0 0 0 80,397 11,539


Police Authority 
Deputy Chief 
Executive


56,533 13,333 0 0 30,000 0 0 43,333 1,967


 
The Treasurer and Deputy Chief Executive roles were combined on 1st February 2012. 
 


26. TERMINATION BENEFITS 
In the financial year the PCC paid termination benefits totalling £81.5k affecting 1 individual within the 
Office for the Police and Crime Commissioner for Cleveland. This amount includes the compensation 
for loss of office payment included in note 25 above. 


 
 


27. MEMBERS ALLOWANCES 
 
 Approved allowances paid to and on behalf of Members of the Police Authority for the financial year 


2012/2013 and members of the Independent Audit Committee of the PCC Group were as follows: 
 
2011/2012 2012/2013


£000 £000


199 Allowances for approved duties 126
17 Travel and Subsistence 1


216 Total Members Allowances 127
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28. RELATED PARTIES  
 
 The PCC is required to disclose material transactions with related parties – bodies or individuals that 


have the potential to control or influence the PCC or to be controlled or influenced by the PCC. 
Disclosure of these transactions allows readers to assess the extent to which the PCC might have 
been constrained in its ability to operate independently or might have secured the ability to limit 
another party’s ability to bargain freely with the PCC. 


 
 Central Government has effective control over the general operations of the PCC – it is responsible 


for providing the statutory framework within which the PCC operates and provides the majority of its 
funding in the form of Grants. During the year material transactions with related parties arose as 
follows and are included within the Income and Expenditure account: 


 
  


Government Departments
£000's


Police Grant 48,270
NNDR 42,761
Pension Top up Grant 15,807
PFI Grant 4,106
Police Community Support Officers Grant 2,948
Home Office Special Grant 2,200
Dedicated Security Posts Funding 1,118
Revenue Support Grant 844
Capital Financing Grant 257
Drug Testing Grant 249


 
    
 During 2012/13 two members have declared related parties interest. One is a Non Executive Director 


of a Primary Care Trust, the other is an elected member of Stockton Borough Council. The former 
purchased surplus office supplies to the value of £75.00 in November 2012. 


 
 


29. PRIVATE FINANCE INITIATIVE 
  
 As at the end of 2012/13 the PCC has 2 long term contracts under the Private Finance Initiative. 
  
 The contract for the Tactical Training Centre for Urlay Nook (referred as Urlay Nook) was entered 


into in April 2000 with payments commencing in April 2001. 
 
 The contract expires in 2025/6. 
 
 During 2006/07 the contract for the Centralised Cell Accommodation and District HQ facilities 


(referred to as Action Stations) commenced with payments beginning in January 2007. 
 
 The contract expires in 2031/2. 
 
 The contracts are accounted for in accordance with IFRIC 12 and details of the movement in assets 


and liabilities, plus information regarding future payments is shown below: 
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Asset Liability Asset Liability
£000s £000s £000s £000s


Balance b/f 4,657 (4,860) 24,221 (25,374)
Movements:
Depreciation (130) 0 (667) 0
Lifecycle maintenance 160 0 440 0
Principal repayment 0 144 0 556
Balance c/f 4,687 (4,716) 23,994 (24,818)


Urlay Nook Action Stations


 
 


 


Services Finance Cost Principal Repayment
£000s £000s £000s


Within 1 year 707 780 173
2 to 5 years 3,285 2,928 710
6 to 10 years 3,789 3,539 1,994
11 to 15 years 2,437 1,699 1,839


Services Finance Cost Principal Repayment
£000s £000s £000s


Within 1 year 1,937 2,320 695
2 to 5 years 8,474 8,767 3,213
6 to 10 years 12,746 9,163 5,240
11 to 15 years 15,339 6,753 7,029
16 to 20 years 11,587 3,602 8,641


Action Stations


Urlay Nook


 
 
 


30. AUDIT COSTS 
 


In 2012/13 the PCC incurred the following fees totalling £69k relating to external audit:  
 


 


2011/2012 2012/2013
£000 £000


77
Fees payable to external audit with regard to external audit 
services carried out by the appointed auditor 48


1
Fees payable to external audit in respect of additional services 
requested 1


77 Total Audit Costs 49
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31. INFORMATION ON ASSETS HELD 
 


Analysis of Assets 2011/2012 2012/2013
Buildings
Police Headquarters 1 1
Operational Police Stations 10 10
Non-Operational Police Stations 0 0
Radio Mast site 1 1
Total 12 12


Vehicles
Cars 207 190
Vans 78 73
Other Vehicles 19 20
Total 304 283  
 
In addition to the above, there are 4 Operational Police Stations plus a Firearms Range held under 
Private Finance Initiative schemes. 
 
 


32. CAPITAL EXPENDITURE IN THE YEAR AND SOURCES OF FINANCE 
 


31 March 2012 Capital Expenditure and Financing 31 March 2013
£000 £000


Capital Investment:
6,708                  Property, Plant and Equipment 4,600                  
285                     Intangible Assets 122                    
-                      Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital under Statue -                     


6,993                  Total Capital Investment 4,722                 


Sources of Finance:
-                      Capital Receipts (41)                     


(1,121)                 Governement Grants and Contributions (1,325)                
(21)                     Other Grants and Contributions (126)                   
(410)                    Direct Revenue Contributions (720)                   
(872)                    Supported Borrowing (872)                   


(4,569)                 Unsupported Borrowing (1,638)                
(6,993)                Total Finance (4,722)               
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33. BORROWING 
  


Interest rates vary between 1.22% and 5.30%. The average rate is 3.97% 
 


31 March 
2012 31 March 2013
£000 £000


Public Works Loans Board


            (1,681) Due in the next Financial Year                  (3,760)
          (18,960) Long Term Loans                 (20,600)


(20,641)        Total Borrowing (24,360)              


31 March 
2012 Maturity Period 31 March 2013
£000 £000


               (860)  1/2 years (1,340)                 
            (4,184)  2/5 years (2,844)                 
          (13,916)  5/10 years (13,916)               
                  -   Over 10 years (2,500)                 


(18,960)        Total Long Term Loans (20,600)              


 
 
 


34. PROCEEDS OF CRIME ACT 2002 
 


The PCC is holding cash at bank totalling £0.701m in respect of seized cash balances in relation to 
the Proceeds of Crime Act 2002.  This balance is not included in the Balance Sheet. 


 
 


35. AGENCY SERVICES 
 


Consortium Charges 
 
The PCC has an agency agreement with the North East Fingerprint Bureau to provide fingerprinting 
services. Payments in 2012/13 amounted to £0.369m (£0.387m in 2011/12). 


 
Urlay Nook Tactical Training Centre 
 
The Urlay Nook Tactical Training Centre which is jointly run by Cleveland PCC and Durham PCC has 
reserves as at the 31st of March 2013 of £0.096m which sits with Durham but of which £0.048m is 
Cleveland PCC share. 
 
Roads Policing Unit 
 
The Roads Policing Unit, which is jointly run by Cleveland PCC and Durham PCC, has no reserves as 
at the 31st of March 2013. 
 
Other National Police Services 
 
The PCC made a subscription payment for the Police National Computer and Database of £0.429m in 
2012/13 (£0.403m in 2011/12). 
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36. USABLE RESERVES 
 


Description of Reserve
31 March 


2012
Receipts in 
Year £000


Transfers/ 
Payments         
in Year           
£000 31 March 2013


£000 £000


Insurance Fund           (1,560)            (115)                     0                (1,675)
Earmarked Reserves (3,413) (1,733) 3,917 (1,228)
Revenue Grants Unapplied Reserve              (998) (34) 569                  (463)
Capital Grants Unapplied Reserve              (251) (1,459) 1,451                  (259)


Capital Receipts Unapplied Reserve                (41) (3,988) 4,013                    (16)
General Fund           (8,245) (421) 1,220                (7,446)
Total Usable Reserves (14,507)       (7,750)      11,170          (11,087)           


 


Earmarked Reserves – Please see Note 8 for a detailed analysis 
 
Revenue Grants Unapplied Reserve – These revenue grants are those which either have no 
specified conditions or the conditions have been met. They will be matched to relevant expenditure 
as incurred. 
 
Capital Grants Unapplied Reserve – These capital grants are those which have been received 
but expenditure has not yet been incurred. They will be matched to relevant expenditure as 
incurred. 
 
Capital Receipts Unapplied Reserve – These capital receipts have been received from the 
disposal of non current assets with any balance yet to applied to fund capital expenditure. 
 
General Fund – This balance is available in order to support the future operations of the 
organisation should the need arise due to unforeseen circumstances. 
 
 


37. UNUSABLE RESERVES 
 
 


Description of Reserve
31 March 


2012
Additions in 


Year 
Reductions          


in Year          
31 March 


2013
£000 £000 £000 £000


Revaluation Reserve              (815)                   0                   0              (815)
Available for Sale Financial Instruments 
Reserve


                  0                   0                   0                   0 


Capital Adjustment Account            (9,840)            (4,350)             7,332            (6,858)
Financial Instruments Adjustment 
Account Account


                  0                   0                   0                   0 


Deferred Capital Receipts Reserve                   0                   0                   0                   0 
Pension Reserve          962,276          (36,946)          102,238       1,027,568 
Collection Fund Adjustment Account              (283)              (422)                283              (422)
Accumulated Absence Reserve             2,927                   0              (287)             2,639 
Total Unusable Reserves        954,266        (41,718)        109,565     1,022,113 
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Revaluation Reserve – contains gains made by the PCC from increases in the value of its non-
current assets since 1st April 2007, which is when the reserve was created. 


 
Capital Adjustment Account – absorbs the timing differences arising from the different 
arrangements for accounting for the consumption of non-current assets and for financing the 
acquisition, construction or enhancement of those assets under statutory provisions. This account 
also contains any revaluation gains prior to 1st April 2007. 
 
Pension Reserve – absorbs the timing differences arising from the different arrangements for 
accounting for post employment benefits and for funding benefits in accordance with statutory 
provisions. 
 
Collection Fund Adjustment Account – manages the differences arising from the recognition of 
Council Tax income in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as it falls due from 
tax payers compared with the statutory arrangements for paying across amounts to the General 
Fund from the collection fund. 
 
Accumulated Absence Reserve – absorbs the differences that would otherwise arise on the 
General fund balance from accruing for compensated absences earned but not taken in the year. 
Statutory arrangements require the impact on the General Fund balance is neutralised by transfers 
to/from the account. 
 
 


38. CAPITAL ADJUSTMENT ACCOUNT 
 


31 March 2012 31 March 2013
£000 £000


(9,085)               Balance at 1 April (9,840)               
(2,290)                Transfer to Non Operational Assets -                    
(103)                  Capital expenditure not adding to asset values -                    
(4)                      Prior year adjustment -                    
(8)                      In Year adjustment -                    
-                    Revaluation adjustments -                    
-                    Partnership financing of Capital Expenditure -                    
(410)                  Revenue contribution to capital (720)                  
2,995                 MRP less Depreciation 2,705                 
(1,142)                Transfer from Government Grants Deferred  383                    
-                    Capital Receipts Applied (4,013)                
208                    Disposals 4,627                 
-                    Write out of Government Grants Deferred -                    


(9,840)               Balance at 31 March (6,858)               
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39. GRANT INCOME 
 


31 March 2012 ANALYSIS OF GRANTS 31 March 2013
£000 £000


Credited to Taxation and Non specific Grant Income:
(10,924)                       Revenue Support Grant (844)                            
(35,340)                       National Non Domestic Rates (42,761)                       
(52,155)                       Police Grant (48,270)                       
(32,282)                       Precepts (33,632)                       
(1,134)                         Capital Grants and Contributions 375                             


(131,835)                    (125,132)                    


Credited to services:
(2,965)                         Police Community Support Officers Grant (2,948)                         
(941)                            PFI - Urlay Nook (941)                            
(972)                            Dedicated Security Posts Funding (1,118)                         


(3,165)                         PFI - Action Stations (3,165)                         
(260)                            Drug Testing Grant (249)                            
(216)                            Capital Financing Grant (257)                            
(108)                            Incentivisation Grant (108)                            
(7)                               Specials Grant -                                 


(17,684)                       Pension Fund Top up Grant (15,807)                       
(1,616)                         Home Office Special Grant (2,200)                         
(1,917)                         Partnership Grants (695)                            


(29,851)                      (27,488)                      


(161,686)                    Total Grant Income (152,620)                    


 


These grants have all been recognised within the Income and Expenditure Statement; however 
£0.24m sits within creditors as income in advance as there is the potential this may have to be 
returned to the originating organisation. 
 
 


40. CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 
 


The PCC does not have any contingent assets or liabilities at the Balance Sheet date. 
 
 


41. AUTHORISATION OF ACCOUNTS 
  


The Chief Finance Officer of the PCC for Cleveland has set and authorised the date of issue for the 
Statement of Accounts as the 27th June 2013. This is the date that the Statement was approved by 
the PCC and is the date, up to which, any known events are reported. 
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EXPLANATORY FOREWORD AND FINANCIAL REVIEW 
 
 


1. INTRODUCTION 
 


2012/13 was an important year for policing in Cleveland. In November 2012 the election of the 
first Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC) for the area policed by Cleveland Police was held, 
this represented a significant shift in the way the police are governed and held to account. One 
of the key reforms was to replace the Cleveland Police Authority with the Office of the Police 
and Crime Commissioner for Cleveland. At the same time the ‘Chief Constable’ was established 
in law as a separate corporation sole. The primary function of the PCC is to secure the 
maintenance of an efficient and effective police force and to hold the Chief Constable to 
account for the exercise of operational policing duties under the Police Act 1996. 
 
These are the first Statutory Accounts to be prepared under the new arrangements. From a 
technical perspective these accounts are therefore prepared under the requirements of FRS 6 
Mergers and Acquisitions assuming that the two corporate soles (as part of an overall Group) 
have been in existence for the whole of the 2012/13 financial year. 
 
All of the financial transactions incurred during 2012/13 for policing in Cleveland have been 
recognised within this Statement of Accounts, which sets out the overall position of the 
Cleveland PCC Group for the year ended 31st March 2013. The Group position ‘PCC Group’ 
reflects the consolidated accounts of the PCC and the Chief Constable. This Foreword provides 
an overview of the new accounting arrangements and outlines the financial performance of the 
PCC Group during 2012/13. 
 


2. THE STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 
 


The accounting arrangements between the PCC and Chief Constable during the current financial 
year are that the PCC is responsible for the finances of the whole Group and controls the 
assets, liabilities and reserves which were transferred from the Police Authority on the 22nd 
November 2012. The PCC receives all of the income and funding and makes all payments for 
the Group from the PCC Police Fund. In turn the Chief Constable fulfils the functions under the 
Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 (Act), within an annual budget set by the PCC 
(in consultation with the CC). A scheme of delegation is in operation between the two bodies 
determining their respective responsibilities.     


 
This Statement of Accounts covers the financial year ended 31st March 2013 and has been 
prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2011, the 
requirements of the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United 
Kingdom 2012. 
 
The PCC receives funding from Central Government and precept income from local Councils. 
 
The Statements required by the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United 
Kingdom 2012/13 (the Code) are detailed below along with the objective of each statement: 
 
Group Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement – This statement shows the 
accounting cost in the year of providing services in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting practices, rather than the amount to be funded from precept. PCCs raise precept to 
cover expenditure in accordance with regulations; this may be different from the accounting 
cost. The amount chargeable to precept is shown in the Movement in Reserves Statement. 
 
Group Movement in Reserves Statement – This statement shows the movement in the 
year on the different reserves held by the PCC, analysed into ‘usable reserves’ (i.e. those that 
can be applied to fund expenditure or reduce local precept) and unusable reserves.  
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The (Surplus) or Deficit on the Provision of Services line shows the true economic cost of 
providing the PCC Group’s services, more details of which are shown in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement. These are different from the statutory amounts required to 
be charged to the General Fund Balance for council tax setting purposes.  
 
The Net Increase/Decrease before Transfers to Earmarked Reserves line shows the statutory 
General Fund Balance before any discretionary transfers to or from earmarked reserves 
undertaken by the PCC. 
 
Group Balance Sheet – The Balance Sheet shows the value as at 31st March 2013 of the 
assets and liabilities recognised by the PCC Group.  
 
The net assets of the PCC Group (assets less liabilities) are matched by the reserves held by the 
PCC Group. Reserves are reported in two categories.  
 
The first category of reserves is usable reserves, i.e. those reserves that the PCC Group may 
use to provide services, subject to the need to maintain a prudent level of reserves and any 
statutory limitations on their use (for example the Capital Receipts Reserve that may only be 
used to fund capital expenditure or repay debt).  
 
The second category of reserves is unusable reserves and refers to those that the PCC Group is 
not able to use to provide services. This category of reserves includes reserves that hold 
unrealised gains and losses (for example the Revaluation Reserve), where amounts would only 
become available to provide services if the assets are sold; and reserves that hold timing 
differences which are shown in the Movement in Reserves Statement line ‘Adjustments between 
accounting basis and funding basis under regulations’.  
 
Group Cash Flow Statement – The Cash Flow Statement shows the changes in cash and 
cash equivalents of the PCC Group during the reporting period. The statement shows how the 
PCC Group generates and uses cash and cash equivalents by classifying cash flows as 
operating, investing and financing activities.  
 
The amount of net cash flows arising from operating activities is a key indicator of the extent to 
which the operations of the PCC Group are funded by way of precept and grant income or from 
the recipients of services provided by the PCC Group.  
Investing activities represent the extent to which cash outflows have been made for resources 
which are intended to contribute to the PCC Group’s future service delivery.  
 
Cash flows arising from financing activities are useful in predicting claims on future cash flows 
by providers of capital (i.e. borrowing) to the PCC Group. 


 
The 2012/13 statements highlight the following areas of change from the 2011/12 position: 
 
Group Comprehensive Income & Expenditure Statement: 
 


• Net Cost of Services (NCOS) has increased by £5.563m, primarily due to an increase of 
£7.768m in the charge to NCOS for IAS 19 relating to pension costs offset by lower 
spending due to lower numbers of officers, staff and PCSOs as a result of the savings 
required to meet reducing level of government funding. 


 
• The deficit on the Provision of Service has increased moved from a £48m deficit to a 


£62m deficit. This is predominately as a result  of the higher IAS 19 charges and the 
£7.5m reduction in Grant income between years. 


 
• Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure has moved by £118m due to changes in 


actuarial assumptions relating to the Pension Fund. 
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Group Balance Sheet: 
 


• Non Current Assets have reduced by £4.6m primarily as a result of the disposal of the 
Force helicopter on its transfer to the National Police Air Service (NPAS). 


 
• The value of Debtors (long and short term) has increased by £1.5m, as a result of the 


money owing from the sale of the helicopter to NPAS which will be paid in instalments 
over the next 10 years. 


 
• The value of Creditors has increased by £1.8m, primarily as a result of the timing of 


the payment due to Steria for the contract which was due the first week in April. 
 


• During the year the PCC has repaid £1.681m and taken out new loans of £5.4m, well 
within the limits approved by the PCC. 


 
• The Pension Liability and Reserves have both increased mainly as a result of changes 


in actuarial assumptions as detailed above. 
 


• The Usable Reserves of the PCC Group have decreased by £3.4m; primarily as a result 
of both earmarked and general reserves being used to support the Revenue Budget 
as has been reported through Budget Monitoring during 2012/13.  
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3. THE POLICE & CRIME COMMISSIONER REVENUE BUDGET FOR 
2012/2013 


 
 


The following table shows the 2012/2013 budget and the final outturn: 
 


Final 
Results


Final 
Outturn


Variation 
from 


2011/2012 2012/2013 Budget


£000 £000 £000 £000
79,730 Police Pay and Allowances 75,110 75,449 339
7,903 Support Staff Pay and Allowances 8,559 7,568 (991)
5,076 PCSO Pay and Allowances 5,050 4,844 (206)
2,620 Police Pensions 2,600 2,716 116
(81) Core Budgets 1,021 1,304 283


1,121 PCC (including pay) 1,173 1,160 (13)
23,548 District and HQ Operational SU's 24,013 24,653 639
9,229 Central Support SU's 11,086 10,495 (591)


129,146 EXPENDITURE 128,611 128,190 (421)


(52,155) Police Grants and Other Funding (48,270) (48,270) 0
(10,924) Revenue Support Grant (844) (844) 0
(35,340) National Non Domestic Rates (42,761) (42,761) 0
(32,282) Council Tax Income (33,632) (33,632) (0)
(130,701) GROSS FUNDING (125,508) (125,508) (0)


Contributions To (+ve) or from (-ve)
reserves:


429 Earmarked (1,883) (1,883) 0
291 General (1,220) (1,220) 0


(835) NET (UNDER)/OVERSPENDING (0) (421) (421)


Budget 
2012/13


 
 


4. POLICE & CRIME COMMISSIONER GENERAL REVENUE BALANCES 
 
2011/2012 2012/2013


£000 £000
(7,119)  Opening Balance (8,245)


(291)  Budgeted transfer (into)/from balances 1,220
(7,410)  Planned Position (7,025)
(835)  (Surplus) or Deficit on Years activities (421)


(8,245)  Available balance at 31 March (7,446)
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WHERE THE MONEY GOES TO: 
 


Police Pay and 
Allowances
58.9%


Support Staff 
Pay and 


Allowances
5.9%


PCSO Pay and 
Allowances
3.8%


Police Pensions
2.1%


PCC
0.9%


District and HQ 
Operational SU's


19.2%


Central Support 
SU's
8.2%


 
 


WHERE THE MONEY COMES FROM: 
 


Police Grants 
and Other 
Funding
38.5%


Revenue 
Support Grant / 
National Non 


Domestic Rates
34.7%


Council Tax 
Income
26.8%
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5. CAPITAL 
 


The PCC spent £4.722m on capital projects during the year. The programme was fully 
financed from capital resources in the year. 


 


6. PENSIONS 
 


As part of the terms and conditions of employment of its officers and other employees, the 
PCC offers retirement benefits. Although these will not actually be payable until employees 
retire, the PCC has a commitment to make the payments, which need to be recognised at 
the time that employees earn their future entitlement. This is a requirement of International 
Accounting Standard (IAS) 19 – Employee Benefits. 


 


7. CHANGES TO ACCOUNTING POLICIES   
   


The Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011, which came into effect during the 
financial year 2012/13 created two corporate soles the Office of the Police & Crime 
Commissioner for Cleveland and Cleveland Police. As a result of this the accounts are now 
compiled as per the requirements of FRS 6 Acquisitions & Mergers. 
 


8. BORROWING FACILITIES 
 
 The PCC currently has £24.36m worth of borrowing taken out with the Public Works Loan 


Board (PWLB), the repayment of these loans are phased over the next 11 years and have 
been taken out to fund the PCC’s capital programme. The PCC undertook new borrowing of 
£5.4m and repaid £1.681m in the 2012/13 financial year. 


 


9. FURTHER INFORMATION 
 


Interested members of the public have a statutory right to inspect the accounts before the 
audit is completed. This was advertised in the local press. 
 
Further information may be obtained from the Chief Finance Officer at The Office of the 
Police & Crime Commissioner for Cleveland, P O Box 70, Ladgate Lane, Middlesbrough TS8 
9EH 


 
 
 


M. PORTER, 
CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER FOR THE PCC 
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STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITIES 
 
The PCC’s Responsibilities 
 
The PCC is required to: 
 


• Make arrangements for the proper administration of its financial affairs and to secure that one of its 
Officers has the responsibility for the administration of those affairs.  In this PCC’s Office that Officer 
is the Chief Finance Officer to the PCC; 


 
• Manage its affairs to secure economic, efficient and effective use of resources and safeguard its 


assets; 
 


• Approve the Statement of Accounts. 
 
The Chief Finance Officer’s Responsibilities 
 
The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for the preparation of the PCC Group's Statement of Accounts in 
accordance with proper practices as set out in the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority 
Accounting in the United Kingdom (the Code of Practice). 
 
In preparing the Statement of Accounts, the Chief Finance Officer has: 
 


• Selected suitable accounting policies and then applied them consistently; 
 


• Made judgements and estimates that were reasonable and prudent; 
 


• Complied with the Code of Practice. 
 
The Chief Finance Officer to the PCC has also ensured that the Chief Finance Officer to Cleveland Police has: 
 


• Applied the accounting policies consistently and in a prudent manner; 
 


• Kept proper accounting records which were up to date; 
 


• Taken reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 
 
The Statement of Accounts give a true and fair presentation of the financial position of the PCC Group at the 
accounting date and its income and expenditure for the year ended 31st March 2013. 
 
Date:            Signature:  
 
       M Porter, Chief Finance Officer to the PCC 
 
 
The PCC’s Responsibilities 
 
In accordance with the requirements of the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2011 I confirm that the Statement 
of Accounts was approved by the PCC:  
 
 
Date:    Signature: 
     
       Police & Crime Commissioner for Cleveland     
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AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 
To Follow 
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ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 
  
  
Position as at 31st March 2013 including plans for the financial year 2013/2014 
 
1.  SCOPE OF RESPONSIBILITIES 
 
2. THE PURPOSE OF THE GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK 
 
 
3. THE GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK 
  
 
4.  REVIEW OF EFFECTIVENESS 
 
 
5. SIGNIFICANT GOVERNANCE ISSUES 
 
Signed this XXth June 2013 by 
 
 
 
 
 
Barry Coppinger 
PCC for Cleveland      
 
On behalf of the Office for the Police and Crime Commissioner for Cleveland 
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GROUP COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AND EXPENDITURE 
STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31st MARCH 2013 


 
2011/2012 2012/2013 2012/2013 2012/2013


Net 
Expenditure


Gross 
Expenditure


Gross 
Income


Net 
Expenditure


£000 £000 £000 £000
77,554 Local Policing 71,026 6,261 64,765
5,842 Dealing with the Public 6,009 68 5,941
10,941 Criminal Justice Arrangements 14,558 1,800 12,758
8,065 Road Policing 9,393 401 8,993
5,701 Specialist Operations 5,186 1,612 3,574
2,575 Intelligence 5,103 329 4,774
12,932 Specialist Investigation 31,297 1,544 29,753
5,051 Investigative Support 4,649 155 4,494
2,744 National Policing 3,608 1,783 1,825


0 Exceptional Items 0 0 0
1,157 Corporate and Democratic Core 3,606 2,376 1,230


21 Undistributed Costs 38 0 38
132,581 Net Cost of Services 154,473 16,329 138,144


399 913
0 Police Pension Top Up Grant 0


46,379 47,724
(131,835) (125,132)


47,526 61,649


(108) 0
0 0


127,671 9,619


127,563 9,619


175,086 Total Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 71,268


Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure


(Surplus)/Deficit on Revaluation of PPE
(Surplus)/Deficit on Revaluation of available for sale assets
Actuarial (gains) / losses on pension assets / liabilities (Note 23)


DETAIL


(Surplus) or Deficit on Provision of Service


Other Operating Expenditure (Note 9)


Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income (Note 11)
Financing & Investment income and Expenditure (Note 10)
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GROUP MOVEMENT ON RESERVES STATEMENT FOR THE 
YEAR ENDED 31st MARCH 2013 


 
General Capital Revenue Grants Capital Grants Total Total Total
Fund Earmarked Receipts Unapplied Unapplied Usable Unusable PCC
Balance Reserves Reserve Reserve Reserve Reserves Reserves Reserves
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000


Balance at 31st March 2012 (8,245) (4,972) (41) (998) (251) (14,508) 954,266 939,758 


(Surplus) or deficit on provision of services 
(accounting basis) 61,649 0 0 0 0 61,649 0 61,649 


Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 0 0 0 0 0 0 9,619 9,619 


Total Comprehensive Expenditure and Income
61,649 0 0 0 0 61,649 9,619 71,268 


Total Adjustments between accounting basis & 
funding basis under regulations (Note 7) (58,965) 0 26 0 (8) (58,948) 58,948 0 


Net (Increase) / Decrease before Transfers to 
Earmarked Reserves 2,683 0 26 0 (8) 2,701 68,567 71,268 


Total Transfers to/from Reserves (1,883) 2,069 0 535 0 720 (720) 0 


(Increase) / Decrease in Year 800 2,069 26 535 (8) 3,421 67,847 71,268 
Balance at 31 March 2013 (7,446) (2,903) (16) (463) (259) (11,087) 1,022,113 1,011,026 


 
 


GROUP MOVEMENT ON RESERVES STATEMENT FOR THE 
YEAR ENDED 31st MARCH 2012 


 
 


General Capital Revenue Grants Capital Grants Total Total Total
Fund Earmarked Receipts Unapplied Unapplied Usable Unusable PCC
Balance Reserves Reserve Reserve Reserve Reserves Reserves Reserves
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000


Balance at 31st March 2011 (7,119) (5,345) 0 (608) (260) (13,332) 778,004 764,672


(Surplus) or deficit on provision of services 
(accounting basis) 47,525 0 0 0 0 47,525 0 47,525


Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 0 0 0 0 0 0 127,560 127,560


Total Comprehensive Expenditure and Income
47,525 0 0 0 0 47,525 127,560 175,085


Total Adjustments between accounting basis & 
funding basis under regulations (Note 7)


(49,078) 0 (41) 0 9 (49,110) 49,111 0 


Net (Increase) / Decrease before Transfers to 
Earmarked Reserves (1,553) 0 (41) 0 9 (1,586) 176,671 175,085


Total Transfers to/from Reserves 427 373 0 (390) 0 410 (410) 0 


(Increase) / Decrease in Year (1,126) 373 (41) (390) 9 (1,176) 176,261 175,085
Balance at 31 March 2012 (8,245) (4,972) (41) (998) (251) (14,508) 954,266 939,758 
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GROUP BALANCE SHEET AT 31st MARCH 2013 
 
 1 April 2011  31 March 2012 Notes


£000 £000 £000 £000 


61,535              65,381              Property, Plant and Equipment 12 58,893         
-                   -                   Investment Property -              
765                   4,691                Intangible Assets 14 6,539           
-                   -                   Long Term Investments -              
-                   -                   Long Term Debtors 1,924           


62,300              70,072              67,356                
Total Long Term Assets 67,356               


5,500                -                   Short Term Investments -              
-                   -                   Assets Held for Sale -              
98                    77                    Inventories 16 89               


8,695                14,464              Short Term Debtors 17 14,080         
2,286                1,110                Cash and Cash Equivalents 18 3,300           


16,579             15,650             Total Current Assets 17,468               
78,879             85,723             Total Assets 84,825               


-                   -                   Cash and Cash Equivalents -              
(354)                 (1,681)               Short Term Borrowing 33 (3,760)          


(10,828)             (12,281)             Short Term Creditors 20 (14,039)        
-                   (49)                   Provisions 21 (349)            


(11,182)           (14,011)           Total Current Liabilities (18,148)              


-                   -                   Long Term Creditors -              
-                   -                   Provisions -              


(14,026)             (18,960)             Long Term Borrowing 33 (20,600)        
(31,682)             (30,234)             Other Long Term Liabilities : PFI 29 (29,534)        
(971,111)           (962,276)           Pensions Liability 23 (1,027,568)    


(1,016,819)      (1,011,470)      Total Long Term Liabilities (1,077,702)        
(1,028,001)      (1,025,480)      Total Liabilities (1,095,850)        
(949,122)         (939,758)         Net Assets (1,011,026)        


(15,096)             (14,507)             Usable Reserves 36 (11,087)        
964,218            954,266            Unusable Reserves 37 1,022,113     
949,122           939,758           Total Reserves 1,011,026          


31 March 2013
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GROUP CASHFLOW STATEMENT 2012/13 
 


2011/2012 Notes
£000 £000 £000


OPERATING ACTIVITIES


Cash Outflows
104,684           Cash paid to and on behalf of employees 95,731     


802                 Cash payment to reduce the PFI liability 700          
53,057             Cash paid to suppliers of goods and services 56,358     


158,543           152,789      


Cash Inflows
(32,223)            Precept received (33,493)    
(35,340)            National non-domestic rates (42,761)    
(10,924)            Revenue Support Grant (844)        
(80,390)            Other grants (71,724)    


(37)                  Rents (41)          
(253)                Cash received for goods and services (1,632)      
(639)                Other operating cash receipts (8,090)      


(159,806)          (158,587)     
(1,263)            Operating Activities Net Cash Flow (5,798)       


INVESTING ACTIVITIES


Returns on Investments and Servicing of Finance
3,691               Cash outflows -Interest paid 4,009       
(51)                  Cash inflows - Interest received (62)          


3,640               3,947         


Capital Activities
6,900               Cash outflows - Purchase of non current assets 4,872       
(211)                Cash inflows - Sale of non current assets (171)        


(1,121)                                - Capital grant received (1,319)      
5,568               3,382         


9,207              Investing Activities Net Cash Flow 7,328        


7,944              Net Cash Outflow/(Inflow) before financing 1,531        


FINANCING ACTIVITIES


Management of Liquid Resources
(2,000)             Net increase/(decrease) in investments -          


-                  Net increase/(decrease) in imprests -          
(2,000)             -             


Financing 33
385                 Cash outflows - Repayment of amounts borrowed 1,681       


(7,000)             Cash inflows - New loans raised (5,400)      
(6,615)             (3,719)        


(8,615)            Financing Activities Net Cash Flow (3,719)       


(673)               Net (Increase)/Decrease in cash (2,190)       


437                 Cash brought forward 1,110       
1,110               Cash carried forward 3,300       


(673)               Net (Increase)/Decrease in cash (2,190)       


2012/2013
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GROUP NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 


1. GROUP ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 


A) PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT  
 


Assets that have physical substance and are held for use in the production or supply of goods or 
services, for rental to others, or for administrative purposes and that are expected to generate 
economic benefit during more than one financial year are classified as Property, Plant and 
Equipment. 
 
Recognition 
 
Expenditure on the acquisition, creation or enhancement of Property, Plant and Equipment is 
capitalised on an accruals basis, provided that it is probable that the future economic benefits or 
service potential associated with the item will flow to the PCC Group and the cost of the item can be 
measured reliably. Expenditure that maintains but does not add to an asset’s potential to deliver 
future economic benefits or service potential (i.e. repairs and maintenance) is charged as an 
expense when it is incurred. 
 
Measurement 
 
Assets are initially measured at cost, comprising: 
 
• the purchase price 
• any costs attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be 


capable of operating in the manner intended by management 
• the initial estimate of the costs of dismantling and removing the item and restoring the site on 


which it is located. 
 
Assets are then carried in the Balance Sheet using the following measurement bases: 
 
• Property, Plant and Equipment – fair value, determined using the basis of existing use value 


(EUV). 
 
Where there is no market-based evidence of fair value because of the specialist nature of an asset, 
depreciated replacement cost (DRC) is used as an estimate of fair value.  
 
Revaluations & Impairment 
 
Assets included in the Balance Sheet at fair value are revalued every five years (March 2014), and 
reviewed annually for impairment. Increases in valuations are matched by credits to the Revaluation 
Reserve to recognise unrealised gains.  
 
Where decreases in value (market value) are identified, they are accounted for by: 
 
• where there is a balance of revaluation gains for the asset in the Revaluation Reserve, the 


carrying amount of the asset is written down against that balance (up to the amount of the 
accumulated gains) 


• where there is no balance in the Revaluation Reserve or an insufficient balance, the carrying 
amount of the asset is written down against the relevant service line(s) in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement. 


 
The Revaluation Reserve contains revaluation gains recognised since 1 April 2007 only, the date of 
its formal implementation. Gains arising before that date have been consolidated into the Capital 
Adjustment Account. 
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Impairment 
 
Where there is a material reduction in the value of an asset caused by a consumption of economic 
benefits (e.g. physical damage or deterioration in the quality of the service provided by the asset) 
the loss is reflected through an impairment charge to Net Cost of Services. 
 
Impairment losses are accounted as a decrease in valuation as set out above. 
 
Where an impairment loss is reversed subsequently, the reversal is credited to the relevant service 
line(s) in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, up to the amount of the original 
loss, adjusted for depreciation that would have been charged if the loss had not been recognised. 
 
Depreciation 
 
Depreciation is provided for on all Property, Plant and Equipment assets by the systematic allocation 
of their depreciable amounts over their useful lives. An exception is made for assets without a 
determinable finite useful life (i.e. freehold land) and assets that are not yet available for use.  
 
Depreciation is calculated on the following bases: 
 
• Dwellings and other buildings – straight-line allocation over the useful life of the property; 40 


Years 
• Plant, furniture and equipment – straight-line allocation over the useful life of the asset; 5 – 


10 Years 
• Motor Vehicles – straight-line allocation over the useful life of the assets; 3 Years 
• Specialist vehicles – straight-line allocation over the useful life of the assets; 4 - 15 Years 
 
For assets acquired in the year, depreciation is applied from the 1st April of the following financial 
year. Incomplete assets are not depreciated until they are brought into use. A full year’s depreciation 
is charged in the year of disposal to be consistent with not charging any depreciation until the 1st 
April of the year after an asset is brought into use. 
 
Where an item of Property, Plant and Equipment asset has major components whose cost is 
significant in relation to the total cost of the item and a significantly different useful economic life, 
the components are depreciated separately from 1st April 2010. The PCC Group has undertaken this 
review and has no significant components in the 2012/13 financial year – this review will be 
undertaken annually. 


 
Disposals and Non-current Assets Held for Sale 
 
When it becomes probable that the carrying amount of an asset will be recovered principally through 
a sale transaction rather than through its continuing use, it is reclassified as an Asset Held for Sale.  
 
If assets no longer meet the criteria to be classified as Assets Held for Sale, they are reclassified 
back to non-current.  
 
Assets that are to be abandoned or scrapped are not reclassified as Assets Held for Sale.  
 
When an asset is disposed of or decommissioned, the carrying amount of the asset in the Balance 
Sheet (whether Property, Plant and Equipment or Assets Held for Sale) and any receipts from the 
disposal are transferred to the Other Operating Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement as the gain or loss on disposal. Any revaluation gains accumulated for the 
asset in the Revaluation Reserve are transferred to the Capital Adjustment Account. 
 
Amounts received for a disposal in excess of £10,000 are categorised as capital receipts. 
 
The written-off value of disposals is not a charge against council tax, as the cost of non-current 
assets is fully provided for under separate arrangements for capital financing. Amounts are 
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appropriated to the Capital Adjustment Account from the General Fund Balance in the Movement in 
Reserves Statement 


 
B) INTANGIBLE ASSETS  
 
Expenditure on non-current assets that do not have physical substance but are controlled by the 
PCC Group as a result of past events (e.g. software licences) is capitalised when it is expected that 
future economic benefits or service potential will flow from the intangible asset to the PCC Group. 
 
Intangible assets are measured initially at cost. Amounts are only revalued where the fair value of 
the assets held by the PCC Group can be determined by reference to an active market. In practice, 
no intangible asset held by the PCC Group meets this criterion, and they are therefore carried at 
amortised cost. The amortisable amount of an intangible asset is amortised over its useful life to the 
relevant service line(s) in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. An asset is tested 
for impairment whenever there is an indication that the asset might be impaired – any losses 
recognised are posted to the relevant service line(s) in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or abandonment of an intangible asset is posted 
to the Other Operating Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 


 
Where expenditure on intangible assets qualifies as capital expenditure for statutory purposes, 
amortisation, impairment losses and disposal gains and losses are not permitted to have an impact 
on the General Fund Balance. The gains and losses are therefore reversed out of the General Fund 
Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement and posted to the Capital Adjustment Account and, 
for any sale proceeds greater than £10,000, the Capital Receipts Reserve. 
 
Charges to Revenue for Non-Current Assets 
 
Services are debited with the following amounts to record the cost of holding non-current assets 
during the year: 
 
• depreciation attributable to the assets used by the relevant service 
• amortisation of intangible assets attributable to the service 
• revaluation and impairment losses on assets used by the service where there are no 


accumulated gains in the Revaluation Reserve against which the losses can be written off. 
 
The PCC is not required to raise council tax to fund depreciation, revaluation and impairment losses 
or amortisations. However, it is required to make an annual contribution from revenue towards the 
reduction in its overall borrowing requirement. Depreciation, revaluation and impairment losses and 
amortisations are therefore replaced by the contribution in the General Fund Balance (Minimum 
Revenue Provision), by way of an adjusting transaction through the Capital Adjustment Account in 
the Movement in Reserves Statement for the difference between the two. 


 


C) DE MINIMIS LEVEL 
 


Capital Expenditure – The PCC has agreed a de minimis level of £5,000 for the acquisition, renewal 
or replacement of buildings, vehicles, plant, machinery or other equipment to count as prescribed 
capital expenditure.  
 
Capital Receipts – There is also a de minimis level of £10,000 from the sale of non-current assets, 
for that receipt to be classified as a capital receipt.  
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D) GOVERNMENT GRANTS AND CONTRIBUTIONS 
 


Whether paid on account, by instalments or in arrears, government grants and third party 
contributions and donations are recognised as due to the PCC Group when there is reasonable 
assurance that: 
 


• the PCC Group will comply with the conditions attached to the payments, and 
• the grants or contributions will be received. 


 
Conditions are stipulations that specify that the future economic benefits or service potential 
embodied in the asset acquired, using the grant or contribution, are required to be consumed by the 
recipient as specified, or they must be returned to the transferor.  
 
Monies advanced as grants and contributions for which conditions have not been satisfied are 
carried in the Balance Sheet as creditors. When no conditions exist or have been satisfied, the grant 
or contribution is credited to the relevant service line or Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income 
(non-ring fenced revenue grants and all capital grants) in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement. 
 
Where capital grants are credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, they 
are reversed out of the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement. Where the 
grant has yet to be used to finance capital expenditure, it is posted to the Capital Grants Unapplied 
reserve; where it has been applied, it is posted to the Capital Adjustment Account.  
 


E) CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  


 
Cash is represented by cash in hand and deposits with financial institutions repayable without 
penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are those that are readily convertible 
to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value. 
 
In the Cash Flow Statement, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are 
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the PCC Group’s cash management. 


 


F) LEASES  
 
Leases are classified as finance leases where the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks 
and rewards incidental to ownership of the property, plant or equipment from the lessor to the 
lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases. 
 
The PCC Group as Lessee 
 
Finance Leases 
 
Property, plant and equipment held under finance leases is recognised on the Balance Sheet at the 
commencement of the lease at its fair value measured at the lease’s inception (or the present value 
of the minimum lease payments, if lower). The asset recognised is matched by a liability for the 
obligation to pay the lessor.  
 
Lease payments are apportioned between: 
 
• a charge for the acquisition of the interest in the property, plant or equipment – applied to 


write down the lease liability, and 
• a finance charge (debited to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the 


Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement). 
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Property, Plant and Equipment recognised under finance leases is accounted for using the policies 
applied generally to such assets. 
 
The PCC has finance leases relating to PFI (as disclosed in note 24) held at a nominal value. 
 
Operating Leases 
 
Rentals paid under operating leases are charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement as an expense of the services benefiting from use of the leased property, plant or 
equipment. 


 


G) DEBTORS AND CREDITORS 
 
Both the revenue and capital accounts of the PCC Group are maintained on an accruals basis in 
accordance with the Code of Accounting Practice. That is, sums due to or payable by the PCC Group 
during the year are included in the accounts whether or not the cash has actually been received or 
paid in the year. No de minimis is applied to this process. 


 


H) VALUATION OF INVENTORIES  
 
Inventories held at 31st March are valued at the lower of cost or current market value. 
 


I) LOANS AND RECEIVABLES 
 


Loans and receivables are initially measured at fair value and carried at their amortised cost. Credits 
to the income and expenditure account for interest receivable are based on the carrying amount of 
the asset multiplied by the effective rate of interest for the instrument. For all investments that the 
authority has made, this means that the amount presented in the Balance Sheet is the outstanding 
principal receivable and interest credited to the Income and Expenditure Account is the amount 
receivable for the year. 


 


J) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
 


A Financial Instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial 
liability or equity instrument of another. They are recognised in the Balance Sheet when, and only 
when, the holder becomes committed to the purchase. The only exceptions are trade receivables 
and trade debtors when the PCC Group recognises these transactions on delivery or receipt.      
 


K) PROVISIONS  
 
Provisions represent the best estimate, at the balance sheet date, of expenditure required to settle 
the present obligation. The outcome must be able to be estimated reliably and have a probable 
outcome. Details of individual provisions are given in the Notes to the Core Financial Statements. 
 


L) RESERVES 
 
The PCC sets aside specific amounts as reserves (Usable) for future policy purposes or to cover 
contingencies. Reserves are created by appropriating amounts out of the General Fund Balance in 
the Movement in Reserves Statement. When expenditure to be financed from a reserve is incurred, 
it is charged to the appropriate service in that year to be charged against the Surplus or Deficit on 
the Provision of Services in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. The reserve is 
then appropriated back into the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement so 
that there is no net charge against council tax for the expenditure. 
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Certain reserves (Unusable) are kept to manage the accounting processes for non-current assets, 
financial instruments, retirement and employee benefits and do not represent usable resources for 
the PCC.  
 


M) SELF-INSURED RISKS 
 
The PCC Group maintains external insurance policies with Gallagher Bassett for major risks such as 
Third Party Motor cover and Employer’s Liability. The excess on these policies and claims arising 
from less significant risk areas are borne by the Insurance Fund. Details of the Fund balance are 
shown in the notes on Reserves. 
 


N) INVESTMENTS 
 
Surplus cash is invested externally on a day-to-day basis. Investments at 31st March are shown in 
the balance sheet at fair value. 


 


O) EMPLOYEE BENEFITS  
 


Benefits Payable during Employment 
 
Short-term employee benefits are those due to be settled within 12 months of the year-end. They 
include such benefits as time off in lieu, flexitime and paid holidays for current employees and are 
recognised as an expense for services in the year in which employees render service to the PCC 
Group. An accrual is made for the cost of these entitlements earned by employees but not taken 
before the year-end, which employees can carry forward into the next financial year. The accrual is 
charged to Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services, but then reversed out through the 
Movement in Reserves Statement so that employee benefits are charged to revenue in the financial 
year in which the absence occurs but are not chargeable against Council Tax. 


 


P) PENSIONS 
 
The PCC Group participates in two different pension schemes, which meet the needs of police 
officers and support staff.  The schemes provide members with defined benefits related to pay and 
service.  Employees’ and employers’ contribution levels are based on percentages on pensionable 
pay set nationally by the Home Office and are subject to triennial review by the Government Actuary 
Department. The schemes are as follows: - 
 
i) Uniformed Police 
 
The PCC Group meet the pension payments by the payment of an employer’s pension contribution 
based on a percentage of pay into the pension fund. 
 
The pension fund is balanced to nil each year by a transfer to/from the Police Fund. 
  
This scheme has no assets and does not take into account the liabilities to pay pensions and other 
benefits after the period end.  
 
ii) Support Staff 
 
Support Staff, subject to certain qualifying criteria, are eligible to join the Local Government 
Superannuation Scheme, which is operated by Teesside Pension Fund. The pension costs charged to 
the PCC Group’s accounts equate to the employer’s contributions paid to the fund on behalf of 
eligible employees. Further costs arise in respect of certain pensions paid to retired employees on an 
unfunded basis. 
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The pensions costs included in the accounts in respect of these schemes have been determined in 
accordance with relevant Government Regulations. The PCC Group complies with the requirements 
of IAS19 in that the Balance Sheet shows the full value of future liabilities in respect of retirement 
benefits payable to its employees.  
 
The Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2012/13 (the Code) 
requires the following accounting policies to be applied to the various elements of the net 
asset/liability: 
 
• Where a PCC participates in more than one scheme, schemes with net assets should be shown 


separately from those with net liabilities. 
• The attributable assets of each scheme should be measured at fair value, which is based on bid 


value. 
• The attributable liabilities of each scheme should be measured on an actuarial basis using the 


projected unit method. 
• Scheme liabilities should be discounted at a rate that reflects the time value of money and the 


characteristics of the liability. 
• The surplus/deficit in each scheme is the excess/shortfall of the value of the assets in the 


scheme over/below the present value of the scheme. 
• The current service cost should be based on the most recent actuarial valuation at the 


beginning of the period, with the financial assumptions updated to reflect conditions at that 
date. 


• The interest cost should be based on the discount rate and the present value of the scheme 
liabilities at the beginning of the period. 


• The expected return on assets is based on long-term expectations at the beginning of the 
period and is expected to be reasonably stable. 


• Actuarial gains/losses may arise from any new valuation and from updating the latest actuarial 
valuation to reflect conditions at the balance sheet date. 


• Past service costs should be disclosed on a straight-line basis over the period in which the 
increase in benefits rest. 


• Losses arising on a settlement or curtailment not allowed for in the actuarial assumptions 
should be measured at the date on which the employer becomes demonstrably committed to 
the transaction and disclosed in the notes to the accounts covering that date. Gains arising from 
settlement/curtailments not allowed for in the actuarial assumptions should be measured at the 
date on which all parties whose consent is required are irrevocably committed to the 
transaction. 


 


Q) INTERNAL INTEREST 
 
Interest is calculated and credited to the Insurance Fund and Police Property Act Fund based upon 
month-end fund balances. The amounts are calculated using the average 7 day borrowing rate for 
each calendar month of the financial year and the rate is applied to the monthly average balance in 
each fund. 
 
A special funds account is maintained which has a corresponding interest bearing bank account and 
therefore attracts the market rate of interest in its own right. 
 
R) OVERHEADS AND SUPPORT SERVICES  


 
The costs of overheads and support services are charged to those that benefit from the supply or 
service in accordance with the costing principles of the CIPFA Service Reporting Code of Practice 
2012/13 (SeRCOP). The total absorption costing principle is used – the full cost of overheads and 
support services are shared between users in proportion to the benefits received, with the exception 
of: 


• Corporate and Democratic Core – costs relating to the PCC’s status as a 
multifunctional, democratic organisation. 
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• Non Distributed Costs – the cost of discretionary benefits awarded to employees 
retiring early and impairment losses chargeable on Assets Held for Sale. 


 
These two cost categories are defined in SeRCOP and accounted for as separate headings in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, as part of Net Cost of Services. 


 


S) PRIVATE FINANCE INITIATIVE 
 


The PCC is party to two separate PFI schemes. One for the provision of Firearms Training facilities at 
Urlay Nook. The other is for the provision of centralised custody and District HQ facilities. 
 
The treatment of transactions under the schemes is in accordance with IFRIC 12 – Service 
Concessions and the IFRS Code. 


 


T) VALUE ADDED TAX 
 


VAT is included in the accounts only if it is irrecoverable from Her Majesty revenue Customs (HMRC). 
There have been no significant VAT issues in 2012/13. 


 


U) COMPENSATORY GRANT 
 


Compensatory Grant is now accounted for on an accruals basis. 
 


V) PRECEPT 
 
Precept is accounted for on an agency basis. 
 


W) POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS 
 
Events after the Balance Sheet date are reflected by the PCC Group up to the date when the 
Statement of Accounts are authorised for issue. 
 


X) EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS, EXTRAORDINARY ITEMS AND PRIOR PERIOD 
ADJUSTMENTS 
 
Exceptional and Extraordinary items, of which the PCC Group has none in 2012/13, would be 
disclosed on the face of the Income and Expenditure Account and fully explained in the notes to the 
accounts. 
 
Prior period adjustments, where material and applicable to prior years, are accounted for by 
restating the comparative figures for the preceding period in the Statement of Accounts and notes 
and adjusting the opening balance of the reserves for the cumulative effect. 
 


Y) REVENUE RECOGNITION  
   


Revenue shall be measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Revenue is 
recognised only when it is probable that the economic benefits or service potential associated with 
the transaction will flow to the Group. 
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2. ACCOUNTING STANDARDS ISSUED NOT ADOPTED 
 
There are no Accounting Standards which have been issued but not adopted by the PCC Group.  
 


3. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING ACCOUNTING POLICES 
In applying the accounting policies set out in Note 1, the Authority has had to make certain 
judgements about complex transactions or those involving uncertainty about future events. There 
are no critical judgements made in the Statement of Accounts. 


 
 


4. ASSUMPTIONS MADE ABOUT THE FUTURE AND OTHER MAJOR SOURCES 
OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY 


 
The Statement of Accounts contains estimated figures that are based on assumptions made by the 
PCC Group about the future or that are otherwise uncertain. Estimates are made taking into account 
historical experience, current trends and other relevant factors. However, because balances cannot 
be determined with certainty, actual results could be materially different from the assumptions and 
estimates. The items in the PCC Group’s Balance Sheet at 31 March 2013 or which there is a 
significant risk of material adjustment in the forthcoming financial year are as follows: 
 
Pension Liability:  Estimation of the net liability to pay pensions depends on a number of complex 
judgements relating to the discount rate used, the rate at which salaries are projected to increase, 
changes in retirement ages, mortality rates and expected returns on pension fund assets. A firm of 
consulting actuaries is engaged to provide the Authority with expert advice about the assumptions to 
be applied. 


 


5. MATERIAL ITEMS OF INCOME AND EXPENSE 
 
There are no material items of income and expense which are not already disclosed on the face of 
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement or in the associated notes. 
 
 


6. EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE 
  


There are no events after the Balance Sheet date. 
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7. ADJUSTMENTS BETWEEN ACCOUNTING BASIS AND FUNDING BASIS 
UNDER REGULATION 


 


FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST MARCH 2013 
 


General Capital
Revenue 
Grants Capital Grants Total Unusable Total


Fund Earmarked Receipts Unapplie Unapplied Usable Reserves PCC
Balance Reserves Reserve Reserve Reserve Reserves Reserves
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000


Adjustments between accounting basis & 
funding basis under regulations


Amortisation of intangible fixed assets (590) 0 0 0 0 (590) 590 0
Depreciation and Impairment of fixed assets (4,144) 0 0 0 0 (4,144) 4,144 0
Depreciation on Revaluation 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Government Grants Deferred amortisation 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Write down of deferred charges to be financed
from capital resources


0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
0


(Loss)/Gain on the sale of non current assets (639) 0 0 0 0 (639) 639 0
Sale of Assets 0 0 (3,988) 0 0 (3,988) 3,988 0
Amount by which pension costs calculated in
accordance with the Code are different from
contributions due under the pension scheme
regulations


(73,015) 0 0 0 0 (73,015) 73,015 0


Revaluation of Investment Property 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Transfer of Capital Grants to CAA to comply with
the Capital Control Regime


(1,834) 0 0 0 1,451 (383) 383 0


Transfer of Capital Grants to the Capital Grants
unapplied account to comply with the Capital
Control Regime


1,459 0 0 0 (1,459) (0) 0 (0)


Accumulated Absences Adjustment 287 0 0 0 0 287 (287) 0
Amount by which Council Tax income and residual
community charge adjustment included in the
Income & Expenditure Account is different from
the amount taken to the General Fund in
accordance with regulation


139 0 0 0 0 139 (139) 0


(78,337) 0 (3,988) 0 (8) (82,332) 82,332 0


Statutory provision for the repayment of debt 2,029 0 0 0 0 2,029 (2,029) 0
Capital expenditure charged to the General Fund
Balance


0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


Use of Capital Receipts 0 0 4,013 0 0 4,013 (4,013) 0
Employer’s contributions payable to the Pension
Fund and retirement benefits payable direct to
pensioners


17,342 0 0 0 0 17,342 (17,342) 0


19,371 0 4,013 0 0 23,384 (23,384) 0


Voluntary revenue provision for repayment of
debt


0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


Total Adjustments between accounting 
basis & funding basis under regulations


(58,965) 0 26 0 (8) (58,948) 58,948 0
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 FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST MARCH 2012 
 


General Capital
Revenue 
Grants Capital Grants Total Unusable Total


Fund Earmarked Receipts Unapplied Unapplied Usable Reserves PCC
Balance Reserves Reserve Reserve Reserve Reserves Reserves
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000


Adjustments between accounting basis & 
funding basis under regulations


Amortisation of intangible fixed assets (187) 0 0 0 0 (187) 187 0
Depreciation and Impairment of fixed assets (4,495) 0 0 0 0 (4,495) 4,495 0
Depreciation on Revaluation 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Government Grants Deferred amortisation 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Write down of deferred charges to be financed
from capital resources


0 0 0 0 0 
0 0 0


(Loss)/Gain on the sale of non current assets (166) 0 0 0 0 (166) 166 0
Sale of Assets 0 0 (41) 0 0 (41) 41 0
Amount by which pension costs calculated in
accordance with the Code are different from
contributions due under the pension scheme
regulations


(65,621) 0 0 0 0 (65,621) 65,621 0


Revaluation of Investment Property 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Transfer of Capital Grants to CAA to comply with
the Capital Control Regime


0 0 0 0 1,142 1,142 (1,142) 0


Transfer of Capital Grants to the Capital Grants
unapplied account to comply with the Capital
Control Regime


1,134 0 0 0 (1,134) 0 0 0


Accumulated Absences Adjustment (484) 0 0 0 0 (484) 484 0
Amount by which Council Tax income and residual
community charge adjustment included in the
Income & Expenditure Account is different from
the amount taken to the General Fund in
accordance with regulation


59 0 0 0 0 59 (59) 0


(69,762) 0 (41) 0 9 (69,793) 69,793 0 


Statutory provision for the repayment of debt 1,688 0 0 0 0 1,688 (1,688) 0
Capital expenditure charged to the General Fund
Balance


0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


Use of Capital Receipts 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Employer’s contributions payable to the Pension
Fund and retirement benefits payable direct to
pensioners


18,996 0 0 0 0 18,996 (18,996) 0


20,684 0 0 0 0 20,684 (20,684) 0


Voluntary revenue provision for repayment of
debt


0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


Total Adjustments between accounting 
basis & funding basis under regulations


(49,078) 0 (41) 0 9 (49,110) 49,110 0 
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 8. TRANSFERS TO / FROM EARMARKED RESERVES 
 


Balance Tranfers Tranfers Balance Tranfers Tranfers Balance 
at 31 March In Out at 31 March In Out at 31 March


2011 2011/12 2011/12 2012 2012/13 2012/13 2013
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000


Insurance Fund         (1,560)               0              0         (1,560)           (115)             0          (1,675)
Risk/Insurance Team                 0               0              0                 0                0             0                 0 
Direct Revenue Funding of Capital                 0          (508)           403            (105)           (720)          720            (105)
Specific Capital Grant                 0               0              0                 0                0             0                 0 
Injury Pension Reserve            (916)               0              0            (916)                0          900              (16)
Airwaves Project            (473)               0              0            (473)                0          473                 0 
Urlay Nook Sinking Fund            (684)               0           684                  -                0             0                 0 
Workforce Modernisation                 0          (684)           229            (455)                0          455                (0)
PFI Sinking Fund            (273)           (41)           108            (206)            (41)             0            (247)
Incentivisation Grant            (291)               0             71            (220)                0           23            (197)
Neighbourhood Policing             (16)               0              0              (16)                0             0              (16)
Specials             (30)               0              0              (30)            (32)             0              (62)
Corporate Finance Training Plan             (45)               0             45                  -                0             0                 0 
Air Support Unit            (349)               0              0            (349)                0          349                (0)
Urlay Nook TTC             (64)           (16)              0              (81)            (18)           52              (48)
Development Fund             (12)               0              0              (12)                0             0              (12)
Invest to Save             (89)               0              7              (83)                0             0              (83)
Devolved Budget Carry Forwards            (246)             (8)           246                (8)                0             0                (8)
Accommodation Costs            (177)               0             49            (128)                0           80              (48)
PCC Transition Reserve             (96)          (206)              0            (302)                0           10            (292)
Police Property Act Fund             (25)           (30)             25              (30)                0             0              (30)
Risk Reserve                 0               0              0                 0           (922)          856              (66)
Revenue Grants Unapplied            (608)          (998)           608            (998)            (34)          569            (463)
Total (5,953)      (2,492)    2,476     (5,970)       (1,882)     4,486    (3,366)       


  
  
Insurance Reserve 
 
The PCC maintains an internal Insurance Fund that carries virtually all insurable risks with a limited 
amount of external cover for special risk incidents and to cover accumulated losses exceeding an 
agreed amount depending on risk. The fund receives income from the income and expenditure 
account to cover the cost of external insurance premiums and internal insurable risks.  
 
The fund has now been reviewed in light of an actuarial review undertaken as at the 31st March 
2013. the fund will be reviewed annually to ensure it is sufficient to meet the possible liabilities from 
known claims   


 
Direct Revenue Funding of Capital 
 
This reserve was held to meet the cost of capital schemes and was fully utilised in 2010/11, with 
some Revenue contributions made but not applied in 2011/12. Further contributions to and 
applications of revenue funding for capital schemes have been made in 2012/13. 
 
Injury Pension Reserve 
 
To allow for the variable nature of future injury/medical retirements of Police Officers and the capital 
equivalent charges of these occurring. 
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Airwaves Project 
 
This reserve enables the Authority to smooth out the cash flows in respect of the set up costs 
associated with the Airwaves Project. This has been completely released to the Risk Reserve in 
2012/13. 
 
Urlay Nook Sinking Fund 
 
This fund was established to offset the diminishing PFI Grant in the latter years of the scheme. This 
has been transferred to the Workforce Modernisation reserve due to the grant now being paid 
evenly across the life of the scheme. 
 
Workforce Modernisation 
 
Resulting from an organisational staffing review; this reserve was used during 2013/13 as planned.  
 
Action Stations PFI Sinking Fund 
 
Changes to the PFI buildings will result in variable increases to the Unitary Charge across the life of 
the contract. However, these changes are of variable amounts given their different life cycles. This 
sinking fund will be used to manage the uneven changes to that charge across the remaining life of 
the contract. 
 
Incentivisation Grant  
 
This reserve relates to Cleveland’s share of seized cash provided by the Government and will be 
spent on eligible schemes in future years.  


 
Neighbourhood Policing 
 
This specific Home Office grant was higher than anticipated in 2008/09 due to a late change made 
by the Government in respect of our increased numbers of PCSOs – this specific funding will be 
utilised for Neighbourhood Policing in future years as the need arises. 
 
Specials 
 
This was an unexpected Government grant awarded late in 2008/09. It can only be used for Specials 
and is therefore earmarked to be used in future years as the need arises. 


 
Corporate Finance Training Plan 
 
Monies set aside from in year revenue budgets for training needs and skills development and was 
released back to General Fund in 2011/2012.  
 
Air Support Unit 
 
Cleveland’s own Air Support Unit came into existence on 1st April 2009 and this reserve related to 
potential future maintenance costs. Owing to the transfer of the Air Support function to the National 
Police Air Service on 1st April 2013, this reserve has been transferred into the Risk Reserve. 
 
Tactical Training Centre 
 
The Tactical Training Centre has reserves that total £96k which are held by the PCC for Durham, 
Cleveland Police Authority’s share of these reserves total £48k. 
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Development Fund 
 
Funding carried forward to support operational development projects as directed by the Chief 
Constable in collaboration with the PCC. 
 
Invest to Save 
 
Funding set aside to allow the PCC Group to invest in resources or people to generate process 
improvements that will in turn generate savings in future years. 
 
Devolved Budget Carry Forwards 
 
Devolved Service Unit budgets that were carried forward into 2011/12 and these have been released 
back to General Fund in 2011/12. Two new small carry forwards were approved by the Police 
Authority in 2011/12 and have therefore been moved into this reserve to be utilised at a later date. 
 
Accommodation Costs 
 
These are for dilapidation costs upon the exit of a building and the fit out costs for a new building 
for the same purpose; £80k has been released in 2012/13 relating to the exit from Wetherby House. 
 
PCC Transition Reserve 
 
These funds are set aside to contribute towards the cost of any transition required as a result of the 
proposals set out within the Policing in the 21st Century paper; this has been renamed from the 
Police Authority Transition Reserve. 
 
Police Property Act Fund 
 
The Police Property Act Fund comprises monies received by the police from property confiscated by 
order of court and then sold.  The PCC Group administers the fund and considers applications from 
voluntary organisations and community groups within the Cleveland area.  The main aim of the fund 
is to support local projects undertaken by voluntary/charitable organisations that benefit the 
communities of Cleveland, especially those which have a positive impact in reducing crime and 
disorder at a local level.   


 
Risk Reserve 
A reserve set up in 2012/13 to mitigate against future risks of the group. 
 
Revenue Grants Unapplied 
 
These grants are those which either have no specified conditions or the conditions have been met. 
They will be matched to relevant expenditure as incurred. 
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9.   OTHER OPERATING EXPENDITURE 
 


2011/2012 2012/2013
£000 £000


403 Levies 429
(4) Gains/losses on disposal of Non-current Assets 484


399 Total Other Operating Expenditure 913


 
 
 


10. FINANCING AND INVESTMENT INCOME & EXPENDITURE 
 
2011/2012 2012/2013


£000 £000


4,054 Interest payable and similar charges 4,129
42,377 Pension interest cost & expected return on pension assets 43,657


(51) Interest receivable and similar income (62)


46,379 Total Finance and Investment Income and Expenditure 47,724


 
 
 


11. TAXATION & NON SPECIFIC GRANT INCOME 
 


2011/2012 2012/2013
£000 £000


(10,924) Revenue Support Grant (844)
(35,340) National Non Domestic rates (42,761)
(52,155) Police Grants (48,270)
(32,282) Precepts (33,632)
(1,134) Capital Grants and Contributions 375


(131,835) Total Taxation and Non Specific Grant Income (125,132)
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12. NON CURRENT ASSETS  
 


 Land and 
Buildings  PFI  Vehicles 


 Plant and 
Equipment 


 Non - 
Operational  Total 


 £000  £000  £000  £000  £000  £000 


Gross book value at 1 April 2012              22,593            31,159              9,614              24,709                2,575              90,650 
Transfer from Capital Adjustment Account                    -   
Gross Book Prior Year Adjustments                  -                (1,277)              (1,277)
Accumulated depreciation              (1,454)            (2,281)            (2,800)            (17,458)            (23,993)
Prior Year Adjustments                  -                      0                     -                        0 
Net Book Value at 1 April 2012 21,140           28,878         6,814           5,975             2,575              65,381           
Adjustments to opening balances                    -   
Net Book Value at 1 April 2012 21,140           28,878         6,814           5,975             2,575              65,381           


Additions                  145 600                              667 446           2,742               4,600              
Reclassification                  101                  81 1,469              (3,968)             (2,317)             
Disposals            (5,816) (4,418)             (10,234)           
Revaluations -                 -               -               -                 -                  -                 


Book value at 31 March 2013 21,386           29,478         1,746           3,472             1,349              57,431           


Depreciation for 2012/13 (589)                (797)              (996)              (1,762)             -                  (4,144)             
Depreciation on Disposals 2012/13 1,199            4,408              5,607              
Revaluations -                 -               -                 -                  -                 


Net Book Value at 31 March 2013 20,797           28,680         1,949           6,118             1,349              58,893           


 
 
 
Depreciation 
The following useful lives and depreciation rates have been used in the calculation of depreciation: 


• Land and Buildings – 40 years (land is not depreciated) 
• Vehicles – 3 – 15 years  
• Plant, Furniture & Equipment – 5 to 10 years  


 
Capital Commitments 
 
As at 31st March 2013, the PCC Group was contractually committed to capital works which 
amounted to approximately £1.222m. 
 
Revaluations 


 
 Freehold properties were re-valued 31st March 2009 by Sanderson Weatherall, Chartered Surveyors 


in accordance with the CIPFA Capital Accounting Guidance notes VGM8A and 8B and the Royal 
Institution of Chartered Surveyors Appraisal and Valuation Manual “The Red Book”. The next five 
yearly revaluations will take place in 2013/14.  


 
 The Code requires that PCC Groups should undertake a review of the Balance Sheet value of each 


category of assets at the end of each reporting period. Where there is reason to believe that its 
value has changed materially in the period, the valuation should be adjusted accordingly. 


 
For Land & Buildings, this is taken care of as part of the revaluation. For Plant & Machinery and 
Vehicles, all asset lives and residual values were reviewed and therefore any values adjusted 
accordingly. 
 
 


13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 
The PCC Group does not currently hold any properties or land for investment purposes.   
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14. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 
 


The PCC Group accounts for its software as intangible assets, to the extent that the software is not 
an integral part of a particular IT system and accounted for as part of the hardware item of 
Property, Plant and Equipment. All software is given a finite useful life, based on assessments of the 
period that the software is expected to be of use to the PCC Group. The useful lives assigned to the 
major software suites used by the PCC Group are assessed individually. 
 


 Intangibles 
 £000 


Balance at 1 April 2012                4,955 
Prioir Year Adjustments                1,277 
Accumulated Amortisation              (1,540)
Prior Year Adjustments                    -   


Net Carrying Amount 31st March 2012 4,691             


Additions 122                 
Reclassfication 2,317              
Disposals
Revaluations -                 
Amortisation for 2012/13 (590)                


Net Carrying amount at 31 March 2013 6,539             


Gross Carrying Amounts 8,670             
Accumulated Amortisation (2,130)           


 
 
 


15. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
   


All the PCC Group’s financial assets relate to loans and receivables and are measured at fair value 
which, in all cases, is their absolute value. Debtors are reviewed for impairment and the provision for 
doubtful debts reflects any risk relating to uncertainty around receipt. 
 
All financial liabilities relate to creditors and are measured at their fair value. 
 
Financial instruments give rise to certain areas of risk which must be mitigated: 
 
Credit risk – the possibility that other parties might fail to pay amounts due to the PCC Group. 
 
Liquidity risk – the possibility that the PCC Group might not have funds available to meet its 
commitments to make payments. 
 
Market risk – the possibility that financial loss might arise for the PCC Group as a result of changes 
in such measures as interest rates. 


 
   The PCC Group is not open to material exposures to these risks due to a range of controls: 
 


• an authorisation procedure for all investments 
• access to borrowing from the Public Works Loan Board 
• a high proportion of fixed rate investments 
• a programme of authorised and reviewed Prudential Indicators and Treasury Management        


Reports which are taken to the PCC bi-monthly throughout the year. 
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31 March 2012 31 March 2013
£000 £000


Long Term Assets:


-                   Long Term Investments -                       
-                   Long Term Debtors 1,924                   


                      -                       1,924 


Short-Term Assets:


-                   Short Term Investments -                       


1,110               Cash and Cash Equivalents 3,300                   
                1,110                     3,300 


Debtors:
7,245               Government Departments 5,017                   
1,078               Other Local Authorities 2,448                   
1,963               Other Debtors 1,747                   
(15)                  Less provision for doubtful debts (15)                       


4,193               Payments in Advance 4,882                   
14,464            14,080                 


Short-Term Liabilities:


(1,681)              Short Term Loans (3,760)                  


-                  Bank current Accounts -                       
(1,681)             (3,760)                 


Creditors:
(433)                 Government Departments (790)                     


(1,654)              Inland Revenue/ Customs and Excise (1,579)                  
(1,102)              Other Local Authorities (722)                     
(2,927)              Accumulated Compensated Absences Creditor (2,639)                  
(5,829)              Sundry Creditors (8,031)                  
(336)                 Income in Advance (278)                     


(12,281)           (14,039)               


Long Term Liabilities:


(18,960)            Long Term Borrowing (20,600)                
(30,234)            PFI Liabilities (29,534)                
(49,194)           (50,134)               


 
 


31 March 2012 31 March 2013
4,054 Interest Expense 4,129
(51) Interest Income (62)


4,002 Net (gain)/loss for the year 4,067  
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16. INVENTORIES 
 


31 March 2012 31 March 2013
£000 £000


Uniforms Uniforms
84 Opening Balance 77
92 Purchases 78
(99) Recognised in Year (66)
77 Closing Balance 89


 
 
 


17. SHORT TERM DEBTORS 
 


31 March 2012 31 March 2013
£000 £000


7,245                Government Departments 5,017                   
1,078                Other Local Authorities 2,448                   
1,963                Other Debtors 1,747                   


10,286             9,213                  
(15)                    Less: Provision for doubtful debts (15)                      


10,271             9,198                  
4,193                Add: Payments in Advance 4,882                   


14,464             Total Debtors 14,080                


 
 
 


18. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  
 


31 March 2012 31 March 2013
£000 £000


130 Cash held by the PCC 131
980 Bank current Accounts 3,168
0 Short-term deposits 0


1,110 Total Cash and Cash Equivalents 3,300


 


 
 


19. ASSETS HELD FOR SALE 


The PCC Group currently holds no assets which are held for sale.  
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20. SHORT TERM CREDITORS 
 


31 March 2012 31 March 2013
£000 £000


(433) Government Departments (790)
(1,654) Her Majesty's Revenue & Customs (HMRC) (1,579)
(1,102) Other Local Authorities (722)
(2,927) Accumulated Compensated Absences Creditor (2,639)
(5,829) Sundry Creditors (8,031)


(11,945) Sub total (13,761)
(336) Add: Income in Advance (278)


(12,281) Total Creditors (14,039)


 
 
 


21. PROVISIONS 
 


31 March 2012 31 March 2013
£000 £000


(49) Staff Pay 0
0 Special Policing Services (159)
0 Insurance (190)


(49) Balance at 31 March (349)


 
 
Staff Pay  
 
This provision was for the probable payment of £250 per individual for all of those paid less than 
£21,000 per annum. This was paid in 2012/13 and therefore the provision was released.  
 
Special Policing Service 
As a result of a legal decision, there is a probability that funds previously received for Special 
Policing Services will need to be reassessed, this may create a liability. 
 
Insurance 
Pre 1995 Cleveland Police were insured under a joint policy, the Cleveland County Council Insurance 
Fund which comprised the four Local Authorities, Cleveland Police and the Probation Service, with 
Middlesbrough Borough Council (MBC) being the Lead Authority, this policy was underwritten by 
Municipal Mutual Insurance (MMI). 
 
Insurance companies follow a strict code of practice and as such cannot simply declare themselves 
bankrupt and cease all trading; they instead enter into a phase termed ‘run off’, whereby they cease 
writing all new business although they still continue to meet their liabilities with the remaining funds, 
i.e. pay off any claims that are subsequently made relating to the expired policies. These claims can 
surface a number of years later, in fact up to 40-50 years later. 
 
MMI have been in ‘run off’ since September 1992. MMI’s funds have now reached a point whereby 
they may not be able to continue to meet their liabilities; this has resulted in them invoking the 
Scheme of Arrangement on the 13th November 2012. This provision has been made in respect of 
the Levy that is expected to be imposed on the PCC for Cleveland as a scheme creditor.  
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22. PENSIONS 
As part of the terms and conditions of employment of its officers and other employees, the PCC 
Group offers retirement benefits. Although these benefits will not actually be payable until 
employees retire, the PCC Group has a commitment to disclose the payments that will need to be 
made at the time that employees earn their future entitlement. 
  
The PCC Group participates in two pension schemes: 
 
The Local Government Pension Scheme for civilian employees, administered by Teesside 
Pension Fund – this is a funded scheme, meaning that the PCC Group and employees pay 
contributions into a fund, calculated at a level intended to balance the pensions liabilities with 
investment assets. 
 
The Police Pension Scheme for police officers – this is an unfunded scheme, meaning that there 
are no investment assets built up to meet the pension liabilities, and cash has to be generated to 
meet actual pensions payments as they eventually fall due. 
 
We recognise the cost of retirement benefits in the Net Cost of Services when they are earned by 
employees, rather than when the benefits are eventually paid as pensions. However, the charge we 
are required to make against council tax is based on injury and medical pensions paid in the year 
and the capital equivalent charge as a result of medical/injury early retirements, so the real cost of 
retirement benefits is reversed out within the Movement on Reserves Statement. The following 
transactions have been made in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement during the 
year: 
 


2011/2012 2012/2013 2011/2012 2012/2013 2011/2012 2012/2013
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000


Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement
Cost of Services:
Current service cost           2,066             2,640          21,530         26,718          23,596         29,358 
Curtailment/settlements            (352)                 -                   -                 -               (352)               -   
Past service cost               -                   -                   -                 -                   -                 -   
Change to accounting policies               -                   -                   -                 -                   -                 -   


Financing and Investment Income and 
Expenditure
Interest cost           3,145             3,316          42,794         43,279          45,939         46,595 
Expected return on assets         (3,562)           (2,938)                 -                 -            (3,562)         (2,938)
Other investment Income               -                   -                   -                 -                   -                 -   


Total Post employment Benefit Charged to the 
Surplus and Deficit on Provision of Service


         1,297            3,018         64,324        69,997         65,621        73,015 


Other post employment Benefit Charged to the 
CIES
Actuarial (gains) and losses         15,232           (3,417)        112,439         13,036        127,671           9,619 
Total Post employment Beneifit Charged to the 
CIES


       16,529             (399)       176,763        83,033       193,292        82,634 


Movement in Reserves Statement:
Reversal of net changes made to the surplus or deficit for 
the Provisions of Services for post employment benefits 
in accordance with the code


        (1,297)           (3,018)         (64,324)       (69,997)         (65,621)       (73,015)


Actual amount charged against General fund 
balances for pensions in the year:
Contribution in year           1,487             1,415          14,684         15,903          16,171         17,318 
Unfunded Pensions Payments               23                 24            2,802               -              2,825               24 


Local Government 
Pension Scheme


Police Pension Scheme Total
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Employer contributions are calculated as the difference between the benefits paid and the member 
contributions in the year.  
 


31/03/12 31/03/13 31/03/12 31/03/13 31/03/12 31/03/13 31/03/12 31/03/13
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000


Estimated funded 
liabilities in scheme 70,882     77,441     -          -          -          -          
Estimated unfunded 
liabilities in scheme 340         338         861,228   919,017   54,233     58,935     27,398     32,037     
Estimated assets in 
scheme 51,805     60,200     -          -          -          -          
Net Liability 19,417   17,579   861,228 919,017 54,233   58,935   27,398   32,037   


 Local Government 
Pension Scheme 


 1987 Police Pension 
Scheme 


 2006 Police Pension 
Scheme  Injury Awards 


 
 
Note 23 contains details of the assumptions made in estimating the figures included in this note.  


 
 


23. PENSIONS LIABILITY 
  


Note 1 contains details of the PCC Group’s participation in the Local Government Pension Scheme 
(administered by Teesside Pension Fund) and the Police Pension Scheme in providing civilian and 
uniformed officers with retirement benefits. 
 
The underlying assets and liabilities for retirement benefits attributable to the Authority at 31 March 
2013 are as follows: 
 
The liabilities show the underlying commitments that the PCC Group has in the long run to pay 
retirement benefits. The total liability of £1,027.6m has a substantial impact on the net worth of the 
PCC Group as recorded in the Balance Sheet, resulting in a negative overall balance of £1,011.0m. 
However, statutory arrangements for funding the deficit mean that the financial position of the 
Group remains healthy. 
 
The deficit on the Local Government Pension Scheme will be made good by increased contributions 
over the remaining working life of the employees, as assessed by the scheme actuary. Finance is 
only required to be raised to cover police pensions when the pensions are actually paid. 
 
Liabilities have been assessed on an actuarial basis using the projected unit method, an estimate of 
the pensions that will be payable in future years dependent on assumptions about mortality rates, 
salary levels etc.  Both the Police Pension Scheme and the Teesside Pension Fund liabilities have 
been assessed by Aon Hewitt, an independent firm of actuaries, with estimates for the PCC Group 
being based on the latest full valuation of the scheme as at 31 March 2011.  


 
The main assumptions used in their calculations have been: 


  


 


31/03/12 31/03/13 31/03/12 31/03/13
Rate of inflation (RPI) 3.3% 3.4% 3.3% 3.4%
Rate of inflation (CPI) 2.5% 2.5% 2.5% 2.5%
Rate of increase in salaries 4.8% 4.4% 4.8% 4.4%
Rate of increase in pensions 2.5% 2.5% 2.5% 2.5%
Rate for discounting scheme liabilities 4.6% 4.4% 4.6% 4.4%


Local Government 
Pension Scheme


Police Pension   
Scheme
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Males Females Males Females Males Females
Retiring today 19.20 23.20 21.60 24.20 21.60 24.20
Retiring in 20 years 21.10 25.10 23.50 26.00 23.50 26.00


Local Government 
Pension Scheme


1987 Police 
Pension Scheme


2006 Police 
Pension Scheme


Mortality Assumptions


 
                  


The Police Pension Scheme has no assets to cover its liabilities. Assets in the Teesside Pension Fund 
are valued at fair value, principally market value for investments, and consist of the following 
categories, by proportion of the total assets held by the Fund: 


 
 


Long-
term 
Return
% pa £000  % £000  %


Equities 7.8 42,999      83.0% 46,595 77.4%
Gilts 2.8 3,108        7.0% 4,334 7.2%
Bonds 3.8 1,036        1.0% 1,204 2.0%
Property 7.3 2,072        4.0% 3,191 5.3%
Cash 0.9 2,590        5.0% 3,130 5.2%
Other 7.8 -           1,746 2.9%
Total 51,805    100.0% 60,200    100.0%


Assets at 31 March 
2012


Assets at 31 March 2013


 
 
 
 


Year to Year to Year to Year to Year to Year to Year to Year to
31/03/12 31/03/13 31/03/12 31/03/13 31/03/12 31/03/13 31/03/12 31/03/13


£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000


Actual Return Less Expected return 
on Pension Scheme Assets


(4,336) 4,906 17,087 15,772 0 0 (759) (874)


Experience Gains and Losses Arising 
on the Scheme Liabilities


0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


Other Experience Gains/(Losses) on 
Liabilities


0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


Changes in Demographic/Financial 
Assumptions Underlying the Present 
Value of the Scheme Liabilities


(10,896) (1,489) (117,656) (25,950) (4,407) (1,723) (6,704) (261)


Actuarial Gain/(Loss) in 
Pension Plan


(15,232) 3,417 (100,569) (10,178) (4,407) (1,723) (7,463) (1,135)


Increase/(Decrease) in 
Irrecoverable Surplus from 
Membership


0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


Fall and Other Factors 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Actuarial Gain/ (Loss) 
Recognised in Other 
Comprehensive Income


(15,232) 3,417 (100,569) (10,178) (4,407) (1,723) (7,463) (1,135)


Effect of Change in Accounting 
Methodology


0 0 0 0 0 0


Local Government 
Pension Scheme


2006 Police Pension 
Scheme


1987 Police Pension 
Scheme


Injury Awards
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Year to Year to Year to Year to Year to Year to Year to Year to
31/03/12 31/03/13 31/03/12 31/03/13 31/03/12 31/03/13 31/03/12 31/03/13
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000


Opening Defined Benefit Obligation 57,426 71,222 717,849 861,228 48,335 54,233 17,398 27,398
Current Service Cost 2,066 2,640 18,347 22,250 1,665 2,294 1,518 2,174
Interest Cost  3,145 3,316 39,147 39,444 2,628 2,505 1,019 1,330
Actuarial losses (gains) 10,896 1,489 117,656 25,950 4,407 1,723 6,704 261
Losses (gains) on curtailments 0 0 0 0 0 0


Liabilities extinguished on settlements (1,633) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Liabilities assumed in a business 
combination 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Estimated benefits paid net of 
transfers in (1,344) (1,514) (37,206) (35,562) (2,802) (1,820) 0 31
Past Service Cost 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


Contribution by Scheme participants 689 650 5,435 5,707 0 0 759 843
Additional Employer Contributions 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Unfunded pension payments (23) (24) 0 0 0 0 0 0
Closing Defined Benefit 
Obligation 71,222 77,779 861,228 919,017 54,233 58,935 27,398 32,037


Opening fair value of Scheme assets 53,029 51,806 0 0 0 0 0 0
Expected return on Scheme assets 3,562 2,938 0 0 0 0 0 0
Actuarial gains (losses) (4,336) 4,906 17,087 15,772 0 0 (759) (874)
Contributions by employer including 
unfunded benefits 1,510 1,439 14,684 14,083 2,802 1,820 0 0


Contributions by Scheme participants 689 650 5,435 5,707 0 0 759 843
Change to Accounting Policies 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Estimated benefits paid including 
unfunded benefits (1,367) (1,538) (37,206) (35,562) (2,802) (1,820) 0 31
Gain on Settlement (1,281) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Fair Value of Scheme Assets at 
end of Period 51,806 60,201 0 0 0 0 0 0


Opening Surplus / (Deficit) (4,397) (19,416) (717,849) (861,228) (48,335) (54,233) (17,398) (27,398)
Current Service Cost (2,066) (2,640) (18,347) (22,250) (1,665) (2,294) (1,518) (2,174)
Contributions by employer including 
unfunded benefits 1,510 1,439 14,684 14,083 2,802 1,820 0 0


Contributions by Scheme participants 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Past Service Costs 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Interest Costs (3,145) (3,316) (39,147) (39,444) (2,628) (2,505) (1,019) (1,330)
Expected return on Scheme assets 3,562 2,938 0 0 0 0 0 0
Gain on Settlement 352 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Actuarial (losses) gains (15,232) 3,417 (100,569) (10,178) (4,407) (1,723) (7,463) (1,135)
Fair Value of Scheme Assets/ 
(Liabilities) at end of Period (19,416) (17,578) (861,228) (919,017) (54,233) (58,935) (27,398) (32,037)


Asset and Benefit Obligation Reconciliation


Injury Awards


Reconcilation of Opening and Closing Net Obligation


Local Government 
Pension Scheme


1987 Police Pension 
Scheme


2006 Police Pension 
Scheme
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Year to Year to Year to Year to Year to
31/03/09 31/03/10 31/03/11 31/03/12 31/03/13
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000


Difference Between the Expected 
and Actual Return on Assets (14,040) 17,618 1,222 (4,336) 4,906
Value of Assets 53,825 77,990 53,028 51,805 60,200
Percentage of Assets (26.1%) 22.6% 2.3% (8.4%) 8.1%
Experience Gains/(Losses) on 
Liabilities 0 (136) (3,168) 0
Total Present value of Liabilities 59,816 103,789 57,426 71,222 77,779
Percentage of the Total 
Present Value of Liabilities 0.0% (0.1%) (5.5%) 0.0% 0.0%
Actuarial Gains/(Losses) 
Recognised in Other 
Comprehensive Income 2,857 (19,633) 2,121 (15,232) 3,417
Total Present Value of Liabilities 59,816 103,789 57,426 71,222 77,779
Percentage of the Total 
Present Value of Liabilities 4.8% (18.9%) 3.7% (21.4%) 4.4%
Effect of change in accounting 
methodology 0 0 0 0 0
Present Value of Liabilities 59,816 103,789 57,426 71,222 77,779
Percentage of the Present 
Value of Liabilities 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%


History of Experience Gains & Losses
Local Government Pension Scheme


 


Year to Year to Year to Year to Year to
31/03/09 31/03/10 31/03/11 31/03/12 31/03/13
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000


Difference Between the Expected 
and Actual Return on Assets 0 0 0 0 15,772
Value of Assets 0 0 0 0 0
Percentage of Assets 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Experience Gains/(Losses) on 
Liabilities 0 0 58,799 0 0
Total Present value of Liabilities 622,927 939,248 766,184 861,228 919,017
Percentage of the Total 
Present Value of Liabilities 0.0% 0.0% 7.7% 0.0% 0.0%
Actuarial Gains/(Losses) 
Recognised in Other 
Comprehensive Income 92,758 (268,329) 3,417 (100,569) (10,178)
Total Present Value of Liabilities 622,927 939,248 766,184 915,461 919,017
Percentage of the Total 
Present Value of Liabilities 14.9% (28.6%) 0.4% (11.0%) (1.1%)
Effect of change in accounting 
methodology 0 0 0 0 0
Present Value of Liabilities 622,927 939,248 766,184 861,228 919,017
Percentage of the Present 
Value of Liabilities 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%


History of Experience Gains & Losses
1987 Police Pension Scheme
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Year to Year to Year to Year to Year to
31/03/09 31/03/10 31/03/11 31/03/12 31/03/13
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000


Difference Between the Expected 
and Actual Return on Assets 0 0 0 0 0
Value of Assets 0 0 0 0 0
Percentage of Assets 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Experience Gains/(Losses) on 
Liabilities 0 0 0 0 0
Total Present value of Liabilities 0 0 0 54,233 58,935
Percentage of the Total Present 
Value of Liabilities 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%


Actuarial Gains/(Losses) Recognised 
in Other Comprehensive Income 0 0 0 (4,407) (1,723)
Total Present Value of Liabilities 0 0 0 915,461 58,935
Percentage of the Total Present 
Value of Liabilities 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% (0.5%) (2.9%)
Effect of change in accounting 
methodology 0 0 0 0 0
Present Value of Liabilities 0 0 0 54,233 58,935
Percentage of the Present Value 
of Liabilities 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%


History of Experience Gains & Losses
 Police Injury Pension Scheme


 


Year to Year to Year to Year to Year to
31/03/09 31/03/10 31/03/11 31/03/12 31/03/13
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000


Difference Between the Expected 
and Actual Return on Assets 0 0 0 0 0
Value of Assets 0 0 0 0 0
Percentage of Assets 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Experience Gains/(Losses) on 
Liabilities 0 0 (10,312) 0 0
Total Present value of Liabilities 2,055 6,064 17,398 27,398 32,037
Percentage of the Total 
Present Value of Liabilities 0.0% 0.0% (59.3%) 0.0% 0.0%
Actuarial Gains/(Losses) 
Recognised in Other 
Comprehensive Income 467 2,400 8,934 6,704 261
Total Present Value of Liabilities 2,055 6,064 17,398 27,398 32,037
Percentage of the Total 
Present Value of Liabilities 22.7% 39.6% 51.4% 24.5% 0.8%
Effect of change in accounting 
methodology 0 0 0 0 0
Present Value of Liabilities 1,223 2,055 6,064 27,398 32,037
Percentage of the Present 
Value of Liabilities 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%


History of Experience Gains & Losses
2006 Police Pension Scheme
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Projected Pension Expense for the year to 31 March 2014:


Local Government 
Pension Scheme


1987 Police 
Pension Scheme


Injury Awards 2006 Police 
Pension Scheme


Year to 31/03/14 Year to 31/03/14 Year to 31/03/14 Year to 31/03/14
£000s £000s £000s £000s


Service cost 2,625                      23,284                    2,370                      2,215                      
Net Interest cost 731                         39,646                    2,312                      1,410                      
Total 3,356                      62,930                   4,682                      3,625                      
Employer contributions
 


 


24. LEASED ASSETS – RENTALS 
 
 The PCC Group has leased photocopying/printing equipment which is an operating lease. The 


current operating lease expires June 2013.  
 


 
Finance 
Leases 


Operating 
Leases 


  £000 £000 
Total Rentals paid in 2012/2013 0 61 
      
Outstanding undischarged Leasing 
Obligations. 


    


2013/2014 0 15 
  
 
 The PCC Group entered into a Finance Lease for 125 years in 2006/07 in relation to the land on 


which the Kirkleatham PFI building is situated. The PCC Group also entered into a 999 year lease in 
2009/10 in relation to the land on which the Road Policing Unit is situated. There are no additional 
obligations in respect of these transactions. The Leases are recorded within the asset register of the 
PCC Group at a nominal figure; this is consistent with the accounting for land elsewhere in the PCC 
Group.  
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25. OFFICERS' EMOLUMENTS 
 


During the financial year 2012/2013, the numbers of senior police officers (above the rank of 
Superintendent) and staff whose remuneration, excluding employers’ pension contributions and 
compensation for loss of office, was £50,000 or more in bands of £5,000 were: 
 


  


Police 
Officers


Support 
Staff Total


2 £50,000 - £54,999 0 2 2
4 £55,000 - £59,999 0 1 1
2 £60,000 - £64,999 0 2 2
1 £65,000 - £69,999 0 2 2
0 £70,000 - £74,999 1 0 1
0 £75,000 - £79,999 1 1 2
3 £80,000 - £84,999 1 2 3
1 £85,000 - £89,999 2 0 2
1 £90,000 - £94,999 1 0 1
0 £95,000 - £99,999 0 0 0
3 £100,000 - £104,999 1 1 2
0 £105,000 - £109,999 2 0 2
1 £110,000 - £114,999 0 0 0
1 £115,000 - £119,999 2 0 2
0 £120,000 - £124,999 0 0 0
0 £125,000 - £129,999 0 0 0
0 £130,000 - £134,999 0 0 0
0 £135,000 - £139,999 0 0 0
0 £140,000 - £144,999 0 0 0
0 £145,000 - £149,999 0 0 0
0 £150,000 - £154,999 0 0 0
0 £155,000 - £159,999 0 0 0
0 £160,000 - £164,999 0 0 0
0 £165,000 - £169,999 0 0 0
0 £170,000 - £174,999 0 0 0
0 £175,000 - £179,999 0 0 0
0 £180,000 - £184,999 0 0 0
0 £185,000 - £189,999 0 0 0
1 £190,000 - £194,999 0 0 0


20 Total 11 11 22


2011/2012 Remuneration Band


Number of staff


 
  


This table includes senior employees and relevant police officers (as per the requirements of LAAP 
bulletin 85) which are disclosed by position or name (as required) overleaf: 


    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 







 


 
Group Accounts for Cleveland   Page 44 of 55 Statement of Accounts – 2012/2013 


 
 


Remuneration Disclosure 2012/13: 
 


Post Holder Annualised 
Salary


Salary 
(Including 
Fees & 


Allowances)


Bonuses Expense 
Allowances


Compensation 
for Loss of 
Office


Benefits 
in Kind


Other 
Payments


Total 
Remuneration 
excluding 
Pension 


Contribution 
12/13


Pension 
Contributions


£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £
Chief Constable - S 
Price


135,138 77,852 0 0 0 6,120 0 83,972 0


The PCC 70,000 25,083 25,083 3,587
Chief Executive 90,000 75,000 0 0 81,520 0 0 156,520 170,148
DCC 117,117 117,117 0 0 0 0 0 117,117 26,482
ACC 113,088 113,088 0 0 0 5,293 0 118,381 25,604
ACC 106,502 106,502 0 296 0 2,734 0 109,532 25,471
ACC (Temporary) 99,556 99,556 0 8,496 0 0 0 108,052 23,410
ACO 95,808 95,808 0 8,000 0 0 0 103,808 13,701
Deputy Chief 
Executive / 
Treasurer


83,514 83,514 0 0 0 0 0 83,514 11,804


 
From the 22nd November 2012 the statutory position of Chief Executive and Monitoring Officer was fulfilled by 
an officer on secondment from Middlesbrough Council into the role of Chief of Staff. The costs of this 
arrangement to the 31st March 2013 were £40,888 
 
Remuneration Disclosure 2011/12: 
 


Post Holder Annualised 
Salary


Salary 
(Including 
Fees & 


Allowances)


Bonuses Expense 
Allowances


Compensation 
for Loss of 
Office


Benefits 
in Kind


Other 
Payments


Total 
Remuneration 
excluding 
Pension 


Contribution 
11/12


Pension 
Contributions


£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £
Chief Constable - S 
Price


138,782 138,782 0 0 0 7,433 55,509 201,723 7,277


Chief Executive 90,000 30,000 0 0 0 0 0 30,000 4,290
Acting Chief 
Executive


100,000 42,778 0 0 0 0 0 42,778 6,117


DCC 117,099 117,099 0 0 0 2,482 0 119,581 26,482
ACC 112,934 112,934 0 0 0 6,310 0 119,244 25,534
ACC 106,498 106,498 0 0 0 4,048 0 110,546 25,395
ACC (Temporary) 98,375 62,259 0 5,377 0 0 0 67,636 14,815
ACO 95,808 95,808 0 8,000 0 0 0 103,808 13,701
Deputy Chief 
Executive / 
Treasurer


80,397 80,397 0 0 0 0 0 80,397 11,539


Police Authority 
Deputy Chief 
Executive


56,533 13,333 0 0 30,000 0 0 43,333 1,967


 
The Treasurer and Deputy Chief Executive roles were combined on 1st February 2012. 
 
DCC = Deputy Chief Constable 
ACC = Assistant Chief Constable 
ACO = Assistant Chief Officer Finance & Commissioning 
 
 


26. TERMINATION BENEFITS 
In the financial year the Authority paid termination benefits totalling £81.5k affecting 1 individual 
within the Office for the Police and Crime Commissioner for Cleveland. This amount includes the 
compensation for loss of office payment included in note 25 above. 
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27. MEMBERS ALLOWANCES 
 
 Approved allowances paid to and on behalf of Members of the Police Authority for the financial year 


2012/2013 and members of the Independent Audit Committee of the PCC Group were as follows: 
 
2011/2012 2012/2013


£000 £000


199 Allowances for approved duties 126
17 Travel and Subsistence 1


216 Total Members Allowances 127


 
 
 


28. RELATED PARTIES  
 
 The PCC Group is required to disclose material transactions with related parties – bodies or 


individuals that have the potential to control or influence the PCC Group or to be controlled or 
influenced by the PCC Group. Disclosure of these transactions allows readers to assess the extent to 
which the PCC Group might have been constrained in its ability to operate independently or might 
have secured the ability to limit another party’s ability to bargain freely with the PCC Group. 


 
 Central Government has effective control over the general operations of the PCC Group – it is 


responsible for providing the statutory framework within which the PCC Group operates and provides 
the majority of its funding in the form of Grants. During the year material transactions with related 
parties arose as follows and are included within the Income and Expenditure account: 


 
  


Government Departments
£000's


Police Grant 48,270
NNDR 42,761
Pension Top up Grant 15,807
PFI Grant 4,106
Police Community Support Officers Grant 2,948
Home Office Special Grant 2,200
Dedicated Security Posts Funding 1,118
Revenue Support Grant 844
Capital Financing Grant 257
Drug Testing Grant 249


 
    
 During 2012/13 two members have declared related parties interest. One is a Non Executive Director 


of a Primary Care Trust, the other is an elected member of Stockton Borough Council. The former 
purchased surplus office supplies to the value of £75.00 in November 2012. 
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29. PRIVATE FINANCE INITIATIVE 
  
 As at the end of 2012/13 the PCC Group has 2 long term contracts under the Private Finance 


Initiative. 
  
 The contract for the Tactical Training Centre for Urlay Nook (referred as Urlay Nook) was entered 


into in April 2000 with payments commencing in April 2001. 
 
 The contract expires in 2025/6. 
 
 During 2006/07 the contract for the Centralised Cell Accommodation and District HQ facilities 


(referred to as Action Stations) commenced with payments beginning in January 2007. 
 
 The contract expires in 2031/2. 
 
 The contracts are accounted for in accordance with IFRIC 12 and details of the movement in assets 


and liabilities, plus information regarding future payments is shown below: 
 


Asset Liability Asset Liability
£000s £000s £000s £000s


Balance b/f 4,657 (4,860) 24,221 (25,374)
Movements:
Depreciation (130) 0 (667) 0
Lifecycle maintenance 160 0 440 0
Principal repayment 0 144 0 556
Balance c/f 4,687 (4,716) 23,994 (24,818)


Urlay Nook Action Stations


 
 


 


Services Finance Cost Principal Repayment
£000s £000s £000s


Within 1 year 707 780 173
2 to 5 years 3,285 2,928 710
6 to 10 years 3,789 3,539 1,994
11 to 15 years 2,437 1,699 1,839


Services Finance Cost Principal Repayment
£000s £000s £000s


Within 1 year 1,937 2,320 695
2 to 5 years 8,474 8,767 3,213
6 to 10 years 12,746 9,163 5,240
11 to 15 years 15,339 6,753 7,029
16 to 20 years 11,587 3,602 8,641


Action Stations


Urlay Nook
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30. AUDIT COSTS 
 


In 2012/13 the PCC Group incurred the following fees totalling £69k relating to external audit:  
 


 


2011/2012 2012/2013
£000 £000


77
Fees payable to external audit with regard to external audit 
services carried out by the appointed auditor 68


1
Fees payable to external audit in respect of additional services 
requested 1


77 Total Audit Costs 69


 
 


 


31. INFORMATION ON ASSETS HELD 
 


Analysis of Assets 2011/2012 2012/2013
Buildings
Police Headquarters 1 1
Operational Police Stations 10 10
Non-Operational Police Stations 0 0
Radio Mast site 1 1
Total 12 12


Vehicles
Cars 207 190
Vans 78 73
Other Vehicles 19 20
Total 304 283  
 
In addition to the above, there are 4 Operational Police Stations plus a Firearms Range held under 
Private Finance Initiative schemes. 
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32. CAPITAL EXPENDITURE IN THE YEAR AND SOURCES OF FINANCE 
 


31 March 2012 Capital Expenditure and Financing 31 March 2013
£000 £000


Capital Investment:
6,708                  Property, Plant and Equipment 4,600                  
285                     Intangible Assets 122                    
-                      Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital under Statue -                     


6,993                  Total Capital Investment 4,722                 


Sources of Finance:
-                      Capital Receipts (41)                     


(1,121)                 Governement Grants and Contributions (1,325)                
(21)                     Other Grants and Contributions (126)                   
(410)                    Direct Revenue Contributions (720)                   
(872)                    Supported Borrowing (872)                   


(4,569)                 Unsupported Borrowing (1,638)                
(6,993)                Total Finance (4,722)               


 
 


33. BORROWING 
  


Interest rates vary between 1.22% and 5.30%. The average rate is 3.97% 
 


31 March 
2012 31 March 2013
£000 £000


Public Works Loans Board


            (1,681) Due in the next Financial Year                  (3,760)
          (18,960) Long Term Loans                 (20,600)


(20,641)        Total Borrowing (24,360)              


31 March 
2012 Maturity Period 31 March 2013
£000 £000


               (860)  1/2 years (1,340)                 
            (4,184)  2/5 years (2,844)                 
          (13,916)  5/10 years (13,916)               
                  -   Over 10 years (2,500)                 
(18,960)        Total Long Term Loans (20,600)              
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34. PROCEEDS OF CRIME ACT 2002 
 


The PCC Group is holding cash at bank totalling £0.701m in respect of seized cash balances in 
relation to the Proceeds of Crime Act 2002.  This balance is not included in the Balance Sheet. 


 
 


35. AGENCY SERVICES 
 


Consortium Charges 
 
The PCC Group has an agency agreement with the North East Fingerprint Bureau to provide 
fingerprinting services. Payments in 2012/13 amounted to £0.369m (£0.387m in 2011/12). 


 
Urlay Nook Tactical Training Centre 
 
The Urlay Nook Tactical Training Centre which is jointly run by Cleveland PCC and Durham PCC has 
reserves as at the 31st of March 2013 of £0.096m which sits with Durham but of which £0.048m is 
Cleveland PCC Group’s share. 
 
Roads Policing Unit 
 
The Roads Policing Unit, which is jointly run by Cleveland PCC and Durham PCC, has no reserves as 
at the 31st of March 2013. 
 
Other National Police Services 
 
The PCC Group made a subscription payment for the Police National Computer and Database of 
£0.429m in 2012/13 (£0.403m in 2011/12). 
 


36. RECONCILIATION OF YEAR-END POSITION TO SURPLUS/DEFICIT ON 
PROVISION OF SERVICES 


 


Reconciliation to (Surplus) or Deficit on Provision of Service:


Net (Under)/Over spending (421)
Adjustments between accounting basis and 
funding basis:
Minimum Revenue Provision (2,029)       
Depreciation & Amortisation 4,735        
Loss/(Gain) on the sale of non current assets 639           
Net change in Pension Liability 73,015       
Employers Pension Contributions (17,342)      
Recognition of capital grants 375           
Movement in Accumulated Absences creditor (287)          
Movement in Precept debtor (139)          
Rounding 2               
Transfers (to)/from Reserves:
Transfer (to)/from General Fund 1,220        
Other transfers (to)/from reserves 1,883        


(Surplus) or Deficit on Provision of Service 61,649     
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37. RECONCILIATION OF SURPLUS/DEFICIT ON PROVISION OF SERVICE TO 
NET COST OF SERVICES 


 


Reconciliation to Net Cost of Services:


(Surplus) or Deficit on Provision of Service 61,649
Taxation and non-specific grant income:
Capital Grants (375)          
Precept 33,632       
Police Grant 48,270       
National Non Domestic Rates 42,761       
Revenue Support Grant 844           
Pension Fund top-up grant -            
Financing & Investment income and Expenditure:
Interest receivable and similar income 62             
Pension interest cost & expected return on pension assets (43,657)      
Interest payable and similar charges (4,129)       
Other Operating Expenditure:
(Loss)/Gain on the sale of non current assets (484)          
Levies (429)          
Roundings (2)             


Net Cost of Services 138,144   


 
 
 


38. USABLE RESERVES 
 


Description of Reserve
31 March 
2012


Receipts in 
Year £000


Transfers/ 
Payments         
in Year           
£000 31 March 2013


£000 £000


Insurance Fund            (1,560)            (115)                     0                (1,675)
Earmarked Reserves (3,413) (1,733) 3,917 (1,228)
Revenue Grants Unapplied Reserve              (998) (34) 569                   (463)
Capital Grants Unapplied Reserve              (251) (1,459) 1,451                   (259)


Capital Receipts Unapplied Reserve                (41) (3,988) 4,013                    (16)
General Fund            (8,245) (421) 1,220                (7,446)
Total Usable Reserves (14,507)       (7,750)      11,170          (11,087)           


 


Earmarked Reserves – Please see Note 8 for a detailed analysis 
 
Revenue Grants Unapplied Reserve – These revenue grants are those which either have no 
specified conditions or the conditions have been met. They will be matched to relevant expenditure 
as incurred. 
 
Capital Grants Unapplied Reserve – These capital grants are those which have been received 
but expenditure has not yet been incurred. They will be matched to relevant expenditure as 
incurred. 
 
Capital Receipts Unapplied Reserve – These capital receipts have been received from the 
disposal of non current assets with any balance yet to applied to fund capital expenditure. 
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General Fund – This balance is available in order to support the future operations of the 
organisation should the need arise due to unforeseen circumstances. 
 
 


39. UNUSABLE RESERVES 
 
 


Description of Reserve
31 March 
2012


Additions in 
Year 


Reductions          
in Year          


31 March 
2013


£000 £000 £000 £000


Revaluation Reserve              (815)                   0                   0              (815)
Available for Sale Financial Instruments 
Reserve


                  0                   0                   0                   0 


Capital Adjustment Account            (9,840)            (4,350)             7,332            (6,858)
Financial Instruments Adjustment 
Account Account


                  0                   0                   0                   0 


Deferred Capital Receipts Reserve                   0                   0                   0                   0 
Pension Reserve          962,276          (36,946)          102,238       1,027,568 
Collection Fund Adjustment Account              (283)              (422)                283              (422)
Accumulated Absence Reserve             2,927                   0              (287)             2,639 
Total Unusable Reserves        954,266        (41,718)        109,565     1,022,113 


 


Revaluation Reserve – contains gains made by the PCC Group from increases in the value of its 
non-current assets since 1st April 2007, which is when the reserve was created. 


 
Capital Adjustment Account – absorbs the timing differences arising from the different 
arrangements for accounting for the consumption of non-current assets and for financing the 
acquisition, construction or enhancement of those assets under statutory provisions. This account 
also contains any revaluation gains prior to 1st April 2007. 
 
Pension Reserve – absorbs the timing differences arising from the different arrangements for 
accounting for post employment benefits and for funding benefits in accordance with statutory 
provisions. 
 
Collection Fund Adjustment Account – manages the differences arising from the recognition of 
Council Tax income in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as it falls due from 
tax payers compared with the statutory arrangements for paying across amounts to the General 
Fund from the collection fund. 
 
Accumulated Absence Reserve – absorbs the differences that would otherwise arise on the 
General fund balance from accruing for compensated absences earned but not taken in the year. 
Statutory arrangements require the impact on the General Fund balance is neutralised by transfers 
to/from the account. 
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40. CAPITAL ADJUSTMENT ACCOUNT 
 
31 March 2012 31 March 2013


£000 £000


(9,085)               Balance at 1 April (9,840)               
(2,290)                Transfer to Non Operational Assets -                    
(103)                  Capital expenditure not adding to asset values -                    
(4)                      Prior year adjustment -                    
(8)                      In Year adjustment -                    
-                    Revaluation adjustments -                    
-                    Partnership financing of Capital Expenditure -                    


(410)                  Revenue contribution to capital (720)                  
2,995                 MRP less Depreciation 2,705                 
(1,142)                Transfer from Government Grants Deferred  383                    


-                    Capital Receipts Applied (4,013)                
208                    Disposals 4,627                 
-                    Write out of Government Grants Deferred -                    


(9,840)               Balance at 31 March (6,858)               


 
 
 


41. GRANT INCOME 
 


31 March 2012 ANALYSIS OF GRANTS 31 March 2013
£000 £000


Credited to Taxation and Non specific Grant Income:
(10,924)                       Revenue Support Grant (844)                            
(35,340)                       National Non Domestic Rates (42,761)                       
(52,155)                       Police Grant (48,270)                       
(32,282)                       Precepts (33,632)                       
(1,134)                         Capital Grants and Contributions 375                             


(131,835)                    (125,132)                    


Credited to services:
(2,965)                         Police Community Support Officers Grant (2,948)                         
(941)                            PFI - Urlay Nook (941)                            
(972)                            Dedicated Security Posts Funding (1,118)                         


(3,165)                         PFI - Action Stations (3,165)                         
(260)                            Drug Testing Grant (249)                            
(216)                            Capital Financing Grant (257)                            
(108)                            Incentivisation Grant (108)                            
(7)                               Specials Grant -                                 


(17,684)                       Pension Fund Top up Grant (15,807)                       
(1,616)                         Home Office Special Grant (2,200)                         
(1,917)                         Partnership Grants (695)                            


(29,851)                      (27,488)                      


(161,686)                    Total Grant Income (152,620)                    


 


These grants have all been recognised within the Income and Expenditure Statement; however 
£240k sits within creditors as income in advance as there is the potential this may have to be 
returned to the originating organisation. 
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42. CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 
 


The PCC Group does not have any contingent assets or liabilities at the Balance Sheet date. 
 
 


43. AUTHORISATION OF ACCOUNTS 
  


The Chief Finance Officer of the PCC for Cleveland has set and authorised the date of issue for the 
Statement of Accounts as the 27th June 2013. This is the date that the Statement was approved by 
the PCC and is the date, up to which, any known events are reported. 
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PENSION FUND 
 


Police Pension Fund Regulations 2009 (SI 2009 No 2060) 
 
 
2011/12 FUND ACCOUNT 2012/13
£000 £000


Contributions Receivable
From Employer


(13,832) Normal (13,174)
(853) Capital contribution due to Ill Health Early Retirement (909)


(6,195) From Members (6,550)


Transfers In
(107) Individual Transfers in from Other Schemes (200)


Benefits Payable
26,241 Pensions 28,539


10,955 Commutations and Lump Sum Retirement Benefits 5,939


123 Lump Sum death benefits 153


1,098 Ill Health Lump Sum Benefits 1,366


Payments to and on Account of Leavers
2 Refunds of Contributions 1


132 Inter Authority Adjustments 103


119 Individual Transfers out to Other Schemes 538


17,684 Sub-Total for the year before transfer from the 15,807
Police Authority to fund the deficit for the year


(17,684) Additional funding payable by the Police (15,807)
Authority to fund the deficit for the year


0 Net Amount Payable/Receivable for the Year 0


£000 NET ASSETS STATEMENT £000


Net Current Assets and Liabilities
224 Contributions due from Employer 246


2,016 Unpaid/Paid in Advance Pension Benefits 2,213


0 Amount due to Sponsoring Department 0


88 Other Current Assets & Liabilities 165  
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£000 NET ASSETS STATEMENT £000


Net Current Assets and Liabilities
0 Central Government Bodies 0


224 Other Local Authorities 280


2,104 All other bodies 2,345  
 


   Notes to the Pension Fund 
 
The funding arrangements for the Police Pension scheme in England and Wales changed on 1 April 
2006. Before 1 April 2006 the scheme did not have a percentage of pensionable pay type of 
employer’s contribution, rather each Police Authority was responsible for paying the pensions of its 
own former employees on a pay-as-you-go basis. Under the new arrangements the scheme remains 
unfunded but will no longer be on a pay-as-you-go basis as far as individual PCCs are concerned. 
PCCs will no longer meet the pension outgo directly; instead they will pay an employer’s pension 
contribution based on a percentage of pay into the Pension Fund. Each PCC is required by legislation 
to operate a Pension Fund and the amounts that must be paid into and out of the Pension Fund are 
specified by regulation. 
 
The Pension fund has no investment assets and the fund is balanced to nil each year by a transfer 
to/from the Police Fund. Benefits payable are funded by contributions from employers and 
employees and any difference is met by a top-up grant from the Home Office. 
 
The Pension Fund was established and is controlled under the Police Pension Fund Regulations 2009 
(SI 2009 No 2060) 
 
The Fund is administered by the PCC Group.   
 
The Net Assets Statement does not include liabilities to pay pension and other benefits after the 
Balance Sheet date. The liabilities of the Pension scheme are accounted for under IAS19 and details 
can be found above. 


 
 





		EXPLANATORY FOREWORD AND FINANCIAL REVIEW

		1.	INTRODUCTION

		2.	THE STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS

		THE POLICE & CRIME COMMISSIONER REVENUE BUDGET FOR 2012/2013

		4.	POLICE & CRIME COMMISSIONER GENERAL REVENUE BALANCES

		5.	CAPITAL

		6.	PENSIONS

		7.	CHANGES TO ACCOUNTING POLICIES

		8.	BORROWING FACILITIES

		9.	FURTHER INFORMATION

		STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITIES

		AUDITOR’S REPORT

		GROUP COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AND EXPENDITURE STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31st MARCH 2013

		GROUP MOVEMENT ON RESERVES STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31st MARCH 2013

		GROUP MOVEMENT ON RESERVES STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31st MARCH 2012

		GROUP BALANCE SHEET AT 31st MARCH 2013

		GROUP CASHFLOW STATEMENT 2012/13

		GROUP NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

		1.	GROUP ACCOUNTING POLICIES

		A) PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

		B) INTANGIBLE ASSETS

		C) DE MINIMIS LEVEL

		D) GOVERNMENT GRANTS AND CONTRIBUTIONS

		E) CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

		F) LEASES

		G) DEBTORS AND CREDITORS

		H) VALUATION OF INVENTORIES

		LOANS AND RECEIVABLES

		J) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

		K) PROVISIONS

		L) RESERVES

		M) SELF-INSURED RISKS

		N) INVESTMENTS

		O) EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

		P) PENSIONS

		Q) INTERNAL INTEREST

		R) OVERHEADS AND SUPPORT SERVICES

		S) PRIVATE FINANCE INITIATIVE

		T) VALUE ADDED TAX

		U) COMPENSATORY GRANT

		V) PRECEPT

		W) POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

		X) EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS, EXTRAORDINARY ITEMS AND PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENTS

		Y) REVENUE RECOGNITION

		2.	ACCOUNTING STANDARDS ISSUED NOT ADOPTED

		3.	CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING ACCOUNTING POLICES

		4.	ASSUMPTIONS MADE ABOUT THE FUTURE AND OTHER MAJOR SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

		5.	MATERIAL ITEMS OF INCOME AND EXPENSE

		6.	EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

		ADJUSTMENTS BETWEEN ACCOUNTING BASIS AND FUNDING BASIS UNDER REGULATION

		8.	TRANSFERS TO / FROM EARMARKED RESERVES

		OTHER OPERATING EXPENDITURE

		10.	FINANCING AND INVESTMENT INCOME & EXPENDITURE

		11.	TAXATION & NON SPECIFIC GRANT INCOME

		NON CURRENT ASSETS

		13.	INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

		14.	INTANGIBLE ASSETS

		15.	FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

		16.	INVENTORIES

		SHORT TERM DEBTORS

		CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

		ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

		The PCC Group currently holds no assets which are held for sale.

		SHORT TERM CREDITORS

		PROVISIONS

		22.	PENSIONS

		PENSIONS LIABILITY

		LEASED ASSETS – RENTALS

		OFFICERS' EMOLUMENTS

		TERMINATION BENEFITS

		MEMBERS ALLOWANCES

		RELATED PARTIES

		PRIVATE FINANCE INITIATIVE

		AUDIT COSTS

		INFORMATION ON ASSETS HELD

		CAPITAL EXPENDITURE IN THE YEAR AND SOURCES OF FINANCE

		BORROWING

		PROCEEDS OF CRIME ACT 2002

		AGENCY SERVICES

		RECONCILIATION OF YEAR-END POSITION TO SURPLUS/DEFICIT ON PROVISION OF SERVICES

		RECONCILIATION OF SURPLUS/DEFICIT ON PROVISION OF SERVICE TO NET COST OF SERVICES

		USABLE RESERVES

		UNUSABLE RESERVES

		CAPITAL ADJUSTMENT ACCOUNT

		GRANT INCOME

		CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

		AUTHORISATION OF ACCOUNTS

		PENSION FUND




_1464527114.pdf


Audit Completion Report 
Year ended 31 March 2013


Police and Crime 
Commissioner for 
Cleveland


September 2013







Contents


2


Our reports are prepared in the context of the Audit Commission’s ‘Statement of 
responsibilities of auditors and audited bodies’. Reports and letters prepared by 
appointed auditors and addressed to Non-Executive Directors, Members or 
officers are prepared for the sole use of the audited body and we take no 
responsibility to any Non-Executive Director, Member or Officer in their individual 
capacity or to any third party.


Mazars LLP is the UK firm of Mazars, the international advisory and accountancy 
organisation. Mazars LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England 
with registered number OC308299.
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01
Purpose of this report
This document communicates 
to you the outcome of our 
audit of your 2012/13 
statement of accounts and 
matters that we are required 
to, or wish to bring to your 
attention
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Purpose of this report and our audit 
approach
Purpose of this document
This document has been prepared to report the findings of our audit for the year ended 31 March 2013 and forms 
the basis for discussion with the Police and Crime Commissioner (the Commissioner) and the Audit Committee at 
its meeting on 26 September 2013. 
Our communication with you is important to:
•share information to assist both the auditor and those charged with governance (the Commissioner) of  to fulfil 
their respective responsibilities;
•provide constructive observations arising from the audit process to those charged with governance (the 
Commissioner);
•ensure as part of the two-way communication process we, as external auditors, gain an understanding of the 
attitude and views of those charged with governance (the Commissioner) to the internal and external operational, 
financial, compliance and other risks which might affect the statement of accounts, including the likelihood of 
those risks materialising and how they are managed; and
•receive feedback from those charged with governance (the Commissioner) as to the performance of the 
engagement team.


Independence
As part of our on-going risk assessment we monitor our relationships with you to identify any new actual or 
perceived threats to our independence within the regulatory or professional requirements governing us as your 
auditors. 
No new threats to our independence have been identified since we issued our Audit Strategy Memorandum.


Our audit approach
Our audit has been conducted in accordance with International Standards of Auditing (UK and Ireland) (ISA 
(UK&I))  issued by the Auditing Practices Board. 
There have been no changes to our audit approach as communicated to you in the Audit Strategy Memorandum 
dated February 2013.


Limitations
Our audit procedures, which have been designed to enable us to express an opinion on the statement of 
accounts, have included the examination of the transactions and the controls thereon of. The International 
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) do not require us to design audit procedures for the purpose of identifying 
supplementary matters to communicate with those charged with governance.
Our audit included consideration of internal controls relevant to the preparation of the statement of accounts in 
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for expressing an opinion on 
the effectiveness of internal control or to identify any significant deficiencies in their design or operation.
We have included in this report only those matters that have come to our attention as a result of our normal audit 
procedures and, consequently, our comments should not be regarded as a comprehensive record of all 
deficiencies that may exist or improvements that could be made.
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02
Overall conclusions and 
opinion


We give an opinion on your 
statement of accounts and 
conclude on whether you have 
made proper arrangements to 
secure economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in your use of 
resources
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Overall conclusions and opinion


Overall conclusion and opinion
At the time of issuing this report we anticipate:
•issuing an unqualified opinion on your statement of accounts; and
•concluding that you have made proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in your 
use of resources.


Audit status
We have substantially completed our audit of the statement of accounts for the year ended 31 March 2013.


At the time of preparing this report, there is one significant matter outstanding, and some other matters.
The significant matter outstanding relates to:
•receipt of the information we require from the local government pension fund administering authority’s auditor 
(Deloitte LLP).


The following matters remain outstanding, and are usually done just prior to signing the audit opinion:
•review of the amended financial statements;
•review of post balance sheet events; and
•review on receipt of management representation letter.


Alongside our audit of your statement of accounts we are required to review your Whole of Government Accounts 
submission and report to the National Audit Office in line with their group instructions and guidance produced by 
the Audit Commission. Subject to completing this work we expect to be able to certify the closure of the 2012/13 
audit by 30 September 2013.


We have not received any objections to the Commissioner’s 2012/13 statement of accounts from electors and 
have no outstanding matters or correspondence with electors.


We will provide an update to you in relation to the matters outstanding above.







7


03
Significant risks and key 
judgement areas


We report to you the risks of 
material misstatement we 
identified in your statement of 
accounts and the key areas of 
management judgement that 
impact on your statement of 
accounts.
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Significant risks and key judgement areas
Set out below are the significant risks and key areas of management judgement in the Audit Strategy 
Memorandum to which we paid particular attention in order to reduce the risk of material misstatement in the 
statement of accounts. We have detailed below the work performed to address each risk and judgement and our 
conclusions. 


In addition to significant risks, we also identified in the Audit Strategy Memorandum the key areas of management 
judgement that would impact the statement of accounts. We detail below the work performed to evaluate the 
robustness of each judgement and our conclusions.
[Please ensure all judgements included in the Audit Strategy Memorandum are concluded upon here.]


Significant audit risk How did we address this risk Conclusions


Management override of controls


International auditing standards 
presume that management override 
of controls is a fraud risk and 
therefore should be regarded as a 
significant risk
.
This does not imply that we suspect 
actual or intended manipulation but 
that we approach the audit with due 
professional scepticism.


We updated our understanding and 
evaluation of internal controls 
procedures as part of our audit 
planning, including completion of a 
fraud risk assessment. We sought 
written assurances from the 
Commissioner and management on 
their controls and processes for 
assessing the risk of fraud in the 
financial statements and 
arrangements in place to identify, 
respond to and report fraud. 
We have also:
•Undertaken general ledger journal 
testing; 
•considered and reviewed material 
accounting estimates; 
•considered and reviewed any 
unusual or significant business 
transactions; and 
•considered any other local factors. 


Our audit has provided the 
assurance we sought, and 
not highlighted any  issues in 
this area to report.


Pension Liability and Reserve


Due to the nature and amount of 
the liability and reserve in the 
balance sheet, a small adjustment to 
the actuarial assumptions can result 
in a material change to the liability


We discussed with key contacts any 
significant changes to the pensions 
estimates prior to the preparation of 
the final accounts. 
In addition to our standard 
programme of work in this area, we: 
•evaluated the management controls 
you have in place to assess the 
reasonableness of the figures 
provided by the actuaries; and
•considered the reasonableness of 
the actuaries outputs, referring to an 
expert’s report on all actuaries 
nationally which is commissioned 
annually by the Audit Commission


Our audit has provided the 
assurance we sought, and 
not highlighted any  issues in 
this area to report.
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Additional significant risks and key 
judgement areas identified during the audit
Since we submitted our Audit Strategy Memorandum in February 2013 we have identified an additional significant 
risk. This is set out below along with how we addressed it and our conclusion. 


Significant audit risk How did we address this risk Conclusions


Income recognition


Auditing standards include a 
rebuttable presumption 
that there is a significant 
risk in relation to the timing 
of income recognition and 
in relation to judgements 
made by management as to 
when income has been 
earned.


In an update to our Audit 
Manual the firm has made it 
clear that  the scope to 
apply such a rebuttal is 
limited. This does not imply 
that we suspect actual or 
intended manipulation but 
that we continue to 
approach the audit with due 
professional scepticism.


We evaluated the design and 
implementation of controls to 
mitigate  the risk of income being 
recognised in the wrong period. In 
addition we undertook a range of 
substantive procedures including:


•testing receipts in March and April 
2013 to ensure that they have been 
recognised in the right year;


•testing adjustment journals; and


•obtaining direct confirmation of 
year-end bank balances and testing 
the reconciliations to the ledger


We found no evidence of fraud in 
income recognition based on our 
audit procedures.


We also evaluated the impact of the 
errors we identified during the audit 
and concluded there was no pattern 
to the errors that might indicate 
manipulation.
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04
Audit findings
We report to you the significant 
findings from our audit of your 
statement of accounts
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Audit findings
It is a requirement of ISA  (UK&I) 260 that significant findings from the audit are communicated to those charged 
with governance.


Significant qualitative aspects of accounting practices
ISA (UK&I) 260 requires us to communicate with those charged with governance our views about significant 
qualitative aspects of the entity’s accounting practices, including accounting policies, accounting estimates and 
financial statement disclosures. 


Accounting policies
•The appropriateness of the accounting policies to the particular circumstances of the entity. Where acceptable 
alternative accounting policies exist, this communication may include identification of the financial statement items 
that are affected by the choice of significant accounting policies.
•Any changes in significant accounting policies, including the application of new accounting pronouncements.


Accounting estimates
•For items which estimates are significant, issues communicated could include: management’s identification of 
accounting estimates, management’s process for making accounting estimates, risks of material misstatement, 
indicators of possible management bias and disclosure of estimation uncertainty in the financial statements.


Financial statement disclosures
•The issues involved, and related judgements made, in formulating particularly sensitive financial statement 
disclosures (for example, disclosures related to revenue recognition, remuneration, going concern, subsequent 
events, and contingency issues).
•The overall neutrality, consistency and clarity of the disclosures in the financial statements.


We have no matters to report in these areas other than the issues reported in the disclosure amendments section 
that follows.


Significant difficulties encountered during the audit
ISA (UK&I) 260 also requires us to communicate with those charged with governance significant difficulties 
encountered during the audit. These include such matters as:
•significant delays in management providing required information;
•an unnecessarily brief time within which to complete the audit;
•extensive unexpected effort required to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence; and
•the unavailability of expected information.
We did have some delays in obtaining relevant and appropriate working papers and responses to audit queries. 
We did not receive a fully compliant set of accounts until 9 September, despite the fact that the audit work started 
on an initial draft of the group accounts in early June. 
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Unadjusted misstatements
We are required to bring to your attention the misstatements found during the course of audit that have not been 
corrected, unless they are clearly trivial.


There are no unadjusted misstatements


Adjusted misstatements
The draft accounts have been amended as follows:
•Collection fund debtors of £422k were reclassified from other debtors to other local authorities in note 17 of the 
group and the PCC statements.
•£800k of council tax freeze grant had been included in the CIES service lines as “negative expenditure” instead 
of being included below the cost of services line in non-specific grant income in both the group and PCC 
statements.


Disclosure amendments
Our audit also identified the need to make the following disclosure amendments:
•References to the Best Value accounting code of practice were replaced by CIPFA Service Reporting Code of 
Practice throughout the financial statements and supporting notes.
•An explanation that the accounts were prepared under FRS 6 Mergers and Acquisitions to comply with the 
requirements of LAAP Bulletin 95 issued by CIPFA.
•To correct the remuneration note to put the former Chief Constable into the correct banding and to include the 
PCC’s remuneration.
A number of arithmetical and rounding errors were identified and corrected to ensure that the notes and main 
statements were consistent and correct.
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Significant matters discussed with management
There have been two issues discussed with management, other than our usual discussions as part of gathering 
our audit evidence:
•the presentation and disclosure requirements in respect of the new arrangements since the introduction and 
transition from the former Cleveland Police Authority to the Police and Crime Commissioner and Chief Constable; 
and
•the effective date of the transfer of the helicopter to the National Police Air Service.
The notes and explanatory foreword were amended in response to the first bullet and no further audit action was 
required in response to the second point.


Other matters significant to the oversight of the financial reporting process
ISA (UK&I) 260 requires us to communicate other significant matters arising from the audit that are directly 
relevant to those charged with governance in overseeing the financial reporting process. These may include such 
matters as material misstatements of fact or material inconsistencies in information accompanying the audited 
financial statements that have been corrected.
We have no such matters to report.


Internal control
The purpose of our audit was to express an opinion on the financial statements. As part of our audit we have 
considered the internal controls in place relevant to the preparation of the financial statements, in order to design 
audit procedures to allow us to express an opinion on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control.
The matters reported are limited to those deficiencies and other control recommendations that we have identified 
during our audit and that we consider to be of sufficient importance to merit being reported. If we had performed 
more extensive procedures on internal control we might have identified more deficiencies to be reported or 
concluded that some of the reported deficiencies need not in fact have been reported.
We have one matter to bring to your attention. A number of deeds for land and buildings are registered in the 
names of predecessors to the PCC. In the case of Thornaby Police Station there is no record at the land registry 
that title is with any predecessor body, although officers in the legal team confirm that the land and buildings 
transferred to Teesside CBC in 1968. 
Before the phase two transfer the PCC should ensure that proper title is held for all property within the asset 
register.
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05
Value for money 
conclusion


We are required to conclude on 
your arrangements for securing 
economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in your use of 
resources







15


Value for money conclusion
We are required to conclude whether the Commissioner put in place proper arrangements for securing economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. 


The Audit Commission has specified that our value for money work consists of:
•a review of your annual governance statement;
•reviewing the work of other relevant regulatory bodies or inspectorates, to the extent the results of the work have 
an impact on my responsibilities; and
•any risk-based work we determine appropriate.


Our Audit Strategy Memorandum, issued in February 2013, confirmed that our work was to include review of 
reports issued by HMIC, and local risk based work to consider the transition from Cleveland Police Authority, and 
the governance arrangements put in place following that transition. 
Our work has not highlighted any matters which we need to report.
We intend to issue an unqualified conclusion stating the Commissioner has proper arrangements to secure 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of resources.  Our draft conclusion is included in Appendix 2.
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To be provided by the Police and Crime Commissioner to us on headed note paper


[Date]


Dear Sir/Madam


Police and Crime Commissioner for Cleveland - audit for year ended 31 March 2013


This representation letter is provided in connection with your audit of the statement of accounts for the Police and 
Crime Commissioner for Cleveland (the Commissioner) for the year ended 31 March 2013 for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion as to whether the statement of accounts give a true and fair view in accordance with the 
CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom.


I confirm that the following representations are made on the basis of enquiries of management and staff with 
relevant knowledge and experience (and, where appropriate, inspection of supporting documentation) sufficient to 
satisfy ourselves that I can properly make each of the following representations to you.


My responsibility for the statement of accounts and accounting information
I believe that I have fulfilled my responsibilities for the true and fair presentation and preparation of the statement of 
accounts in accordance with the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United 
Kingdom.


My responsibility to provide and disclose relevant information
I have provided you with: 
•access to all information of which we are aware that is relevant to the preparation of the statement of accounts 
such as records, documentation and other material;
•additional information that you have requested from us for the purpose of the audit; and
•unrestricted access to individuals within the organisation you determined it was necessary to contact in order to 
obtain audit evidence.


I confirm as Chief Finance Officer that I have taken all the necessary steps to make me aware of any relevant audit 
information and to establish that you, as auditors, are aware of this information. As far as I am aware there is no 
relevant audit information of which you, as auditors, are unaware.


Accounting records
I confirm that all transactions that have a material affect on the financial statements have been recorded in the 
accounting records and are reflected in the financial statements. All other records and related information, including 
minutes of all relevant meetings, have been made available to you. 
. 


Appendix 1


Management representations
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Accounting policies
I confirm that I have reviewed the accounting policies applied during the year in accordance with the 
CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom and International 
Accounting Standard 8 and consider these policies to faithfully represent the effects of transactions, other events or 
conditions on the Commissioner's financial position, financial performance and cash flows.


Accounting estimates, including those measured at fair value
I confirm that any significant assumptions used by the Commissioner in making accounting estimates, including 
those measured at fair value, are reasonable.


Contingencies
There are no material contingent losses including pending or potential litigation that should be accrued where:
•information presently available indicates that it is probable that an asset has been impaired or a liability had been 
incurred at the balance sheet date; and
•the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated.
There are no material contingent losses that should be disclosed where, although either or both the conditions 
specified above are not met, there is a reasonable possibility that a loss, or a loss greater than that accrued, may 
have been incurred at the balance sheet date.
There are no contingent gains which should be disclosed.
All material matters, including unasserted claims, that may result in litigation against the Commissioner have been 
brought to your attention. All known actual or possible litigation and claims whose effects should be considered 
when preparing the financial statements have been disclosed to you and accounted for and disclosed in accordance 
with the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom.


Laws and regulations
I confirm that I have disclosed to you all those events of which I am aware which involve known or suspected non-
compliance with laws and regulations, together with the actual or contingent consequences which may arise 
therefrom.
We have complied with all aspects of contractual agreements that would have a material effect on the accounts in 
the event of non-compliance.


Fraud and error
I acknowledge my responsibility as Chief Finance Officer for the design, implementation and maintenance of internal 
control to prevent and detect fraud and error. I have disclosed to you:
•all the results of my assessment of the risk that the statement of accounts may be materially misstated as a result 
of fraud;
•all knowledge of fraud or suspected fraud affecting the Commissioner involving:


• management and those charged with governance;
• employees who have significant roles in internal control; and
• others where fraud could have a material effect on the financial statements.
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I have disclosed to you all information in relation to any allegations of fraud, or suspected fraud, affecting the 
Commissioner's statement of accounts communicated by employees, former employees, analysts, regulators or 
others.


Related party transactions
I confirm that all related party relationships, transactions and balances, have been appropriately accounted for and 
disclosed in accordance with the requirements of the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority 
Accounting in the United Kingdom. I have disclosed to you the identity of the Commissioner’s related parties and all 
related party relationships and transactions of which I am aware. 


Impairment review
To the best of my knowledge, there is nothing to indicate that there is a permanent reduction in the recoverable 
amount of the property, plant and equipment below their carrying value at the balance sheet date. An impairment 
review is therefore not considered necessary.


Future commitments
I am not aware of any plans, intentions or commitments that may materially affect the carrying value or classification 
of assets and liabilities or give rise to additional liabilities.


Subsequent events
I confirm all events subsequent to the date of the financial statements and for which the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of 
Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom require adjustment or disclosure have been adjusted 
or disclosed. Should further material events occur after the date of this letter which may necessitate revision of the 
figures included in the financial statements or inclusion of a note thereto, I will advise you accordingly.


Unadjusted misstatements
I confirm that the effects of the uncorrected misstatements are immaterial, both individually and in aggregate, to the 
statement of accounts as a whole. A list of the uncorrected misstatements is attached to this letter as an Appendix.


Yours faithfully


Chief Finance Officer
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER FOR CLEVELAND


Opinion on the financial statements


We have audited the financial statements of the Police and Crime Commissioner Cleveland for the year ended 31 
March 2013 under the Audit Commission Act 1998. The financial statements comprise the Movement in Reserves 
Statement, the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, the Balance Sheet, the Cash Flow Statement, 
and the related notes. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law 
and the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2012/13. 


This report is made solely to the Police and Crime Commissioner for Cleveland in accordance with Part II of the 
Audit Commission Act 1998 and for no other purpose, as set out in paragraph 48 of the Statement of 
Responsibilities of Auditors and Audited Bodies published by the Audit Commission in March 2010.


Respective responsibilities of the Chief Finance Officer and auditor


As explained more fully in the Statement of the Chief Finance Officer’s Responsibilities, the Chief Finance Officer is 
responsible for the preparation of the Statement of Accounts, which includes the financial statements, in accordance 
with proper practices as set out in the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United 
Kingdom, and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit and express an 
opinion on the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK 
and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for 
Auditors.


Scope of the audit of the financial statements


An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give 
reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or 
error. This includes an assessment of: whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Police and Crime 
Commissioner’s circumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness 
of significant accounting estimates made by the Chief Finance Officer; and the overall presentation of the financial 
statements. In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the explanatory foreword  to identify 
material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements. If we become aware of any apparent material 
misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report.
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Opinion on financial statements


In our opinion the financial statements:
•give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Police and Crime Commissioner for Cleveland as at 31 
March 2013 and of its expenditure and income for the year then ended; 
•have been prepared properly in accordance with the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority 
Accounting in the United Kingdom 2012/13.


Opinion on other matters


In our opinion, the information given in the explanatory foreword for the financial year for which the financial 
statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements.


Matters on which we report by exception


We report to you if:
•in our opinion the annual governance statement does not reflect compliance with ‘Delivering Good Governance in 
Local Government: a Framework’ published by CIPFA/SOLACE in June 2007;
•We issue a report in the public interest under section 8 of the Audit Commission Act 1998;
•We designate under section 11 of the Audit Commission Act 1998 any recommendation as one that requires the 
Police and Crime Commissioner to consider it at a public meeting and to decide what action to take in response; or
•We exercise any other special powers of the auditor under the Audit Commission Act 1998.


We have nothing to report in these respects


Other matters on which we are required to conclude


We are required under Section 5 of the Audit Commission Act 1998 to satisfy ourselves that the Police and Crime 
Commissioner has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of 
resources.   We have undertaken our audit in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice and, having regard to the 
guidance issued by the Audit Commission in November 2012, we have considered the results of the following:


•our review of the annual governance statement;
•the work of other relevant regulatory bodies or inspectorates, to the extent the results of the work have an impact 
on our responsibilities;
•our locally determined risk-based work.


As a result, we have concluded that there are no matters to report.
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Certificate
We certify that we have completed the audit in accordance with the requirements of the Audit Commission Act 1998 
and the Code of Audit Practice issued by the Audit Commission.


[Signature]


Mark Kirkham ACA, CPFA 
For and on behalf of Mazars LLP, Appointed Auditors
The Rivergreen Centre
Aykley Heads
Durham, DH1 5TS 
[Date]
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ISA 260 ‘Communication With Those Charged With Governance’ and ISA 265 ‘Communicating Deficiencies In 
Internal Control To Those Charged With Governance And Management’ require the auditor to communicate a 
number of matters with those charged with governance. These matters are set out below along with our proposed 
approach.


Required Audit conclusion


Respective responsibilities of auditor and those charged with governance.


Our responsibility for performing the audit in accordance with ISAs (UK and 
Ireland), which is directed towards forming and expressing an opinion on the 
statement of accounts.


The audit of the statement of accounts does not relieve management or 
those charged with governance of their responsibilities.


This information was included in 
the Audit Strategy Memorandum.


Communication of the planned scope and timing of the audit.


Matters communicated include:


•Significant audit risks and how we will address them;


•Our approach to internal control relevant to the audit;


•The application of the concept of materiality in the context of an audit;


•Our use of the work of internal audit;


•Your approach to internal control and how you oversee the effectiveness of 
internal control procedures;


•The attitude, awareness and action of those charged with governance 
concerning the detection or possibility of fraud; and


•Your response to new accounting standards, corporate governance 
practices and related matters.


This information was included in 
the Audit Strategy Memorandum.


Our views on significant qualitative aspect of accounting practices including 
accounting policies, accounting estimates and financial statement 
disclosures. 


When applicable, why we consider a significant accounting practice not to be 
appropriate to the entity.


Section 4 of this report.
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Required Audit conclusion


Significant difficulties, if any, encountered during the audit.


Significant difficulties encountered during the audit may include such 
matters as:


•Significant delays in management providing required information;


•An unnecessarily brief time within which to complete the audit;


•Extensive unexpected effort required to obtain sufficient appropriate audit 
evidence;


•The unavailability of expected information;


•Restrictions imposed on the auditor by management; and


•Management’s unwillingness to make or extend its assessment of the 
entity’s ability to continue as a going concern.


Section 4 of this report.


Details of significant matters discussed with, or subject to correspondence 
with management.


Section 4 of this report.


Details of written representations we require for our audit. Appendix 1 to this report.


Any other matters which we consider to be significant to the oversight of the 
financial reporting process.


Section 4 of this report.


Statement that the engagement team and the firm have complied with 
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence.


Written disclosure of relationships which have a bearing on our 
independence and safeguards we have put in place, details of non audit 
services provided and written confirmation of our independence.


This information was included in 
the Audit Strategy Memorandum.


Form, timing and general content of communications.


We issue our Audit Completion 
Report.  If you require us to 
communicate in a different way 
please let us know.


Any significant deficiencies and other control recommendations in respect of 
internal control that we have identified during the audit.


Section 4 of this report.
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Required Audit conclusion


Our evaluation of the adequacy of the communication process between 
ourselves and those charged with governance. 


This may include: 


•observations on appropriateness and timing of action taken by you in 
response to matters we have raised;


•the openness of your communication with us;


•your willingness and capacity to meet with us without management being 
present;


•your opportunity to fully comprehend matters we have raised;


•the extent to which you probe issues raised and our recommendations;


•any communication we have had in establishing with you the form;


•timing and general content of communications;


•your awareness of how our discussions impact on your governance and 
management responsibilities; and 


•whether your communication with us meets legal and regulatory 
requirements.


We believe that the 
communication process between 
ourselves and those charged with 
governance has been adequate 
for the purposes of our audit. If 
you would prefer something to 
be done differently please let us 
know







Mazars LLP is the UK firm of Mazars, the international advisory and accountancy organisation. Mazars LLP is a limited liability 
partnership registered in England with registered number OC308299.


© Mazars LLP 2012


Should you require any further information, please do not hesitate to 
contact:


Mark Kirkham
Director
T: 0191 383 6350
E: mark.kirkham@mazars.co.uk


Gill Gittins
Senior Audit Manager
T: 0191 383 6319
E: gill.gittins@mazars.co.uk
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CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER TO THE CHIEF CONSTABLE’S 
INTRODUCTION 


 
 


1. CHANGES TO ACCOUNTING POLICIES   
   


The Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011, which came into effect during the 
financial year 2012/13 created two corporation soles the Office of the Police & Crime 
Commissioner for Cleveland and Cleveland Police. As a result of this the accounts are now 
compiled as per the requirements of FRS 6 Acquisitions & Mergers assuming that the two 
corporate soles (as part of an overall Group) have been in existence for the whole of the 
2012/13 financial year. 


 
 


2. FURTHER INFORMATION 
 


Interested members of the public have a statutory right to inspect the accounts before the 
audit is completed. This was advertised in the local press. 
 
Further information may be obtained from the Chief Finance Officer for the Chief Constable 
at The Office of the Police & Crime Commissioner for Cleveland, P O Box 70, Ladgate Lane, 
Middlesbrough TS8 9EH 


 
 
 


G. RIDLEY, 
T/CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER FOR THE CHIEF CONSTABLE 
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STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITIES 
 
The Chief Constable’s Responsibilities 
 
The Chief Constable is required to: 
 


• Make arrangements for the proper administration of its financial affairs and to secure that one of its 
Officers has the responsibility for the administration of those affairs.  In this Chief Constable’s Office 
that Officer is the Chief Finance Officer to the Chief Constable; 


 
• Manage its affairs to secure economic, efficient and effective use of resources and safeguard its 


assets; 
 
 
The Chief Finance Officer’s Responsibilities 
 
The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for the preparation of the Chief Constable’s Statement of Accounts in 
accordance with proper practices as set out in the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority 
Accounting in the United Kingdom (the Code of Practice). 
 
In preparing the Statement of Accounts, the Chief Finance Officer has: 
 


• Selected suitable accounting policies and then applied them consistently; 
 


• Made judgements and estimates that were reasonable and prudent; 
 


• Complied with the Code of Practice. 
 
The Statement of Accounts give a true and fair presentation of the financial position of the Chief Constable at 
the accounting date and its income and expenditure for the year ended 31st March 2013. 
 
Date:            Signature:  
 
       G Ridley, T/Chief Finance Officer to the CC 
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AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 
To Follow 
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ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 
  
  
Position as at 31st March 2013 including plans for the financial year 2013/2014 
 
1.  SCOPE OF RESPONSIBILITIES 
 
2. THE PURPOSE OF THE GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK 
 
 
3. THE GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK 
  
 
4.  REVIEW OF EFFECTIVENESS 
 
 
5. SIGNIFICANT GOVERNANCE ISSUES 
 
Signed this XXth June 2013 by 
 
 
 
 
Jacqui Cheer 
Chief Constable for Cleveland      
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EXPLANATORY FOREWORD 
  


 


1. INTRODUCTION 
 


2012/13 was an important year for policing in Cleveland. In November 2012 the election of the first 
Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC) for the area policed by Cleveland Police was held, this 
represented a significant shift in the way the police are governed and held to account. One of the key 
reforms was to replace the Cleveland Police Authority with the Office of the Police and Crime 
Commissioner for Cleveland. At the same time the ‘Chief Constable’ was established in law as a 
separate corporation sole. The primary function of the PCC is to secure the maintenance of an efficient 
and effective police force and to hold the Chief Constable to account for the exercise of operational 
policing duties under the Police Act 1996. 
 
These are the first Statutory Accounts to be prepared under the new arrangements. From a technical 
perspective these accounts are therefore prepared under the requirements of FRS 6 Mergers and 
Acquisitions assuming that the two corporate soles (as part of an overall Group) have been in existence 
for the whole of the 2012/13 financial year. 
 
This Foreword provides an overview of the new accounting arrangements and outlines the financial 
performance of the CC during 2012/13. 
 


2. THE STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 
 


The accounting arrangements between the PCC and Chief Constable during the current financial year 
are that the PCC is responsible for the finances of the whole Group and controls the assets, liabilities 
and reserves which were transferred from the Police Authority on the 22nd November 2012. The PCC 
receives all of the income and funding and makes all payments for the Group from the PCC Police Fund. 
In turn the Chief Constable fulfils the functions under the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 
2011 (Act), within an annual budget set by the PCC (in consultation with the CC). A scheme of 
delegation is in operation between the two bodies determining their respective responsibilities.    
 
In the preparation of the annual statements of the Chief Constable, due to the Chief Constable not 
having Local Authority status and the technical issues which result from this, critical judgements have 
been required to be made in two main areas – assets and employees; which impact on the core 
financial statements. The overriding principle being that the Chief Constable is acting as an agent on 
behalf of the PCC.  
 
For both areas, there is some common rationale. Firstly, in order for group accounts to be required, one 
entity must have control over another. The PCC is therefore deemed to have control over the CC and 
hence the substance of the asset and employee control sits with the PCC; resulting in all assets and 
employee costs being shown in the accounts of the PCC rather than those of the Chief Constable. 
 
Secondly, due to absence of parliamentary legislation, statutory overrides, at this point, do not apply to 
the CC and therefore to charge items to these accounts would falsely represent the substance of the 
activities undertaken which are chargeable to Council Tax. Costs are therefore charged to the accounts 
of the PCC where statutory overrides can be provided and best represent the true cost of providing the 
service to the public. 
 
Thirdly, an asset or employee is an item from which economic benefit is expected to flow to the entity. 
Economic benefit within the Public Sector has to be measured by a change in General Fund balance due 
to the absence of profit making activities. As the General Fund must be held by the PCC, and therefore 
all movements shown in Movement in Reserves Statement of the PCC, then any economic benefit must 
be deemed to also be flowing to them. 
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Finally, the Police and Crime Plan is written by the PCC and it is from that that the Force sets its 
objectives. It is therefore deemed that the CC is undertaking activities on behalf of the PCC and 
therefore deploying assets and employees to deliver that also on their behalf i.e. acting as an agent of 
the PCC. 
 
Some further specific rationale also applies to the respective areas. With regard to assets these are the 
following: 
 
• The Chief Constable can't borrow or have bank accounts and therefore these must sit with PCC. 


The Force also can’t hold any reserves and therefore under the matching concept, assets funded 
by borrowing and reserves should be in same set of books. 


 
• Under legislation, land must sit with the PCC and therefore it makes sense to have the buildings 


on which the land is located also within the books of the PCC; by owning the land and therefore 
its sale, they can be deemed to control the building which is located upon it.  


 
• PFI contracts move from the Authority to the PCC and therefore the assets and liabilities 


associated must also be deemed to move to the PCC. 
 


This results in nil values for the above within the financial statements of the Chief Constable. 
 
With regard to employees, the following judgements have also been made: 


 
• Officer pension contributions must be made from the General Fund and that must sit with the 


PCC. On the basis of the matching concept, all employee costs should be shown in the same 
place and therefore all officer costs should be shown in the books of the PCC. 


 
• IAS 19 states that employee costs should be on the basis of employment; as PCSOs and staff are 


employed by the PCC then these staff costs should also be shown in the books of the PCC. 
 


This again results in nil values for the above in the financial statements of the Chief Constable. 
 
However, in order to show a cost associated with the overall operational activities of the Force, a 
Comprehensive Income & Expenditure Account is shown with an allocation of costs from the PCC being 
offset by funding provided by the PCC to an equal and opposite amount. 


 
This Statement of Accounts covers the financial year ended 31st March 2013 and has been prepared in 
accordance with the provisions of the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2011, the requirements of the 
CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2012.  
 
The Chief Constable spends funds on providing Policing Services on behalf of the PCC and is therefore 
acting as an agent of the PCC. 
 
At the time of preparation of these financial statements the CC does not have the legal status of a Local 
Authority and cannot therefore rely on the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the UK 
2012/13 (*the Code) in determining proper accounting practice. Currently parliament is considering 
primary legislation to rectify this position and therefore the accounts have been prepared in line with 
the Code. 
 
The Statements required by the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 
2012/13 (the Code) are detailed below along with the objective of each statement: 
 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement – This statement shows both the allocation 
of costs and funding from the PCC to the CC. In practice all the respective costs are paid for by the PCC 
and all funding received by them. This results in a nil balance on the comprehensive income and 
expenditure statement. 
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Movement in Reserves Statement – This statement shows the movement in the year on the 
different reserves held by the PCC, analysed into ‘usable reserves’ (i.e. those that can be applied to 
fund expenditure or reduce local precept) and unusable reserves.  
 
The CC does not manage any of these transactions and accordingly, this statement does not show any 
movements. It is included in the accounts to inform the reader that all reserves are managed by the 
PCC 
 
Balance Sheet – The Balance Sheet shows the value as at 31st March 2013 of the assets and liabilities 
recognised by the CC.  
 
No assets or liabilities are shown for the CC due to the rationale explained previously. Assets used by 
the CC in the delivery of policing services are charged for in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement.   
 
The statement is included in the accounts to inform the reader that all assets and liabilities are the 
responsibility of the PCC.    
 
Cash Flow Statement – The Cash Flow Statement shows the changes in cash and cash equivalents of 
the CC during the reporting period.  The PCC receives all of the income and funding and makes all 
payments for the Group from the PCC Police Fund. As a result there are no cash flows for the CC. The 
costs of the operational activities undertaken by the CC are detailed in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement. 
 


3. PENSIONS 
 


As part of the terms and conditions of employment of its officers and other employees, the PCC offers 
retirement benefits. Although these will not actually be payable until employees retire, the PCC has a 
commitment to make the payments, which need to be recognised at the time that employees earn their 
future entitlement. This is a requirement of International Accounting Standard (IAS) 19 – Employee 
Benefits. The cost of this entitlement is recognised in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Account of the CC. The Liability is recorded in the Balance sheet of the PCC and Group.  


 


4. CHANGES TO ACCOUNTING POLICIES   
   


The Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011, which came into effect during the financial year 
2012/13 created two corporate soles the Office of the Police & Crime Commissioner for Cleveland and 
Cleveland Police. As a result of this the accounts are now compiled as per the requirements of FRS 6 
Acquisitions & Mergers. 


 
The 2012/13 statements highlight the following areas of change from the 2011/12 position: 
 
Comprehensive Income & Expenditure Statement: 
 


• Net Cost of Services (NCOS) has increased by £5.007m, primarily due to an increase of 
£7.768m in the recharge to NCOS for IAS 19 relating to pension costs offset by lower spending 
due to lower numbers of officers, staff and PCSOs as a result of the savings required to meet 
reducing level of government funding. 
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COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AND EXPENDITURE 
STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31st MARCH 2013 


 
This statement shows both the allocation of costs and funding from the PCC to the CC. In practice all 
the respective costs are paid for by the PCC and all funding received by them. This results in a nil 
balance on the comprehensive income and expenditure statement. 


 
2011/2012 2012/2013 2012/2013 2012/2013


Net 
Expenditure


Gross 
Expenditure


Gross 
Income


Net 
Expenditure


£000 £000 £000 £000
86,897 Local Policing 71,026 0 71,026
6,089 Dealing with the Public 6,009 0 6,009


11,822 Criminal Justice Arrangements 14,558 0 14,558
8,957 Road Policing 9,393 0 9,393
6,089 Specialist Operations 5,186 0 5,186
2,868 Intelligence 5,103 0 5,103


14,192 Specialist Investigation 31,297 0 31,297
5,796 Investigative Support 4,649 0 4,649
3,131 National Policing 3,608 0 3,608


0 Exceptional Items 0 0 0
0 Corporate and Democratic Core 0 0 0


21 Undistributed Costs 38 0 38


145,861
Net Cost of Services before 
Funding


150,868 0 150,868


(145,861) Intra Group Funding 0 150,868 (150,868)
0 Net Cost of Services 150,868 150,868 (0)


0 0
0 Police Pension Top Up Grant 0
0 0
0 0


0 0


0 0
0 0
0 0


0 0


0 Total Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 0


(Surplus) or Deficit on Provision of Service


(Surplus)/Deficit on Revaluation of PPE


Actuarial (gains) / losses on pension assets / liabilities (


Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure


(Surplus)/Deficit on Revaluation of available for sale assets


Other Operating Expenditure 


Financing & Investment income and Expenditure 
Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income 


DETAIL
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MOVEMENT ON RESERVES STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR 
ENDED 31st MARCH 2013 


 


This statement shows the movement in the year on the different reserves held by the CC, analysed into 
‘usable reserves’ (i.e. those that can be applied to fund expenditure or reduce local precept) and 
unusable reserves. The CC does not manage any of these transactions and accordingly, this statement 
does not show any movements. The costs of the operational activities undertaken by the CC are 
detailed in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 


 
 
 


General Capital Revenue Grants Capital Grants Total Total Total
Fund Earmarked Receipts Unapplied Unapplied Usable Unusable PCC


Balance Reserves Reserve Reserve Reserve Reserves Reserves Reserves
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000


Balance at 31st March 2012 0 0 0 0 0 (0) 0 (0)


(Surplus) or deficit on provision of services 
(accounting basis) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 


Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 


Total Comprehensive Expenditure and Income
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 


Total Adjustments between accounting basis & 
funding basis under regulations 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 


Net (Increase) / Decrease before Transfers to 
Earmarked Reserves 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 


Total Transfers to/from Reserves 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 


(Increase) / Decrease in Year 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Balance at 31 March 2013 0 0 0 0 0 (0) 0 0 


 
 


MOVEMENT ON RESERVES STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR 
ENDED 31st MARCH 2012 


 
 


General Capital Revenue Grants Capital Grants Total Total Total
Fund Earmarked Receipts Unapplied Unapplied Usable Unusable PCC


Balance Reserves Reserve Reserve Reserve Reserves Reserves Reserves
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000


Balance at 31st March 2011 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


(Surplus) or deficit on provision of services 
(accounting basis) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


Total Comprehensive Expenditure and Income
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


Total Adjustments between accounting basis & 
funding basis under regulations 


0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 


Net (Increase) / Decrease before Transfers to 
Earmarked Reserves 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


Total Transfers to/from Reserves 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 


(Increase) / Decrease in Year 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Balance at 31 March 2012 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
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BALANCE SHEET AT 31st MARCH 2013 
 


The Balance Sheet shows the value as at 31st March 2013 of the assets and liabilities recognised by the 
CC.  
 
In accordance with legislation the CC cannot own any long term assets and is not responsible for the 
acquisition, disposal or maintenance of the assets. The overall ownership and responsibility sits with the 
PCC. Accordingly, this statement does not show any balances.  Assets used by the CC in the delivery of 
policing services are charged for in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.   
 
The statement is included in the accounts to inform the reader that all assets and liabilities are the 
responsibility of the PCC.    


 
  


 


 31 March 2012 Notes
£000 £000 £000 


-                   Property, Plant and Equipment -              
-                   Investment Property -              
-                   Intangible Assets -              
-                   Long Term Investments -              
-                   Long Term Debtors -              


-                   -                      
Total Long Term Assets -                      


-                   Short Term Investments -              
-                   Assets Held for Sale -              
-                   Inventories -              
-                   Short Term Debtors -              
-                   Cash and Cash Equivalents -              
-                   Total Current Assets -                      
-                   Total Assets -                      


-                   Cash and Cash Equivalents -              
-                   Short Term Borrowing -              
-                   Short Term Creditors -              
-                   Provisions -              
-                   Total Current Liabilities -                      


-                   Long Term Creditors -              
-                   Provisions -              
-                   Long Term Borrowing -              
-                   Other Long Term Liabilities : PFI -              
-                   Pensions Liability -              
-                   Total Long Term Liabilities -                      
-                   Total Liabilities -                      
-                   Net Assets -                      


-                   Usable Reserves -              
-                   Unusable Reserves -              
-                   Total Reserves -                      


31 March 2013
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CASHFLOW STATEMENT 2012/13 
 


The Cash Flow Statement shows the changes in cash and cash equivalents of the CC during the reporting 
period.  The PCC receives all of the income and funding and makes all payments for the Group from the 
PCC Police Fund. As a result there are no cash flows for the CC. The costs of the operational activities 
undertaken by the CC are detailed in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 


 


2011/2012 Notes
£000 £000 £000


OPERATING ACTIVITIES


Cash Outflows -          
Cash Inflows -          


-                  Operating Activities Net Cash Flow -            


INVESTING ACTIVITIES


Returns on Investments and Servicing of Finance -          
Capital Activities -          


-                  Investing Activities Net Cash Flow -            


-                  Net Cash Outflow/(Inflow) before financing -            


FINANCING ACTIVITIES


Management of Liquid Resources -          
Financing -          


-                  Financing Activities Net Cash Flow -            


-                  Net (Increase)/Decrease in cash -            


-                  Cash brought forward -          
-                  Cash carried forward -          


-                  Net (Increase)/Decrease in cash -            


2012/2013
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NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENT 
 


1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 


A) INTERNAL INTEREST 
Interest is calculated and credited to the Insurance Fund and Police Property Act Fund based upon 
month-end fund balances. The amounts are calculated using the average 7 day borrowing rate for 
each calendar month of the financial year and the rate is applied to the monthly average balance in 
each fund. 
 
A special funds account is maintained which has a corresponding interest bearing bank account and 
therefore attracts the market rate of interest in its own right. 
 
B) OVERHEADS AND SUPPORT SERVICES  
The costs of overheads and support services are charged to those that benefit from the supply or 
service in accordance with the costing principles of the CIPFA Service Reporting Code of Practice 
212/13 (SeRCOP). The total absorption costing principle is used – the full cost of overheads and 
support services are shared between users in proportion to the benefits received, with the exception 
of: 


• Non Distributed Costs – the cost of discretionary benefits awarded to employees 
retiring early and impairment losses chargeable on Assets Held for Sale. 


 
The cost category is defined in SeRCOP and accounted for as separate headings in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, as part of Net Cost of Services. 


 


C) VALUE ADDED TAX 
VAT is included in the accounts only if it is irrecoverable from Her Majesty revenue Customs (HMRC). 
There have been no significant VAT issues in 2012/13. 


 


D) COMPENSATORY GRANT 
Compensatory Grant is accounted for on an accruals basis. 


 


 E) EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS, EXTRAORDINARY ITEMS AND PRIOR PERIOD 
ADJUSTMENTS 
Exceptional and Extraordinary items, of which the Chief Constable has none in 2012/13, would be 
disclosed on the face of the Operating Cost Statement and fully explained in the notes to the 
accounts. 
 
Prior period adjustments, where material and applicable to prior years, are accounted for by 
restating the comparative figures for the preceding period in the Statement of Accounts and notes 
and adjusting the opening balance of the reserves for the cumulative effect. 


 


F) REVENUE RECOGNITION  
   


Revenue shall be measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Revenue is 
recognised only when it is probable that the economic benefits or service potential associated with 
the transaction will flow to the Group. 
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2. ACCOUNTING STANDARDS ISSUED NOT ADOPTED 
 
There are no Accounting Standards which have been issued but not adopted by the Chief Constable.  
 


3.  CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING ACCOUNTING POLICES 
 


In applying the accounting policies set out in Note 1, the Chief Constable has had to make certain 
judgements about complex transactions or those involving uncertainty about future events. There 
are no critical judgements made in the Statement of Accounts outside of those already highlighted in 
the Explanatory Foreword. 


 


4. ASSUMPTIONS MADE ABOUT THE FUTURE AND OTHER MAJOR SOURCES 
OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY 


 
The Statement of Accounts contains estimated figures that are based on assumptions made by the 
Chief Constable about the future or that are otherwise uncertain. Estimates are made taking into 
account historical experience, current trends and other relevant factors. However, because balances 
cannot be determined with certainty, actual results could be materially different from the 
assumptions and estimates. There are no such items in the accounts of the Chief Constable. 


 


5. MATERIAL ITEMS OF INCOME AND EXPENSE 
 
There are no material items of income and expense which are not already disclosed on the face of 
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement or in the associated notes. 
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6. OFFICERS' EMOLUMENTS 
 


During the financial year 2012/13, the numbers of senior police officers (above the rank of 
Superintendent) and staff whose remuneration, excluding employers’ pension contributions, was 
£50,000 or more in bands of £5,000 were: 
 


  


Police 
Officers


Support 
Staff Total


2 £50,000 - £54,999 0 2 2
3 £55,000 - £59,999 0 0 0
2 £60,000 - £64,999 0 2 2
1 £65,000 - £69,999 0 2 2
0 £70,000 - £74,999 1 0 1
0 £75,000 - £79,999 1 0 1
2 £80,000 - £84,999 1 1 2
1 £85,000 - £89,999 2 0 2
1 £90,000 - £94,999 1 0 1
0 £95,000 - £99,999 0 0 0
3 £100,000 - £104,999 1 1 2
0 £105,000 - £109,999 2 0 2
1 £110,000 - £114,999 0 0 0
1 £115,000 - £119,999 2 0 2
0 £120,000 - £124,999 0 0 0
0 £125,000 - £129,999 0 0 0
0 £130,000 - £134,999 0 0 0
0 £135,000 - £139,999 0 0 0
0 £140,000 - £144,999 0 0 0
0 £145,000 - £149,999 0 0 0
0 £150,000 - £154,999 0 0 0
0 £155,000 - £159,999 0 0 0
0 £160,000 - £164,999 0 0 0
0 £165,000 - £169,999 0 0 0
0 £170,000 - £174,999 0 0 0
0 £175,000 - £179,999 0 0 0
0 £180,000 - £184,999 0 0 0
0 £185,000 - £189,999 0 0 0
1 £190,000 - £194,999 0 0 0


18 Total 11 8 19


2011/2012 Remuneration Band


Number of staff


 
  


This table includes senior employees and relevant police officers (as per the requirements of LAAP 
bulletin 85) which are disclosed by position or name (as required) overleaf: 
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Remuneration Disclosure 2012/13: 
 


Post Holder Annualised 
Salary


Salary 
(Including 
Fees & 


Allowances)


Bonuses Expense 
Allowances


Compensation 
for Loss of 
Office


Benefits 
in Kind


Other 
Payments


Total 
Remuneration 
excluding 
Pension 


Contribution 
12/13


Pension 
Contributions


£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £
Chief Constable - S 
Price


135,138 77,852 0 0 0 6,120 0 83,972 0


DCC 117,117 117,117 0 0 0 0 0 117,117 26,482
ACC 113,088 113,088 0 0 0 5,293 0 118,381 25,604
ACC 106,502 106,502 0 296 0 2,734 0 109,532 25,471
ACC (Temporary) 99,556 99,556 0 8,496 0 0 0 108,052 23,410
ACO 95,808 95,808 0 8,000 0 0 0 103,808 13,701


 
Remuneration Disclosure 2011/12: 
 


Post Holder Annualised 
Salary


Salary 
(Including 
Fees & 


Allowances)


Bonuses Expense 
Allowances


Compensation 
for Loss of 
Office


Benefits 
in Kind


Other 
Payments


Total 
Remuneration 
excluding 
Pension 


Contribution 
11/12


Pension 
Contributions


£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £
Chief Constable - S 
Price


138,782 138,782 0 0 0 7,433 55,509 201,723 7,277


DCC 117,099 117,099 0 0 0 2,482 0 119,581 26,482
ACC 112,934 112,934 0 0 0 6,310 0 119,244 25,534
ACC 106,498 106,498 0 0 0 4,048 0 110,546 25,395
ACC (Temporary) 98,375 62,259 0 5,377 0 0 0 67,636 14,815
ACO 95,808 95,808 0 8,000 0 0 0 103,808 13,701


 
DCC = Deputy Chief Constable 
ACC = Assistant Chief Constable 
ACO = Assistant Chief Officer Finance & Commissioning 
 


7. RELATED PARTIES  
 
 The Chief Constable is required to disclose material transactions with related parties – bodies or 


individuals that have the potential to control or influence the entity or to be controlled or influenced 
by the entity. Disclosure of these transactions allows readers to assess the extent to which the entity 
might have been constrained in its ability to operate independently or might have secured the ability 
to limit another party’s ability to bargain freely with the Chief Constable. 


 
 The PCC has effective control over the general operations of the Chief Constable – it is responsible 


for providing the statutory framework within which the Chief Constable operates and provides the its 
funding.  


    
 During 2012/13 there are no Related Party Transactions to be disclosed by the Chief Constable. 
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8. AUDIT COSTS 
 


In 2012/13 the Chief Constable incurred the following fees totalling £20k relating to external audit:  
 


 


2011/2012 2012/2013
£000 £000


0
Fees payable to external audit with regard to external audit 
services carried out by the appointed auditor 20


0
Fees payable to external audit in respect of additional services 
requested 0


0 Total Audit Costs 20


 
 


 


9. AUTHORISATION OF ACCOUNTS 
  


The Chief Finance Officer of the Chief Constable for Cleveland has set and authorised the date of 
issue for the Statement of Accounts as the 27th June 2013. This is the date that the Statement was 
approved by the Chief Constable and is the date, up to which, any known events are reported. 
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PENSION FUND 
 


Police Pension Fund Regulations 2009 (SI 2009 No 2060) 
 
 
2011/12 FUND ACCOUNT 2012/13
£000 £000


Contributions Receivable
From Employer


(13,832) Normal (13,174)
(853) Capital contribution due to Ill Health Early Retirement (909)


(6,195) From Members (6,550)


Transfers In
(107) Individual Transfers in from Other Schemes (200)


Benefits Payable
26,241 Pensions 28,539


10,955 Commutations and Lump Sum Retirement Benefits 5,939


123 Lump Sum death benefits 153


1,098 Ill Health Lump Sum Benefits 1,366


Payments to and on Account of Leavers
2 Refunds of Contributions 1


132 Inter Authority Adjustments 103


119 Individual Transfers out to Other Schemes 538


17,684 Sub-Total for the year before transfer from the 15,807
Police Authority to fund the deficit for the year


(17,684) Additional funding payable by the Police (15,807)
Authority to fund the deficit for the year


0 Net Amount Payable/Receivable for the Year 0


£000 NET ASSETS STATEMENT £000


Net Current Assets and Liabilities
224 Contributions due from Employer 246


2,016 Unpaid/Paid in Advance Pension Benefits 2,213


0 Amount due to Sponsoring Department 0


88 Other Current Assets & Liabilities 165  
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£000 NET ASSETS STATEMENT £000


Net Current Assets and Liabilities
0 Central Government Bodies 0


224 Other Local Authorities 280


2,104 All other bodies 2,345  
 
 


   Notes to the Pension Fund 
 
The funding arrangements for the Police Pension scheme in England and Wales changed on 1 April 
2006. Before 1 April 2006 the scheme did not have a percentage of pensionable pay type of 
employer’s contribution, rather each Police Authority was responsible for paying the pensions of its 
own former employees on a pay-as-you-go basis. Under the new arrangements the scheme remains 
unfunded but will no longer be on a pay-as-you-go basis as far as individual entities are concerned. 
Entities will no longer meet the pension outgo directly; instead they will pay an employer’s pension 
contribution based on a percentage of pay into the Pension Fund. Each entity is required by 
legislation to operate a Pension Fund and the amounts that must be paid into and out of the Pension 
Fund are specified by regulation. 
 
The Pension fund has no investment assets and the fund is balanced to nil each year by a transfer 
to/from the Police Fund. Benefits payable are funded by contributions from employers and 
employees and any difference is met by a top-up grant from the Home Office. 
 
The Pension Fund was established and is controlled under the Police Pension Fund Regulations 2009 
(SI 2009 No 2060) 
 
The Fund is administered by the entity.   
 
The Net Assets Statement does not include liabilities to pay pension and other benefits after the 
Balance Sheet date. The liabilities of the Pension scheme are accounted for under IAS19 and details 
can be found above. 
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Corporate Level - Risk Register 


Date 20/09/2013


Risk Status Open







Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner 


Action Required Existing ControlsRisk Title/ AFI Title Cause & Effect Residual Risk 
Priority (I x L)


Inherent Risk 
Priority (I x L)


Risk Ref / 
Action 
Plan 


 15 Consultation 
 
Risk Owner / AFI 
Owner: John Bage 
 
Last Updated: 
14/05/2013 


 
1. A joint Consultation Strategy, 
including a comprehensive 
neighbourhood, public and user 
surveys. 
 
2. An established process for setting 
local policing priorities including 
consultation with the public and 
partners 
 
3. Work with the Force to ensure that 
the surveys cover all consultation and 
engagement requirements 


Contingency
 3 3


Contingency
 2 3Cause & Effect:


Inability to provide the necessary 
resources (human, financial and 
partnership) to fully complete the 
required/planned consultation and 
communications workload.  
 
Consequent impact on the quality 
and relevance of the results, 
including feedback loops to the 
Police & Crime Plan and the 
appropriateness of priorities that are 
set.  
 
Potential for criticism from our 
partners and stakeholders (e.g. 
HMIC and CDRPs). 
 
 Exposure to critical review by Police 
& Crime Panel 
 
 
 


1. Continue to work with the Force 
and partners to maintain robust  and 
citizen focussed consultation and in 
particular establish/work with strategic 
forums inc: 
• minority groups 
• 3rd Sector 
• Victims 
• Young people 
• Criminal justice partners 
• Business community 


Person Responsible: John Bage 
To be implemented by: 30/09/2013 
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Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner 


Action Required Existing ControlsRisk Title/ AFI Title Cause & Effect Residual Risk 
Priority (I x L)


Inherent Risk 
Priority (I x L)


Risk Ref / 
Action 
Plan 


 17
Primary


 3 4
Contingency


 3 3Cause & Effect:
1. Failure to comply with legal 
requirements regarding equality 
schemes and impact assessments. 
 
2. Failure to monitor force 
procedures and practices to ensure 
similar compliance.  
 
3. Ineffective recruitment, 
development and retention of BME 
officers and staff.  
 
4. Consequent risk to reputation if 
enforcement action or legal action is 
forthcoming. 
 
5. Failure to implement 
requirements of the Equality Act 
2010 and the Equality Act 2010 
(Specific Duties) Regulations 2011 
(which pertains to police forces). 
6. Exposure to critical review by 
Police & Crime Panel 
 
 
 


1. Force Single Equality Scheme 
 
2. Implement Equality Standard for 
Policing. 
 
3. Equality Impact Assessments for all 
significant issues/decisions. 
 
4. Recruitment procedures compliant 
with equality legislation 
 
5. Independent Advisory Groups 
available to support the Force/PCC 
 
6. Monthly monitoring data produced 
for the Chief Constable 


1. Review role, structure and 
operation of  Independent Advisory 
Groups. 
 
2. Establish mechanisms for the 
PCC to monitor the Force’s 
compliance with the Equality Act and 
specific duties legislation. 
 
3. Develop a data monitoring report 
for the PCC in terms of workforce mix 
etc 
 
4. Act on recommendations from 
2012 CP Force internal Equality 
Review team report 


Diversity & Equality
 
Risk Owner / AFI 
Owner: John Bage 
 
Last Updated: 
20/09/2013 


Person Responsible: Neville 
Cameron 
To be implemented by: 31/03/2014 
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Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner 


Action Required Existing ControlsRisk Title/ AFI Title Cause & Effect Residual Risk 
Priority (I x L)


Inherent Risk 
Priority (I x L)


Risk Ref / 
Action 
Plan 
18 Partnerships 


 
Risk Owner / AFI 
Owner: John Bage 
 
Last Updated: 
20/09/2013 


 
1. Aim to represent PCC strategies 
and priorities within the various 
partnerships. 
 
2. Establish formalised reporting to 
PCC & Police & Crime Panel on 
partnership performance. 
 
3. Establish PCC representation on 
Local  Partnerships. 
 
4. Ensure regular PCC engagement 
with partners and key senior 
individuals within partner agencies 
 
5. Establish partner strategic forums 
inc youth, victims, 3rd sector, business 
community 


Primary
 4 3


Contingency
 2 3Cause & Effect:


A lack of effective relationships with 
partners and  would result in: 
• insufficient influence over 
partnership strategies, policies and 
funding, 
• ineffective collaborative working
• failing to take full account of 
partner priorities in the Police & 
Crime Plan 
• Ineffective or even negative 
impact of funding/grant awards 
• criticism from partners and 
stakeholders (e.g. HMIC).  
 
 
Failure to comply with statutory 
provisions in relation to engagement 
and working with criminal justice and 
community safety partners. 
 
Exposure to critical review by Police 
& Crime Panel 
 
 
 


1. Maintenance of effective 
representation on statutory 
partnerships 
2. Long Term Financial Plan 
3. Effective mechanism for the 
consideration & award of 
funding/grants 
4. Engagement of partners (2-way) 
in setting priorities 
5. PCC reporting to the Police & 
Crime Panel 
6. Events for PCC to engage with  
partners 
7. Office of PCC post of Local 
Authority & Partnership Liaison Officer 
8. PCC representation on key 
partnerships 


Person Responsible: John Bage 
To be implemented by: 31/03/2014 
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Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner 


Action Required Existing ControlsRisk Title/ AFI Title Cause & Effect Residual Risk 
Priority (I x L)


Inherent Risk 
Priority (I x L)


Risk Ref / 
Action 
Plan 
19 Governance 


 
Risk Owner / AFI 
Owner: John Bage 
 
Last Updated: 
19/09/2013 


Primary
 3 5


Contingency
 2 4Cause & Effect:


The legal requirements relating to 
the PCC and the Office of the PCC 
(and those to whom matters are 
delegated) may not be fully 
understood and followed by all 
concerned.  
 
This may become more of an issue 
with the change that occurs from the 
Stage 2 transfer on the 1st April 
2014. Both the PCC and the Police 
Force will need to be very clear 
about the consents, delegations and 
limits that will be in place and these 
will need to be clearly communicated 
throughout both organisations 
 
A lack of adherence to good 
governance procedures 
Acts/Orders/Regulations could lead 
to bad publicity, loss of reputation, 
financial loss and possible legal 
sanction.  
 
Exposure to critical review by Police 
& Crime Panel or audit. 
 
Poor governance processes leads to 
poor decision making 
 
 
 


1. Governance and decision making 
procedures in place regularly reviewed 
and updated. 
 
2. PCC signs up to a voluntary Code 
of Conduct  including declarations of 
interests and notification of gifts and 
hospitality. 
 
3. PCC staff subject to Code of 
Conduct  including declarations of 
interests and notification of gifts and 
hospitality. 
 
4. Annual Governance Statement 
process. 
 
5. Internal (& external) audit scrutiny 
and reporting 
 
6. Oversight by Audit Committee 
 
7. Monitoring Officer and Deputy 
Monitoring Officer. 
 
8. Ongoing environmental scanning 
for new regulatory requirements. 
 
9. Code of Corporate Governance in 
place and reviewed by the Audit 
Committee 


1. A new scheme of consent and 
delegation will need to be in place by 
the 1st April 2014. 
 
2. Contract Standing Orders will 
need to be re-written for the 1st April 
2014. 
 
3. Financial Regulations will need to 
be re-written for the 1st April 2014. 
 
4. The Decision-Making process will 
need to be reviewed. 
 
5. All of the above will need to be 
incorporated into a new Code of 
Corporate Governance. 


Person Responsible: John Bage 
To be implemented by: 31/03/2014 
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Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner 


Action Required Existing ControlsRisk Title/ AFI Title Cause & Effect Residual Risk 
Priority (I x L)


Inherent Risk 
Priority (I x L)


Risk Ref / 
Action 
Plan 
21 Fraud 


 
Risk Owner / AFI 
Owner: Michael Porter
 
Last Updated: 
20/09/2013 


Primary
 4 4


Contingency
 3 3Cause & Effect:


No organisation is immune from the 
risk of fraud. 
 
Financial loss 
 
Could lead to bad publicity, loss of 
reputation, financial loss and 
possible legal sanction.  
 
Exposure to critical review by Police 
& Crime Panel or audit. 
 
 
 


1.Whistle-blowing Strategy.
2.Counter Fraud and Corruption 
Strategy. 
3.Confidential e-mail system. 
4.Work of the Professional Standards 
Department. 
5.Internal Audit Services. 
6.Internal disciplinary policies. 
7.Police conduct regulations. 
8.Systems of management including 
Delegation Scheme. 
9.Financial Regulations (including 
Contract Standing Orders).  
10.Budgetary control system with 
monthly analysis and review. 
11.Audit Committee 
12.Zero tolerance’ policy 


1. Consider whether there is a need 
for an 'Anti-Money Laundering' Policy 
and process for the organisation. 
2. Review all policies and processes 
prior to the Stage 2 transfers so that 
the Office of the PCC has clear 
processes and procedures for dealing 
with these issues in its own right. 


Person Responsible: Michael Porter 


To be implemented by: 31/03/2014 


23 Investigation 
 
Risk Owner / AFI 
Owner: John Bage 
 
Last Updated: 
20/09/2013 


Primary
 5 5


Primary
 3 5Cause & Effect:


This risk has been identified subject 
to the ongoing investigation 
surrounding Cleveland Police 
Authority. 
 
• Risk to reputation  
• Financial risk if not supported by 
Home Office Grant 
• Capacity issues especially 
specialist legal support 
• Disruption to the force and office 
of the PCC 
 
 
 


1.  Regular updates from Sacristy 
team 
2.  Home Office grant secure for at 
least 2013/14 
3.  Specialist staff employed on ‘zero 
hour’ contract 


Continue to liaise closely with the 
Home Office to secure additional 
financial support, in the form of a 
Special Grant, to fund the costs of the 
investigation beyond 2013/14, as and 
if necessary. 


Person Responsible: John Bage 
To be implemented by: 31/03/2014 
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Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner 


Action Required Existing ControlsRisk Title/ AFI Title Cause & Effect Residual Risk 
Priority (I x L)


Inherent Risk 
Priority (I x L)


Risk Ref / 
Action 
Plan 
24 


Contingency
 3 3


Contingency
 2 3Cause & Effect:


Impact of the backlog of coroners 
cases to the reputation of the Force 
 
 
 


1. Project set up to ascertain solutions
2. Lead Officer put in position to 
oversee initiative 
3. Report produced with 
recommendations for service 
improvements 


1. To review the support and work 
provided to the coroners officers. 
2. Implement the recommendation of 
the review and monitor the impact of 
the changes. 


Coroners Office
 
Risk Owner / AFI 
Owner: John Bage 
 
Last Updated: 
20/09/2013 


Person Responsible: John Bage 
To be implemented by: 31/03/2014 


25 Key Mitigations: 
PCC CFO in place 
Temporary Force CFO in place 
Work of internal audit 
Work of external audit 
Quarterly Meetings of the Finance, 
Resource and Policy group is in place
Regular Meetings of the PCC and 
Force Leadership teams to discuss 
plans and finances 
Regular reporting and scrutiny of 
current year financial performance and 
longer terms plans 
Regular meetings and 
communications with partners who 
currently receive grants from the PCC


Primary
 4 4


Contingency
 3 3Cause & Effect:


Failure by the PCC to ensure 
effective financial control and 
financial planning processes for the 
'PCC Group', (i.e. the Office of the 
PCC, the Chief Constable, and 
Grants provide to, or services 
commissioned by, Partner 
organisations.) 
 
 
 


Quarterly meetgings with Audit 
Committee, regular meetings with 
Internal and External Audit. 


Financial Planning
 
Risk Owner / AFI 
Owner: Michael Porter
 
Last Updated: 
19/09/2013 


Person Responsible: Michael Porter 


To be implemented by: 31/03/2014 
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Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner 


Action Required Existing ControlsRisk Title/ AFI Title Cause & Effect Residual Risk 
Priority (I x L)


Inherent Risk 
Priority (I x L)


Risk Ref / 
Action 
Plan 
26 


Primary
 4 5


Contingency
 3 3Cause & Effect:


Failure to manage the combined 
impact of continuing reductions in 
central funding, and other national 
changes around Winsor, Pensions 
and National Insurance. 
 
 
 


1. Long Term Financial Planning 
process. 
2. Efficiency planning and 
implementation processes. 
3. Initiatives to collaborate, process 
re-engineer, civilianise and improve 
procurement processes. 
4. Value for Money analysis and 
benchmarking across Police Forces. 
5. Scrutiny of revenue and capital 
spend. 
6.             PCC CFO in place and 
required to annually review the 
robustness of the financial plans and 
the adequacy of the financial reserves.
7.             Internal and External Audit 
reviews of financial planning and 
arrangements for use of resources 


1. Working closely with Partner 
organisations to deliver more 
collaborative and efficient services. 
2. Clear communication, by the Office 
of the PCC, to the Force and other 
Partners who receive funding, of how 
much funding is likely to be available 
in the future and what the PCCs 
priorities are. 
3. Consultation and communication 
with the public of the impact of 
continued reductions in funding. 


Reductions in Central 
Funding 
 
Risk Owner / AFI 
Owner: Michael Porter
 
Last Updated: 
20/09/2013 


Person Responsible: Michael Porter 


To be implemented by: 31/03/2014 


Audited as part of the Group Accounts 
and disclosure of spend by the Chief 
Constable. 
Person Responsible: Michael Porter 


To be implemented by: 31/03/2014 


31 
Contingency


 3 3
House 


Keeping 


 3 2Cause & Effect:
Failure to produce a coherent Polcie 
and Crime Plan linked to resources 
and with widespread support from 
stakeholder and to then deliver the 
key strategic objectives of the plan 
 
 
 


1. Original plan was consulted on 
widely with feedback taken into 
account in developing the final 
document. 
2. There is a process in place to 
review, refresh and further consult on 
an annual basis 
3. There is Annual report to the Police 
and Crime Panel on delivery against 
the plan 
4. There are action plans in place 
which have specified owners for each 
key objective. 


Police & Crime Plan
 
Risk Owner / AFI 
Owner: Michael Porter
 
Last Updated: 
20/09/2013 


Person Responsible: Michael Porter 


To be implemented by: 31/03/2014 
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Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner 
 


Action Required Existing ControlsRisk Title/ AFI Title Cause & Effect Residual Risk 
Priority (I x L)


Inherent Risk 
Priority (I x L)


Risk Ref / 
Action 
Plan 
32 


Primary
 4  4


House 
Keeping 


 2  3Cause & Effect:
Failure to deliver the key 
organisational objectives of the 
Office of the Police and Crime 
Commissioner 
 
 
 


1. Action Plans for all objectives are in 
place 
2. Regular meetings take place to 
review progress both internally and 
with Partners as required. 


Objectives of the Office 
of the PCC 
 
Risk Owner / AFI 
Owner: Michael Porter
 
Last Updated: 
20/09/2013 


Person Responsible: Michael Porter 


To be implemented by: 31/03/2014 


33 
Contingency


 3  3
House 


Keeping 


 2  3Cause & Effect:
Failure to put in place adequate 
processes to effectively hold the 
Chief Constable and the Force to 
account for performance and use of 
resources as per statutory 
requirements. 
 
 
 


1.  Attendance/involvement at key 
force performance meetings.  
2. Regular one to one meetings 
between the PCC and CC. 
3. Clear Governance framework in 
place 
4. Quarterly scrutiny meetings in place 
for Performance, Finance and Audit. 


Holding the Chief 
Constable and the 
Force to account 
 
Risk Owner / AFI 
Owner: Michael Porter
 
Last Updated: 
20/09/2013 


Person Responsible: Michael Porter 


To be implemented by: 31/03/2014 


35 
Primary
 4  4


Contingency
 3  3Cause & Effect:


Failure to plan for and execute the 
Stage two transfer of staff effectively 
and then to fully implement and 
manage the impact and changes 
required to the governance 
frameworks within both the PCC 
Office and the Polilce Force 
 
 
 


New concept for all Commissioners, 
and much work needed to understand 
issues involved but key that stage 2 
decisions reflects what the 
Commissioner wishes to achieve 
relative to the current position. 


Submission of plans to Home Office 
for Stage 2 transfer to be submitted by 
the deadline of the 16th September 
2013 
New Code of Corporate Governance 
needed for the 1st April 2014 
Further work needed on what happens 
to assets and contracts from 1st April 
2014. This will be in terms of both 
existing and new assets and 
contracts. 


Stage 2 transfers
 
Risk Owner / AFI 
Owner: Michael Porter
 
Last Updated: 
19/09/2013 


Person Responsible: Michael Porter 


To be implemented by: 31/03/2014 
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Police Headquarters 


Ladgate Lane 
Middlesbrough 


TS8 9EH 
 


                                                                                                                   
 
  
Police and Crime Commissioner:    Barry Coppinger                 Tel: 01642 301653 


                                                                                                                             Fax: 01642 301495 
Chief of Staff:                                    Ed Chicken                 Tel: 01642 301653 
Chief Constable:                               Jacqui Cheer QPM                 Tel: 01642 301215 
 
 
 
Report of the PCC to the Chair and Members of the Joint Audit Committee  
26th September 2013  
 
Presenting Officer: Mr Michael Porter, Chief Finance Officer. 
 
Status: For information 
 
Strategic Risk Register 
 
 
1. Purpose  
 
1.1 To provide Members with an update on progress in developing a risk register within 


the OPCC. 
 
2. Recommendations 
 
2.1 That Members note the content of the report. 
 
 
3. Background 
 


 3.1 The PCC is taking an integrated approach to embedding its risk register within the 
OPCC. The strategic register at this meeting is the first to be produced using the 
‘4Risk’ methodology and will progress on a systematic basis with the intention of 
developing and further embedding a risk management culture. 


 
3.2 The Risk Register will initially be reviewed and reported on a quarterly rolling basis 


by the PCC Office Manager and the Chief Finance Officer. The objective of the 
reviews is to update risk controls, scoring, and check progress against outstanding 
actions and to explore new or emerging risks.
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4      Progress to Date 
 


4.1 For this report, certain risks that haven’t been concluded from the previous risk register 
and their sources of assurance have been migrated from it and into this new report.  
 


4.2 For the future relevant independent inspection reports such as those submitted from 
internal and external auditors, Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary etc are being 
embedded into the ‘4Risk’ risk management system to evidence the robustness of control 
measures and the residual risk scores. Similarly any actions that arise during normal 
business of the OPCC and / or anything that results from minutes of PCC business will 
also be included where appropriate.  
 


4.3 There are currently thirteen risks in the risk register, all have been allocated to the 
appropriate Officers in the OPCC work is in progress in implementing  the actions 
required to mitigate the risks, and updates will be provided for Members information. 
 


 
 5.    Risk Register 
 


5.1 Following a restructure within the OPCC the risk management and service continuity 
functions now report to the Office Manager who is the strategic lead for this area. 


 
5.2 All of the risks have and will continue to be allocated to individual Officers and Members 


are encouraged when necessary to contact the risk ‘lead’ who could update you on 
various elements as the risk is managed. 


 
5.3  A copy of the Strategic Risk Register is included at todays meeting. 


 
 
6.  Implications 
 
6.1 Finance 


There are no known financial implications at the present time. However, as the process 
progresses the financial implications will be continually reviewed. 
 


6.2 Diversity and Equal Opportunities 
There are no diversity or equal opportunities implications arising from the content of this 
report. 


 
6.3 Human Rights Act 


There are no Human Rights Act implications arising from the content of this report. 
 
6.4 Sustainability 


Risk Management is a vital element in ensuring the sustainable delivery of services and 
delivering the PCC’s priorities. 
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6.5 Risk 
Risk Management is crucial in ensuring the sustainable delivery of services and delivery of 
the PCC’s priorities through the effective identification and management of the principal risks 
to the delivery of corporate objectives. 


 
 
7. Conclusion 
 
7.1 The PCC’s integrated approach to strategic risk management and service continuity planning 


is progressing on a systematic basis with the intention of developing robust risk management 
plans and further embedding a risk management culture with-in the OPCC. 
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Report of the PCC Chief of Staff to the Chair and Members 
of the Joint Audit Committee 
26th September 2013 
 
Presented and written by: Ed Chicken, Chief of Staff 
 
Status: For Agreement  
 
Report of the Monitoring Officer 22nd November 2012 – 31st March 2013  
 
1 Purpose 
 
1.1 The statutory role of the Monitoring Officer is to promote the ethical standards of the Police 


and Crime Commissioner and officers including maintaining the  Register of Interest and 
Gifts and Hospitality. This report monitors compliance with the current code of Corporate 
Governance and associated procedures.  


  
2 Recommendations 
 
 Members are asked to:  
 
2.1 Formally acknowledge the completion of the annual review of the Police and Crime 


Commissioner’s register of Interests, Gifts and Hospitality, confidential reporting and complaint 
handling in accordance with the Localism Act 2011 and Police Reform and Social Responsibility 
Act 2011.  


 
3 Reasons 
 
3.1 The Joint Audit Committee has taken over certain responsibilities from the Police Authorities 
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former Standards Committee with regards to governance and standards of conduct for the 
Police and Crime Commissioner and staff from the Office of the Police and Crime 
Commissioner.  


 
3.3 Good Governance 
 
3.4 The Police and Crime Commissioners Code of Corporate Governance was reported to the Joint 


Audit Committee on 27th June 2013 and will be updated on an annual basis. The Code is a 
public document that can be viewed on the Police and Crime Commissioner website.  


 
http://www.cleveland.pcc.police.uk/Document-Library/Audit-Committee-Papers/Item-13-Code-
of-Corporate-Governance-Cover-Report.pdf 
 
The governance framework comprises both the culture and value, and systems and processes, 
by which the OPCCC is directed and controlled and its activities through which it accounts to 
and engages with the community. 


  
The system of internal control is a significant part of that framework and is designed to 
manage risk to a reasonable and foreseeable level. It cannot eliminate all risk of failure to 
achieve policies, aims and objectives; it can therefore only provide reasonable and not 
absolute assurance of effectiveness.  


 
Following the creation of the Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner, the Police and 
Crime Commissioner has signed up to a Code of Conduct that incorporates the 7 Nolan 
principles relating to Public Life. A Code of Conduct has also been agreed for the staff of the 
Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner setting out what is expected from them in terms 
of their conduct.  


 
The PCC has approved and adopted a policy on anti-fraud and corruption which clearly sets 
out the anti-fraud and corruption procedures which will be operated by the PCC for the 
Cleveland Police area.  The anti-fraud and corruption policy is designed to encourage 
prevention, promote detection and identify a clear pathway for investigation of fraudulent and/
or corrupt activities or behaviour. 


 
4.0  Register of Interests 
 
4.1 The Register of Interests  (Appendix 1) for the Police and Crime Commissioner is available for 


public inspection upon request and details of the register are publically accessible through the 
Police and Crime Commissioners website http://www.cleveland.pcc.police.uk/Document-
Library/PCC/Register-of-interests-July-2013.pdf  


 
 5.0  Register of Gifts and Hospitality 
 
 5.1  A Register of Gifts and Hospitality (Appendix 2) is maintained by the Office of the Police 


and Crime Commissioner.  Although the regulations state that receipts of gifts and hospitality 
over £25 should be declared, the Police and Crime Commissioner has agreed that all gifts and 
hospitality would be declared to avoid confusion around determining the value of any such gift 
or hospitality. The Police and Crime Commissioner also has a responsibility to advise the 
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monitoring officer of any offers of gifts and hospitality refused.   
 
 5.2  The Register of Gifts and Hospitality is available for public inspection upon request and 


details of the register are publically accessible through the Police and Crime Commissioner 
website: 
http://www.cleveland.pcc.police.uk/Your-PCC/Register-of-Gifts-and-Hospitality.aspx 


  
 5.3  No requests have been made from Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner staff to 


accept fees, rewards or presents of a monetary value in excess of £25 (or indeed any 
amount). 


 
 6.0 Confidential Report Scheme (Whistle-blowing Policy)  
 
 6.1 The Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner for Cleveland Confidential Reporting 


Scheme (i.e. Whistle-blowing) is detailed in the Code of Corporate Governance and is 
accessible through the Police and Crime Commissioners website.  To date no cases have been 
reported through this scheme. 


 
 7.0 Complaints Against the Office of the Police and Crime Commissioners Staff  
 
 7.1  During 2012/13 there were no complaints made against Office of the Police and Crime 


Commissioners staff.  
 
8.0 Complaints Against the Chief Constable  
 
 In accordance with C1.6 Scheme of Delegation, the chief of staff has responsibility for the 


investigation of complaints against the Chief Constable. During 2012/13 no complaints have 
been made against the Chief Constable.  
 
 
Ed Chicken      
PCCs Chief of Staff 
 


Background Paper (available from The Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner for Cleveland ) 
Police and Crime Commissioner for Cleveland Code of Corporate Governance including:  
Anti Fraud and Corruption Strategy 
Whistle Blowing Policy 
PCC and Deputy PCC Code of Conduct 
Complaints Procedure 
Scheme of delegation  
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